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PEEPACE
In this volume the history of the Emigrant Farmers is traced
from the abandonment of the Orange River Sovereignty to
the reversal by Great Britain of the policy of withdrawal
from the interior of South Africa. Most of the chapters
were prepared several years ago. The part that relates to
the wars between the Orange Free State and the Basuto
tribe was printed as a pamphlet, for the sole purpose of
obtaining criticism from actors and partisans on both sides
in those struggles. Comments upon it were very freely made,but as nearly all were favourable, there was no occasion toa ter more than a dozen sentences. Of course it did not
please everybody, for it is not possible to write a history
ha would. A few individuals would have liked to see the

faults and fadings of the Basuto brought out more promi-
nently, and a few others wished the same with regard to the
Boers. But fully nine-tenths of the comments, whether from
individuals m the form of letters or as reviews in the South
African press, gave me credit for having performed my workwithout bias That is all I claim to have done, except thatI spared neither time nor expense to obtain all the material
that was m existence in printed books, the archives of theCape Government, the archives of the Orange Free State, andthe missionary records of Basutoland.

adJf.'nr*'
'^'*^*''

'' ^^' ^^^^ °*^"^ P^'-^^^^^ °f *he volume thatadmits of opposing views. Not a few people believe that theannexation o the diamond-fields to the^ritish dominionswas a poll ical necessity, and defend it on that ground Hada declaration to that effect been made by the'high commas



IV Preface

sioner in 1871, the argument might have been tenable ; but

the annexation was affected on a very different plea. The
subject is a delicate one to deal with, and I have therefore

quoted the leading official documents in preference to giving

their substance in my own words.

GEORGE M. THEAL.
Wynberg, South Africa, 1889.

Pressure of other work and the loss of papers by fire

have hitherto prevented me from carrying this history for-

ward, and now the publishers inform me that a second edition

of the volume in hand is required. I have examined it care-

fully, and find it necessary only to add one short sentence

and slightly to alter a couple of others.

GEORGE M. THEAL.
London, April, 1900.
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HISTOEY OF SOUTH AFEICA
THE RIFUBLICS AND NATIVE TERRITORIES

FROM 1864 TO 1872
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2 History of South Africa

lijvl claimed supremacy over every man, white or black, living

between the Vaal river, the Orange river, and the Katlilamba

mountains. Within these bounds the Basuto tribe was hence-

forth to be independent, not only in the reserve defined by
Major Warden and Sir Harry Smith, but in the locations

allotted to Sikonyela, Gert Taaibosch, and Carolus Baatje,

which Moshesh had added by conquest to his domains, and
in Molitsane'a location, which formed part of the Lesuto, with
the full consent of the Bataung chief. Lepui was also to be

independent within his reserve.

Moroko's position was undefined. Adam Kok's standing

was [)ractically what it had been before the Napier treaty.

The claims of Nicholas Waterboer and Cornelis Kok could

either be admitted and arranged, or could be ignored with

impunity as by the Sovereignty government. Most of Jan
Bloem's Koranas had left the territory, and those that

remained had their location on the Vaal, in which it was
understood that they would be left unmolested as long as

they conducted themselves peaceably. This was understood

also of the clans of Scheel Kobus, David Danser, and Goliath

Yzerbek, and of the residents at the mission stations of

Bethany, Beersheba, and Hebron.

The country actually occupied by Europeans and the

waste lands within the old Sovereignty boundaries comprised

the territory over which the new government would exercise

jurisdiction. The provisional administration was handed over

by Sir George Clerk to a council of seven members, of which

Mr. Josias Philip HofiTman was president.

Seldom has a civilised community been thrown entirely

upon its own resources under such unfavourable circum-

stances. The territory transferred to the fifteen thousand

Europeans who resided between the Vaal and the Orange

looks large on a map, but it is in no part capable of ;« port

ing a dense population. Though covered at certain seasons

with rich grass, the great plain is in times of drought a

dreary waste. The soil of fully half its area is shallow, and

the rainfall of the southern and western parts is so uncertain

that agrir.ii'ivre catvaot be carried on unless water is con-

i!ii
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were to have full burgher rights and to perform the duties
required of burghers.

The supreme and sole legislative authority of the land
was vested in a single chamber termed the volksraad. Each
village and each field-cornetcy was entitled to return by
election of its inhabitants one member to the volksraad,
who should hold his seat for four years. At the enO of two
years half the members of the first volkeraad, selec^.ed by
lot, were to retire, so that thereafter in perpetuity there
should be an election every alternate year of half the full

number The volksraad was to meet in ordinary session at

Bloemfontein on the first Monday in February of every year.

Twelve members were to constitute a quorum. The qualifi-

cations required of a member were that he should be fully

twenty-five years of age, that he should possess fixed property
of the value of £200, that he must have been resident in the
country for twelve months, and that he must never have
been punished for crime.

The executive authority was entrusted to a president,

to be elected by the burghers of the state from a list of
names submitted by the volksraad. His term of ofiice was
limited to five years, but he could be re-elected as often as

the people desired. The president could declare war and
make peace, enter into treaties, and appoint officers when
the volksraad was not in session, but all these acts required

to be ratified by the volksraad. He could propose laws, and
had a voice in debates ; but had no vote, much less a veto.

He had the oversight of all public departments and the
control of everything in connection with the public service

;

but was responsible to the volksraad, to which body there

was an appeal against any of his acts. He was required
to make a tour of inspection at least once a year, to examine
all the offices, and give the inhabitants an opportunity to

make known their desires. He could summon the volksraad
to meet in extraordinary session. He was to be advised and
assisted by an executive council, to consist of the landdrost
of Bloemfontein, the government secretary, and three unofficial

members to be chosen by the volksraad.
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Laws enacted by the volksraad were to come in force twomonths after the date of their publication, unless otherwrsespecified in the statutes themselves. In all cases where Zewere no local enactments the Roman-Dutch law was dec aredto be the fundamental law of the state

declared

The burghers of each ward were to elect a field-cornetwhose duties were to be partly magisterial and partly millrvIn case of war the field-cornet was required to ca^outTemen of h. ward, and to act as their leader. The burl'sof each district were to elect a commandant, whose dutie!were purely of a military nature, the field- ornets of thedistrict being under his orders in time of war
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together. It was empowered to try serious criminal cases,

the question of guilty or not guilty being decided by a jury.
It had also jurisdiction in civil cases of large amount, and in

appeal from the landdrost's court of the district in which its

session was being held. The president, with the advice of a
majority of the executive council, had power to remit or
mitigate sentences passed by the courts of law.

The Dutch Keformed Church was to be supported by the
state, but conscience was to be free. Liberty of the indi-

vidual, freedom of the press, and security of property were
guaranteed by the constitution. It contained also many
clauses relative to matters of less importance, which need
not be referred to here.

The volksraad appointed an executive council, and re-

quested Mr. J. P. Hoffman to act as provisional president
until its next session, which was to be held on the 4th of

September, when the elected president would be installed in
office. The election was to take place on the 15th of May.
The following four names were submitted to the electors, to

choose a president from : Josias Philip Hoffman, of the
district of Smithfield, Orange Free State ; Captain Struben,
a magistrate in Natal ; Jacobus Nicholas Boshof, of Mauritz
burg. Natal; and Andries du Toit, late commandant of
Beaufort West, Cape Colony.

The volksraad appointed the following landdrosts : Hector
Lowen for Bloemfontein, J. H. Ford for Smithfield, Jurie
Wessels for Winburg, and P. M. Bester for Harrismith.

Sir George Clerk had presented to the provisional govern-
ment a sum of £3,000 for the purpose of "soothing bitter

recollections of sufferings of former times," This sum was
considered wholly inadequate for the purpose intended, and
the provisional government had therefore requested the
special commissioner either to add £10,000, or to appoint an
agent to apportion it, as they feared that any distribution

which they might make would increase rather than allay the
discontent of the claimants. The special commissioner de-
clined to do either, but suggested by letter that the claimants
should relinquish their rights in favour of the new govern-
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ment. Acting President Hoffman laid this letter before the
volksraad, when immediately those members—sixteen in
number—who were among the claimants relinquished their
shares. This patriotic example was not, however, followed
by all the burghers, and the distribution of the fund
occasioned considerable difficulty.

The claims of Nicholas Waterboer and Cornelius Kok to
ground above the junction of the Orange and the Vaal came
before the volksraad for discussion. Instead of following
the precedent of the Sovereignty authorities and ignoring
them altogether, the members, in a desire to do justice to
every one of whatever nationality, appointed a commission
to inquire into the pretensions of the two captains.

The volksraad then closed its first session.

With a view to conciliate their powerful neighbour, the
moderate parties in the Free State combined, and elected as
the first president Mr. Josias Philip Hofi'man, who was well
known as a philanthropist of the same school as Wilberforce
and Buxton. Thirty years earlier he and his father had
accompanied Lieutenant Farewell's first party to Natal,
but they had not remained long in that country. Since
that time he had been engaged in various callings, and had
resided in many parts of South Africa. Mr. Hoffman had
not the advantage of more than a very limited education
from books, but he was naturally shrewd and clever. When
a young man he had met with an accident in Capetown
which crippled him "br life, so that his power was now of the
mind, not of the body. For several years he had been living
on a farm at Jammerberg Drift given to him by Moshesh,
with whom he was on terms of intimacy, and in dealing
with whom he maintained that nothing but moral force
was needed. With many admirable qualities, the first presi-
dent of the Free State had one great failing: want of can-
dour. He was a man whose ideas of diplomacy were those
of the seventeenth, not of the nineteenth century.

A matter demanding the immediate attention of the
government was the attitude of Adam Kok. That chief was
still endeavouring to maintain a position of independence

t\\-\\
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within the reserve assigned to him by Sir Harry Smith, and
to exclude white people from it. Upon the publication of

the convention of the 23rd of February, he caused an adver-
tisement to be inserted in the newspapers that with regard
to the third article, in which it was stated " that he had
approved of and confirmed the measures of Her Majesty's

special commissioner for removing all impediments tending
to prevent the Griquas from selling their lands," he thereby
made known that he had not up to that date approved of and
ratified such measures, either by word or letter. He next
proceeded to encourage a party of indigent blacks from the
Cape Colony to settle in his territory.

The Free State Government had then no option, and was
obliged to take decisive measures. To allow a community
of thriftless and idle paupers to grow up on their border
would be culpable neglect. On the 27th of May, therefore, a
notice was inserted in the Bloemfontein Gazette that all

persons purchasing land in the Griqua reserve must make
the necessary declarations before the landdrost of Faure-
smith, when they could calculate upon protection by the
state.

The Griqua captain, when rejecting Sir George Clerk's

offers, had forgotten how entirely dependent he was upon
the Imperial authorities. He had since written both to Sir
George Clerk and Sir George Cathcart, asking to be allowed
to purchase ammunition at Colesberg, and finding his request
unattended to, he began to realise his position. On the 12th
of July he wrote to Sir George Clerk "to ascertain if the
terms proposed to him and his council some months before
were still open for their acceptance, as, if so, they desired

negotiations to be reopened with a view of giving their con-
sent to them in a somewhat modified form." He stated that
«a greater number of his people than he had anticipated

were desirous of selling, and that for him to prevent such
sales would, he felt assured, not only involve himself and
his people in difficulties, but also throw the whole country
into confusion and excitement." He proposed that all deeds
of sale should be countersigned by himself, so as to prevent
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fictitious transactions or disputed boundaries, that the jeSOO
a year stipulated by the last treaty should be paid to him
and his heirs in perpetuity, that larger sums than those
previously offered should be given as compensation for farms
between the Riet and Modder rivers, and that he should be
guaranteed in the right to purchase ammunition in the Cape
Colony.

Sir George Clerk replied on the 3rd of August that it
was then too late to offer terms, as he was no longer in a
position to negotiate. The captain now realised that the
treaty had really been set aside, and that instead of being
the semi-independent ruler of a great tract of country, he
was nothing more than the head of a little horde of Hotten-
tots and mixed breeds in various stages of progress towards
civilisation.

On the 28th of September President Hoffman visited
Phihppolis, when he had no difficulty in making a satisfactory
arrangement with the Griqua captain and his council. The
sale of farms was agreed to, and European purchasers were to
be regarded as burghers of the Free State. Griquas within
the old reserve were to continue to be subjects of Adam Kok,
and all unoccupied ground therein was to remain the
property of the Griqua Government. Otherwise the reserve
was completely done away with.

The only matter that could not be arranged was the claim
still made by individual Griquas to farms leased outside
of the reserve before the treaty with Sir Harry Smith, and
which that governor had converted into property in perpetuity
of the lessees. The president promised to urge the late
special commissioner to make compensation for such farms
according to his own proposals in March, which Kok had
rejected, but would now gladly agree to. Further than that
he could do nothing in the matter, though he remind ^ the
captain that the case was really not such a hard one as it
appeared on the surface, for Sir Peregrine Maitland had
converted deeds of sale from Griquas to white men into leases
tor ^rty years, and the former owners of the farms which
bir Harry Smith had converted into freeholds were receivin<r

I %
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a subsidy of £100 a year as compensation for the conversion
of leases into sales.

This arrangement brought to a close the disputes with
the petty Griqua clan under Adam Kdk, which had been
constant since the Napier treaty.

During this time several changes were made in the staff of

district officers. Mr. Jurie Wessels, who had been appointed
by the volksraad landdrost of Winburg, declined to accept
the situation. Mr. Schnehage, the clerk, acted as landdrost
until the end of July, when he resigned. Mr. Joseph Millerd
Oipen was then provisionally appointed by the president, and
was confirmed in the office by the volksraad on the 13th of
September. At the same time the district of Harrismith
was united to Winburg, but retained a separate board of

heemraden. Mr. Bester, the former landdrost of Harri-
smith, was appointed to Bloemfontein, as successor to Mr.
Lowen, who resigned.

At the commencement of President Hoffman's tenure
of office the relationship between the Europeans and the
Basuto was apparently satisfactory, for Moshesh, who had
been watching the coarse of events with some degree of
bewilderment, was keeping his people in tolerable order.
But it was not long before difficulties began to crop up. In
the Winburg district parties of Basuto under Molapo and
other captains invaded and took possession of a tract of land
that had been purchased from Rantsane, the chief of highest
hereditary rank in the whole country ; in the Smithfield
district cattle-lifting was renewed ; while in Harrismith
Witsi's followers assumed the character of organised robber
bands.

The losses occasioned by the raids of these last-named
were very considerable. Mr. Orpen, landdrost of Winburg,
whose opinion of Moshesh coincided with that of the presi-

dent, was employed as a special commissioner to endeavour
to obtain redress. The Basuto chief, who claimed no control
over Witsi, sent his brother Moperi with Mr. Orpen to
counsel the robber captain to give up the spoil. But the
mission was fruitless. Witsi neither restored the cattle nor
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would he allow Mr. Orpen and Moperi to inspect the herds in
his country. The president then went upon the same errand
himself, and met with a like rebuff.

In August Mr. Hoffman visited Moshesh, and held several
conferences with him and his principal men. It was arranged
to bnng further moral pressure to bear upon Witsi, when if
he should still remain obstinate the president was to send
an armed force to punish him, and Moshesh promised in this
event neither to assist him nor to give him shelter One of
Witsi's brothers with his following, against whom no charge
was made, at his own desire and with the president's approval
was received as a vassal by Moshesh, and a tract of land in
the Lesuto was given to him to live upon. A promise was
made by the Basuto chief to call in his subjects who were
trespassing on the ground purchased from Rantsane, which
he admitted was rightly the property of the white people

The cattle-lifting in the Smithfield district was a matter
not so easily settled, for many elements of discord were
present there. The farmers and the Basuto were in some
parts intermingled, and neither were the best specimens of
their class. The farmers were sometimes guilty of hasty and
imprudent acts that drew upon them the hostility of their
neighbours. The Basuto were mainly adherents of two of the
most notorious robber captains in all South Africa, Poshuli
and Kuane, or Jan Letele.

With the first of these, Moshesh's brother Poshuli
he reader is already acquainted. His stronghold was

,

Vech kop, which he had occupied for the last nine years

I

i he other, Kuane or-as he was called by the Europeans-Jan Letele, was the representative of the family of the last
paramount chief in the country before the rise of Moshesh.He was a grandson of Motlomi. That chief was not the
head ot the family by many degrees, but his abilities had

^enabled him to grasp supreme power in the country, and
Kantsane the hereditary head of the house, made no effort torecover the position to which his birth entitled him The

fZ^l^r^'^'t.
'''^'' '''^^ ^^^'^^ ^^ ^ ^^^^^^ '^^ descentot both Motlomi and Jan Letele.

( ,
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Tsholo Tsholwani
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Konyane Monageog

Manbedi Khomotsuane Monyane

Rantsane Mothibedi Nkopani Motlomi

Ntsane Khetshani Maldiya Khoyane Mokwatsi Letele Moyakisani

Jan Letele Masilo Lebenya

Mokwatsi, who is shown here as Jan Letele's father, in
reality died young, without leaving any children ; but in order
that his house should not perish, a woman was given to his
brother Letele, whose children were to be considered those
of the dead man. Jan Letele was on this account termed
"a child of the grave." His mother was killed by some
bushmen, when fleeing from the invading hordes under
Matiwane. He was then an infant not a month old. His
grandmother, who had been a favourite wife of Motlomi,
took him to the Cape Colony, and he remained at Theopolis
and Grahamstown until he was twenty-three or twenty-four
years of age, when he returned to the country north of the
Orange.

In his pride of birth Jan Letele looked with anger and
scorn upon the upstart, as he deemed him, who had usurped
dignity and power to which he had not been born. He was
in the habit of speaking with contempt of Moshesh and his
family, and asking such questions as " Who is the son of
Mokatshane, whom the white men as well as the Basuto
regard as a great chief ? Can any one trace his descent or
connect him with the heads of our race ? " He was acquainted
with the Dutch language, but had learnt in his exile nothing
else that was useful. Having collected a band of disaffected
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characters about him, this heir of a fallen line was continu-
ally disturbing the peace by his robberies and riotous acts.
With Poshuli he was at variance, as a matter of course

; and
Moshesh, who always tried to conciliate such persons rlther
than reduce them by force, seemed afraid of proceeding to
extremities against him.

Though fair promises were made by the Basuto chief and
his councillors, matters remained in a state of confusion
between the Caledon and the Orange. There was no desire
on the part of Moshesh that Europeans should live comfort-
ably there, as he wanted the ground for his own people to
expand upon. At the end of the year Mr. Orpen visited
Thaba Bosigo again as special commissioner, but obtained
nothing more than a renewal of the promises made to the
president.

Moshesh, at this time, gained much credit with the friends
of the missionaries in South Africa and in Europe by an
ordinance which he published prohibiting the introduction
of spirituous liquors into the Lesuto. The form of this
ordinance must be attributed to European influence but
there is no reason to doubt that its object met with the
approval of the great chief personally.

Of late years Europeans had been introducing spirituous
hquors into the Lesuto, and it did not need the teaching of
the missionaries to convince Moshesh that brandy was hurtful
to his subjects. From time immemorial they had used fer
mented liquors made of millet; a kind of weak beer, indeed
forming a large proportion of their food. But the distillers'
art was unknown to them, and brandy came therefore as anew thing into the country. Few individuals in the condition
ot the Basuto can resist the temptation to use strong liquor
when It is before their eyes. Seeing this, Moshesh, by the ad-
vice ot the missionaries and with the concurrence of his coun-
cilors, issued, in November, 1854, an ordinance under which
all spirituous liquor brought among his people was to be
poured upon the ground, without the owner having any
claim for compensation. And that every one might be made
acquainted with the law, it was drawn up in writina and
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published in Dutch and Sesuto. But it was never thoroughly
carried out, though it had some little effect in diminishing

the quantity of spirits brought into the country.

At a later date Moshesh, by the advice of the missionaries,

issued oidinances against punishment on charges of practising

witchcraft aiid against circumcision. The first of these was
only intended to gratify the missionaries, and no attempt
was ever made to enforce it. Where the belief that certain

individuals had power to bewitch others was partially under-
mined by Christian teaching, the punishment of persons

smelt out by witchfinders ceased, but nowhere else. Cir-

cumcision has been abolished by some sections of the tribe,

but is still practised by others, Moshesh himself at a later

date having withdrawn his opposition to it.

A petty war was at this time being carried on along the

left bank of the lower Vaal. Major Warden had set apart

a tract of land there for the joint use of the Korana captains,

Goliath Yzerbek and David Danser, and when the latter of

these tried to dispose of some farms, he had declared such
sales illegal. Mr. Green, the last British Resident, had,

however, countenanced the disposal of ground by Danser,
and Sir George Clerk concurred with him in doing so, as

Danser represented that he had no cattle, and therefore no
use for as large a location as had been allotted to him. With-
out consulting Goliath, Danser was rapidly selling the whole
reserve and converting the proceeds into brandy. Goliath
then appealed to President Hoffman, and the matter came
before the volksraad. In September, 1854, that body directed

a commission to inquire into the claims of the two captains

;

but before any investigation could be made, open war broke
out between them. Danser expelled his opponent and seized

his cattle, compelling Goliath to take refuge among the

farmers. Gasibone, a chief of the Batlapin beyond the Vaal,

threatened to interfere, and the matter was becoming serious,

when the Free State Government sent an officer to restore

order. Danser was obliged to give back his booty and permit
Goliath to return to the location. The quarrels between
these petty captains caused the missionaries to remove from
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Pniel and for several years that station was abandoned bv
the Berhn Society. "

During President Hoffman's visit to Moshesh in August
1854. he was received at all the principal stations with
Halutes of musketry fired in his honour. Ammunition
seemed plentiful, yet Moshesh asked for a present of aun-
powder. The president promised him some, and upon'' re-
turning to Bloemfontein sent him a keg containing fifty
pounds. In the report of his journey laid before the volks-
raad during its next meeting this circumstance was not
mentioned, but soon after the close of the session it became
known. At once there was a great outcry against Mr.
Hoffman, raised by those who had all along accused him of
lowering the dignity of the Europeans by his method of
j^eahng with the Basuto chief. They now openly spoke ofhim as guilty of treason.

r
j v

In February, 1855, the volksraad met again, when it was
found that the report in the records contained information
concerning the gunpowder. Upon this a party of disaffected
burghers, headed by some members of the volksraad took
possession of the fort, and pointed the guns at the president's
house. The direction of public opinion was evident when
this riotous proceeding was met with hardly a remonstrance
The result was that Mr. Hoffman tendered his resignation'
which was immediately accepted, and a committee of four
members, with Mr. J. J. Venter as chairman, was appointed
to administer the government until another president could
be chosen and sworn in. Mr. J. N. Boshof was recom-
mended to the people by the volksraad, and in course oftime was duly elected.

The intercourse between the executive committee andMoshesh was carried on in a friendly manner, each express-
ing a desire for the continuation of peace. But as the depre-
dations upon the border farmers increased greatly afterMr Hoffman s retirement, Mr. Venter wrote to the chief
that the only means of preserving peace would be for him
to compel his people to do no wrong to the burghers ofthe Free State. Robberies followed, however, on such an

'Ml
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extensive scale that many farmers were compelled to remove,

while Mosheah continued as usual to deprecate war.

Mr. Venter than arranged for a meeting, which took place

at Platberg on the 9th of August, 1865. It was there agreed

that any one losing cattle by theft should be at liberty to

search for them in Moshesh'a country, provided he went
unarmed and carried a pass from the head of the state.

Nothing could show more plainly than this agreement the

helplessness of the infant Republic, or the desire of its

government to avoid a rupture with the Basuto. Mr. Venter

was a man of common sense and knew that such an arrange-

ment was worthless, yet he felt that under the circumstances

nothing else could be done.

On the 27th of August, 1855, Mr. Jacobus Nicholas Boshof

was installed as president of the Free State. He was a
naan of some education, and had received such a training in

office work as enabled him to put the various departments of

the public service into something like order. With regard

to Moshesh, he was disposed to adopt a firmer course of

dealing than Mr. Hoffman had done, not because he was less

anxious to preserve peace, but because he believed conciliation

had been carried so far as to destroy the respect due to a

civilised government.

In the meantime Sir George Grey had arrived in South
Africa as high commissioner and governor of the Cape
Colony, and it was already apparent that he possessed great

ability in dealing with questions relating to the intercourse

of the different races with each other. He saw at once that

matters were fast drifting towards war between the Free
State and the Basuto tribe, and that such a war must
endanger the prestige of the Europeans throughout South
Africa. To prevent it, if possible, while at the same time
taking care not to involve the British Government in any
responsibilities, he arranged for a meeting between Mr. Boshof
and Moshesh at Aliwal North, at which he should be present
as a friend of both and endeavour to bring about a good
understanding between them, though without assuming the
title of arbitrator. The president and the chief entered into
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the plan with apparent cordiality, but on the appointed day
Moshesh failed to appear. After waiting some time, the
governor and the president proceeded to Smithfield, and on
the way met the chief with a party of his people, who rode
on with them.

On the 5th of October a formal meeting took place at
Smithfield, but little good seemed likely to result from it, as
Moshesh declared that he had not come on business, but on
a friendly visit. Next morning, however. Sir George Grey
sent for him with his sons. Letsie, Masupha, and Nehemiah,
and a few of his principal councillors, when he pointed out the
necessity of coming to some understanding. Through fear
of offending the governor, Moshesh then consented to meet
Mr. Boshof again, and an arrangement was entered into
between tliem, which was drawn up in the form of a treaty,
and which provided :

—

k\^

That every Mosuto entering the Free State should be fumished
with a pass signed by a chief or missionary

;

That hunting parties should obtain permission from the landdrost
of a district before entering it

;

That subjects of Moshesh disobeying these regulations should be
liable to punishment by the Free State courts

;

That in case of the spoor of stolen cattle being traced to any
chief's location, information thereof should be given to such
chief, who should follow it up,;

That any further measures in connection with such cases should
only take place between Moshesh, or the chief to whom the
spoor was given over, and the landdrost of the district from
which the cattle were stolen

;

That in the event of any chief, to whose location thefts should be
traced, restoring the stolen cattle and delivering the thief to
be punished according to the laws of the Free State, no further
compensation should be demanded ; but if the thief should
not be given up, the stolen property should be restored,
together with a fine of four times its value

;

That every such case should be settled within two months of
demand being made

;

That subjects of Moshesh trespassing on the farms of Free State
burghers, and refusing to move when desired to do so by a
field-comet, should be driven away by force

;

B
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',

• |i



''^:,i

:!i

II

tm

1

8

History of South Africa

That in case of dispute about the ownership of land by any
burgher of the Free State, the matter should be settled by
the chief and the president jointly, or by officers appointed
to act for them

;

That burghers of the Free State trespassing on land in the terri-
tory of Moshesh, and refusing to remove when called upon to
do so, should be driven away by force.

The above were the conditions of an agreement which,
if faithfully observed, would have secured peace and friend-
ship between the people of the Free State and the Basuto.
No boundary line was referred to in them, but the clar.se

respecting the ownership of ground met that difficulty, for the
farms up to the Warden line were held under British titles,

and the Free State Government claimed nothing farther!
Moshesh signed the agreement, as he afterwards asserted, to
avoid offending Sir George Grey ; but he took no trouble to
observe it. There was no power to compel him to keep an
agreement, and without that a document was valueless.

During this visit of Sir George Grey to the country
north of the Orange, he proposed to the French missionaries
to establish a training school in the Lesuto, in which native
schoolmasters and evangelists could be educated, and young
men be instructed in such handicrafts as those of the
blacksmith, cai'penter, and mason. The governor had at
his disposal a considerable sum of money supplied from the
Imperial Treasury for the purpose of attempting to raise
the blacks of South Africa in civilisation, and on this fund
he spoke of drawing to meet the preliminary expenses. He
proposed that the institution should be under the direction
of the French mission.

The missionaries entered heartily into the plan, and
secured a suitable site by means of transfer from Moshesh

;

but by the time the arrangements were completed the
governor found that the whole of the funds at his disposal
would be required elsewhere, and the design therefore fell

through.

Sir George Clerk had stationed Mr. John Burnet an old
Sovereignty civil servant, at Bloemfontein, with the title of
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Bntish Agent and had been in favour of placing a similar
officer w.th Moshesh at Tl>aba Bosigo. But L GeorgeGrey looked un,..ourably upon this plan, which, i„Zopmion, would only cause jealousy between the European,and the Basuto

;
and in April, 1855, he moved Mr. BuX

T

Ahwal North, where he gave him the appointmentTcivUcommissioner and resident magistrate, while retaining hisservices as a medium for obtaining information upon eventeoccurring north of the Orange.
Witsi's people were still' plundering their neighboura.,d a large part of the Harrismith district, abandoned bJthe farmers was overrun by them, when eariy in 1856 thevolksraad determined to >^nA ,.„ „ j-r"
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The dispersion of the Free State forces, before adequate

punishment had been inflicted on the robbers, left the

district of Harrismith at Witsi's mercy. The president

then entrusted the settlement of matters there to Mr.

Orpen, landdrost of Winburg and Harrismith,^ who managed

to get together a small commando, with which he entered

Witsi's country, drove out that chief's retainers, and

burned their huts. The warriors of the clan as well as the

women and children fled into the Lesuto, where they were

received by Moshesh, who now became their protector, and

requested the Free State Government not to punish them

farther. Thereafter they were regarded as members of the

Basuto tri be.

For a few weeks after the agreement made by Moshesh

in presence of Sir George Grey, the number of thefts along

the border greatly diminished, but cattle-lifting was soon

resumed on as extensive a scale as before. In March, 1856,

the Basuto chief in writing to the president laid claim to the

country as far as a line running from Commissie Drift by

the southern side of the Koesberg to the Orange river.

Between this line and that of Major Warden, which the Free

State claimed, the district thereafter became a scene of un-

checked lawlessness. Jan Letele, Lebenya, Poshuli, Seperi,

and other petty captains, though quarrelling with each other,

were one in plundering and insulting the farmers. Most of

these in despair abandoned their farms, went into laager, and

became clamorous for open war as an evil less than that they

were enduring. Moshesh as ever spoke constantly of the

advantages of peace, but made no efibrt to suppress the

hostile acts of his subjects.

While matters were in this condition, Mr. Boshof sent a

deputation to Thaba Bosigo to demand the stock stolen prior

to the agreement and four times the quantity stolen after

that date, or the surrender of the robbers. If this demand

should not be complied with, he threatened to attack the

1 On the 30th of August, 1855, the volksraad had resolved that Harrismith

should be separated from Winburg again, but the resolution was not yet carried

into effect.



The Orange Free State 21

adequate

left the

president

to Mr.

managed

5 entered

3rs, and

11 as the

ley were

ictor, and

ish them

rs of the

Moshesh

fts along

nras soon

rch, 1856,

m to the

Drift by

ge river,

the Free

le of un-

i, Seperi,

,ch other,

Most of

lager, and

that they

ly of the

press the

of sent a

)len prior

)len after

3 demand

ttack the

) Harrismith

t yet carried

offending clans, in which case he desired the great chief not
to protect them. In reply, Moshesh promised to hold an
assembly of his leading men, when if they would not agree
to punish the thieves and make compensation as demanded,
he would leave the marauding clans to their fate. But he
did not keep his word, and Mr. Boshof thought it prudent
not to carry out his threat.

The Basuto chief was really making preparations for war,
in case the farmers would not give up the disputed district.

He did not fear the Free State in the least, but he was too
astute to draw upon himself the enmity of the colonial

government at the same time. He was therefore secretly
intriguing with the coast tribes, with a view of keeping the
attention of the colonists occupied nearer home, while he was
endeavouring to make Sir George Grey believe that he was
doing everything possible to preserve peace. So great was
his power of deception that the missionary Arbousset, other-
wise a very observant man, mistook a scheme of his to get
the British authorities to assist in keeping his warriors to-
gether, for a peaceable design of preventing trespass over the
colonial frontier. And so great was his assurance that he
actually applied to the landdrost of Smithfield for a supply
of guns and ammunition to enable him, as he said, to chastise
the robbers.

Sir George Grey, however, was not the man to be so
deceived. He had agents among the Kaffir tribes at widely
separated points, who placed the fact of the Basuto chief's
intrigues beyond all question, though so secretly and care-
fully were they carried on that the details could not be
ascertained. The governor informed Moshesh that he was
aware of the communications passing between him and the
most powerful chief on the eastern frontier, who was then
destroying his cattle and corn preparatory to attacking the
colony. Moshesh in reply asserted his loyalty and fidelity
to the British Government, flatly denied having had any inter-
course with Kreli for more than three years, and appealed to
President Boshof to testify in his favour. The missionary
Jousse, who acted as secretary on this occasion, was so
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deceived that Moshesh's statements appeared to him to be
worthy of credence. But though the chief managed to blind
even such sensible men as Messrs. Arbousset and Jousse,
who were apparently in a most favourable position for ob-
servation, but who really had no such sources of information
as Sir George Grey had at command,^ the governor's letter
convinced him that he must act with still greater caution in
future and endeavour to throw the whole blame of provoca-
tion upon the farmers, or he would not be left to deal with
them alone.

The demand which the president had made was for seven
hundred and sixty-eight horses and five hundred and thirty-
five head of horned cattle, of which the chief had restored
only six horses and one hundred and forty-one head of cattle
when in October, 1856, the volksraad met in extraordinary
session. As nothing better could be done, it was resolved to
send another deputation to Thaba Bosigo. Messrs. Gerrit
Visser and Jacobus Hofiman accordingly visited Moshesh
and induced him to sign a document in which he undertook to
deliver within one month the horses and cattle still due, and
further promised to do his best to prevent robberies in future,
so that the farmers might occupy their lands without being
disturbed by his people. It was necessary to do something
now, so to meet the first part of his engagement Moshesh
called for contributions in stock from each of his vassal
chieftains. He did not attempt to punish the robber clans, or
even to compel them alone to make restitution. The result
was that the thieving continued as before.

Early in 1857 the Basuto chief delivered to the landdrost
of Smithfield one thousand three hundred and fifty-nine of
the most wretched cattle in his country, but only thirty-six
horses, as the tribe refused to part with animals required in
war. The volksraad, however, declined to accept horned

1 There are very few instances indeed in South African history of mission-
aries detecting preparations for war which were being made all around them.
On nearly every occasion when an outbreak has occurred, they have been taken
completely by surprise. Some curious instances of their having been led astray
by appearances are given with the utmost candour by the French missionariesm their Journal.
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cattle in place of horses, and after deducting the number due,
the remainder were sent back to Moshesh.

Leaving now for a time the wearisome disputes with the
Basuto, the difficulties with the Griquas on the opposite side
of the republic claim attention.

The Free State Government, acting upon the report of the
commission appointed in April, 1854, admitted the preten-
sions of the captains Nicholas Waterboer and Cornelis Kok
to the ground between the Modder and Orange rivers up to
the western boundry of Adam Kok's reserve ; that is, the
line from Kamah to David's Graf. In August, 1855, the
volksraad resolved to employ a surveyor to place beacons
along that line. The contending captains then requested
Adam Kok to act as arbitrator, and he, in October, 1855,
divided the district between them by a boundary thereafter
termed the Vetberg line. By this division the right of
Cornelis Kok to a tract of land along the southern bank of
the Modder was acknowledged, but Waterboer obtained much
the larger share of the territory in dispute.

There were two farms and part of a third held by Euro-
peans under British titles along Waterboer's side of the
Vetberg line, but the Free State, in confirming the settle-
ment, excluded these from his territory. This alteration of
Adam Kok's award was necessary, because it was a funda-
mental law of Waterboer's clan—laid down by the mission-
aries in former times, and since rigidly adhered to—not to
dispose of land to Europeans. Within the territory enclosed
by the Vaal, the Orange, and the Vetberg line thus rectified,
Waterboer was thereafter recognised as possessing sovereign
rights as well as ownership of the ground. This arrange-
ment was one of convenience, as it could be of no advantage
to the Free State Government to retain dominion over
waste lands—as these were then—with no proprietary rights
or likelihood of ever obtaining any.

With Cornelis Kok and his clan it was diflferent. They were
always ready to sell ground on the Free State side of the Vaal
when purchasers offered, and Europeans had long been scat-
tered over the country north of the Vetberg line. The principle
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acted upon by Sir Harry Smith and the Sovereignty govern-
ment was therefore retained in their case. Their ricrht of
property in the ground still unsold was admitted, but
dominion over it and everyone living upon it was kept by
the Free State Government just as transferred to them by
Sir George Clerk. The captain and nearly the whole of the
clan lived at and around Campbell, beyond the Vaal, and
there they were regarded as entirely independent.

During this time several changp^ ^-d takers place in the
district offices. Mr. P. M. Bester :.. lined to accept the
appointment of landdrost of Bloe^i jatein, acd Mr J A
Smellekamp was then selected by President Hoffman to act
until the volksraad should meet. In August, 1855, he was

?«^f"? ,f
*^^ appointment, but was superseded in October.

1856, by Mr. C. van Dyk van Soelen.^ At the same time Mr.
Ford, landdrost of Smithfield, was superseded by Mr. John
bauer, and Mr. J. M. Orpen was succeeded at Winburo- by Mr
James Michael Howell. Mr. G. P. Visser, provisional knd

-

drost of Fauresmith, was replaced by Mr. J. S. Marais, and
Mr. M. Oauvm was appointed landdrost of Harrismith

In August. 1857, the president proposed to the volks-
raad that an officer with the title of resident justice of
the peace should be stationed at each of the new villages of
Kroonstad and Boshof. The last-named village occupied the
site previously known as Van Wyk's Vlei. It had recently
been founded as a church centre, the first building lotshaving been sold on the 6th of April, 1856. The proposal of
tl.e president was agreed to. Mr. Louis G. Rosa was
appointed to Kroonstad. and Mr. F. Nauhaus to Boshof

In September, 1854, the volksraad resolved that the
president and executive council should constitute a supreme
court of appeal. For a population so small as that of the
J^ree State, the judicial establishments were now held to be
ample.

' Mr Smellekamp from this date until his death practised as an aeent-at

Zc^fTo:: ' r'
"""'^' ^'^ estabUshing'a large busi^LT hat"capacity. For several years prior to his decease he was one of the most respected members of the volksraad. He closed an eventful lif<, nn Th. S-,'May, ibliO. ^''" ^'-
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CHAPTER II

EVENTS IN THE SOUTH AFRICAN REPUBLIC FROM 1854 TO 1857

Diacord in the South African Republic-Weakness of the government-Acts

teii r "^"^t'^i^^ P^r^? feeling-Slow increase of white inhabi^nts-Revolt of several cans at Zoutpansberg-Laws relating to intercourse be-tween whitesand blacks-Massacre of aparty of Europfans-March of thecommandants-general Potgieter and Pretorius against the rebeEs clana—Death of Commandant-General P. G Pot^ietPr SpLI "S !
of Makapan's people-Election of SteptnustcSmfras co^^TandT^^^^

^f thp'Lr^TpT •
° P-f%^tgieter-Ecclesiastical strJfe^ndaS

of the town of Pretoria and district of the same name-Public meeSmRustenburg Pretoria and Potchefstroom-Resolutions to adopt a new
StSnf r~,^''""*^\"^^t 'T^^^^^-^^iy^ assembly-The conaJSution-^Staff of officials appointed by the representative assembly-Repudiation ofthe new constitution by Zoutpansberg and Lydenburg-MissioSof Messr^Pretorious and Goetz to Bloemfontein to endeavour to effect ?heufionrfthe two republics-Proceedings of the government at Potchefst?Jom-Secession of Lydenburg and its erection into an independent stat^Foundation of the district of Utrecht-Union between Utrecht anlLydenburg-Proceedings of Messrs. Pretorious and Goetz^n Bloemfontein-InN'asion of the FreeState by Transvaal burghers-MeasuJefof defence-Negotiations for peace—Treaty between the Orauce Prpn^faL n„^ !r
bT£ ""'T^ ?r?-"VP."^^^-«- °f - S:-De:ifngs wiJh ttBakwena chief Setyeli-Trade in indentures of apprenticeshin-Recon

StKfrnlrpS?^^^' '''' ^--P-*^- °^ ""^^ disfrll^fwi^hTe

North of the Vaal river for several years after the death of
Commandant-General Andries Pretorious confusion and dis-
cord were rife. The exhortation to work together in harmony
delivered to the military officers by their ablest and most
influential leader from his deathbed, was completelv dis-
regarded. The government was so weak that to 'many
persons it must seem a misnomer to call it a government at
all. Practically it had no revenue, except a trifling sum
paid as land-tax by some of the farmers when they felt so
disposed. There was no police. Yet there was very little
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crime and neither person nor property was in danger, except
from tribes of Africans.

^

On one or two occasions, however, violent party feeling
caused acts of injustice to be perpetrated by the legal tri-
bunals. The most prominent ease of this kind occurred in
connection with Mr. J. A. Smellekamp, who was a friend of
the party under Potgieter's leadership. The volksraad which
met at Kustenburg in June, 1854, consisting chiefly of adhe-
rents of Pretorius, brought him to trial on a charge of having
slandered the reverend Dirk van der Hoff and the consistory
ot Potchefstroom. and fined him £37 10s. This was followed
by his banishment from the republic, in pursuance of a sen-
tence of the landdrost of Potchefstroom on the 11th of July.
Mr. Smellekamp retired to Bloemfontein, where he soon
became a leading citizen.

The white population was increasing, though not very
rapidly, by fresh arrivals from the Cape Colony. In June
1855, the volksraad threw open the country to immigrants
from any part of Europe, on condition that they should bring
certificates of good character from the government under
which they had previously lived. They were not to be en-
titled to hold landed property, to fill situations in the public
service, or to exercise electoral privileges, before obtaining
burgher rights; but these they could acquire by payment of
£15 to the public treasury. Only a few individuals from the
Netherlands availed themselves of the offer, however ; for to
the vast majority of the people of Europe even the existence
of the republic was unknown.

In 1854 an event of a peculiarly horrible nature took
place in the southern part of the district of Zoutpans-
berg.

At the eastern extremity of the Waterberg is a tract of
rugged country through which flows northward a stream
termed the Nyl by the first explorers, who in their ignorance
of geography fancied they had reached the head waters of
the river of Egypt. In this district lived a clan closely
related to the Basuto, under a chief called Makapan by the
farmers. After the expulsion of Moselekatse the fragments
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of this clan he \ drawn together and increased until it had
become of sorao importance, and it had never been friendly
with the Europeans.

Towards the close of the winter of 1854 a hunting party,
at the head of which was Field-cornet Hermanus Potgieter,

a brother of the late Commandant-General Hendrik Potgieter,
visited Makapan with a view of trading with him for ivory.
Laws relating to intercourse between Europeans and blacks,
enacted by the volksraad during recent years, prohibited
barter of any kind under penalty of a fine of £37 10s., and
confiscation of all property so obtained. It was illegal even
to receive a present from a black, except under special cir-

cumstances, and in such cases information was at once to be
given to the nearest landdrost. The hunting party was
therefore acting in violation of the law of the country, the
object of which was to prevent any occurrence that might
provoke a quarrel.

Hermanus Potgieter was a man of violent temper and
rough demeanour, and it may be that some expression or act
of his gave offence to Makapan's people. Stories were after-
wards set in circulation by unfriendly newspaper corre-
spondents that the white hunters conducted themselves in
a most outrageous manner, demanding oxen and sheep for
slaughter without payment, and forcing the blacks to give
them several children for slaves. But upon investigation
these stories are found to rest on conjecture only, and it does
not seem probable that a few white men would have ventured
to act in this manner at the kraal of a powerful chief.

It is easy to irritate Africans, and even to excite them to
frenzy, by acts that to Europeans appear harmless or crimes
of no great magnitude. The Gaikas who in 1850 committed
a cruel massacre on the eastern frontier of the Cape Colony
believe to the present day that it was no more than just
punishment for the violation of the grave of the chief Tayli
by some of the Woburn villagers. That the majority of those
who were murdered were innocent of participation in dis-
turbing the grave does not affect the case in the Bantu way
of thinking: it is sufficient that they were associates or

«' 4
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friends of those who did it. The theory of African law is

that the community is responsible for the acts of each indi-

vidual composing it.

An Englishman unacquainted with the religious ideas of

the people he was visiting was once at a Matabele kraal, and
seeing a snake in a tree, he raised his gun to shoot it. An
old hunter happened fortunately to be close by, and struck

up the gun just in time. Had that snake beea shot, no
torture that could be inflicted would have been conjiidered by
the Matabele sufficient punishment for the offender and his

companions, because the chief believed that the spirit of one
of his ancestors was present in the reptile. According to

their views, the infliction of death would have been a just

and proper punishment, though white people would certainly

have regarded it, had it taken place, as unprovoked and
causeless murder.

Many instances of this kind might be mentioned, arising

from thoughtlessness, disregard of Bantu ideas, or ignorance.

But whether this was the case with Potgieter's party—
whether offence was unwittingly given, or whether violent

language was used or violent conduct displayed—cannot be
positively stated, for the accounts given by Makapan's people
are varied and conflicting. The immediate actors perished
before their evidence could be obtained.

Thirteen men and ten women and children composed the
hunting party. Their waggons were outspanned at Maka-
pan's kraal, and, according to statements made some time
afterwards by members of the clan, at the chief's invitation

Potgieter went to look at some ivory which was said to be
on a neighbouring hill. He had hardly left when the
Europeans at the waggons were attacked, and all—women
and children included—were murdered. Potgieter was put
to death in a shocking manner. From information given by
the blacks, it was ascertained that he was flayed alive ; and
his skin, prepared in the same way as that of a wild animal,

was afterwards made into a korass. The evidence is con-

flicting as to certain horrible mutilations of the bodies of

the others, and it is uncertain whether they took place before
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or after death. There perished on this occasion the entire

families of Willem Prinsloo and Jan Olivier, in all twelve
persons, M. A. Venter and his son W. Venter, H. Potgieter,

and eight other white men.

Immediately after the massacre Makapan's people were
joined by six other clans, who commenced to pillage the
country in their neighbourhood. The white inhabitants of

the southern part of the district of Zoutpansberg had barely
time to take shelter in laagers before their homes were in
flames. The people of Rustenburg also thought it prudent
to abandon their farms and retire to laagers, one of which
was formed in the village and another at the homestead of
Mr. Paul Kruger, about five miles distant.

As soon as the helpless members of the community were
in positions of safety, Commandant-General P. G. Potgieter
took the field with a force of one hundred and thirty-five
men. Marching without delay to the kraal where the
murders had been committed, at the place which is still

called Makapan's Poort, he found that the hostile clans
had taken shelter in caverns where it was impossible to
reach them. The mangled remains of the victims to the
ferocity of the barbarians were discovered in various places,
and the sight of the dismembered bodies caused a fierce resolve
to be made by the burghers that punishment for the crime
should be complete.

The people of Lydenburg could not move from their own
district, but the burghers of Potchefstroom were called out.
The church at Potchefstroom was enclosed with an earthen
bank, and as soon as this simple fortress was completed
Commandant-General M. W. Pretorius marched by the way
of Rustenburg, his force increasing as he advanced, so that
he arrived at Makapan's Poort with four hundred men.
South of the Vaal very little aid could be given, for it be-
hoved everyone there to keep an eye on Moshesh ; but a
quantity of gunpowder was supplied, and a little later Mr.
A. J. Erwee and a few others proceeded to the assistance of
Mr. Pretorms with forty-seven horses contributed by the
people of Bloemfontein. Mr. W. Hartley, Dr. Way, and
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three other Englishmen from Smithfield joined the burgher
force.

On the 25th of October, the day after the junction of
the commandoes, an attack was made upon a cavern some
two thousand feet in length by four or five hundred feet in
width, in which Makapan's people had taken shelter. The
gloom inside was so intense that the burghers could see
nothing, but from the recesses fire was opened upon them,
by which one man—Jan Erasmus by name—was killed and
two others were wounded. It was then determined to blockade
the place so that no one could get out, and wait the results
of famine.

On the 6th of November the two commandants-general
were standing close to each other in front of the cavern,
when a musket ball struck Mr. Potgieter in the right
shoulder, and, passing through his neck, killed him in-
stantly. The mouth of the cavern was then partly blocked
up with brushwood and stones, and a strong guard was set
over it. Tlie remainder of the force was set out under Mr.
Paul Kruger and other able officers to scour the surrounding
country.

The inmates of the cavern soon felt the want of water,
and many of them tried to make their way out at night, but
were shot down in the attempt. It was a cruel deed that
was being performed, but the burghers were determined to
make a terrible example of Makapan's people. The blockade
lasted twenty-five days. Then a party of the besiegers en-
tered the cavern, and met with so little resistance that they
took complete possession, with only four men slightly wounded.
They found passages leading from the great hall and running
away under the mountain to unknown distances, but the
horrible stench and the difficulty of exploring with the dim
lights which they carried prevented them from proceeding
far.

Mr. Pretorius estimated that nine hundred persons had
been killed outside the cavern, and more than double that
number had perished of thirst within it. Makapan's clan
was almost annihilated.

%
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The horse sickness, which is prevalent in that district

during the summer, was making such havoc that the
commando could not keep the field any longer. The other
clans which had risen could not therefore be attacked, but it

was believed that the punishment inflicte:^ on Makapan
would deter them from committing any acts of violence
against Europeans for a long time to come. On the 30th of
November the camps were broken up, and the burghers
returned to their farms.

Upon the death of Mr. P. G. Potgieter, Mr. Stephanus
Schoeman was appointed commandant-general of Zoutpans-
berg. There were then north of the Vaal three commandants-
general—M. W. Pretorius, W. F. Joubert, and S. Schoeman
—each of whom was jealous of the power of the others.
Their partisans were continually carrying on a strife of
words.

But this was as nothing when compared with the ecclesi-
astical discord. The country was convulsed with a question
that to persons at a distance must appear utterly unim-
portant: whether the church of the Republic should be
connected with the synod of the Cape Colony, or not. There
was only one clergyman to minister to the whole people, but
there was a consistory in each district, and it was maintained
by some that the elders of the, ) could combine and constitute
a synod, if they chose to do so.

The strife commenced at a church meeting which took
place at Rustenburg on the 8th of August, 1853, and which
was presided over by the reverend Dirk van der Hoff. This
meeting resolved that no religious community other than
the Dutch Reformed Church should be tolerated or allowed
to build places of worship within the Republic ; that the
church in the Republic should be independent of the synod
of the Cape Colony; and that every male over twenty years
of age and every female over sixteen should pay three
shillings yearly towards its support.

These resolutions were discussed by every household in
the country. Liberal-minded men were strongly opposed to
the first, but there were not wanting many who as strongly

,lM

f I

k »t
' 'I

u \\



32 History of South Africa

'Si

If HI
'

i

i|'

li '

supported it. Yet so inconsistent were these that they
declared themselves ready to welcome Moravian and Lutheran
missionaries among the heathen. There was no objection to
the third resolution. But the second was a question which
divided the people into two factions, and which was discussed
with as much bitterness in 1S57 as four years earlier.

In November, 1855, the volksraad concluded an arrange-
ment with Mr. M. W. Pretorius for the transfer of two
farms which he had purchased from the original owners,
and established upon them a township named Pretoria. The
town was made the centre of a new district bearing the same
name.

Before 1857 the people north of the Vaal had no formal
and clearly worded constitution such as that which had been
framed by the first volksraad of the Orange Free State.

Those under the leadership formerly of Potgieter, now of

Joubert and Schoeman, considered themselves bound by a
code of laws usually termed The Thirty-three Articles,
which had been drawn up and adopted by the volksraad at
Potchefstroom on the 9th of April, 1844, shortly before the
removal of that party to the districts of Lydenburg and
Zoutpansberg. In this code stringent laws and simple
regulations of court are intermingled as if they were of
equal weight, and there is no literary taste displayed in its

composition; but it bears evidence of sound common sense
throughout.^

By an assembly of delegates of the different parties

north of the Vaal, which met at Derde Poort on the 23rd of

May, 1849, and agreed upon union, this code was adopted and
termed a constitution ; but in point of fact the arrangement
then made did not lead to consolidation, so that the majority
of the people of Potchefstroom, Rustenburg, and Pretoria

practically accepted no more of the thirty-three articles than
pleased them. These considered the enactments of the
volksraad in Natal, made before their removal from that
country, as binding upon them still; while the people of

Lydenburg and Zoutpansberg repudiated such enactments.

' An English translation is given in the appendix.
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The partisans of Mr. Pretorius, or, in other words, those
who were in favour of a strong central government, had for
some time past been discussing the advisability of adopting
a constitution like tiiat of the Free State. The other party*
or those who favoured a number of district governments
allied rather than cemented together, brought forward many
objections to this project. The party lines of difference of
opinion in ecclesiastical matters coincided with those of
difference of opinion in political matters, so that the division
was very clear and distinct. One side was in favour of a
single government with subordinate district courts of
law and a church independent of foreign influence; the
other side favoured district legislative councils allied for
purposes of defence and a church connected with the Cape
synod.

During the months of September and October, 1856
Commandant-rieneral M. W. Pretorius made a tour through
the districts of Rustenburg, Pretoria, and Potchefstroom
and called public meetings at all the centres of population!
At these meetings there was an expression of opinion by a
large majority in favour of the immediate adoption of a
constitution, which should provide for an efficient govern-
ment and an independent church. A visit of the reverend
Messrs. Neethling and Louw-two clergymen who had been
deputed by the synod to hold services through the country
after the arrival of the reverend Mr. Van der Hoff—was
generally condemned as uncalled-for interference. A great
deal of mdignation was expressed against the people of
Lydenburg, who had separated from Mr. Van der Hoff's
communion and declared their adherence to the synod The
community of Lydenburg was accused of attempting to
dommeer over the whole country, without any other right to
pre-emmence than that of being composed of the earliest
inhabitants, a right which it had forfeited by its opposition
to the general weal.

Shortly after these meetings were held, a representative
assembly, consisting of twenty-four members, one for each
held-cornetcy, was elected for the special purpose of adopting
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a constitution and installing the officials whom it should

decide to appoint. It had no other powers.

The representatives met at Potchefstroom on the 16th of

December, 1856. They took as a basis a constitution drafted

by a committee of three members appointed for the purpose

by the volksraad in 1855, assisted by an educated man

named Jacobus Stuart. During a session of nearly three

weeks several alterations were made in the draft.

When finally adopted, the constitution provided that the

legislative authority should be vested in a council to be

termed a volksraad, which should meet at least once a year.

The members of this council were to be elected by the

people, and hold their seat for two years. They were to be

over thirty years of age, ele(itors of three years' standing, and

members of the Dutch Reformed Church. They were to be

owners of landed property within the Republic, and must not

have been convicted of crime. Father and son, brothers and

half-brothers, could not be members at the same time. They

were to be of European blood. At the end of twelve months

half the members first chosen were to retire, the names to be

selected by lot ; and fresh elections were then to take place,

so that thereafter half would retire yearly in regular order.

Twelve members were to form a quorum. The ordinary sessions

were to commence on the first Friday of every September.

The administrative authority was to be entrusted to a

president, who was to be advised by an executive council.

The president was to be chosen by the people. The qualifi-

cations of this officer were that he should be an elector of

five years' standing, a member of the Dutch Reformed Church,

never have been convicted of crime, and over thirty years of

age. All public servants were to be subject to his authority,

except in the administration of justice. While president, he

could not hold another office or engage in trade, neither could

he leave the Republic without permission from the volks-

raad. The volksraad could deprive him of office after trial

and conviction of serious crime, when the oldest member of

the executive council was to act until a new election.

The executive council was to consist of *>he president, the
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government secretary, and two burghers who were to be
appointed by the volksraad. All were to have a right of
debate in the volksraad, but not a right to vote.

All measures proposed to be brought before the volks-
raad by the executive branch of the government were to be
published three months before the commencement of the
session, in order that the burghers might have an opportunity
to discuss them and make their wishes known.

There was to be only one commandant-general for the
whole Republic, who was to be purely a military officer, and
receive his instructions from the president in time of war.
He was to be elected by those burghers who were capable of
bearing arms and liable to military service. He was to have
a right of debate in the volksraad, but not a vote. He was
to have a seat in the executive council whenever matters
relating to war were discussed.

The Republic was to be divided into field-cornetcies, each
to consist of sixty to one hundred and twenty households.
Every group of six field-cornetcies was to have a commandant.

The Republic was also to be divided into convenient dis-
tricts for judicial and fiscal purposes. Each district was to
have a landdrost and board of heemraden, who were to be
elected by the people.

The revenue was to be derived from profits on the sale
of ammunition-which for the sake of safety was to be a
nx-n^>^iy of the government, from licenses, transfer dues
fines, and fees of court, a tax of Is. yearly on every fifty head
ot horned cattle, and land tax at the rate of 7s. 6d. to 30s
on each farm, according to quality. Absentee landholders
were to pay double taxes.

The boundaries of the Republic were not defined. Potchef-
stroom was to be the seat of government.

In ecclesiastical matters, the constitution declared that
It was the desire of the people to preserve the religious
teaching of the Dutch Reformed Church, as this was defined
in the years 1618 and 1619 by the synod at Dordrecht. The
people prererred to allow no Romish churches among them
nor any other Protestant churches than those in which the

I !
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same principles of religion were taught as are set forth in the

Heidelberg catechism. No other ecclesiastical authorities

would be recognised than the consistories of the Dutch

Reformed Church. It was desirable that the Gospel should

be taught to the heathen, but under such precautions as

would prevent them from being misled or deceived. No

equality of coloured people with the white inhabitants would

be tolerated, either in church or state.

The press was declared free. Slavery was prohibited.

The constitution provided that no treaty or alliance could

be concluded with foreign powers, except after the people of

the Republic had been called together by the president and

the executive council, when the arrangement proposed could

be approved of or rejected by a majority of those who should

attend. With this exception, that in time of great danger,

or war, the president, with the consent of a council composed

of all the military officers, could form a treaty or alliance

with a foreign power.

The salaries of public servants were stated in the consti-

tution. The president was to be paid £300 a year, which

was to be increased to £400 when the condition of the

revenue would permit it. The clergyman was to be paid

£225, the commandant-general £200, the state secretary and

the landdrost of Potchefstroom each £150, the landdrosts of

the other districts each £100, the members of the executive

council and the clerk to the landdrost of Potchefstroom each

£75, the clerks to the other landdrosts each £45, the com-

mandants each £20, and the field-cornets each £15 a year.

On the 5th of January, 1857, the representative assembly,

by twenty-one votes against three, chose the following

officers :

—

Marthinus Wessel Pretorius to be president of the

Republic.

J. H. Visagie to be state secretary and ex officio member

of the executive council.

H. S. Lombard and M. A. Goetz to be members of the

executive coun^'"'

D. Botha to Ob landdrost of Potchefstroom.
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Stephanus Schoeman to be commandant-general. This
appointment was made with the express object of conciliating

the Zoutpansberg people.

The representative assembly appointed a committee of

twelve to instal the newly-appointed oflBcers and issue writs
for the election of a volksraad under the constitution just
adopted. It chose a new flag : the Batavian tricolour—three
horizontal bars, red upper, white central, and blue lower—
with a green vertical stripe at the inner end. The representa-
tive assembly then declared its labours completed.

On the 6th of January the president, the members of the
executive council, and the landdrost took the oaths of oflSce

and were installed by the committee with much ceremony.
The new flag was raised and saluted, after a blessing had
been invoked upon it by the reverend Mr. Van der Hoff'.

When intelligence of these proceedings reached Zout-
pansberg and Lydenburg there was a violent outburst of
indignation. At a public meeting at Zoutpansberg, held on
the 29th of January, the acts and resolutions of the repre-
sentative assembly at Potchefstroom were almost unani-
mously repudiated. Mr. Schoeman declined to accept office

under Mr. Pretorius. A manifesto was drawn up and signed
by S. Schoeman, A. C. Duvenhage, landdrost of Zoutpans-
berg, Commandant J. H. Jacobs, and seven others, disowning
the new constitution and everything connected with it.

On the 17th of February the committee appointed by
the representative assembly instructed Messrs. Pretorius and
Goetz to proceed to Bloemfontein and arrange matters there.

President Boshof had published the draft of a bill concerning
burgher rights, which was to be brought before the Free State
volksraad, and the Transvaal people professed to believe
that it would affect them adversely. The real object of the
mission of Messrs. Pretorius and Goetz to the Free State
was to endeavour to bring about the union of the two
countries. It was hoped that those farmers south of the
Vaal who were in favour of a single republic would welcome
Mr, Pretorius, and that they would prove to be the great
majority of the people.
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During the absence of Mr. Pretorius, Mr. H. S. Lombard
acted as president. With the concurrence of the other

members of the executive council and of the committee

appointed by the representative assembly, on the 18th of

February he issued a proclamation deposing Commandant-
General Schoeman from all authority, declaring Zoutpans-

berg in a state of blockade, and prohibiting traders from

supplying " the rebels " with ammunition or anything else.

The volksraad under the old system of government was
to have met at Lydenburg on the 17th of December, 1856.

At the appointed time, however, no members for the other

districts appeared. What was transpiring at Potchefstroom

was well known, and a resolution was therefore adopted de-

claring the district a sovereign and independent state, under

the name of the Republic of Lydenburg. The volksraad was
pronounced to be the highest authority. The boundaries of

the new Republic were declared to be: on the north the

Olifants river and a straight line from the great curve in

that stream to the southern end of Waterberg ; on the west

a line from the southern end of Waterberg to the Eland's

river, that river to its source, thence the high lands to the

source of the Olifants river, and thence a straight line due

south to the Vaal ; on the south the Vaal and the northern

boundary of Natal to Panda's country. On the east the

boundary was not defined otherwise than that the Republic

was declared to include the district of Utrecht and the land

purchased on the 25th of July, 1846, and 21st of July, 1855,

by W. F. Joubert and others from Swazi, the son of Sapusa.^

1 The last of these transactions will be referred to in another chapter.

The first, or purchase of the 25th of July, 1846, conveyed to W. F. Joubert,

J. van Rensburg, L. de Jager, and five others, for the Emigrant Farmers, the

territorj' between the Olifants river on the north, the Crocodile river on the

south, the Eland's river on the west, and a line forming the Portuguese bound-
ary and passing through the junction of the Crocodile and Komati rivers on

the east. The price paid was one hundred head of horned cattle, and the

seller was Swazi, son of Sapusa, chief of the powerful coast tribe now called

by his name. The Emigrant Farmers held that the deed of sale was a good
title, because the Swazis had once overrun the district and offered when dis-

posing of the ground to clear it of every individual of the Bapedi and kindred
tribes. But the Swazis were not then in occupation of it, and Manukusa or
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It was resolved to invite Zoutpansberg to join Lydenburg.
To the invitation Commandant-General Schoeman replied that

deputies would be sent from Zoutpansberg to discuss a basis

of union as soon as matters became more settled, as it was
the desire of the people of his district to preserve their

connection with Lydenburg.

The boundaries declared by the volksraad of Lydenburo-
included the district of Utrecht, whose inhabitants had
previously claimed to be independent of all authority not
emanating from themselves. This district bordered on Zulu-
land and Natal. Possession of it had been taken in 1848,

with Panda's consent, by a party of farmers who moved
from the uplands between the Tugela and Buffalo rivers, in

order to be free of British rule. The few hundred Europeans
who occupied it were without a resident clergyman, but in

1854 a consistory had been formed, and after that date the
minister of Ladysmith, in Natal, acted as consulent and held
services every three months. Between the people of Utrecht
and those of Lydenburg there was strong sympathy, both in

ecclesiastical and political matters. Negotiations for union
were shortly commenced, and were concluded on the 8th of
May, 1858, when the two states became one.

In March, 1857, the volksraad of Lydenburg issued a
manifesto repeating the declaration of independence, and
inviting Europeans of all nationalities to settle in the country,
offering them full political privileges and land for nothing.

Within the boundaries of this Republic was the territory

occupied by the Bapedi tribe under the chief Sekwati, who
had submitted to Commandant-General Hendrik Potgieter
in 1846, but had successfully resisted an attempt to disarm
his people in 1852. The government of Lydenburg sent a
commission to confer with him upon the extent of the reserve

Moselekatae could have set up exactly the same claim. The true title under
which the Europeans held the district was the fact of beneficial occupation, of
possession taken at a time when it was war-swept, and the Bapedi and other
former owners were so scattered and wasted as to have lost the power of
holding it against the tribes of the coast. Swazi's object was to make friends
of the conquerors of Dingan, and he must have regarded the hundred head of
cattle as a mere present.
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within which he would be permitted to exercise authority,

and on the 17th of November, 1857, an arrangement was

made that he should have the district between the Olifants

and Steelpoort rivers. He promised to restore stolen cattle

brought within this reserve and to punish thieves. This

agreement, which was drawn up in writing and confirmed

by President P. J. Coetzer and the executive council of the

Republic of Lydenburg on the 9th of the following December,

placed Sekwati in a similar position to that occupied by a

powerful baron in England in feudal times.

We return now to the mission of Messrs. Pretorius and

Goetz. These gentlemen, with a retinue of ten Transvaal

farmers and forty Free State citizens who had joined them

on the way, arrived at Bloemfontein on the 22nd of February,

1857. The following day was the third anniversary of the

Orange Free State's independence. The volksraad was in

session, and had just resolved to adopt a flag and coat of

arms designed by the king of the Netherlands. The flag

had seven horizontal stripes of alternate white and orange,

with the Batavian tricolour in the upper corner next the

stafi*. The coat of arms bore on a shield the tree of liberty,

with a lion beneath it on one side and some sheep on the other

;

in the foreground was a waggon, and at the points of the

shield were three powder horns ; the mottoes were freedom,

patience and courage, immigration. Though no official

notice of the visit of Messrs. Pretorius and Goetz had been

made to the government, these gentlemen were invited to

be present at the meeting of the volksraad ; and when it was
resolved to hoist the flag on the fort and salute it with

appropriate ceremony, they were asked to accompany the

procession. Mr. Pretorius declined to do so, as such an act

would interfere with his views.

On the 24th there was a sharp altercation between the

volksraad and the Transvaal officers. It transpired that Mr.

Pretorius had sent a message to Moshesh, inviting the

chief to a conference at Bloemfontein ; and, as being the

heir of Commandant-General Andries Pretorius, he made
pretensions to authority in the state, which could not be
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admitted. On the 25th the volksraad issued a proclamation

repudiating the claims of Mr. Pretorius, and twenty-four

hours were allowed to him and Mr. Goetz to leave Bloem-

fontein. The Transvaal officers tiien proceeded to Natal,

but the advocates of union continued the agitation. Some
of them were theiefore called to account for sedition.

On the 7th of March the committee appointed by the

representative assembly, calling itself a " commissie volks-

raad," met at Potchefstroom. The Free State Government
sent a messenger to request the committee to disown the

proceedings of Mr. Pretorius, but that body replied approving

of them. Acting President Lombard's proclamation deposing

Mr. Schoeman from the office of commandant-sreneral was
ratified, and Mr. J. F. Dreyer was appointed in his stead.

On the 15th of April the new commandant-general and
the council of war addressed a letter to the authorities at

Bloemfontein, announcing that if the charge of sedition was
pressed against the partisans of Mr. Pretorius, they would
call out an armed force and march to the protection of the

persons prosecuted. The Free State Government had detained

twelve hundred pounds of lead which was in transit, and this

was declared a hostile act.

Eight days after the letter was written, the threat which
it contained was put into execution. An armed but not
very formidable force crossed the Vaal and entered the district

of Winburg, where it was joined by a number of advocates of
union. The leaders of this party in the Free State were
Messrs. Carel Frederik Geere and Hendrik Erasmus. Mr.
Pretorius hastened to put himself at the head of the
commando.

When intelligence of the invasion reached Bloemfontein,
President Boshof issued a proclamation declaring martial
law in force throughout the Free State, and calling out
the burghers for the defence of the country. It soon ap-
peared that the majority of the people were ready to sup-
port the president, and from all quarters men repaired to
Kroonstad, a village recently laid out on the False river,
where a camp was being formed. President Boshof himself
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was there. Commandant-General Schoeman, of Zoutpans-

ber^, sent a messenger to propose an alliance against Mr.

Pietorius, in which object he believed Lydenburg would also

join. He stated that he could muster from eigh:. hundred to

a thousand men.

From Kroonstad the Free State forces marched to a

camp near the Vaal, where there were assembled, under

Commandant-General Frederik Senekal, four commandants,

twenty-four Reld-cornets, and six hundred and eiglity-five

burghers, also t ."^enty-one armed and one hundred and sixty-

three unarmed blaiks.

Mr. Pretorius caused his followers, numbering from two

hundred and fifty to three hundred men, to encamp on two

hills on the southern side of the Vaal. His partisans in the

Free State did not come to his aid in such numbers as he

anticipated, and he had the mortification of learning that

Cai el Geere and five others who were foremost in maintaining

his cause had been arrested and were prisoners in President

Boshof's camp ; and further, that Commandant-General

Sclioeman, of Zoutpansberg, and Commandant-General

Joubert, of Lydenburg, were ready to join the Free State

against him.

On the 25th of May the two commandoes were drawn up

facing each other on opposite banks of the Rhenoster river,

and remained in that position for three hours. On both

sides there was great aversion to a combat, for there were

literally brothers, cousins, and other near relatives under the

opposing standards. The northern army could not hope for

success, and so Mr. Pretorius sent Commandant Paul Kruger

with a flag of truce to propose that a pacific settlement

should be made. This was gladly acceded to, and twelve

deputies were thereupon appointed on each side to arrange

the conditions of peace.

On the 27th of May the army of Mr. Pretorius recrossed

the Vaal, and the negotiations were commenced. On the

2nd of June a formal treaty was signed. It is worded as

follows :

—
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1. The deputies of the Orange Free State, in the name of the

government of the said state, acknowledge the South African Re-

public to the north of the Vaal river to be free and independent, as

well as the right of its inhabitants to establish such government
within the same as they shall think proper.

2. The deputies of the South African Republic, in the name of

its people and government, acknowledge tiip Orange Free State,

within its boundaries as they existed imder the administration of the

British Government, as free and independent, and also the right of

its inhabitants to establish sucli government therein as they shall

think proper.

3. The deputies above mentioned acknowledge the right of both
states to make thoir own laws, both ecclesiastical and political, and
to carry them out within their respective limits, in the same manner
as is universally practised and recognised among all civilised and
independent countries.

4. The deputies of the Orange Free State desire from the
deputies of the South African Republic, in the name of its govern-
ment, a declaration that the attempt made by their president, his

Honour Marthinus Wessel Pretorius, to ignore, render powerless, and
annul the existing authority of the Orange Free State, and excite

rebellion against the existing government on the part of its own
lawful subjects, is an illegal and blameworthy deed, and a promise
that the same will never again be permitted or supported on the side
of the government of the South African Republic ; acknowledging
the right of every people, in the event of such intermeddling, to
demand proper satisfaction, and in case of refusal to compel the
transgressor thereto by force of arms. The deputies of the South
African Republic acknowledge that they can find nothing in the
documents laid before them which gives a claim to the lauds of the
Orange Free State, or the right to interfere in the government ; and
if they find that the criminatory documents laid before them cannot
be refuted by sufficient proofs (which may by possibility exist, but of
which they are at this moment unaware), they are compelled to re-
gard the conduct of their government as blameworthy. They at
the same time fully guarantee, as previously acknowledged, that
they neither can nor will make any claim to the Orange Free State,
and consequently that they will not allow such at any time to be made.

5. On the ratification of this treaty of peace, the deputies pro-
mise, in the name of the government of the Orange Free State", to
exert their influence With the commandants Schoeman and Joubert,

'^ I
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to induce them to lay down the arrna which they have probably

already taken up against the government of the South African

Republic ; and the deputies of the South African Republic declare

themselves on their side disposed to conclude such terms with Messrs.

Schoeraan and Joubert as shall bo calculated to effect and consolidate

peace between them.

6. The deputies of both states promise to act with the greatest

indulgence in the punishment of seditious persons, after a proper

inquiry into their offences before the courts of both states. The

deputies of the South African Republic further promise to exert their

influence with such inhabitants of the Free State as may have already

taken up arms against their state, to cause them to lay them down.

7. The deputies of the Orange Free State promise, in the name

of the government of said state, to grant and extend within their

state the same rights and privileges to the burghers and subjects

of the South African Republic as are or shall be afforded to those

of the colonies of the Cape of Good Hope and Natal, and no more

;

provided that such rights and privileges be also reciprocally granted

and extended by the South African Republic to the Free State.

8. The deputic" of both states are agreed that the president or

chief administrative head of each state shall not have the right to visit

the state or territory of the other without previous notice being given.

9. The property which has been thus far seized since the

commencement of hostilities shall be delivered up.

10. The foregoing articles having been agreed to by the deputies

on both sides, peace is hereby concluded and established between

the South African Republic to the north of the Vaal river and

the Orange Free State.

On behalf of the Orange Free State :

J. J. Venter,

H. J. Joubert,

J. J. Klopper, 1- Members of the Volksraad.

F. P. Schnehage,

E. Brouwer,

F. J. Senekal, Commandant-General.

Michiel van der Walt, Commandant.

G. H. van der Walt, Commandant.

L. J. Papenfus, Field-cornet.

A. J. Bester, Field-cornet.

D. B. Grobbelaar, Field-cornet.

C. J. du Piooy, Justice of the Peace.

L. van Foreest, Secretary.
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On behalf of th3 South African Republic :

J. F. Dreyer, Commandant-General.

S. J. P. Kruger, Commandant.

J. P. Pretorius, Commandant.

M. J. Viljeon, Commandant.

J. H. M. Struben, Commandant.

C. J. Bodenstein, Field-cornet.

J. H. Nel, Field-cornet.

D. H. Botha, Landdrost.

J. H. Grobbelaar.

J. C. van dor Merwe.

D. A. Botha.

H. S. Lombard.

J. H. Visagie, Secretary.

Approved and confirmed by the Executive Council at the camp
at Vaal river, 1st June, 1857.

M. W. Pretorius, President.

H. S. Lombard, Member of the Executive Council.

Approved and confirmed at the Vaal river, Orange Free State
the 1st of June, 1857, by the Executive Council.

J. N. Boshof, State President and Chairman.

J. J. Venter, ) ,, ,
' Members.

:.}H. J. Joubert

On the 4th of June the Free State burghers were dis-
banded at Kroonstad.

Many citizens of the Free State who had joined the
northern forces moved over the Vaal after this event. Those
who remained and those who had been previously arrested
were brought to trial for high treason. Carel Geere was
sentenced to death, but, in accordance with the sixth clause
of the treaty, this sentence was mitigated to a fine of £150.
A good many others were fined from £25 to £1.50 each. In
September Messrs. S. J. P. Kruger and J. C. Steyn visited
Bloemfontein as a deputation from the government of the
South African Republic, charged principally to endeavour to
obtain a mitigation of these sentences. In this they were
successful.

Immediately after the conclusion of peace with the Free
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State an attempt was made by the government of the South

African Republic to effect a reconciliation with Zoutpans-

berg. On the 1st of July six deputies from each side met at

Rietfontein near the new village of Pretoria, and agreed that

all matters in dispute between them should be submitted to

the decision of a court of twelve individuals chosen by the

whole inhabitants, which court should sit for the purpose at

Rustenburg on the 9th of November.

On the 4th of September the volksraad met at Potchef-

stroom. It consisted of fifteen members. It ratified the

acts of the representative assembly in framing the constitutiou

and appointing a president, and it confirmed the treaty with

the Orange Free State. On the 11th it resolved to send a

deputation to Rustenburg on the 9th of November, and ex-

pressed an earnest wish for reconciliation with Zoutpans-

berg. There had hitherto been no printing press north of

the Vaal. Provision was now made for the publication of a

Gazette. The last subjects that came on for debate were the

supply of ammunition to Setyeli, chief of the Bakwena, and

the introduction of German missionaries.

Some time before this Setyeli had appeared before

President Pretorius, and had asked to be supplied with a

missionary and with ammunition to kill game. Since the

destruction of Kolobeng he had given no trouble to the Re-

public, though he had returned to Bantu customs after Dr.

Livingstone's influence over him was broken. His frank

conduct succeeded with the president, who, on the 9th of

April, 1857, wrote to the director of the nearest Moravian

mission asking that the chief's request might be complied

with. There was no Moravian missionary available, but a

Lutheran of the Hanoverian mission was procured, and he

had gone to reside with the Bakwena. The report as to

his teaching was eminently satisfactory. The volksraad

therefore resolved that the government might supply Setyeli

with sufficient ammunition for hunting purposes, and that the

Hanoverian mission society should be at liberty to establish

its a,<rents with other tribes in the Republic^

At this time complaints were beginning to be heard that
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the practice of transferring apprentices, or selling indentures,
was becoming frt aent. It was rumoured also that several

lawless individuals were engaged in obtaining black children
from neighbouring tribes, and disposing of them under the
name of apprentices. How many such cases occurred can-
not be stated with any pretension to accuracy, but the
number was not great. The condition of the country made
it almost impossible to detain anyone capable of performing
service longer than he chose to remain with a white master,
so that even if the farmers in general had been inclined to
become slaveholders, they could not carry such inclinations
into practice. The acts of a few of the most unruly indi-
viduals in the country might, however, endanger the peace
and even the independence of the Republic. The president
therefore, on the 29th of September, 1857, issued a procla-
mation pointing o'

. that the sale or barter of black children
was forbidden b^ the recently adopted constitution, and
prohibiting transfers of apprenticeships, except when made
before landdrosts.

The court which was to have assembled at Rustenburg
on the 9th of November did not meet at the time appointed.
The district of Zoutpansberg was in a very unsettled con-
dition, and Mr. Schoeman wrote to President Pretorius that
the date must be postponed to the 15th of January, 1858.
In the meantime he rejected offers of assistance to restore
order which Mr. Pretorius made, spoke angrily of such offers
as attempts to interfere in his district, and acted generally
in so surly a manner that a great many of those who had
hitherto supported him now became strong advocates of the
new constitution. When at length the final negotiations
took place, he found himself in such a position that he could
not demand conditions which he might have enforced a few
months before. Some slight modifications were made in a
few articles of the constitution, to meet the views or the
pride of the people of the district, and Zoutp .nsberg was
mcorporated with the Republic. Mr. Schoeman was then
acknowledged as command.int-goneral of the whole country.
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CHAPTER III

THE WARS OF THE ORANGE FREE STATE IN 1858 WITH THE
BASUTO, THE KORANAS, AND THE BATLAPIN

Proposal of Moshesh to call in Sir George Grey as arbitrator—Factions in the
Free State—Resignation of President Boshof and his restoration to office

by the volksraad—Efforts of the Basuto to provoke hostilities—Decision of
the volksraad—Raid by Poshuli—Call of the burghers to arms—Reception
of Jan Letele as a subject of the Free State—Ultimatum sent to Moshesh
—Declaration of war—Comparison of forces—Summary of causes that led
to war—Commencement of hostilities—Events at Beersheba—Tho Free
State plan of campaign—Moshesh's plan—Capture of Vechtkop—Progress
of the commando of the south—Battles of Koranaberg and Cathcart's Drift
—Junction of the two commandoes—Destruction of Morija—Arrival of the
army at Thaba Bosigo—Raids by the Basuto into the Free State—Dissolu-
tion of the Free State army—Appeals of President Boshof to President
Pretorius and Sir George Grey—Action of the volksraad of the South
African Republic—Action of the Parliament of Cape Colony—Accept-
ance of Sir George Grey's ofifer of mediation—Truce between the Free State
and the Basuto—Dealings with David Danser and Goliath Yzerbek—Mur-
ders and robberies committed by Scheel Kobus—Alliance of Goliath
Yzerbek and the Batlapin chiefs Gasibone and Matlabane with Scheel
Kobus—Account of the Batlapin—Raids into the Free State and South
African Republic—Expedition against Scheel Kobus—Massacre of prisoners
—Expedition against Gasibone and Mahura—Terms of peace with Mahura
—EflForts towards union of the Orange Free State and the South African
Republic—Agreement between Moshesh and commissioners of the two
Republics—Mediation of Sir George Grey between the Free State a,nd the
Basuto—Conclusion of peace—Terms of the treaty of peace.

While the Free State was distracted with the events

described in the last chapter, Moshesh was careful not to

commit himself to either party, though he led Mr. Pretorius

to believe that he was a staunch friend. At the same time

he spared no efforts to secure the favour, or at least the

neutrality, of the government of the Cape Colony. He
offered to submit the question of the ownership of the

ground adjoining the Warden line between the Orange and

the Caledon to Sir George Grey's arbitration, but under

conditions that would have left him master of tlie situation

\
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no matter what the decision might be. In reply, the
governor declined to interfere until made acquainted with
all that had transpired between him and Mr. Pretorius.
This letter must have increased Moshesh's conviction that
Sir George Grey was watching him closely. He now sent
his son Nehemiah to reside at the Koesberg, and gave him
instructions to suppress stock-lifting, which Nehemiah did
pretty effectually for several months, thus showing that
Moshesh had power to control his subjects, if he were but
mclined to use it. The efforts of Nehemiah to preserve
order relaxed, however, about the close of 1857.

In February, 1858, when the volksraad assembled the
condition of the Free State was such as to cause grave
anxiety The proceedings connected with the recent trial
and execution of an Englishman, named Charles Leo Cox for
the murder of his wife and two children, were held by most
of his countrymen in the ^iepublic to have been irregular
and the English party had become bitter opponents of
President Boshof. The burghers who were in favour of
union with the South African Republic formed a respectable
minority, and they were likewise in opposition. There were
thus three political parties in the country.

Weary of dissension, and feeling the mortification of
being impotent for good, on the 25th of February Mr
Boshof tendered his resignation. The volksraad requested
him to retain office, but he persisted, and on the following
day his resignation was accepted. An executive commission
consisting of Messrs. G. du Toit, E. R. Snyman, and J J
Hoffman, was appointed to act until an election could take
place, and was formally installed at noon on the 1st of
March But in the meantime a large number of burghers
were brmging pressure to bear on the volksraad, and on the
entreaty of a considerable majority of the members of that
body, Mr. Boshof was induced to withdraw his resignation
in the evening of the same day The most violent of his
opponents then declared the president's chair vacant, on the
ground that after the acceptance of his resignation, and the
appointment of a committee to act, he could only be restored
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by a general election. Several members in consequence

vacated their seats and retired to their homes.

While these wranglings were taking place, Moshesh was

endeavouring to provoke the burghers to commence hostilities.

In answer to the continued demands of President Boshof for

the horses which he had bound himself to deliver, and of

which he had sent in only forty-five, letters of the most

frivolous nature were written, indicating that he was treating

the matter with contempt. Hunting parties of from three

to five hundred armed and mounted men entered the Free

State when and where they pleased, and trespassed upon

farms in defiance of the owners. In the districts of

Harrismith, Winburg, and Smithtield, farms held under

English titles were taken possession of by petty Basuto

captains, and when attempts were made to remove the

intruders, Moshesh and Letsie claimed the right of inter-

fering. Events had reached that condition which can only

be remedier- by war.

The volksraad, feeling the grave responsibility of the

step, but convinced that further remonstrances would be

futile, authorised the president to prevent intrusion upon

the territory of the stato. They claimed the Warden line as

their boundary, which Moshesh did not cease to ignore.

The president accordingly wrote to Moshesh requesting him

to warn the marauding chiefs that " henceforth cattle-steal-

ing, and more particularly the intruding upon any part of

the state by armed bands for whatever purpose or upon

whatever pretence, without permission previously obtained,

would be regarded as acts of open hostility, and that

measures would be taken to punish such parties and their

chiefs in such a manner as to teach them to respect the

rights of the burghers and the peace of the territory." The

illusion was maintained throughout this letter that the great

chief was personally inclined for peace, and that the hostile

acts of the petty captains were committed in disobedience

of his orders. It was therefore stated that the volksraad

had no intention of disturbing the good understanding

between him and themselves, and trusted that he would not
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support the marauders. But that there might be no doubt
as to what was really intended, a sentence was added that
" no further warning would be given."

Five days after this letter was written, Moshesh's
brother Poshuli, with his own followers and some retainers
of the Baphuti chief Morosi, took forcible possession of
one of the best farms in the Smithfield district, which had
previously been in the occupation of Mr. Jan de Winnaar
and to which the mission station of Hebron was subsequently
removed. The petty chief Lebenya, who was a cousin of
Jan Letele, had previously seized several other farms in that
neighbourhood, and had destroyed the buildings and orchards
upon them. It was known at the same time that Letsie
had assembled a large party of warriors, and was ready to
move m any direction. There could no longer be a possi-
bility of staving off war, except by the abandonment of the
country. The landdrost of Smithfield therefore called out
the burghers of his district, and as soon as the tidings
reached Bloemfontein measures were taken to mobilise
almost the entire force of the Republic. While this was
taking place, Letsie and Moperi were writing to ask what
au the excitement was about, and Nehemiah was protesting
that Poshuli had made the inroad in ignorance that he was
doing anything wrong.

There was some correspondence, and several meetings
were held, but all was hollow on both sides. The Free State
Government was trying to gain time to collect the forces of
Its western and northern districts, and Moshesh was tryin.- to
make it appear that the farmers were the aggressors. The
Usuto chiefs all denied positively that they were assembling
their warriors, but it is ce tain that they had already done
so Only four days after the raid, Morosi and those of his
tollowers who had not previously joined Poshuli crossed the
Orange to aid Letsie. At the same time that these events
were taking place in the south, Molitsane and his Bataung
were plundering the inhabitants of Winburg, where five
robbers were shot dead, and two others and a farmer were
wounded.
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By the 10th of March, a tolerably strong commando was

encamped on the border of the disturbed district. The presi-

dent was there with several members of the volksraad, the

landdrost of Smithfield, and other influential men.

On that day came Jan Letele with a party of his followers

to the Free State camp, and requested the president to

receive him as a subject. He had been one of the most

troublesome of all the petty captains on the border, and

there was no affection wasted between him and the farmers ;

but in such straits did the government of Mr. Boshof feel

itself, that the council which met to consider the matter re-

solved to accede to the request. In most cases of the kind

the defection of a clan from the tribe to which it belongs

is only feigned for strategic purposes. In this instance it

was not so, and the burghers knew that the enmity between

the grandson of Motlomi and the family of Moshesh was so

bitter that they could depend upon his doing nothing to

favour their foes. Yet the acceptance of Jan Letele as a

subject, even in these exceptional circumstances, proved to

be a great blunder. It carried with it the necessity of pro-

tecting him thereafter, and the responsibility for his and his

people's acts.

On the same afternoon a council of war was held, with

President Boshof as chairman. It was decided to endeavour

to strengthen the forces, and to commence hostilities after

fourteen days, unless Moshesh should in the meantime

acknowledge the Warden line, and agree to make compensa-

tion for all thefts traced to his people.

On the 11th the president sent to Moshesh an ultimatum,

in which, after a recital of recent events, he demanded a

reply to the following questions, to be sent to Bloemfontein

before the meeting of the executive council on the 19th of the

month ; and informed the chief that upon the answer would

depend peace or war

:

1. Are you willing to force and oblige Poshuli and Lebenya

within the period of or,/; month to pay the damages caused by them

or their people to tlu- farms of our burghers, r^s above stated,

according to a fair valuation %

1
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2. Will you promise to take prompt measures to prevent cattle-
stealing in our territories, and to remove Poshuli and Lebenya far
away from our boundaries ?

3. Will you engage, without any further delay, to pay up the
arrears of compensation for horses stolen by Basuto, as already un-
dertaken by you, and to cause compensation to be made, according
to your agreement with me, for such thefts as can be shown to have
been subsequently committed by your subjects 1

4. Will you engage to respect the boundary lines of our state,
such as you agreed to with Major Warden, and which were confirmed
by Her Majesty the Queen of England's high commissioner. Sir
Harry Smith—until such time as an alteration may be agreed to
therein by the paramount chief of the Basuto nation and the
authorities of the Free State, either by mutual consent or by way
of arbitration as proposed by you to his Excellency the governor of
the Cape Colony, to which this Government is inclined, upon fair and
reasonable terms, to accede—and prevent your people from entering
our state armed on any pretence whatever, on pain of being treated
as enemies, unless previous consent shall have been obtained from
the landdrost 1

Of the first three of these demands Moshesh took no
notice whatever, though to the third he miglit in justice
have replied that as a very large proportion of the thefts had
been committed by adherents of Jan Letele, the acceptance
of these people as Free State subjects absolved him from
payment of the balance of the debt. To the fourth demand
be only replied after the date named, in consequence of
which war against the Basuto was proclaimed at Bloemfontein
on the 19th of March, 1858.

There were among the burghers rash and thoughtless men
who entered eagerly into this war, but the great majority of
them felt that nothing but the direst necessity could justify
their embarking in it. They had no soldiers, not even a body
of police. They would be obliged to take the field entirely
at their own expense, while during their absence from home
not only must their ordinary employments be suspended, but
their families must be left without protection. Their enemy
occupied a country which was one vast fortress, from any
point of which he could send out parties of light horse to
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54 History of South Africa

pillage the plains while they were engaged at a distance.

He would fight only behind defences which they must attack,

and his force was to theirs as fifteen or twelve to one.

Lastly, it was then supposed that the Basuto were as well

armed as the farmers. Some renegade whites had shown

Moshesh's people how to make gunpowder, and they had pre-

pared a supply, which, however, was found after the war

commenced to be of inferior quality.

The events which led to hostilities have been traced in

preceding pages, but it may make the subject clearer to

summarise them here. Land was the chief factor in the

quarrel. Each party claimed a considerable strip of terri-

tory, and each had grounds for asserting a right to it. It

had been given to Moshesh by Governor Sir George Napier

in a formal treaty, and the chief sometimes maintained that

his subsequent cession of it to Major Warden had been

cancelled by Sir George Clerk, at other times significantly

observed that when Sir George Cathcart left the Berea he

took all boundary beacons away with him. It was partly

occupied by Basuto, and had been so for twelve or fifteen

years. The Europeans claimed it by right of possession

taken when it was vacant, and of holding their farms under

English titles issued by the Sovereignty government. In their

view it was part of a great district utterly waste before the

simultaneous migration into it of themselves and the Basuto,

between whom the Warden line was a boundary whic' gave

a fair proportion to each. That line had been consented to

by Moshesh in writing, had never to their knowledge been

cancelled, and was the boundary recognised by the goverment

from which they had taken over tl: ' country.

Constant thefts of cattle by the Basuto, and the im-

possibility of obtaining redress, must next be considered.

And here one is struck by the apparent anomaly of the Free

State Government requiring Moshesh to keep order over

people on ground claimed by itself. But this was consistent

with the policy constantly pursued by the Dutch from the

beginning of their colonisation of South Africa, of interfering

as little as possible with the internal affairs of native tribes,
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of bringing them under subjection to European courts of
law only in cases where Europeans were also concerned. In
effect it was saying to Moshesh : These thieves are your
people, you claim jurisdiction over them, and we have no
desire to interfere between them and you we wish you to
remove them from our country, but if you do not, then you
must keep them in order ; otherwise you must engage not to
protect them, and we will punish them ourselves. This line

of action was quite in accordance also with Basuto law.
Every native tribe in South Africa, if plundered as the border
farmers had been, would regard such treatment as a declara-
tion of war. Moshesh must have directed or at least con-
nived at Poshuli's conduct, with a view of forcing the white
people to abandon the disputed territory. As for Jan Letele
and Lebenya, the great chief did not choose to punish them
for their depredations and violent conduct, for he had built up
his power by conciliation, and he had too little regard for

the Free State Government to dread its resentment.

Active hostilities commenced at Beersheba mission station

on the 23rd of March. This station had been founded in

1836 by the reverend Mr. RoUand, who had gathered together
a mixed body of people, with whom he still resided as pastor.

Each of the clans there had its own government, but the
missionary and such residents as were of the Basuto tribe

acknowledged the supremacy of Moshesh. It was considered
necessary, before the Free State forces should enter the
Lesuto proper, to guard against the danger of leaving a body
of the enemy behind, and therefore Mr. Sauer, landdrost of
Smithfield, was directed with the burghers of his district to
disarm the natives there and drive out such as would not
submit.

Having ascertained that some Basuto warriors from
Elandsberg were on the way to join their friends at Beer-
sheba, Mr. Sauer sent a company of his men forward to the
ford of the Caledon to prevent their crossing, and with the
remainder of the burghers he proceeded to the station. Moe-
letsi, the most powerful of the chiefs, had, however, received
intimation of the approach of the burghers, and during the
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preceding nighi had gone off with all his followers capable

of bearing arms, leaving the women, children, and feeble of

his clan under the care of the missionary.

Early in the morning the Basuto from Elandsberg arrived

at the ford where tUe f:.5')'l<( r patrol was waiting for them,

and the first skirmish ui. the war took place, in whicli about

twenty blacks were killed.

Mr. Sauer having called upon the men of the station to

surrender their arms, one of the chiefs, a Morolong named
Mooi, complied. Sufficien' time bytviug been allowed, and
the other residents of the place having declined to give up
their weapons, fire was opened upon them, and about thirty

were killed. The retainers of Mareka, a Basuto captain who
had shown resistance, were driven from the station, and their

property was confiscated. Mareka himself was made a

prisoner and taken to Smithfield, and it was thought prudent

to retain Mooi also o-s a hostage for the good behaviour of

his people. The only casualties of the burghers during the

day were two men slightly wounded.

Thus the war commenced by the destruction of a mission

station, for Beersheba never recovered from the events of

that day. The people who had been living there were com-
paratively inoffensive, and yet they weie the first and most
severe sufferers. Mr. Rolland saw the fruits of twenty-two
years of labour scattered to the winds in a couple of hours.

One does not need to answer the vexed question as to which
does most towards the civilisation of the natives, the farmer
or the missionary ; for no matter what reply is given, one
must feel sympathy for a man in Mr. RoUand's position. Yet
there was no other cour&e open for the Free State Govern-
ment than to do as it did. To have left the people of Moeletsi

and Mareka armed in the rear of the commando entering

Basutoland would have been an omission of egregious folly.

There were no military or [)olice force available to watch those

chiefs and prevent them from executing hostile acts. It was
thus necessarj/ to disarm them, and to pre 'eed to extremities

against such as would not yield. The measure was carried

out without any undue violence, and it was only after every

\\mm
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reasonable effort to prevent bloodshed had failed that fire

was opened. It was war, and war spares not those who
hesitate to lay down their arms.

The plan of campaign adopted by the Free State Govern-
ment was to send two commaniloes into the Lesuto, one from
the north, the other from the south, to meet before Thaba
Bosifjo and endeavour to carry that stronghold by storm.

hy this means it was hoped that the attention of the Basuto
would bu taken up with the defence of their villages and
cattle, and that the field of operations might be limited to

their country.

But in Moshes^ the Free State had to deal with one
whose early manhood had been passed in war, and who had
risen to power by means of military ability displayed chiefly

as a strategist. He had forgotten nothing since the days of

Matiwane and Urapangazita, but had learnt much. He sent

his cattle into distant and almost inaccessible mountain
ravines, and then gave orders to his captains to fight at

every point of advantage, but when pressed close to fall back
and draw the Free State commandoes after them.

Commandant-General Hendiik Weber, with the burghers
of the southern portion of the state and Jan Letele's people,

marched first to Vechtkop, the headquarters of Poshuli. On
the 28th of March Nehemiah and Poshuli were met with
there, and after an engagement x ^treated, leaving the villages

of the latter to their fate. On the following day they were
burnt, and the commando then proceeded northward. On
the 30th it was at Mohali's Hoek, where in an ambush it lost

sixteen men killed and wounded, but had the satisfaction of
killing nearly four times as many Basuto, as well as one
renegade European, and of capturing a few hundred cattle.

From Mohali's Hoc the commando marched against Letsie,

but its progress was impeded by the action of the council of
war, a debating society before which all questions of import-
ance were required to be brought, and to whose decisions the
commandant-general was obliged to conform. This council
resolved that it would be imprudent to attack Letsie, and
the commando therefore fell back to Jammerberfr Drift.
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The column formed of the burghers of tho noitheru part

of the Free State was in two divisions, under Commandants F.

Senokal and W. J. Pretorius. On the 25th of March Moperi

and Molitsano were defeated at Koranaberg by Commandant
Pretorius. On the 12th, 13th, and 14th of April, at Catlicart's

Drift, this column had a series of engagements with the

warriors of Molapo, Moperi, and Molitsane, who surrounded

and threatened to annihilate it with their overwhelming
numbers. But by this time it was known that the gunpowder
manufactured by the Basuto was incapable of carrying a ball

farther than a hundred and fifty to two hundred yards, so that

the difference of number was more than compensated. The
column forced its way out of the dense ring of warriors, but

not before it had lost seventeen men, killed and wounded.

On the 25th the two columns effected a junction. Three
days later Mr. Frederik Senekal was elected commandant-
general in place of Mr. H. Weber, and an attack was made
upon Letsie, who was posted with about four thousand

warriors on the heights close to his village, the mission

station of Morija. After some skirmishing Letsie gave way,
and retreated to Thaba Bosigo. The commando then took

possession of his village, when the burghers were horrified

by finding portions of the corpses of some of their friends

who had fallen at Mohali's Hoek. The Basuto priests had
brought these ghastly relics there for the purpose of using

them as matter to bewitch and bring evil upon their oppo-

nents, and had concealed them from other eyes—particularly

from those of women—in a laboratory of their own, which
was discovered when the commando entered. Exasperated

by this sight, the burghers condemned the village to the

same fate as that to which they had devoted the kraals of

the robber Poshuli, and spared only the church and the

property of the missionary Maeder.

The reverend Mr. Arbousset, with his family and six English

traders and mechanics, who had been living at Morija, left

the place before the commando entered it. It was believed

by the burghers that they had fought on the Basuto side,

but this has since been disproved. Mr. Arbousset removed
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his family to a cavo in a neighbouring mountain, owing to

the illness of one of his daughters, and his feur that if the

place were attacked the excitement might prove fatal to her.

Why the traders left Morija has never yet been satisfactorily

explained, for as neutrals they had nothing to fear from the

Free State forces. Mr. Maeder, who remained at his house,

suffered no molestation, nor did any other peaceable indi-

vidual encountered by the commando in the Lesuto.

The property of those who fled, being left without pro-

tection, met with the same treatment as that of the Basuto.

This event caused a great deal of discussion in South Africa

and among the mission societies of Europe. The French

consul at Capetown requested the high commissioner to pro-

tect his countrymen, and the British subjects whose property

had been destroyed petitioned him to obtain compensation

for them from the Free State Government. But all parties

in the end, though regretting the event, came to see that

the destruction of property under such circumstances was
nothing unusual in war. The Imperial Government declined

to interfere in the matter, and the volksraad refused to re-

compense either the missionary or the traders, but voted

£100 to the Paris mission society to make good the damage
its buildings had sustained.

From Morija the Free State forces marched to Thaba
Bosigo, where they arrived on the 6th of May. A body of

Basuto encountered at the foot of the mountain made a

show of resistance, but after skirmishing for four hours took

to flight. The burghers had before their eyes at last the

object of their expedition, and they recognised at once the

hopelessness of securing it. The frowning precipices of the

great citadel, hundreds of feet in height, were beyond the

power of man to scale, and the few steep pathways to its

summit were fortified in the strongest manner, and defended
by a garrison amply provided with munitions of war.

During the fortnight preceding the arrival of the burgher
forces before Thaba Bosigo, various rumours had reached
the camps that the Basuto had invaded the Free State and
were spreading devastation far and wide. What was at
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first doubtful was by and by confirmed. It was known that
on the 14th of April, while Ihe northern column was fight-
ing at Cathcart's Drift with one great swarm, a body of
light horsemen had spread over the district of Winburg, had
swept off" all the stock in its track, and had left behind
nothing but smouldering ruins. It was known, too, that this

was only the first of a series of raids in that direction. And
now came intelligence that on the 26th of April the district

of Smithfield had been pillaged and laid waste in a similar
manner. With such tidings in their ears, and with an im-
pregnable stronghold before their eyes, there came but one
thought to the burghers, that of returning to their families.

A council of war was speedily held, and a resolution to break
up the commando was adopted. Without an hour's delay
it was acted upon, and every man set off for his home as
quickly as he could.

Even before this utter collapse. President Boshof saw
plainly that the Free State was unc.bb to hold its own in
war against the Basuto. He had applied to President
Pretorius for assistance, but it was as yet doubtful what
course the sister Republic would take. On the 4th of May
the volksraad of the northern state met at Potchefstroom,
when twelve memorials numerously signed by Free State
burghers were read, all urgently asking for aid. It appeared
to tlie volksraad as if a favourable opportunity for the union
of the two countries had arrived, and a resolution was
adopted that President Pretorius and Commandant-General
Schoeman should proceed to Bloemfontein and endea/our to
restore peace. Should Moshesh refuse reasonable terms, the
united countries would deal with him.

Before this resolution was adopted. President Boshof
had turned to Sir George Grey. That governor had pro-
claimed a strict neutrality, and though a few individuals
could not be prevented from going to aid their brethren,
nor a few adventurers from crossing the river to take service
as substitutes for burghers who could afford to pay them
liberally, the whole succour thus obtained was probably less

than that which Moshesh was receiving from neighbouring
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native tribes. Moroko's Barolong, indeed, were in arms on
the Free State side, but their weight was trifling in the scale

against Moshesh.

On the 27th of April Mr. Boshof wrote to Sir George
Grey, asking for his intercession as a humane and Christian

act. The Cape Parliament was then sitting, and the governor
without any delay informed the chamber of the president's

application. Hereupon the legislative council unanimously
resolved " that a respectful address be presented to his

Excellency the governor, thanking him for his message
relative to the melancholy state of affairs in the Orange
Free State, and expressing the cordial approval of this

council of a friendly mediation on the part of his Excellency,
and their earnest hope that he may thus be enabled to restore
peace and amicably to settle all differences between the
president of the Free State and the Basuto chief."

In the house of assembly a resolution was passed " that
his Excellency the governor should be requested by this
house to tender his services to mediate between the president
of the Free State and the chief of the Basuto, with the view
of bringing about a termination of the disastrous war now
raging in their territories, and of settling the disputes
between them which have unfortunately led to the war ; but
it is the opinion of this house that in case of either party
declining to accept his Excellency's mediation, his Excellency
should not further interfere, or take any step which might,
either directly or indirectly, involve or comoromise this
colony in the differences existing between the Free State
and the Basuto."

As soon as these resolutions were passed, the governor
tendered his services as a mediator to Mr. Boshof and
Moshesh. The president and executive council of the Free
State gratefully accepted the offer, and the volksraad, as
soon as it met, approved of their having done so. Moshesh
also agreed unconditionally to the governor's mediation, for
though he was apparently master of the situation, he was
wise enough to see that if he pushed his advantages too far
he would bring a new enemy into the field. The union of
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the two Republics was a contingency that he had to take into

consideration.

Before either the deputation from the South African

Republic or Sir George Grey's offer of media'-ion reached

Bloemfontein the Free State forces had dissolved, and Mr.

Boshof was compelled to make overtures to Moshesh for a

suspension of hostilities. He wrote asking the chief if he

would receive a deputation, or if he would consent to

President Pretorius of the South African Republic arranging

an aimistice. Moshesh replied in a haughty and sarcastic

manner, threw the blame of the war upon the Free State,

accused the burghers of acting as barbarians, and stated that

he had not yet begun to fight ; but he consented to receive

a deputation to arrange a truce. Messrs, L. J. Papenfus

and W. G. Every were then sent to Thaba Bosigo, and on

the 1st of June an armistice was agreed upon and signed,

imder which all military operations on both sides were to be

Huspcoded until Sir George Grey should arrange the final

terms of peace. There was, however, to be no intercourse

other than by official messengers between the contracting

parties during that interval.

Tht! Republic had other foes to contend with. Away on

its western border several of the petty chiefs, believing the

time favourable for securing plunder, commenced to ravage

the country in their neighbourhood. Scheel Kobus was the

first to take the fieid. His location was part of a tract of

land along the left bank ot the Vaal from Platberg to the

curve opposite the junction of the Hart, which Major Warden

had set apart as a reserve for clans of Korana and mixed

Korana and Bushman blood. From this reserve Jan Bloem,

the most powerful of all the captains, had wandered away.

Scheel Kobus, Goliath Yzerbek, and David Danser were the

other proprietors.

Goliath and Danser had been quarrelling ever since they

had been located together. Various attempts had been

made by the Free State Government to bring about a better

feeling between them, but to no purpose. At last, in August,

1857, Danser paid a visit to Bloemfontein and offered Presi-
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dent Boshof to sell his rights in the reserve for £75, and
move away beyond the Vaal. The volksraad immediately
authorised the president to agree to the proposal, but Danser
then held back. Upon this, Goliath offered to dispose of his
rights and move off if the Free State would pay him £100.
The proposal was closed with, the money was paid, and it

was believed that there was one difficulty less on the border.
In February, 1858, the volksraad authorised the president to
buy out Danser for £100, and to offer the Berlin Mission
£100 for their rights in the station ground, so that the only
part of the reserve left would be that occupied by Scheel
Kobus. The negotiations necessary to carry this resolution
into effect had not, however, been entered into when the
Basuto war commenced.

Scheel Kobus was not known to have any cause of com-
plaint, real or imaginary, against the burghers in his neigh-
bourhood. On the 24th of May, without any provocation
whatever, at the head of about three hundred men he made
an inroad into the state and s\7ept off two hundred head of
horned cattle, two thousand sheep, seventy-three horses, four
waggons, and some other property. The raiders murdered a
farmer, Zachaiias Zwanepoel by name, and wounded two
others, named Roelof du Plooy and Jacobus Coetsee. They
retreated with their booty to a fastness at the bend of the
Vaal river, where they had made a fortification of ditches
and trunks of trees.

The example set by Scheel Kobus was immediately fol-
lowed by other chiefs. Goliath Yzerbek joined the robber,
as did Gasibone and Matlabane, captains of clans of the
Batlapin.

The Batlapin had long since abandoned Lithako and
Kuruman, where the missionaries of the London Society had
found them, and had made their kraals along the lower course
of the Hart river. Practically they were now divided into
several independent clans. Molehabangwe had been found by
the traveller Burchell in undisputed authority over the whole
Batlapin tribe. He had been succeeded as paramount chief
by his son of highest rank, named Mothibi, with whom the
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mission of Kururaan was founded. But after a while Mothibi

left Kururaau and settled at Likhatlong, taking only a por-

tion of the tribe with him. His younger brother Mahura,

son of Molehabangwo by an inferior wife, then became the real

head of the remainder of the people. He went to reside at

Taung, leaving Kuruman to be occupied by remnants of tribes

from the north.

Upon Mothibi's death another division took place. His

hoir in the great line had died some years earlier, leaving

only a son by an inferior wife, so that the youth was not

entitled to succeed as paramount chief. Mothibi's eldest

surviving son—Gasibone by name—was of the great house,

but made no etfort to assert supremacy over Mahura. He

moved to a new kraal, leaving a younger brother named

Jantje at Likhatlong. In 1858 Gasibone was the Batlapin

chief of highest rank, but in reality Mahura was more power-

ful. The following genealogical table shows the line of

descent of these and later chiefs who have come into

prominence

:

Molehabangwe

Mothibi

Gasibone

I

Botlasitsi

Jantje

I

Molala

I

Mankoioane

Mahura

The Batlapin were not subjects of the South African

Republic. Their country, owing to Moselekatse's friendship

with the reverend Mr. Moffat, had never been overrun by the

Matabele, and consequently was not taken possession of by

the Emigrant Farmers. They were believed to be friendly
;

but the temptation of plunder was too great for them to resist.

Gasibone and Matlabane, one of his sub-chiefs, joinel

Scheel Kobus, and on the 30th of May made a raid into the

Free State, murdered two men named Lombard and Van

Aswegen, brutally ill-treated three children and a woman,

drove another woman and her children from their home, and

retired with a quantity of plunder.
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On the 8th of Juno the combined horde made a third in-
road, murdered a man named Jan Coetsee, and swept off" a
quantity of stock. A body of farmers collected hastily and
went in pursuit of the marauders, whom they overtook. A
skirmish followed, in which a burgher named Jacob Diederikse
was killed and two others were wounded, but tlie stock was
retaken and some twenty of the raiders were shot. The
roboer horde then plundered some farms on the other side of
the river. An old burgher named Opperman was murdered,
and his wife and grand-daughter were carried away as cap-
tives by Matlabane.

A commando was got together by the Free State as soon
as possible. It consisted of two hundreJ and forty burghers
and one hundred and sixty blacks, these last comprising a
party of Fmgos from Bloemfontein and the warriors of
David Danser, who declared himself the firm friend of the
white man as soon as it was known that Goliath had joined
Scheel Kobus. Mr. Hendrik Venter was elected commandant-
general. With him was associated Mr. James Michael
Howell, an English officer on half-pay, who was then filling
the situation of landdrost of Winburg.

On the 5th of July the commando attacked the robbers-
stronghold, and hemmr-i the horde in so that escape was
impossible. No Batlapin was there at the time. The place
was taken by assault, with a loss of one man killed and three
wounded on the side of the Europeans, and of one hundred
and twelve men killed on the side of the robbers. Among the
dead were Scheel Kobus and his brother. The corpses were
tho8e of different tribes, among them being se- oral Griquas.
A tew women and children were also killed by the fire of the
Imrghers, poured in asthe place was being stormed. Forty-
three adult males and fifty women and children were taken
prisoners.

It was considered necessary to send one of the wounded
tmropeans, Alber^ van d-r Westhuizen by nau.e. to the village

Boshof for surgical treatment. For that purpose he was
placed in a waggon, which was provided with an escort of
SIX farmers and nine blacks. On the wav a. nnrt.r of n.,o;
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bone's Batlapin was met, when the escort in a cowardly

manner left the wounded man to his fate and fled. The
wafjgon was seized by the Batlapin, and Van der Westhuizen

was cruelly mvirdered.

The commandant-general directed forty-two of the male
prisoners to be taken to the jail at Bloemfontein. They
were placed under charge of the Bloemfontein Fingos, who
were commanded by a volunteer officer named O'Brien. On
the 12th of July Mr. O'Brien reached Boshof, where he

heard so many threats against the prisoners that he applied

to the commandant-general for further orders before leaving

the village. He was instructed to go on. On the 14th he left

Boshof, and when only a few miles from the village, a party

of thirty men, with theii laces veiled, rode up and announced
their intention to shoot the prisoners. The only grace

allowed the wretched captives was to run, and they were
shot down in a vain effort to escape. This dastardy deed

was committed in .;ool blood, in the broad light of day. And
its perpetrators were never punished, for the condition of the

country was sucii that they could not be brought to trial,

although the outburst of indignation was general.

With this tragic event the oatbreak ended on the Free

State side of the Vaal, but north of that river the Batlapin

were yet to be dealt with. The South African Republic sent

a burgher force under Commandant Paul Kruger against the

marauders. Gasibone fled to his kinsman, Mahura, who had
taken no part in the disturbances, but who was not disposed

to abandon the head of his family in a time of need.

On the 5th of July President Pretorius wrote to Mahura,

requesting the delivery of the robbers, and on the 27th

Commandant Kruger did the same, asking of him also as a

proof of friendship to send out the two white women who
were prisoners with Matlabane. On the 5th, and again on the

7th of August, Commandant Kruger wrote from his camp
repeating this request, but to no purpose. On tlie last

occasion he stated that if the murderers and the stolen

property were given up, not a drop of blood would be spilt.

On the 7th of August the two white women were brought
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into the camp, their release having been effected by Mr.
Edward Chapman, a trader at Kuruman. On the same day
Commandant Kruger's force was joined by sixty-four burghers
from the Free State under Commandant Hendrik Venter,
and by David Danser's whole following. The Batlapin were
then attacked, and though they occupied very strong posi-
tions, in a series of skirmishes which took place from the 9th
to the 13th of August they lost a large number of men. On
the 13th Gasibone was killed. His head was cut off and
sent to Mahura, the reason assigned for such a barbarous act
being that otherwise the Batlapin would deny that he had
fallen.

Upon the death of Gasibone, Mahura immediately sent
to ask for peace. Commandant Kruger invited him to come
to the camp to arrange terms, but he replied that he was
afraid to do so, and would therefore send his councillors to
represent him. With these an agreement was made that
Mahura should surrender all the property that had been
stolen in both the Republics, and in addition, make good the
costs of the commando within three months. To this effect
a document was signed by both parties on the 18th of
August.

In this campaign the Batlapin loss of life was heavy, and
two thousand eight hundred head of horned cattle, 'four
thousand sheep and goats, sixty-five horses, and twenty-three
waggons were taken from them. A great part of this spoil
however, consisted of property stolen fron> fa-raers in the
different raids. This was restored to the owners or their
heirs, and the remainder was divided among the members of
the commando.

On the 7th of June, just a fortnight after the first raid of
Seheel Kobus, President Pretorius. accompanied by Com-
mandant Paul Kruger and about twenty other persons, arrived
in Bloemfontein. On the same day the volksraad of the Free
btate met in extraordinary session. Throughout the country
the sufferings of the people had been such that the bravest had
almost lost heart Along the Basuto border and far towards
the centre of the state the burghers had been reduced to
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extreme poverty. Murder, death in battle, sickness caused

by distress, had put half the inhabitants into mourninj^.

The members of the volksraad came together with dejec-

tion marked on every brow. There was but one thing that

could save the land, said many, and that was union with the

South African Republic. Petitions in favour of this measure,

signed by one thousand four hundred and forty-five persons,

were read and laid upon the table. The discussion com-
menced, but on the 11th of June a letter was received from

Governor Sir George Grey, and read, announcing that in case

an agreement of union was concluded, the conventions of

1852 and 1864 would no longer be considered binding by
Great Britain. The governor was an ardent federalist, who
desired that the Free State should again be brought within the

British dominions and form one of a group of united colonies.

After the letter was read there was great diversity of opinion,

but in the end it was resolved that upon Sir George Grey's

arrival to arrange peace with the Basuto, a deputation should

confer with him upon the subject. The South African

Republic also determined to send a deputation for the same
I>urpose.

Some cattle belonging to Transvaal burghers who were
passing through the Free State having been seized by the

Basuto, Commandant Paul Kruger and Mr. M. G. Schoemau
were sent by President Pretorius to Moshesh to treat for their

recovery. Two deputies from the Freo State Government
accompanied them. On the 18th of June an agreement was
entered into at Thaba Bosigo between these commissioners

and the Basuto chie^, which provided for the restoration of

the cattle and the prevention of further thefts. As soon as

it was concluded, Commandant Kruger hastened to join

the expedition against Gasibone, which was then on the

march.

It was not until towards the end of July that Sir George

Grey was able to leave Capetown. On the 20th of August
he reached Bloemfontein and arranged with the prenident

that the commissioners appointed by the volksraad should

draw up their case concisely in writing, and have it, with
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any documents to support it, in readiness to lay before a
meeting with Moshesh and his councillors, which he proposed
to hold at an early date.

At Bloemfontein the governor received urgent despatches
requiring him to send all the troops that could be spared im-
mediately to India. To establish peace between the Free State
and the Basuto thus became a matter of the first importance^
for until that was accomplished not a soldier could be -.jssed!
xMoshesh's success had caused a feeling of restlessness among
the tribes on the colonial border, and if the war should be
resumed it was feared that it might become general between
whites and blacks throughout South Africa. And notwith-
standing the truce of the 1st of June and the agreement of
the 18th, there was the utmost danger of an immediate
renewal of hostilities. Thieving along the whole border was
as rife as ever, houses were still being burnt far within the
limits of the Free State, and great armed hunting parties
were traversing the country wherever they pleased. Nor
was the provocation confined to Moshesh's people. To Jan
Letele, subject of the Free State, times of truce as well as
times of peace were times of plunder. His retainers lost no
opportunity of lifting the stock of other Basuto, and were
especially delighted when they could rob Poshuli.

Even on the colonial border disturbances were threatening.
The superintendent of the Wittebergen native reserve—now
the district of Herschel—had taken advantage of the presence
there of a strong body of mounted police, and had required
Morosi to remove his adherents to his own side of the Tees.
The Baphuti chief, who laid claim to a great tract of land
ou the colonial side, to which he had about as much right
as Moshesh had to the lower Caledon, in retaliation was
plundering the reserve and the adjoining districts.

Matters were in this condition when Sir George Grey
rode from Bloemfontein to Thaba Bosigo, and met Moshesh.
He desired the chief to discuss his case thoroughly with his
sons, councillors, and great vassals, and then to attend a
uieeting with the Free State commissioners at Aliwal North,
when both sides could bring forward their claims. Moshesh
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professed himaclf willinir to do as desired, but requested tliat

instead of Aliwal North, lieersheba sliould bo the place of

ineetin<,', as Miorc c('nvoiuent to hini-olf. To this Sir Oeor^fo

Grey assented, and the 15th of September was fixed as the

<iate of the conference.

After niakinjij these preliminary arrangements, the gover-

nor gall()i)ed to King Williamstown, put everything in

oriler for moving the troops, and was back at Beershoba on
the 14th of September. The Free State commissioners, nine

in number, were tJtero ; but Mosliesh was not. A certain

l)Iind boy, who elaimed to have communication with the

spirit world, had a dream that evil would result from the

chief's going to the meeting. Probably this dream accorded
witli Moshesh's views ; at any rate he professed to consider

it as a warning, and stayed at homo. And so, after all the

trouble the governor had taken, ho found at Beersheba only

a letter asking him to excuse the chief, who was ohl and
subject to headache, and had therefore sent a number of

men to represent him. But among these representatives

there was not one of his sons of high rank, and it was evident

to everyone that Moshesh was trifling.

Peace, however, was so ardently desired by Sir George
Grey that he did not feel inclined to abandon without further

ettbrt the attempt to secure it. He perused carefully all the

documents submitted to him by the Free State commissioners,
made himself thoroughly acquainted with their views, and
then went a second time to visit Moshesh. He found the
chief at Morija, and obtained from him a statement of what
he and his tribe desired as conditions of peace. Moshesh's
pretensions were so extravagant that practically they
amounted to the extinction of the Free State. On the other
hand the commissioners of the Republic were very unwillin»
to make any concessions, and even maintained that a? ilie

war had been brought on by the Basuto, they should be
condemned to pay the cost of it. With such conflicting

claims, it seemed almost impossible to reconcile the contending
parties.

The governor at length induced Moshesh to appoint com-
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misHionors witl. full power to act for hi.n, an.l accompamod
by these men ho rode to Aliwal North. Thoy w(!r(3 Mukwai,
the itKlividuul hi^rhest in hereditary rank of the house of
Mcshesh; Job, Mosheyh's half brother; and David Raliye. a
nephew of Molitsane. At Aliwal North t.ho governor fratn'ed
a document containing such conditions as ho considered just
and reasonable, and the commissioners on })oth sides after
long ar^'ument having agreed to tho several clauses, it was
formally signed on tho 29th of September.

Tho treaty f-r.lirmed the Warden lino between tho
Europeans and tli. Basuto on the north and west, but gave to
Moshosh a largo portion of the disputed district between tho
Caledon and Orange rivers. The now boundaiy as defined
in it was to be marked out by tho governor or by com-
missioners chosen by him. Each party was to withdraw its
subjects to its own side, without compensation from the other,
a reasonable time being allowed for tho removal of crops and
buildings.

The district of Boersheba was recognised as belonging to
tho Free State, but six thousand acres of ground surro'unding
the mission station, to be marked out by the governor's
commissioners, wore reserved for the French mission in full
property.

In tho eleventh clause it was agreed that in case of
robberies being committed by any chiefs under tho para-
mount authority of Moshosh, or in case of incursions by
armed bands into tho territory of the Free State, Moshesh
was cither to punish the criminals himself or to allow the
Free State to do so, without interference or without a general
war with the Basuto tribe being the consequence.

The remaining clauses provided for the opening of a
public road between Hebron and Aliwal North, the mutual
extradition of criminals, the restitution of stolen property,
the punishment of thieves, the responsibility of every chief
for cattle whose spoor should be traced to his territory, the
prohibition of hunting parties in any district of the Free
State without previous permission from the landdrost, and
the protection of Jan Letele and Moroko from molestation
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by the Basuto on account of having aided the Free State in
the war.

After the signing of the treaty, Sir George Grey pro-
ceeded in person to see the new line properly marked with
beacons. The commissioners on both sides accompanied
him, and as it was found that in some places the strict

wording of the treaty could not well be followed, they con-
sented to a few slight modifications. When this was com-
pleted Makwai was sent with the treaty to Moshesh for
ratification, but the great chief returned it without his
signature, though in a letter he stated that he agreed tc it.

Mr. Burnet waa therefore instructed to proceed to Thaba
Bosigo with the treaty. He found Moshesh averse to several
of the conditions, and evidently dissatisfied because he had
not obtained all that he asked for. That as a conqueror in
war he had received a cession of territory, that his unpaid
debt to the Free State had been cancelled, that he had been
required to surrender nothing except a nominal sovereignty
over lands to which his claim was at best but shadowy, were
lost sight of in discontent that his people should be restrained
from hunting in Free State territory without license, and
that he should be compelled to make restitution for thefts.
It was at first very doubtful whether all the trouble taken
by the governor had not been in vain, but after long
wavering, on the 15th of October Moshesh affixed his seal
and mark to the treaty, though with evident reluctance, and,
as shown in the sequel, with no intention of adhering to it.
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CHAPTER IV

EVENTS IN THE ORANGE FREE STATE FROM 1859 TO 1861

Character of Moshesh—Disregard of his engagements by Moshesh—Failure of
Moshesh to obsorve the treaty of 1858—Project of Sir George Grey to
locate Jan Letele and Lehanu in Nomanalaod—Frustration of this plan by
Moshesh sending his son Nehemiah to reside there—Unsuccessful efforts
of Nehemiah to induce Sir George Grey to acknowledge his ownership of
a portion of Nomansland—Allotment of the Beersheba lands to farmers
from the Basuto side of the new boundary—Deputation sent by President
Boshof to Moshesh to urge him to observe the treaty—Resignation of
President Boshof—Appointment by the volksraad of Mr, E. R. Snyman aa
acting president—Ordinance concerning the nomination of candidates
for the presidency—Unsuccessful efforts to induce Moshesh to suppress
cattle thefts—Irritation caused by Jan Letole's conduct—Acquisition by
the Free State of the Korana locations along the Vaal—Quarrel between
the reverend Mr. Pellissior and Lepui, chief of the Batlapin at Bethulie—
Cession by Lepui of Bethulie to the Free State—Sale of the ground by
Lepui's followers to white people—Establishment of district courts at
Bethulie, Boshof, and Kroonstad—Foundation of the village of Bethlehem
—Election of Mr. J.Iarthinus Wessel Pretorius as president of the Free
State—General feeling in favour of the union of the three Republics—De-
claration of Sir George Grey that in case of their union the conventions
with Great Britain would be cancelled—Large majority in the Free State
in favour of union with the South African Republic—Conference between
representatives of the two Republics—Disinclination of the executive
council of the South African Republic to unite with the Free State if the
convention of 1852 would thereby be cancelled—Failure of the efforts for
a mixed court on the border—Patronage of Bushmen by Poshuli—Robbery
and murder by Bushmen—Unsuccessful effort to induce Moshesh to sur-
render the Bushmen—Moshesh's professions to Prince Alfred—Second
meeting of President Pretorius andMoshesh—Arrangement of the boundary
from Jammerberg Drift to Paul Smit's Berg—Character of the Barolong
chief Moroko—Dealing of the Free State with Moroko—Disturbances
caused by Nehemiah in Nomansland—Effects of mission work in the
Lesuto—Evils caused by renegade Europeans in the Lesuto—Visit of
Landdrost Van Soelen to Moshesh— Repudiation by Moshesh of bis
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Among the native chiefs of South Africa Moshesh stands out
prominently as the most intelligent and the most humane.
Like Tshaka, he built up a great power by his own ability,
but he did it without that vast sacrifice of human life which
marked the career of the Zulu despot. Alone among bar-
barian leaders, he had risen more by conciliating than by
crushing his opponents. At the head of a mixed tribe, many
members of which had once been cannibals, and many others
refugees from robber hordes, he had favoured the introduc-
tion of the arts of civilisation, and had befriended and ex-
couraged European missionaries. No other South African
chief was so capable as he of forming and carrying out
elaborate plans for the advantage of his people, none could
weigh opposing forces so carefully, none knew so well how
to turn every opportunity to good account.

But with all this, Moshesh had not, and could not in
reason be expected to have, the higher virtues of Europeans.
At no period of his life had he any regard whatever for his
promises. He lost nothing, either in self-respect or in the
opinion of his people, by breaking faith with others. He
signed the treaty of 1858 to avoid the displeasure of Sir
George Grey, but as there was no force to compel him to
observe it, he made no effort to carry out its provisions. The
plundering of the border farmers went on as before. Hunt-
ing parties continued to traverse the Free State, without
troubling themselves to ask permission from a landdrost,
though Mr. Boshof offered to place every facility in their
way if they would comply with a few simple and necessary
regulations.

Sir George Grey had seen, when arranging the terms of
the treaty, that Jan Letele's presence on the frontier was a
formidable obstacle to the preservation of peace between
Moshesh's people and the farmers. The upper portion of
the district below the Drakensberg, which was then called
Nomansland, and is now known as Griqualand East, was
regarded by Sir George Grey as being at his disposal, and
he proposed to give land in it to Jan Letele and Lehana, the
son of Sikonyela. The last named was the head of the
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Batlokua in the Wittebergen native reserve, where there

was not sufficient room for him, and where his presence

caused much jealousy.

But this plan of the governor, though favourably received

by Letele and Lehana, was frustrated by the action of

Moshesh. It was only natural that the grent chief should

be averse to the establishment of a rival Basuto tribe

beyond the mountains, which would draw from him dis-

affected subjects and seriously weaken his own power. For
many years he had been in close communication with Faku,
who had offered him the vacant district, a contingency

entirely unforeseen by Sir Peregrine Maitland when he

acknowledged the Pondo chief as its owner. As soon, there-

fore, as the rumour of Sir George Grey's plan reached

Moshesh's ears, measures were taken to counteract it, but in

such a manner that the governor should have no suspicion

that he was being thwarted.

To this end Nehemiah met Sir George Grey at Morija,

and professing that he was not on good terms with Lis

father, requested that he also might have a location in

Nomansland. The governor was not disposed either to

grant or refuse the request without further consideration,

and told Nehemiah to write to him after his return to Cape-
town. As this would cause delay, however, Moshesh's son
decided to move at once, and before the close of 1858 he was
established with about seventy men on the western bank of

the Umzimvubu, near the source of that river. A. little later,

when returning to the Lesuto for the purpose of inducing a
larger number of people to join him, he wrote to the governor
that he "would be very thankful if his Excellency would
inform others who might wish to press in that his child

Nehemiah had already settled in the new country with his

good will." Of course, with Nehemiah on the Umzimvubu,
Jan Letele made no attempt to settle in Nomansland, and
when in the following year Lehana went to inspect the
district, he was deterred from moving his people into it by
the threats of some Pondomisi chiefs who were then acting
in concert with Nehemiah.

, T" "1
1 ; 1

V

>? * \

\\. \
</.

1
•

\

1

'

' -1'

^

1

f

1

1 F i



ff

IE'''

76 History of South Africa

The volksraad of the Free State, though considering
that the treaty was all to the advantage of Moshesh,
approved of the acts of their commissioners, and tendered
their thanks to Sir George Grey for the trouble he had taken.
The farmers were not permitted to return to the Basuto side
of the new boundary, and were compensated for their losses
as far as possible by grants of land in the Beersheba district.
The French mission Society petitioned for a larger area than
the six thousand acres secured to it in the treaty, but the
volksraad declined to comply with the request, and further
resolved to protect the friendly headman Mooi there, and not
permit him to be forced out by the pressure of Moeletsi's
Basuto.

In February, 1859, President Boshof sent a deputation to
Moshesh to represent to him that on account o^ the constant
robberies and violence of the followers of Molitsane and
Poshuli the farms along the Winburg and Caledon river
borders were abandoned, and to urge him to act in con-
formity with the treaty. Messrs. Schnehage and Meyer, the
members of the deputation, met with a friendly reception
at Thaba Bosigo and from the chiefs along the route, but
obtained no satisfactory reply from Moshesh, who merely
desired that a meating of Poshuli, Letele, Mr. Boshof, and
himself should take place. The great chief, in turn, sent a
deputation of five members to Bloemfontein, but when they
had an interview with the volksraad they declared that they
were without authority, having been merely instructed to
listen.

In despair of being able to overcome the difficulties in
which the Republic was now involved, on the 21st of
February, 1859, Mr. Boshof again tendered his resignation.
The volksraad earnestly requested him to continue in office,

declaring their entire confidence in him, and expressing the
opinion that his retirement would be most disastrous to the
country. He, however, obtained six months' leave of absence
to visit Natal, and Mr. Esaias Rynier Snyman was appointed
acting president. On the 25th of June Mr. Boshof sent a final
letter of resignation from Natal, which the volksraad, at a^.
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extraordinary session held in September, was obliged to

accept. Mr. Snyman was then requested to retain the acting
appointment until an election could take place and the new
president be installed.

The volksraad recommended to the burghers only one
person, Mr. Jacobus Johannes Venter, and decided that the
election should be held on the 15th of December. According
to the original constitution of the state, this would have
been equivalent to the appointment of Mr. Venter; but in
1856 an ordinance had been passed, under which the
burghers could vote for any person as president who should
receive a requisition signed by twenty-five qualified electors,

provided such a requisition, with a reply accepting it, were
published in the State Gazette four full weeks before the day
of election. The recommendation of Mr. Venter, therefore,
merely signified that he was the volksraad's candidate, and
the people could choose another if they felt disposed to
do so.

It would be wearisome to enter minutely into events on
the Basuto border during tha time that Mr. Snyman was
acting president of the Free State. Sometimes there was a
lull in the thefts, but there never was any security for
property in cattle. Meetings were held between representa-
tives of both sides—one in May, 1859, another in January,
1860—without any good result. Moshesh said plainly that
he would redress no wrongs until Jan Letele, who lost no
opportunity of robbing his people, was compelled to give up
the spoil or was placed under his jurisdiction. The reception of
this vagabond as a subject of the Free State was a very sore
point with the great chief. But Mr. Snyman's government
could not in honour either surrender or abandon him, and it

had no means of keeping him in order.

The most important events at this time were accessions
of territory which added considerably to the strength of the
Republic. The location along the Vaal belonging to Goliath
Yzerbek had been obtained by purchase, that of Scheel Kobus
was taken possession of after his defeat and death, and in

1859 that of David Danser was acquired by an agreement
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with }us successor Jan Danser, in which that captain sold

out and moved away for a payment of £100. Jan Bloem's

people had nearly abandoned their location. The Berlin

society had again occupied Pniel, but the jurisdiction of the

Free State was now unquestioned over the whole of the

former Korana reserves, and the larger portion of the area

was waste government land open for occupation by

burghers.

In 1833 the reverend Mr. Pellissier, of the French Society,

had led a Batlapin clan under the chief Lepui from the

neighbourhood of Kuruman to the junction of the Caledon

and the Orange, and had taken possession of the tract of

country there, which has ever since been known as the

district of Bethulie. For nearly a quarter of a century

hardly anything was heard except in mission reports of

Lepui and his people. They did not interfere with their

neighbours, nor did their neighbours with them. They took

no part in any of the wars of the country. Moshesh claimed

no jurisdiction over them, and their only connection with

outsiders was the connection of their missionary with those of

the same society labouring in the Lesuto.

This happy condition was terminated by a quarrel

between the missionary and the chief. Each then claimed

the ownership of the district, and ignored the other. The

people of Lepui with his sanction offered a large portion of

their vacant land for sale, and when some farmers made

purchases, Mr. Pellissier protested. Notwithstanding his

protests the sales were carried out. Mr. Pellissier then, on

the 24th of January, 1859, offered the Free State Government

to cede the sovereignty of Bethulie to it on condition that

the sround should remain a native reserve under control of

the Paris Evangelical Society. This offer was declined, but

ten days later—2nd of February, 1859—Lepui made a formal

application to President Boshof to be taken with his subjects

and territory under the laws and government of the Orange

Free State.

Owing to Mr. Boshof's retirement, several months elapsed

without any steps being taken on this application, but on
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the 8th of October Acting President Snyman entered into
an arrangement with Lepui by which Bethulie became part
of the Free State. In deference to Mr. Pellisaier some con-
cessions were madC; and he was understood as giving his
consent to the agreement

; but after its ratification by the
volksraad on the 13th of February, I860, he protested against
It, complained to Sir George Grey, and even urged the
French Consul in Capetown to interfere to prevent any
portion of the district being occupied by white people • but
all to no purpose.

'

Private rights of course remained intact, and even the
unoccupied ground was still considered the property of the
clan. But as the territory was in a good position, numerous
farmers from the Cape Colony were ready to purchase ground
in It, and the people of Lepui were just as ready to sell
The clan at this time divided into two sections, the larger of
which, under Lepui's son Koro, moved away to Basutoland
Moshesh gladly received the new-comers, and gave them
ground to live upon at Korokoro, where a Roman Catholic
mission was afterwards established. In a few months the
whole of the district of Bethulie, excepting only about
twenty-five thousand morgeu round the French mission
station, was sold, and in occupation of European farmers
The executive council of the Free State then allotted ten
thousand morgen of what remained to the Paris Evangelical
Society, Including in the grant the gardens and ground on
which the mission buildings were erected.

On the 15th of February, 1860. the* volksraad declared
Bethulie a district of the Orange Free State, with rights of
representation and a landdrost's court of its own Mr J F
van Iddekinge was appointed its first lauddrost. Later'in'the
same year Lepui exchanged the fifteen thousand morgen of
land remaining in his possession for a location in the district
of Smithfield. This ground was then divided into four
farms and building lots for a village, with a commonage ofa. thousand morgeu. The sale of the farms and building
lote took place m June, 1862, when the highest prices ever
paid for ground north of the Orange were obtained. Louw

I ;'

1^ ,

1

'

if^ .:

i£, . «

;, ,.t\

J!

i 'J



8o History of South Africa

i .,

I''

Wepener, whose name was to bo renowned in later times,

was the purchaser of one of the farms.

In February, 1858, the volksraad resolved to establish a

landdrost's court at Boshof, for the convenience of the inha-

bitants of the western part of the state. The new district

took the name of the village which was its seat of magistracy.

On the 3rd of July Mr. A. H. Jacobs was installed as the first

landdrost.

In the extreme north of the state another district was

formed in the following year, by cutting off a portion of

Winburg. The new district was called Kroonstad. On the

liOth of August, 1859, the volksraad authorised the acting

president to station a landdrost at the village of Kroonstad,

where previously there had been a special justice of the

peace. Mr. Willem Christiaan Peeters was appointed the

first landdrost, and assumed duty on the 19th of November.

Eleven days later the residents of the new district, who were

dissatisfied with the landdrost, rose against him and drove

him away. So weak was the government at the time that it

was unable to restore him.

On the 3rd of March, 1860, the first building lots were

sold in the present villai^e of Bethlehem. Messrs. Paul

Na.ude, Daniel Malan, and Jan MuUer, three residents in the

neighbourhood, combined and purchased the farm Pretorius

Kloof, with a view of establishing a '•hurch upon it. Their

plan was carried out, the necessary buildings being erected

in the following year by means of funds obtained by the sale

of plots of ground and by subscription. In this manner

many villages in Soutli Africa have been founded. First a

church is built, then a clergyman takes up his residence

close by, and is accompanied by a schoolmaster; elderly

farmers follow, to be near the church and to provide a home

for their grandchildren attending the school; shopkeepers

and mechanics come next ; and finally the government con-

siders it necessary to have a collector of taxes and a dis-

penser of justice in the place. It now takes rank as a

village, and, if its situation is a good one, in course of time

it becomes a district town. It was not until March, 1864,
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four years aftor its foundation, that Bethlehem was provided
with a resident justice of the peace.

y'he party in the Free State who regarded union with the
South African Republic as the only solution of their difficul-

ties with Moshesh rejected tho candidate for the presidency
recommended by the volksraad, and turned to Mr. Marthinus
Wessel Pretorius as their natural leader. Mr. Pretorius
was president of the South African Ropublic. By the ad-
vice of his friends there he accepted the requisition, and
upon his election by a majority of twelve hundred and
eighty-two votes against three hundred and ten divided
among four other candidates, he applied to the volksraad which
met at Potchefstroom on the 2nd of February, 1860, for six
months' leave of absence. This being granted, he at once
left for Bloerafontein. On the 8th of February, 1860, he took
the oath as president of the Free State, stipulating, however,
that his term of office should be undefined, though not longer
than the five yeprs mentioned in the constitution.

At this time a large majority of the inhabitants of the
three independent territories—the South African Republic,
tlie Republic of Lydenburg, and the Orange Free State-
were in favour of union, either under a fedeial government
or by the formation of a single state with one volksraad and
one executive. There was nothing to prevent the two former
uniting or not, as they pleased, but there was a serious
obstacle in the way of the Orange Free State joining the
others.

In September, 1858, when the treaty with the Basuto was
being arranged at Aliwal North, the Free State deputation
had conferred with Sir George Grey upon this matter. His
Excellency informed them that the efl'ect would be the an-
nulling of the conventions. Great Britain would probably
decline to enter into a new convention with the consolidated
state, or. if she did, would refuse to insert the clause relative
to having no treaties with native tribes, forbidding the
supply of ammunition to them, and guaranteeing an open
market in ammunition to the Europeans.

When the volksraad met at Bloemfontein on the 22nd of
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November, 1858, this subject came on for discussion. The
views of tlie members were diverse. Some were in favour of

federation with the Cape Colony, others in favour of union

with the South African Republic, others again advocated an

offensive and defensive alliance with either the colony or the

Republic. Numerously-signed memorials were read in sup-

port of all these views. The first was strongly advocated by
Pre.sident Boshof. At that time it was hoped by some that

Moshesh would respect the treaty just concluded, and that

Jan Letele could be kept in order. But these hopes had
afterwards vanished, and in consequence the advocates for

union with the Transvaal people had increased in number.

On the 31sii of August, 1859, the volksraad adopted a

resolution to send a commission to the government of the

South African Republic to endeavour to arrange terms either

for union or alliance, which should afterwards be submitted

to the people for approval. Nothing came of this, however,

for the election of Mr. Pretorius so soon afterwards gave

another direction to the movement.

On the 9th of February, 1860, the day following that on

which Mr. Pretorius became president of the Free State, the

volksraad resolved to submit the question of union to the

direct vote of the people, and if a majority should be found

to favour it, to apply to the British Government for informa-

tion as to the terms of a new convention. This resolution

was carried out, with the result that in the whole state one

thousand and seventy-six votes were given for union and one

hundred and four against. The volksraad then resolved that

this result should be communicated to the government of the

South African Republic, and that a commission, consisting

of Messrs. J. J. Venter, J. N. Uys, and J. Klopper, should pro-

ceed to Potchefstroom and confer with the authorities there.

The commission proceeded to carry out its instructions,

and a conference took place with the executive council of

the South African Republic, then consisting of Mr. J. H.

Grobbeloar, acting president during the absence of Mr.

Pretorius, Mr. S. Schoeman, commandant-general, Mr. J. H.

Struben, state secretary, and Mr. W, Janse van Rensburg,
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unofficial member. Mr. M. W. Pretorius was present by
general request. But now the people of the north were
found less eager than they had once been for a single state
It would be purchased too dearly, they said, if the price was
to be the conventions with the British Government The
executive council of the South African Republic held that
the Sand river convention must be preserved inviolate If
that could be done and a single state be formed they would
bo very glad, otherwise a friendly alliance was all that thev
were prepared for.

^

With this, the efforts to bring about the union of the
Republics may be said to have ceased, although the unionist
party long hoped that Mr. Pretorius would devise some
plan by which this project could be carried into effect

Many Free State burghers who were not disposed to join
the South African Republic, or who were indifferent to that
project, had voted for the new president because he was the
son of the famous Emigrant leader who had broken the
Zulu power, and because he had the reputation of consider-
able ability in dealing with coloured tribes. His streneth
lay in his disposition to conciliate, but he lacked the firm
ness necessary to a leader in troublous times.

As soon as possible after his assumption of office
President Pretorius proceeded to Kroonstadt, where the
burghers had recently been in rebellion owing to the appoint-
ment of a very unpopular man as landdrost. His reception
was most cordial, for the district was occupied by the
•s^aunchest adherents of the unionist party. He left thereMr Lodewyk J. Papenfus as provisional landdrost, and the
volksraad during its next session confirmed the appoint-

Next the president arranged to have a personal con-
ference with Moshesh. The meeting took place during the
farst five days of May, at Wonderkop, in the district ofWmburg. and was made an occasion of festivity as well as
ot diplomatic intercourse. Moshesh came attended by his
sons, vassals, and a body-guard of six thousand horsemen •

Mr. Pretorius, to show his confidence in the great chief'

•—-"l'^^W|

•i
i" .'

1 ,

l'-'
'

'% '!- ^

lu

1 i

:

i

l^HJH^^HHI^ ir^

1 '

'

.-•/; '

XX::

li ,11
'



'I'N

! 11 ,

' ii

ifeilillll,

if] il,

41

:if

:4H!ii

jpff

84 History of South Africa

would not permit more than twenty farmers to accompany

him. Long speeches were made in the most friendly

manner by the chief and his leading vassals, who acknow

ledged that their existence as a powerful tribe was due to

the white people. Mr. Pretorius proposed to "Old Father

Moshesh," as he termed him, to establish a combintd

European and Ba^aco tribunal on the border for the trial

of thieves, and to support it with a body of Basuto police.

To this the chi ,f at once assented. It was agreed that the

court should be stationed at Merumetsu, which place should

thenceforth loso its old name, and be called on this account

" Ha-bo' Khobso," the Abode of Peace. A treaty to this

effect was drawn up and signed on the 14th of May. There-

after the principal men on both sides dined together, when

ccmplirnentary toasts were drunk, and Moshesh's educated

sons sang English songs. The following morning the

president reviewed the Basuto cavalry, and witnessed a

grand dance, in which Moshesh himself took part. The

meeting then broke up, and the farmers returned to their

homes elated with hope that their troubles with the Basuto

were at last at an end.

In a very few weeks that hope was lost. The aborijiaes

of the district between the lower Caledon and the Orange

had never been wholly exterminated, though possession 0^

the land was so fierceij'^ disputed by white men and Basuto.

«''|!'l

After the war of 1858, Poshuli constituted himself the

patron of such Bushmen as remained, and furnished them

with horses and guns, upon condition of receiving a portion

of their plund«^r. He allowed them to live on his mountain,

Vechtkop, which by the treaty of 1858 had become part of

the Lesuto. There they served him as spies and sentinels,

giving notice of approaching danger. The depredations of

these robbers were frequently brought to the notice of

Moshesh, whose reply wps always that the Bushmen were

not his s bjects, and that the white people were at liberty

to follow them up and punish them in his territories. In

March, 1800, a party of hnrghera accordingly pursued the

Bushmen, but found that to attack them was to attack

IP
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Poshuli also, and that there was no possibility of capturing
them while under Basuto protection.

This was one of the questions brought forward at the
Wonderkop conference, when Moshesh undertook to have
the Bushmen removed from Vechtkop within ten days. He
did not keep his engaorement, however, and on the 20th of
June these robbers, with some of Poshuli's Basuto, attacked
and plundered a farmhouse during the absence of the head
of the family, murdered a boy, and severely wounded two
women and three children, the only other occupants. Mr.
Pretorius immediately mustered a patrol, and followed the
robbers to Vechtkop, where six of them were shot; but the
remainder escaped with the greater portion of the booty.
The president then requested Moshesh to cause the stolen
property to be restored and the murderers of the boy to be
,^iven up to the Free State authorities for trial, and also to
inflict upon Poshuli such punishment as his crime deserved.
The great chief paid but little regard to this request, so it
became evident to the burghers that the prospect of tran-
quillity which the Wonderkop conference gave for a moment
would not be realised.

In August, 1860, His Royal Highness Prince Alfred, when
on a tour through South Africa, was waited upon by Moshesh
at Aliwal North. The great chief was accompanied by
twenty-five of his captains and an escort of three hundred
men. To the prince he professed the most unbounded
loyalty, and he did not hesitate to declare that in all his
troubles he had been faithful in his allegiance to the Queen.
In somewhat vague language he asked that he might be
resto'-ed to the position he occupied under the Napier treaty.
This request, made by Moshesh to the colonial government,
som.iimes m one form sometimes in another, meant merely
a desire oa his part for such a relationship between the
governor and himself as existed between him and one of
his great vassals; it meant that he should be countenanced
and patronised, without being subjected to control in the
administration of the affairs of his tribe. It was not then
known exactly what Moshesh wished, but this much was
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HHOortainod a littlo lalor, aftor an application which ho

juado to tho hijjfh coiiuiuHsionoi' towards tho closo of tho

following yuar.

At tho bo^jfinninjjf of April, 18(51, anofchor conforonco took

phioo botwoon tht> prosiiUMit and tlio ^roat chiol", whicli

htstod throo «lays, ami was conduotiul in a vory friondly

niannor. It was hold at Mabolola, tho roaiih'nco of Mopcri,

noar IMathorjif. Tho ostahlishniont of a mixod conrt on tho

hortlor was a^ain roforrod to, whon Moahosh profosHod onco

nuu'o to fall in with tho prosidont's viows, hnt dosirod that

sonio otluu' placu than Mormnetsu shonld bo soloctod. Mr.

IVotiirins niado no objoetion to this, and tho chiof and his

oonneillors proiuisod t«> jjtivo oll'oct to tho lato troaty.

'I'ho Baauto woro thon in occupation of many farms in

tho tlistrict of VVinbur^, and i}»noro«l altogether tho boun-

dary of tho tnaty of 1858. This matter was discussed at

Maltolela, and Moshesh undertook to recall his people from

fai*ms bolonjifing to bnrjjfhora of the Free State, but ho was

careful not to admit that he had any knowledge of tho

lino.

Tho bouiulary between the Fno State and tho Lesuto

fivm Jammerl)org Drift to Paul Smit's Berg was, however,

arrangoii between tlu> two parties, by a slight modification

of tho old lino of Major Warden, in favour of Moshesh.

But it wjus impossible to satisfy everyone concerned in

doHning limits to territory. In this instance Moroko felt

himself ag<»rieved, and complained that land equal to two

full-sized farms had been tjiken frou\ him.

This chief— Mon)ko— had always been held in great

i-egard by the white people, partly on account of tho assist-

ance ho had given to the early Emigrants, but mainly owing

to his inotlensive disposition. For a native ho was con-

sidered upright an(i honourable in his dealings, thouy;h

intellectually inferior to IMoshesh. Mr. Boshof had placed

such contidence in him that no restraint was put upon liis

obtaining as much ammiuiition as he pleased, but Mr.

I rctoi'ius, in ms uesive uot tO OnGncl JVlosiissxi, liau seen nt-

to place some restrictions upon this trade. Thereupon



The Orange Free State

T;! I!

87

Morolco folt doubly afrgrioved. Tho volksraad, however,
as soon as tlieso inattorH wore brought before it, took steps
to rectify them, for the members were anxious to keep on
f^ood terms with tlio Barolong.

The settlement of Nehemiah in Nomansland brought
tho Basuto into collision with tho section of the Pondomisi
tribe under Umbali, between whom and Faku, the ally of
Moshesh, there was a long-standing feud. In 18G0 hos-
tilities broke out, but tho operations were on a very petty
scale. In June of the following year Masupha and Poshuli
wont to Nehomiah's assistance with a largo body of warriors,
but wore drawn into an ambuscade, and lost nearly all their
horses, many guns, and thirty or forty men. The jealousy
of his brothers which was felt by Lotsie prevented further
assistance being sent across the Drakensberg, and Nehe-
miah's influence there was consequently much weakened
from this time forward. In February, 1861, he had again
requested Sir George Grey to " concur in his retention " of
tho district in which he had settled, but the governor made
no reply to his letter.

Since Messrs. Casalis, Arbousset, and Gossellin first

made their apjjearance in the Lesuto, a generation had
grown up, and the results of the teaching of these mis-
sionaries and those who followed them were perceptible
everywhere in the country, for indirectly nearly the whole
mass of the population had been affected by their presence.
Clothing, inmware, saddlery, etc., of English manufacture,
had come largely into use, the value of such articles, first

appreciated on mission stations, having soon become recog-
nised by residents in kraals where the doctrines of Chris-
tianity had found no entrance. A considerable trade was
carried on in tho Lesuto by colonists who exchanged goods
imported from England for wool, hides, millet, and even
wheat. Unfortunately, the French missionaries and English
traders were not the only Europeans in the Lesuto. A
number of renegades, deserters from the army, vagrants,
and men of abandoned character, had taken up their abode
in the country, and were teaching its people tho vices of
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their class. They weru unpaged in various kinds of fraud,

carried on a contraband trade in guns and ammunition,

manufactured gunpowder, trafficked in stolen horses, and

generally set a wretched example of debauchery and crime.

In September, 1861, Mr. Van Soelen, landdrost of Bloem-

fontein, was sent to Thaba Bosigo as a special commissioner

from the Free State Government to ascertain from Moshesh

when he would keep his promise to remove the Basuto from

the district of Winburg, and if he agreed to certain regula-

tions drawn up by the Free State attorney-general for the

establishment of the mixed court on the border.

Moshesh felt himself at that time in a position of security.

Sir George Grey, of whose penetrating eye he had always

stood in awe, had left South Africa. The Basuto were

supplied with as many rifles and as much ammunition as

they required, and though they had not succeeded in an

attempt which they made to manufacture cannon, they had

been able to procure several serviceable field-pieces. With

all the neighbouring tribes of any consequence they were on

terms of close friendshii\

Under these circumstances Moshesh spoke what he meant

without any reservation or deception. He would not ac-

knowledge a boundary line, nor had he any intention of

withdrawing his subjects from the Winburg farms. As for

the court at Ha-bo' Khotso, ho rejected it altogether. Mr.

Pretorius, he said, was free to have a police force in his own

country anu among his own people if he wished ; but no

courts excepting those of their own chiefs were needed by

the Basuto.

This would seem to be a plain issue, but the Republic

was quite unable to enforce its rights. Moshesh's reply to

Mr. Van Soelen signified not only that he set the Free State

at defiance, but that ho would keep neither treaties nor

promises when it suited him to break them.

Notwithstanding the disturbed condition of the Basuto

border, the country was making rapid advances in prosperity.

In the west the copulation was increasinsr so steadily that- • ft * • *•

iu February, 1861, the volksraad resolved to form another
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district south of Boshof, to which the name Jacobsdal was
given.

At the close of this year a purchase of land was effected

which added greatly to the stability of the state. Ever since

1854, individual Qriqua proprietors in the district between

the Riet and the Orange had been selling farms to Euro-

peans. The new occupants, who were mostly emigrants

from the Cape Colony, came immediately under the jurisdic-

tion of the landdrost of Fauresmith, and after six months'

residence became burghers of the Free State. Adam Kok
retained exclusive control over the Griquas in the district,

and his government kept possession of all the unappropriated

land. An idle Griqua, who made little or no use of the six

or seven thousand acres of ground which he called his farm,

could not resist the temptation of a couple of hundred
golden sovereigns or a lot of showy merchandise which he

could at once enjoy. The time was thus quickly approach-

ing when the Griquas must be paupers if they remained

where tliey were.

It had been found impossible to maintain the native

states created by the Napier and Maitland treaties. But the

treaties had been made, and it could not be disputed that

they gave the coloured tribes who had been parties to them
strong claims to the consideration of the British authorities

in South Africa. Adam Kok had on more than one occasion

fought side by side with English troops. He had done
nothing to deserve abandonment. The cancellation by Sir

George Clerk of the treaties with him, leaving the argument
for its necessity in abeyance, was indisputably a violent act.

Sir George Grey felt that he was morally bound to do
something for Kok and his Griquas. He therefore offered

them a large and fertile tract of country along the head
waters of the Umzimhlava and Umzimvubu rivers. This

was part of the territory placed under the government of

the Pondo chief Faku, by the Maitland treaty of 1844, but
Faku had no other claim to it than that wh i;- the treaty

gave. No clan of his tribe had ever resided in any portion

of it. Along the base of the Kathlamba mountains Bush-
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men were the only inhabitants, and nearer the sea were
Bantu clans of various names, who were constantly fighting

with each other and with the Pondos.

In one respect the Maitland treaty pressed heavily upon
Faku. The Natal Government maintained that as he was
the paramount ruler of the whole country along their south-

western border, he was bound to prevent stock-lifting by his

subjects ; and when the Bushmen of the uplands committed
depredations, he was held responsible and compelled to make
good the loss. In 1850 his nominal dignity cost him in this

way a thousand head of cattle, the whole spoil of a raid

upon his neighbours' kraals. While smarting under the loss,

he sent a message to the Natal Government that he had not
asked for the upper country, it had been presented to him,

and rather than be held accountable for the misdeeds of its

inhabitants he would prefer to see it in possession of white
men. Shortly afterwards, when the lieutenant-governor re-

stored six hundred of the cattle, and the remembrance of the

responsibility attached to his dignity was less distinct, he
retracted this message; but from that time forward the

upper portion of the Pondo treaty state was regarded as

being at the disposal of Her Majesty's high commissioner.

It was usually called Nomansland.

Early in 1861 Sir George Grey set out to visit this dis-

trict in person, to make arrangements for the location of the

Griquas in the uplands, and to ascertain the cause of the

constant commotions among the clans nearer the sea, that

he might be able to devise a remedy. But at King Williams-

town he fell ill, and was therefore obliged to send some
trusty person in his stead. Sir Walter Currie, commandant
of the frontier armed and mounted police, was the one upon
whom the choice fell. That gentleman proceeded upon the

mission, and as a preliminary step paid a visit to Faku.

The reverend Thomas Jenkins and the councillors of the tribe

were present at the interview.

Faku asserted his desire for peace, and accused the

Pondomisis, Bacas, and others living between him and the

mountains, of being the cause of the perpetual disturbances

II
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in which the country was involved. He expressed an opinion

that the colonial authorities would be able to keep them in

better order than he could, and he offered to cede the land

between the Drakensberg and a line which he named, ex-

tending from the Umtata river to the Umzimkulu, upon
condition of the government of the Cape Colony exercising

rule over it. The line named by Faku is the south-eastern

boundary of the present territory of Griqualand East, ex-

cluding the district of Mount Ayliff.

This was a very clever proposal of the Pondo chief. He
had for years been vainly endeavouring to reduce to subjection

all those in the treaty state who would not willingly submit,

and now he designed to transfer some of them to the

colonial government to be kept quiet, while he crushed or

absorbed the others. The line which he named would leave

him more land than he ever actually had under his control,

and would leave the alien clans in it at the mercy of the

Pondos. Sir Walter Currie went carefully along it, and upon
his return to the colony reported that he found the clans

on the upper side anxious to be taken under protection,

so as to be freed from attacks by the Pondos.

The Imperial authorities were at this time opposed to any
enlargement of the Cape Colony, or any increase of England's

responsibilities in South Africa, and the condition named by
Faku could not therefore be carried out. But the Maitland

treaty was henceforth regarded as applying only to the

country between the sea and the line named by the Pondo
chief.

The Griquas sent a party to inspect the district that

Sir George Grey offered to them, and upon receipt of a
favourable report they prepared to move. There was no lack

of purchasers for the farms that were left between the Riet

and Orange rivers. There was such competition for them,

indeed, that in many instances they brought remarkably
high prices, for their position was far from native locations.

After all the ground in possession of private indi-

viduals was sold, the Griqua clan, numbering about three

thousand souls, including a good many blacks of different
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tribes who had recently joined them, moved off in a body
towards their new home ; but it was not until January, 1863,
that they arrived at Mount Currie, close to the present
village of Kokstad. The interval was spent on the border
of the Lesuto, where overtures were made to Kok to occupy
the new country as a vassal of Moshesh. When he rejected

these advances, Poshuli's followers began to plunder him,
and he had hardly been in his new home a month, when he
was obliged to write to the high commissioner complaining
of Nehemiah. The object of the Basuto chiefs was to compel
the Griquas to become Moshesh's subjects or to leave the
country.

On the 8th of June, 1863, Nehemiah again wrote to the
high commissioner asking for a chart of the district, and
stating that "Moshesh was satisfied on account of Her
Majesty's Government having formally ceded the territory

to his son." Almost simultaneously Sir Philip Wodehouse
received a letter from Adam Kok informing him that

Nehemiah had incited several of the petty chiefs on Faku's
border to attack him, and that Poshuli had crossed over to

share in the plunder. Reports from the colonial oflBcers on
the frontier left no doubt of the correctness of Kok's state-

ment. The high commissioner determined not to interfere,

but to let the disputing parties fight their quarrel out. On
the 4th of August he wrote to Nehemiah declining to furnish
a map, and denying that the country had ever been ceded
to him by Her Majesty's Government, and then he left

matters to take their course.

All through 1863 and 1864 the quarrel continued, with-
out either side gaining an advantage. In 1864, Leliana, with
some of his followers, moved into Nomansland from the
Wittebergen reserve, and joined his forces to those of Kok.

In March, 1866, the Griquas made a supreme effort,

and succeeded in driving the robber bands of Nehemiah
and Poshuli from their fastnesses. These marauders
managed, however, to get their cattle and effects safely
into the Lesuto. In May they swooped down with a large

force and secured a considerable quantity of plunder, but

li 'f
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before they could get away with it they were attacked by
the Griquas and were routed, when most of their followers
were made prisoners. This event compelled them to
abandon the country below the mountains, and for several
years Moshesh's followers made no further attempt to
occupy it.

The Griquas then settled in the present districts of Kok-
stad and Umzimkulu, where each head of a family had a
cattle-run of the usual size allotted to him. It will not be
necessary to refer to these people again until 1874, when they
came under the government of the Cape Colony.

On the 26th of December, 1861, Adam Kok and his council,
through their agent Henry Harvey, signed a document whereby
all the unappropriated land, together with the sovereign rights
over the whole of their possessions north of the Orange, were
ceded to the Free State, in consideration of a payment of four
thousand pounds sterling.

This purchase gave the Free State a great accession of
strength, and it solved a question that had been a cause of
irritation for twenty years. In the next session of the volke-
raad it was resolved that a special justice of the peace should
be stationed at Philippolis, and that the landdrost of Faure-
smith should hold a court there once a month. But the
president was authorised, in case this arrangement should
not be found satisfactory, to station a landdrost there, and
form a new district. This was the course adopted by
Mr. Pretorius, and on the 22nd of April, 1862, Mr. J. F. van
Iddekinge was appointed first landdrr at of the new district
of Philippolis. Six months later he was succeeded by Mr.
Frederik K. Hohne.

The Free State, therefore, at this date was divided into the
districts of Winburg, Bloemfontein, Smithfield, Harrismith,
Fauresmith, Boshof, Kroonstad, Bethulie, Jacobsdal, and
Philippolis. Bethulie and Jacobsdal were subsequently for
a short time made sub-districts, for the sake of economy ; but
this arrangement was merely temporary.
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CHAPTER V

EVENTS IN THE ORANGE FREE STATE FROM 1862 TO 1865

(l

It i I

( I

Raid by Poshuli upon Jan Letele's clan—Report of a oommission of inquiry
Ruin of Jan Letele—Unfriendly communication from Governor Sir Philip
Wodehouse—Mission of Messrs. Orpen and Burnet to Moshesh—Disturb-
ances in the Winburg and Harrismith districts—Scornful treatment by
Mosheah of a deputation from the Free State Government—Mission of
President Pretorius and Mr. Allison to Sir Philip Wodehouse—Efforts of
the Basuto to push back the Europeans—Religious excitement in the
Lesuto—EflForts of the Free State Government to induce Sir Philip Wode-
house to point out the boundary—Resignation of President Pretorius—
Foundation of the village of Edenburg—Establishment of several banks-
Purchase of Beersheba—Appointment of Mr. Venter as acting president-
Extravagant proposal of Mosheah—Foundation of the village of Rouxville
—Election of Advocate J. H. Brand as president—Amendment of the
constitution—System of public schools—Pretensions of theGriqua Captain
Waterboer to the Campbell grounds and to a large portion of the Free
State—Ecclesiastical matters—Prohibition of foreign banks—Creation of a
paper currency by the government—Negotiations between the high com-
missioner, the Free State Government, and Mosheah—Arrival of Sir Philip
Wodehouse at Aliwal North-Failure of the first attempt at mediation-
Consent of the high commissioner to define t-ie boundary—Conference at
Jammerberg Drift—Examination of the country along the border by Sir
Philip Wodehouse—Award of Sir Philip Wodehouse—Method of carrying
out the award by the Basuto—Violent conduct of Ramanela—Theft of
horsea by Tsekelo— Efforts of Moshesh to provoke hostilities—Operations
against Ramanela—Ultimatum sent to Moshesh—Declaration of war with
the Basuto.

In the early days of 1862 the district between the Orange
and the lower Caledon was convulsed by disturbances more

serious than any which had previously taken place. On the

night of the 3rd of January two of Poshuli's captains, with

Moshesh's concurrence, crossed the boundary and attacked

Jan Letele's clan, killed several of his people, set fire to his

kraals, and drove off the whole of his cattle. The farmers

in the neighbourhood were in great alarm, and abandoning

their homesteads, they went into laager as fast as possible.

A despatch was sent with all haste to the president at

Bioemfontein. Mr. Pretorius at once proceeded to Smith-
94
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field, where he found men gathering in arms from the
country far and near. Jan Letele was threatening imme-
diate retaliation, in which case a general inroad could hardly
be prevented. Already this vagabond was driving the parti-
sans of Moshesh from the mission station of Beersheba. The
traders were hurrying from the Lesuto, believing their lives
to be in danger.

At that time Mr. Joseph M. Orpen, who had long since
left the service of the Free State, was residing at Beersheba.
This gentleman was known throughout South Africa as a
warm partisan of Moshesh, and an enthusiastic advocate of
what he held to be Basuto interests. For some years his
influence at Thaba Bosigo was greater than that of any other
white man, not even excepting the old missionaries, with
whose views regarding the tribe he was in full accord.

On this occasion he resolved to prevent a war, if possible,
with which object he hastened to Moshesh's residence. The
chief himself was not desirous of pushing the matter further,
for he was always anxious to make it appear that his oppon-'
ents were the first to break the peace, and in this instance it
was clear he could not do so. Mr. Orpen advised him to
attach his seal to a letter to the president, proposing a friendly
settlement, and promising to restrain his followers from
attacking Letele

; and to forward it by two members of his
own family, who should remain with Mr. Pretorius as pledges
of his sincerity. To this Moshesh agreed. His son Tsekelo
and a young man of Letsie's household were sent as hostages,
and their arrival at the president's headquarters wr« followed
by an immediate cessation of the excitement that had up to
that moment prevailed.

Mr. Pretorius received Moshesh's overtures with great
satisfaction. He replied that he found much to blame on
the part of Letele, and that he had placed an oflicer in charge
of this chief, who would not in future be permitted to cross
the border. He announced his intention of appointing a com-
mission to investigate the causes of the disturbances, and
invited the great chief's co-operation.

The commission consisted of Messrs. Charles Sirr Orpen,
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Robert Finlay, Pieter Weasels, Jan Olivier, Job Harvey, and
A. Swanepoel. After taking evidence during a fortnight, on

the 6th of February they sent in a report, which was most
damaging to Jan Letele. The robberies from the Basuto of

Mofihesh committed by his retainers were proved to exceed

in value those committed by the Basuto of Moshesh from

him. A number of degraded white men were found to be

mixed up in these proceedings. They encouraged robbers

on both sides by acting as disposers of stolen property,

diverting to themselves the larger portion of the ill-gotten

gains. The commission recommended as the only ettectual

remedy the removal of Jan Letele's people from the border,

the allotment of ample lands elsewhere for their maintenance,

and the establishment of a powerful police. But this

implied resources in men and money which the Free State

had not then at its command. What was possible to be

done in that direction by a community so small, so jealous

of its rulers, and so averse to taxation, was attempted. A
few policemen were engaged, and an officer—Daniel Foley

by name—was appointed with the title of superintendent, to

endeavour to exercise some control over the blacks between
the Orange and the Caledon.

Jan Letele never fully recovered from the losses he sus-

tained on this occasion. In 1863 he was invited to remove

to the northern part of the state, where he was offered an

ample tract of excellent land ; but he declined the proposal.

In the course of the next two years a good many of his

followers, finding that he was no longer the lucky robber

captain he had formerly been, abandoned him and went

over to one or other of Moshesh's vassals. He and a little

band of adherents remained behind to be a source, of constant

anxiety to the Free State Government. We shall meet him
again in this history, but never more in a condition to play

an important part in the disturbances of the country.

On the 15th of January, while the occurrences just

related were filling all TQinds with anxiety, Sir Philip Wode-
house arrived at Capp' )v'n and assumed office as governor

of the colony and He Mtjc3ty a high commissioner in South
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Africa. Twelve days later he wrote letters which prove that
B.isuto affairs must have occupied much of his attention
during the interval. To Moshesh he said that a commiHsion
was about to proceed to the Lesuto to ascertain his views
and wisiies respecting his and his people's relationship to
the colony. To President Pretorius he wrote in terms of
strong remonstrance and emphatic warning. The disturb-
ances, he said, were caused by Jan Lotele, but the responsi-
bility rested with the Free State Government, that had not
compelled him to livo in an orderly manner. If his depre-
dations were not suppressed, the British authorities would
be compelled to set aside the existing treaties and make
new arrangci.ionts for the preservation of the peace of the
country. Mr. Pretorius replied, explaining the action of
the Free State Government, asserting that Letele's raids
were only retaliations upon Poshuli, and stating his inten-
tion of appealing to Her Majesty if the treaties were set
aside. Thus the intercourse between Sir Philip Wodehouse
and the president was unfriendly from the very first.

Before the close of the month Messrs. Joseph M. Orpen
and John Burnet were appointed a commission to visit
Moshesh, and obtain information as to what he really wanted
the language of his letters being too vague to be understood'
From the 11th to the 21sb of February they held conferences
with him and the leading men of his tribe at Thaba Bosigo
and ascertained that what the chief desired was merely that
a diplomatic agent of the British Government should be
stationed with him, and that the high commissioner should
recognise his ownership of the land below the mountains on
which Nehemiah was living, which he claimed as having
ben ceded ^o him by the Pondo chief Faku. He did not
propose to part with any authority over his people but
desired to be under the shield of England in order to extend
that autliority over a larger area.

As regards the land below the Drakensberg, Sir Philip
Wodehouse refused to admit Faku's right to cede it to the
iiasuto, but on the 13th of Mav Kp wmfp +0 Mo^Ha^i- -«---

i,

would not disturb Nehemiah there as long as that individual
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conducted himself as a faithful friend of the British Govern-

raeut. Nehemiah was not satisfied with this promise, how-
ever, and endeavoured to obtain some document which at a

future period might give him a claim to the district. On the

27th of November he wrote to the governor, thanking him for

permission to occupy the land, and reuuesting that he might be

supplied with a chart of it. In the preceding chapter an account

has been given of Nehemiah's occupation of the district from
this date until he was driven out by the Griquas of Adam Kok.

The secretary of state took Moshesh's desire to have a

British agent resident with him into favourable consideration,

and on the 5th of June, 1862, wrote to the high commissioner

approving of such an arrangement, if the services of a trust-

worthy and judicious person could be obtained. But the

governor professed to find a difficulty in the selection of a

suitable officer, and the project was never carried out.

Prior to this date the principal disturbances had taken

place along the south-western border of the Lesuto, but after

the ruin of Jan Letele by Poshuli in January, 1862, that part

of the countiry remained for some years in a condition of

comparative peace. The scene of strife henceforth was con-

fined to the territory on the north forming the districts of

Winburg and Harrismith.

Wherever there was vacant land in those districts ^mall

parties of Basuto settled on it, and as soon as they had got a

foothold they commenced to encroach on the occupied farms.

There was no police to check them. They did not go as

warriors, but as settlers, taking their families with them,

and professing that nothing was farther from their thoughts

than hostilities with the farmers. Now and then, however, a

murder was committed, and thefts of stock became alarmingly

frequent.

In March, 1862, the volksraad appointed a commission,

consisting of three of its members—Messrs. J. J. Venter,

J. Klopper, and J. Schutte—to proceed to Thaba Bosigo and

remonstrate with Moshesh. They were to demand that the

murderers of a young man named Philip Venter should be

given up for trial by the Free State courts, in conformity with
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the sixth clause of the treaty of 1858. The murder had
taken place in the district of Winburg in November, 1861
and a son of Moshesh's brother Mohali was implicated' in it.'

Next the commission was to propose that Moshesh should
cede to the Free State a small piece of land in compensation
for the cattle stolen by his people. And lastly, they were to
request Moshesh to send some of his principal men with
them to inspect the northern line, that no one might be able
thereafter to say he was unacquainted with it.

The commissioners proceeded to Thaba Bosigo, and after
some delay Moshesh fixed nine o'clock on the morning of the
17th of March for an interview. Punctually to the time
appointed they were at his door, when the great chief sent
them word they must wait till he had finished drinking his
coffee, and then took no further notice of them or their
messages. Mortified by the insult, but preserving their dig-
nity as well as they could, the commissioners sent to Moshesh
to say that they were about to leave the mountain, and would
remain at its foot till the next day ; if he wished to speak to
thern he must follow. On their way down they met Masupha,
who asked them to return, which they promised to do if
Moshesh would send for them.

After a while a messenger came and invited them to go
back. They complied, and in the afternoon met Moshesh and
his councillors, to whom they made known the objects of their
mission. No reply was given that day. Several interviews
took place subsequently, but though at the last Moshesh
assumed a friendly tone, he would do nothing satisfactory.
He declined to surrender the men charged with murdering
Venter, but said he was willing to make the family of the
murdered man some compensation in cattle, according to
native custom. As for the northern boundary, he entirely
ignored it. Who made it, he asked, and what right bad
they to define it ? It was not his act, and he did not feel
bound by it.

The volksraad then determined to appeal to the high
commissioner. The ]>reHident, Mr. M. W. Pfetorius, and the
government secretary, Mr. Joseph Allison, were requested to

i »i
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l>roceed to Capetown, and were charged (a) to endeavour to

obtain from the government of the Cape Colony a share of

the customs duties levied at the ports on goods brought into

the country
; (&) to ascertain from Sir Philip Wodehouse the

cause of the unfriandl}'^ language towards the Free State used

in his correspondence and in his speech at the opening of the

Cape parliament
;

(c) to supply full information concerning

the conduct of the Free State and of Moshesh
;

(c?) to request

the governor to send a commission to point out the line be-

tween the Europeans and the people of Moshesh fixed by the

Sovereignty government, and confirmed in the treaty of 1858

as the boundary of the Lesuto ; and (e) to request the governor

to act as arbitrator between the Free State and the South

African Republic in the matter of the boundary line between

them, as one Republic claimed the Klip river, and the other

the Likwa, or upper Vaal, as the dividing line.

When this intelligence was conveyed to Moshesh he

caused a letter to be written to the president, in which he

stated that he was sending his brother Moperi and his son

George to be present at the erection of beacons along the

line. Some commissioners on the part of the Free State

were thereupon appointed, but they were so thoroughly

convinced that Moshesh was not in earnest that they failed

to appear at Winburg at the appointed time. This gave the

;>reat chief an opportunity to assert that it was not he, but

the Free State, that was putting obstacles in the way,

though in his next letter he admitted that Moperi and

George had only been sent to see the line and report to

liim, that he might thereafter approve or disapprove of it.

In July, 1862, Messrs. Pretorius and Allison arrived in

Capetown. They failed to obtain a share of the customs

duties, and were unable to induce Sir Philip Wodehouse

to arbitrate on the disputed boundary between the two

Republics.

With regard to their case with Moshesh they laid a mass

of documentary evidence before the high commissioner.

The^'^ asserted that all the farms for fifteen miles on the Free

State side of the Warden line were at that time occupied
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by Basuto, and they requested his Excellency to send a
commission to point out to Moshesh the boundary as defined
by Sir Harry Smith during the British occupation. Sir
Philip Wodehouse consented, provided both parties would
bind themselves to accept his definition of the line, and he
wrote to Moshesh to ascertain if he was willing to do so.

The great chief would not give a direct refusal, but sought
some pretext for evasion, that he might at least gain time to
push his people farther forward. His answer was, therefore,
that he would prefer to have the boundary settled by direct
negotiation between himself and the Free State, but failing
that he would agree to the appointment of a commission by
the governor.

While this correspondence between the high commis-
sioner and Moshesh was going on, the Free State authorities
were writing the most urgent letters entreating his Excel-
lency to use all haste in interfering, as otherwise the con-
dition of affairs must lead to war. At the beginning of
November they first learned Moshesh's plans for gaining
time, and immediately appointed another commission, more
with the object of proving that they were doing all that was
possible to preserve peace than with any hope of arranging;
matters.

Moshesh now increased his efforts to push back
Europeans. Great hunting parties were sent far into the
Free State, with instructions to drive the game through the
farmers' flocks and herds and past their very doors. These
parties polluted the water in the reservoirs, damaged the
gardens, and insulted and terrified the owners of the ground.
In several instances farmers were driven from their homes
by violence. A small police force had been raised, but it
was too weak to be of any use, and there were no funds to
employ more men. In the Lesuto public meetings were held,
at which the best methods of driving back the farmers were
openly discussed, and arrangements for further advances
were made. The lawless condition of the disturbed districts
cannot be better exemplified than by the following circum-
stance. On one occasion an exasperated farmer named

: i'
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Fouche shot a Mosuto. The next day a party of Basuto

went and murdered the farmer's son in retaliation. And on

neither side could any punishment be inflicted.

During the summer of 1862-3 the Basuto generally were

in a state of violent excitement, for in addition to the effort

to enlarge their territory, a movement of a religious nature

was taking place. Certain individuals who professed to have

communication with the spirit-world were exhorting the

people to reject the teaching of the missionaries, and were

everywhere being listened to with attention. Moshesh

himself was encouraging the introduction anew of old rites

and customs, which in some places had partly fallen into

disuse. The utterances of the revivalists showed in a gro-

tesque manner the effect on the whole mass of the people

which Christian teaching during thirty years had in modify-

ing the ancient Bantu creed. To their fathers God had

been a shadowy being, with unknown attributes, residing in

the bowels of the earth. One of these revivalists, who pro-

fessed to have had direct communication with the Great

Being, now found him above in the skies, though another

met him below. He had now become in their ideas a Great

Chief, the road to whose residence was not a narrow path,

as the missionaries declared it to be, but a broad highway

constantly full of crowds of people. He was a polygamist,

they asserted, Jesus was his son by one wife, the Holy Spirit

by another. And yet, so irrational were they, the spirits of

the dead chiefs of the segments of their tribe were the sole

objects of their prayers and sacrifices, without any inquiry

as to whether the God thus depicted was one of them or

not.

On the 28th of November the state secretary wrote to

Moshesh that a commission consisting of Messrs. C. von

Brandis, landdrost of Winburg, W. G. Every, commandant

of the police, J. Schutte, and R. du Toit had been appointed

to co-operate with his representatives in settling the boun-

dary, and that Mr. Von Brandis had been empowered to

arrange the details and time of meeting w^ith him. No reply =
to this communication was made before the 1st of January,
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1863. Then, by Moshesh's instructions, the reverend Mr. Jousse
wrote to Mr. Von Brandis that " the Basuto were busy in
their gardens, and had no time to spare for anything else at
the moment."

On the 14th of January, 1863, President Pretorius again
addressed Sir Philip Wodehouse, informing him of Moshesh's
insincerity, and urging him to appoint a commission. This
letter had the effect of causing his Excellency to press upon
Moshesh the necessity of arranging matters amicably, which
he once more promised to do.

Again, therefore, the Free State Government appointed
a commission—Messrs. Venter, De Villiers, Schutte, and
Naude—who proceeded to Thaba Bosigo, and there, on the
2nd of March, were joined by a few men of no rank or

position in the tribe, whom Moshesh sent to report the pro-

ceedings. To these people every beacon along the line was
shown, and they then returned to their chief. On the 9th of

April, Moshesh wrote to the high commissioner that the line

shown to his delegates cut off a considerable number of

villages inhabited by Basuto, adding that he trusted the

government of the Free State would not insist upon it, and
asking for advice.

At this stage Mr. Pretorius retired from the presidency

of the Free State. On the 1st of October, 1862, he had
tendered his resignation to the volksraad, assigning as his

reason that he desired to return to the South African

Republic and endeavour to restore concord to that country,

which was then politically in a deplorable condition. The
volksraad in reply informed him that his services could not

be dispensed with at that juncture, and requested him not

to press the matter until the ordinary session in February

following. On the 5th of March, 1863, he again tendered

his resignation, but was requested by the volksraad to with-

draw it; and a resolution was adopted granting him leave

of absence. He proceeded to Potchefstroom, where a sore

domestic bereavement awaited him. On the 20th of March
his only son died, being the tenth child that he had lost,

and he was then left with but one daughter. On the 16th
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of April he sent a final letter of resignation to the state

secretary.

During the last year of Mr. Pretorius's tenure of office

the Free State had not made much advance in wealth or in

population. Still, there were a few events denoting progress,

which should be recorded. On the 24th of February, 1862,

the first building lots of the church village of Edenburg in

the district of Fauresmith were sold. On the 19th of June
of the same year the Bloemfontein bank was establish erl.

This was quickly followed by a local bank in Fauresmith,
and this again was succeeded by branches of the Standard
bank at Bloemfontein, Fauresmith, and Smithfield. In
June, 1863, the Paris Evangelical Society sold to some farmers
the mission station of Beersheba as it had been reduced in

size by the treaty of 1858. The reverend Mr. Rolland removed
to a new station called Poortje, within the border of the
Lesuto. The price for which Beersheba was sold was £6,000.
Thus, one after another, the native reserves of the Sovereignty
days were disappearing, and the complications which they
caused w<»re passing away.

On receipt of Mr. Pretorius's letter of the loth of April,

1863, Mr. Allison called the volksraad together in extra-
ordinary session. The members assembled on the I7th of
June, and on the 20th appointed Mr. Jacobus Johannes
Venter acting president until a regular election should take
place. For the next seven months Mr. Venter was at the
head of the state.

The volksraad decided to recommend only one candidate
to the electors, and from several whose names were brought
forward chose for that purpose Advocate John Henry Brand,
a gentleman of the highest standing at the bar of the
supreme court of the Cape Colony, and whose moral and
intellectual worth was recognised throughout South Africa.

The 5th of November was fixed as the day of election.

In May a deputation, consisting of Messrs. Job Harvey,
W. G. Every, P. Greyling, and J. Olivier, had been sent to
Moshesh, to endeavour to induce him to recall his people,
who were trespassing. The deputation met the great chief
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with his principal men at Morija, and on the 28th a public
conference took place. Moshash refused either to recognise
the line or recall bis people. He would not even promise
to punish thieves as long, he said, as Jan Letele was pro-
tected by the Europeans. Nothing whatever was settled

;

but on the following day Moshesh proposed that another
commission should be sent, in order that he might point out
where he wished the boundary to be.

Among the residents along the Basuto border there were
some individuals who regarded either the incorporation of
the country with the Cape Colony or a federal union as
the only means now left for getting rid of their troubles.

Moshesh, they said, was so powerful that by themselves
they could not deal with him, and the Free State was there-
fore obliged to submit to his exactions. The matter was
brought by memorial before the volksraad which met in
June, when a discussion took place in which the wretched
condition of the petitioners was recognised, and a resolution
was adopted that the legislature would not rest until the
border was secure. But the only means that the members
could devise was to empower the acting president to arrange
with Moshesh to allow the Free State to pay regular salaries
to the border chiefs for the suppression of robbery, and to
give special rewards for the delivery of thieves and stolen
stock—which proved utterly useless.

Then followed another letter to the high commissioner,
and again another, imploring his intervention. All had been
done, said the state authorities, that was in their power to
bring Moshesh to reason, but without avail. After this,
Landdrost Van Soelen was sent to ascertain from Moshesh
and Letsie whether the intruders could be forcibly expelled
without those chiefs taking their part, to which Moshesh
replied significantly that he was their ruler. And even
while Mr. Van Soelen was talking, Sophonia, with a thousand
men at his back, was hunting far beyond the border and
defying the farmers.

On the 27th of August the high commissioner wrote to
Moshesh that, in conformity with the second article of the
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treaty of Aliwal North, he was willing to appoint com-
missioners " for the purpose of marking out so much of

the boundary line described in the first article of that treaty

as lay to the northward of Jammerberg Drift ; but before

doing so wished to receive the chief's assurance that he

would be prepared to carry out their award."
^

Moshesh now saw that he must do something, or the

high commissioner would be offended. He therefore, after

creating as many delays as he could, consented to Mr. Venter's

proposal that they should meet personally with a view to

coming to a friendly arrangement. On the 25th of November
the conference took place at Platberg, when there was a

large gathering of subordinate chiefs and leading men.
Moshesh rejected the Warden line, but proposed in writing a

new boundary which would extend the Lesuto to the Vaal

river and cut off from the Free State nearly half the districts

of Winburg and Harrismitb, including about two hundred
and fifty farms held under British titles. Such a proposal

could not, of course, be entertained by Mr. Venter.

The year closed with another appeal from the acting

president to the high commissioner, to which a reply was
made that his Excellency was ready to render assistance in

concert with both parties.

On the 16th November, 1863, the first building lots of

the village of Rouxville were sold. The farm Zuurbult in

the Smithfield district had been purchased by a committee,

and laid out as a church place in the usual manner.
On the day appointed for the election of a president

a great majority of the burghers voted in accordance with

the recommendation of the volksraad. Three thousand four

hundred and fifty votes in all were given. Of these, two
thousand two hundred and seventy-six were for Advocate

Brand, nine hundred and four for Mr. J. J. Venter, two

hundred and forty-three for Mr. T. H. Bowker, and twenty-

seven for Mr. J. Allison. On the 2nd of February, 1864,

Advocate Brand took the oaths of office as president of the

Orange Free State.

The Kepublic had now been ten years in existence, and
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several clauses in the constitution adopted in 1854 were

found to need alteration. No change whatever had yet been

made in it, with the exception of the one already mentioned

concerning the nomination of candidates for the presidency,

and a clause which had been added in 1857 empowering the

state secretary to take part in the debates of the volksraad.

During the session of the volksraad in February, 1864, this

subject was considered, and several clauses of the constitu-

tion were amended and brought into the form which most

of them still retain, though a decade later another revision

took place. As the changes required to be approved of in

three yearly sessions, they did not come into force until

after February, 1866.

After that date burghers consisted of (a) all white persons

born in the country, (6) all white persons resident in the

country for one year and possessing fixed property to the

value of £500, registered in their names, and (c) all white

persons resident for three successive years in the country.

Persons coming under either of the last two clauses were

required to produce a written certificate of good conduct

from the authorities of their former place of residence, and

give a written promise of fidelity to the state and obedience

to its laws, when the president was directed to supply a

certificate of burghership.

All youths on reaching the age of sixteen years, and all

other persons on obtaining certificates of burghership, were

required to inscribe their name with the field-cornet of the

ward in which they resided, and were made liable to perform

military service until they should attain the age of sixty

years.

All burghers over eighteen years of age were declared

entitled to vote in the election of commandants and field-

cornets.

In the election of a president and members of the volks-

raad the following classes of burghers of full age were

declared entitled to vote : (a) those born in the state, (6) those

in possession of urimortgaged landed property to the value

of £150, registered in their name, (c) lessees of landed pro-
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perty at a yearly rental of £36, (d) those in receipt ot a
fixed yearly income of JE200, and (e) those resident in the
state for three years, and possessing movable property
worth £300.

It was required of members of the volksraad that they
should be burghers, twenty-five years of age, owners of
unmortgaged landed property to the value of £100, and
never convicted of crime.

The duties of the volksraad were defined to be the making
of laws, and the control of the administration and the
finances. Its ordinary sessions were fixed to take place at

Bloemfontein on the first Monday in May of every year. It
was to consist of one member for each field-cornetcy and
one for the seat of magistracy of each district, who were to

be those receiving the greatest number of votes. Villages
other than seats of magistracy were excluded from returning
members.

It was resolved that the constitution as thus amended
could not be altered again except by consent of three-fourths
of the volksraad given in two successive yearly sessions.

Provision was made for the extension of education.
Itinerant teachers, who could give instruction to the chil-

dren of farmers, were to receive salaries from the state, and
in each district town there was to be a government-aided
school under the management of a committee composed of
the landdrost, the clergyman, and three members elected by
contributors to the school funds. The system of education,
though humble compared with what it is at present, was
thus as good as in most new countries. Its apex was the
Grey College at Bloemfontein, founded some years earlier by
the bounty of Sir George Grey.

There was a question which came before the volksraad
for decision during this session which did not seem of much
importance at the time, but which in later years was one of
the greatest difficulties the Republic had to meet. Adam
Kok had sold his territorial rights to the government of
President Pretorius

; the question was how far did those
territorial rights extend. Concerning the country which he
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originally claimed there could be no dispute. But Cornelia
Kok, of Campbell, had some time before his death formally
ceded his chieftainship to his nephew Adam Kok, who for

several years was undisputed head of the Campbell people
and their territory. Was this ground included in the sale ?

The Free State Government maintained that it was; Mr.
David Arnot, agent for the captain, Nicliolas Waterboer,
asserted that it was not, and that his client was its rightful
owner.

Like all the Griqua captains, Cornelis Kok had laid

claim to a tract of country twenty times as great as he had
any ugo for. There was no treaty with him, but Sir Harry
Smith and the Sovereignty government applied exactly the
same principle to him as to Adam Kok. In the case of the
latter, individual proprietorship of ground was recognised
between the Modder and Riet rivers, but there the chief lost

his sovereign rights, which were limited to the district

between the Riet and the Orange. In the case of Cornelis
Kok, individual proprietorship of ground was recognised
between the lower Vaal and Modder rivers, but his sovereign
rights were confined to the territory beyond the Vaal. This
was the condition of matters when the Republic came into
existence, and it had remained so ever since.

Adam Kok, by a notice published in the Friend of the

Free State of the 26th December, 1862, denied that the terri-

tory north of the Vaal—known as the Campbell gi-ounds

—

was included in his sale, although there was no reserve

whatever in the document passed by his agent, and the
people of that district had moved away to Griqualand East
with him. His repudiation of the sale and Mr. Arnot's
claim on behalf of Waterboer came first before the volks-
raad in February, 1863, when it was decided that a com-
mission, consisting of the president and Messrs Van Soelen
and F. Cloete, should meet a commission to be appointed by
Waterboer and settle the matter amicably. This had not
been effected, and Sir Philip Wodehouse was then requested
to act as arbitrator. His Excellency consented, and on the
11th of February, 1864, the volksraad approved of the ques-
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tion being submitted to his decision. But Waterboer then

refused to sign the deed of submission. President Brand
expressed an opinion that the best arrangement would be to

offer Waterboer the Campbell grounds in exchange for the

tract of land between the Orange, the line from Ramah
toward's David's Graf, and the Vetberg line, over which his

sovereignty had been recognised in October, 1855. This

land, though less valuable for farming purposes, was on the

Free State side of the Vaal, and its acquisition would give

the Republic a clear river boundary. The advantage of the

exchange was admitted by some of the members, but the

volksraad did not adopt the proposal to make Waterboer the

offer.

Mr. Arnot was now, however, putting forward claims on

behalf of his client to a very much larger tract of country

than the Campbell territory, for on the 21st of November,

1863, he inserted a notice in the Coleaberg Advertiser that

Waterboer's eastern bourdary was a line from Ramah on

the Orange to David's Graf at the junction of the Riet and

Modder, and thence to Platberg on the Vaal. He thus

advanced pretensions to land which for fifteen years had

been in the peaceable and undisputed occupation of the

Sovereignty and Free State Governments, and which in-

cluded the former Korana reserves, as well as many farms

held by Europeans. The government of the Free State

considered this claim so extravagant that no attempt was

made to refute it.

There had always been in the Free State a party—chiefly

consisting of residents in the villages—in favour of union

with the Cape Colony. Of late years this party had in-

creased in strength, owing to the difficulties with Moshesh,

and to the refusal of the Cape Government to surrender

any portion of the customs duties on imported goods. Its

leading members argued that by union with the Cape Colony

such assistance would be forthcoming as would enable them

to deal with the Basuto without danger of defeat, and that

they would then enjoy their fair share of the customs

revenue. In a condition of isolation, they maintained, the
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Free State was obliged to try to keep the Boauto tribe in

check for the benefit, not of itself ulone, but of the whole

of South Africa, and at the same time was deprived of

funds that justly belonged to it, and that by union it would

receive in the form of a strong police force on the border.

In June, 1864, memorials in favour of annexation to the Cape

Colony, signed by one thousand five hundred and fifty

burghers, were laid before the volksraad. But the party,

though forming a respectable minority in the country, was

unable to impress the volksraad with its views, so as to get

a resolution carried in accordance with its desires. The

majority of the farmers were averse to union with the

colony, as they set a very high value upon their inde-

pendence.

The number of churches in the Republic was rapidly

increasing. In 1854, when British sovereignty was with-

drawn, there were only two clergymen in the whole country.

In November, 1864, a general assembly at Smithfield decided

that the Dutch Reformed Church of the Orange Free State

should be an independent body governed by a synod of its

own. The first synod met at Smithfield on the 10th of May,

1865, and continued in session until the 14th. There were

then eleven congregations in the Republic, of which seven

were provided with ministers. In the first synod the seven

clergymen and fifteen elders took part, seven other elders

being prevented from attending by the unsettled condition

of the country.

In addition to the Dutch Reformed Church—the denomi-

nation to which the great majority of the inhabitants

belonged—there was a branch of the Separatist Reformed

Church, with a clergyman at Reddersburg. The Wesleyans

had congregations and clergymen in a few of the villages,

and the Church of England was represented by several con-

gregations, with a staff of clergymen presided over by a

bishop—the right reverend Edward Twells—who arrived in

September, 1863.

A matter that was at this time occupying the attention

of many people in the Republic was the existence of banking
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institutions, whose shareholders and directors were resident
in Europe. It was feared that the Standard bank might
acquire a power in the country dangerous to freedom, and
it was generally believed that its operations were designed
exclusively for the benefit of shareholders abroad, who\ad
no other interest in the country than to make as large a
profit as possible. Public opinion at length grew so strong
that in March, 1865, a law was passed by the volksraad that
no foreign bank would be allowed in the Free State after the
beginning of the next year.

As this enactment would cause foreign capital to be
withdrawn, the volksraad resolved to create a paper cur-
rency, and constitute it a legal tender. On the 10th of
March, 1865, a creation of notes to the value of £30,000 was
authorised. They were to be signed bv the president and
treasurer-general, were to be a legal tender for ten years,
and after that period were to be redeemed at the rate of
£6,000 yearly. They were issued on the security of govern-
ment property. This capital was lent to the Bloemfontein
bank, on payment of a yearly interest of six per cent. The
notes, which were commonly called bluebaeks, from the colour
of the paper on which they were printed, first came into
circulation on the 15th of April, 186ii.

On the 3rd of February, 1864, the volksraad empowered
President Brand again to request the high commissioner to
point out the boundary between the Free State and the
Lesuto, and on the 5th the president wrote in the strongest
language, entreating him to do so. To this the now stereo-
typed reply was received that his Excellency was willing, if

his mediation was distinctly accepted by both parties. And
to bring the matter to a close, the high commissioner not
only wrote to Moshesh asking him to state plainly whether
he would accept or decline the proposal, but he directed
Mr. Burnet to proceed to Thaba Bosigo and personally confer
with the great chief.

Mr. Burnet, in reporting the result of his mission, stated
that he found Moshesh pretending to be ifnor.int of both the
Warden line and the treaty of Aliwal North, and refusincr to
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listen to a word about either. He talked with his children

and missionaries from Monday till Wednesday evening,

and then came to a conclusion v^^hich he embodied in a letter,

and which left him free to do what he liked, if he should not

be satisfied with the high commissioner's decision. Mr.

Burnet told him that he would make no arrangement for

the mediation upon anj'^ such document. He had drafted an
act of acceptance, which was fully and clearly translated by
the reverend Messrs. Maitin and Mabille, and after much wild

rambling talk at eleven o'clock at night the great chief

signed it. Mr. Burnet added that it was only fear of the

British Government which induced Moshesh to agree to the

mediation.

And so at last there was a prospect of relief before the

Free State, for the government and people cherished the

hope that if the high commissioner pointed out the line,

Moshesh would respect it. The president wrote to his

Excellency expressing his warmest and most sincere thanks,

and the volksraad, with every demonstration of satisfaction,

appointed two of its members—Messrs. C. J. de Villiers and
H. A. L. Hamelberg—to form with the president a deputa-

tion to meet his Excellency and represent the state.

Mr. Burnet was directed to confer with the president,

and make the necessary arrangements for the high com-
missioner's journey. The Free State provided transport

waggons and horses, which were sent on to Aliwal North.

It was arranged that the work of inspecting the line should

be commenced on the 14th of March. All the parties were
to meet at Mekuatling on that date ; but very heavy rains

set in, and a week's postponement became necessary. This

gave Moshesh an opportunity to seek further delay, and he
wrote requesting that on account of the heavy rains and
swollen rivers the meeting might be postponed indefinitely.

On the 16th of March the high commissioner arrived at

Aliwal North. The Free State deputation was in waiting
upon the opposite bank of the river. But now a diflUculty

entirely unforeseen arose. On the 26th of February, before

leaving Grahamstown, the high commissioner had written to
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the president that he was undertaking the journey in the

supposition that he would be allowed to make such modifica-

tions of the line as he might consider just and reasonable,

and calculated to ensure the maintenance of peaceful relations.

The Free State Government was desirous that his Excellency

should point out the line defined by Major Warden, pro-

claimed by Sir Harry Smith, and ratified in the treaty of

Aliwal North ; but was willing that he should make such

modifications in it as both parties might agree to. When
Sir Philip Wodehouse reached Aliwal North, he addressed a

letter to the president, asking for a clear understanding on

this point. The presides could only reply in terms of the

Free State view. Under the constitution, the volksraad was
the only authority that could grant such powers as the high

commissioner desired, and that body was not then in session.

Several letters passed between the high commissioner and
the president, and on the morning of the I7th they had
a personal interview It ended by Sir Philip Wodehouse
declining to proceed on the mission, the difference between
his views and the powers of the Free State deputation

remaining as implied in the phrases, " what the high commis-
sioner may consider just and reasonable," and " what the Free

State and Basuto deputations may think expedient."

From Aliwal North Sir Philip Wodehouse proceeded

to Morija, where he met Moshesh. The great chief spoke in

his usual manner of his love of peace, and promised the high

commissioner to abstain from all acts of hostility towards

the Free State. But such promises were valueless, for his

people continued as before to press upon and harass the

farmers of Winburg and Harrismith.

The president returned with all speed to Bloemfontein,

and immediately summoned the volksraad to meet in extra-

ordinary session on the 4th of May. On the 5th the members
resolved, in their wish to prevent war, to empower his

Excellency to make such modifications in the Warden line as

he might consider just and reasonable, and calculated to

ensure the mamLcnance oi peaceiul relations, and that his

Excellency's decision should be considered as final.
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With these extensive powers Sir Philip Wodehouse con-
sented to define a boundary, but it was not until October
that he was able to absent himself from the colony. On the
6th of that month he reached Jammerberg Drift, where Mr.
Burnet had arranged that all the parties to the dispute
should assemble. The high commissioner was accompanied
by Lady Wodehouse, Sir Walter Currie, commandant of
the colonial police, Mr. Josias Rivers, aide-de-camp, Mr. J.

Burnet, Dr. Watling, and Land-surveyor Dowling. With
the president were Mr. J. J. Venter, late acting-president,

Commandants Fick and De Villiers, and Field-cornet De
Wet. Moshesh was accompanied by a host of his sub-chiefs
and attendants. Moroko was there also. And beside all

these, there were present many individuals, farmers, mis-
sionaries, and others interested in the question, or drawn
together by curiosity.

On the 7th there was a formal conference, which lasted
six hours. Each side laid its case before the high commis-
sioner. The Free State simply asked that the boundary
established by the British authorities in 1849 and confirmed
by the treaty of 1858 should be maintained. Moshesh's case
was that there had once been a time when the whole land
between the Lesuto and the Vaal river was occupied by
Bantu tribes. The remnants of those tribes were now living
in the Lesuto. He handed to the high commissioner a list

of the names of chiefs and titles of clans whose ancestors
had occupied the country beyond the Warden line, and he
asked that the ground should be restored to the heirs of
those who owned it before the wars of Tshaka. The high
commissioner stated that he would examine the ground in

person, and make known his decision afterwards. But he
gave both parties distinctly to understand that whatever
bis award might be, he had neither the disposition nor the
authority to take the slightest step to enforce compliance
with it.

On the 8th of October Sir Philip Wodehouse, accompanied
by the commissioners of the Free State and of Moshesh,
commenced an inspection of the country. As the party pro-
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ceeded, one Basuto delegate after another returned home,

when the district in which he was interested was left behind.

But the claims which they made, like those of Moshesh,

would in the aggregate have involved the extinction of the

Free State, The delegates of the Republic confined them-

selves to pointing out the Warden line and proving that the

ground beyond it was unoccupied when the farmers first

took possession of it.

The examination occupied rather more than a fortnight,

but by the 28th the high commissioner had reached Aliwal

North on his return, and on that day delivered his award in

writing. It was wholly in favour of the Free State. Both

before and after this event Sir Philip Wodehouse showed

that he was not entirely untainted by the prejudices against

the unlettered and unrefined farmers of the interior of South

Africa which most Europeans of culture are prone to feel.

At the time of his luediation he believed the Free State to

be too weak as a military power to contend successfully with

Moshesh, but his sympathies were not attracted to the

farmers by their supposed helplessness. He had read letter

after letter informing him of the distress, the misery, and

the danger of the white inhabitants of Winburg and Harri-

smith, without showing any emotion. At the very time that

some of the most urgent of these letters, imploring his medi-

ation, were coming to his hands, he had made a present of a

quantity of gunpowder to Moshesh, not sufficient indeed to

do much damage in case of war, but ample to show on which

side his private inclinations were. He came to this country

believing that the conduct of the whites of the Free State

towards their black neighbours was oppressive, as is proved

by the first letter which he wrote to President Pretorius.

That three years after giving this judgment he pievented the

destruction of the Basuto power is known to everyone.

But in the question of the disputed boundary the high

commissioner was obliged to be guided by rules of justice.

And in accordance with those rules he decided that the

Warden line must remain the boundary, with only one

slight change. During the British occupation a small tract
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of land north of one section of the line had not been divided

into farms, as Mr. Biddulph, magistrate of Winburg, pro-

posed to add it to the reserve assigned to Gert Taaibosch's

Koranas. These people had long since moved beyond the

Vaal, and the high commissioner now gave to Moshesh
the ground which Mr. Biddulph intended for them. In the

letter to the chief informing him of the award, Sir Philip

Wodehouse described the country as he found it in the

following terras :

—

"I have satisfied myself that the line known as the Warden line

was BO drawn as to do no more, except in one portion, than preserve

the farms for which British certificates have been given ; and like-

wise that up to the time of the signing of the Aliwal treaty the

rights of the owners of the farms had not been questioned, nor their

possession disturbed. What is the present state of affairs ? From
one end of the line to the other, and in most cases a considerable

distance within the line, parties of your tribe, without a pretence of

right, and without any formal declaration on your part, have squatted

on the several farms, have established villages, cultivated large tracts

of land, introduced large quantities of cattle, and have by intimidation

driven off the lawful owners. Everywhere are to be seen deserted

and roofless farm - houses, with valuable orchards fast going to

destruction."
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Immediately after the delivery of the award the president

requested Moshesh to cause measures to be taken for the

removal of his people from Free State territory before the

end of November. Moshesh replied that he would call a

meeting of his sub-chiefs to discuss the matter, and would
communicate the result.

A pitso, or national gathering of the Basuto, was there-

upon held. At these meetings there is liberty of speech for

everyone, and on this occasion even the common people

uttered their sentiments freely. All were in a state of violent

excitement, and all, with two exceptions, clamoured for war
rather than relinquishment of the coveted territory. The
exceptions were Moshesh and his great son Letsie. The
latter had none of the abilities of his father, except suf-

ficient cunning to conceal his designs. He had intelligence
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enough, however, to know that his brothers were his superior*
mentally, and that as the tribe was of recent formation, they
might easily wrest large sections of it from him on the death
of their father. Extension of the Lesuto north of the Warden
line meant increase of the power of Molapo and Masupha,
which Letsie had no wish to see, and therefore he was
probably in earnest when he gave his opinion that the agree-
ment to abide by the high commissioner's decision should be
faithfully observed.

Moshesh's reasons were very different. There wt ..ing

farther from his mind than submission to the award xa good
faith, but he was far too prudent to put himself in the wrong
with the British Government. In that figurative language
which he was so fond of using, he told the assembly that they
were in this matter governed, but that some other cause for

war might arise. His people understood him. It was there-
upon resolved, though not expressed in words, that to save
appearances the Basuto squatters should be withdrawn from
the Free State, and that a cause for war would be found such
as would not forfeit the sympathy of the British Government.

This is now made so clear by subsequent events, and by
the collection and publication of letters written by instruction
of the different chiefs and contemporaneous records from the
pens of Colonial and Free State officials, that no one at all

acquainted with Basuto ways attempts to dispute it. But so
wary was the great chief that Sir Philip Wodehouse was
completely deceived. Five months after the award, during
all which time the Basuto were devising plan after plan to
draw the farmers to attack them, the high commissioner in-

formed the secretary of state for the colonies that liis decision
had been faithfully accepted by Moshesh, and that all fear of
a collision was at an end. And both the high commissioner
and the secretary of state complimented the chief upon his

loyal and faithful conduct.

What that conduct was in reality must now be shown.
The chiefs who attended the pitso had no sooner dispersed
than cattle-lifting was resumed on a very extensive scale

along the south-western border, from which that quarter had
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for nearly three years been tolerably free. From the ground
north of the Warden line the women, children, and horned

cattle were removed, but the men and horses were left behind.

A strong patrol of farmers was assembling, to be ready on
the 1st of December to expel any intruders who might then

remain. While matters were in this condition, on the 22nd
of November a letter was handed to the president by some
Basuto, who stated that it had beta sent by Moshesh. The
seal of the great chief was not, however, attached to it. Its

purport was that if ISir Philip Wodehouse would not give

another line than that of Major Warden, Moshesh would not

submit. The object evidently was to provoke an attack before

the expiration of the month. The president, however, was
too cautious to be thus imposed upon. He sent Commandant
Wessels to Moshesh to ascertain if he acknowledged the docu-

ment, when the great chief declared it to be a forgerj^

About the same time some farms near Bethlehem were

pillaged by a party of Basuto under Lesawana, or Ramanela,

as he is now called. This Ramanela was a son of Moshesh's

brother Makhabane, and was married to Moshesh's daughter

of highest rank, who was a full sister of Letsie. The attack

upon the farms was entirely unprovoked. The homesteads

were damaged, the loose property was destroyed, and the

cattle were driven off. As this act did not provoke retalia-

tion, Moshesh affected to throw all the blame upon Ramanela,

promised to punish him for it, and engaged to compensate the

farmers to the extent demanded by Commandant De Villiers,

namely, to restore their stock which had been driven oft", and

to pay seventy head of good cattle as damages.

When the award was communicated to the president, the

high commissioner had counselled moderation in requiring

its fulfilment, and had expressed an opinion that it might be

found practicable to permit some of the Basuto squatters to

remain within the Free State on reasonable conditions. The
Free State Government was not unwilling to adopt this re-

commendation, and overtures from Ramanela himself were

being favourably entertained at the very time v/hen he

plundered the Bethlehem farmers. After this, naturally

II iiiHiiii> ..
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the Free State authorities resolved that none could re-

main.

At the beginning of December the president, with a strong

patrol, inspected the line, and found no Basuto within it, ex-

cept in one place a few, who appeared to be panic-stricken.

He then left a guard of two hundred men on the border, and
returned to Bloemfontein.

Moshesh's letters at this time, as ever throughout his

life, were filled with peaceful expressions. He had ordered
his subjects, he said, to withdraw within his boundary, and
he believed they had all done so, except a few of Ramanela's
clan, who would move without further delay. He informed
the president of a rumour which he asserted he had heard,

that the Free State, the South African Republic, and Moroko
had entered into alliance with a view of attacking him, and
innocently asked if there was any truth in it. He stated

that his people had abandoned the territory north of the
line so hastily that they had been unable to remove the corn
which was stored in baskets, or their loose goods and effects,

and he requested that they might be permitted to return for

such property, and also to gather the crops then growing in

the gardens which they had made. Moperi and Molapo also

wrote making similar requests.

The president, in reply, gave the chief permission to send
people for the corn and loose goods at any time before the
end of January, 1865, provided the people so sent were un-
armed, and conducted themselves properly. As for the crops
growing in the gardens, he would submit the question of their

removal or otherwise to the volksraad.

Some of Ramanela's people still remained in secluded
parts of the territory restored to the Free State by the
award. On the 27th of December they attacked the border
guard as it was patrolling in the Harrismith district, but
were driven back, with the loss of one man killed and five

wounded. The president then called upon Moshesh to re-

move these subjects of his, and to fulfil the engagements he
had made a month before. The great chief repeated his

promise, spoke of his love of peace and desire to do what
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was right, asked that a comn. ssion should be sent to confer

with him upon the punishment of Bamanela, and when Mr.

Job Harvey, landdrost of Smithfield, was sent with this ob-

ject, would do nothing. While time was thus being spent

in fruitless negotiations, Raraanela's people were busy

plundering, and in the second week of January, 1865, two

burghers were severely wounded by them.

On the 6th of February, 1865, the volksraad met. On

the 7th a resolution was unanimously adopted, thanking

the high commissioner in the name of the government and

the people for what he had done, and then the question

of the Basuto squatters being permitted to gather the corn

growing in the gardens they had made came on for discus-

sion. After a debate of two days' duration, resolutions were

carried that the squatters could not be permitted to gather

the maize and millet crops, which would not reach maturity

for some time to come, but that under reasonable safeguards

they might remove before the end of February the wheat

which was then lipe.

Just before this resolution was passed, Moshesh's son

Tsekelo paid an official visit to Bloemfontein. On his return

homewards he drove off some horses belonging to farmers,

and retired with them to a mountain stronghold between

Winburg and Mekuatling, where he took up his residence.

When shortly afterwards he was brought to account there

by Moperi, his own father-in-law, not less than forty horses

belonging to Free State burghers were found in his posses-

sion. A few of these were restored by Moperi, but Moshesh

took no steps to cause the others to be returned, or to punish

his son.

On the 23rd February the president wrote to Moshesh,

making a formal demand of redress for Ramanela's misdeeds

;

but Mr. Harvey, who was then endeavouring to obtain a

friendly settlement, was instructed not to deliver the docu-

ment until everything else should fail. It was thus kept

back till the time allowed for redress was unreasonably short,

on which account the president cancelled it, and renewed the

demand on the 28th of March. In this letter Moshesh was
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called upon to remove Ramanela'a people from the Free
State, to pay the fine of seventy head of cattle, to make full
compensation for the wounding of the two burghers, and to
punish the guilty parties, before the 15th of April ; to restore
the forty-seven horses and thirty-seven cattle stolen in
November by Ramanela, and to punish those followers of
Ramanela who had attacked the border guard, before the
Ist of May; failing which the government of the Free State
would act towards Ramanela according to the eleventh article
of the treaty of Aliwal North.

The only notice which Moshesh took of these demands
was to forward on the 26th of April fifty-eight of the least
valuable cattle in his country, nine horses, and £4 in money
which the president immediately sent back to him. And
while the cattle were on the return road, Ramanela made a
descent upon a farm belonging to a widow named Uys, and
drove off thirty-five horses.

A considerable burgher force was therefore called out.A guard was stationed at Koesberg to watch Poshuli, whose
followers were plundering the farmers along the lower
Caledon, and a commando took the field to punish Rama-
nela. On the 9th of May the president left Bloemfontein
and put himself at the head of the burghers. Ramanela
then sent his cattle into Natal for safety, and made a show
of resistance. On the 25th of May the commando attacked
him, when after a little skirmishing he fled over the boun-
dary, with the loss of a few men killed and wounded. This
was exactly what was anticipated and provided for by the
Basuto chiefs. The same stratagem that had lured the
column of Colonel Napier at Berea to destruction had been
employed to tempt the Free State forces onward. Thou-
sands of cattle were in sight, apparently unguarded and
ready to be made an easy booty by the exasperated burghers.
But the president was too cautious to fall into the trap. On
the line the commando halted, and Ramanela's fugitive clan
was pursued no farther.

While the forces were assembling to conduct this opera-
tion, the followers of Moperi were doing what they could to
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provoke an attack. Some of them took temporary possession

of a farm belonging to one Van Rooyen, and made prisoners

of the owner and of a man named Pelzer, the latter of whom
they assaulted and beat. Another party seized on Free State

ground a farmer named Michiel Muller, carried him away to

Moperi's village, and detained him there for four days. These

outrages brought matters to a climax.

On the 2nd of June the president demanded from

Moshesh the delivery to the landdrost of Winburg before

sunset ou the 8th of the individuals who had thus assaulted

and imprisoned Free State burghers on their own ground,

together with a fine of fifty head of cattle ; and announced

that if the demand was not complied with he would consider

it a declaration of war, and act accordingly. To this no

reply was made, and on the 9th of June, 1865, the president,

having done all that was possible consistently with honour

to preserve peace, issued from Leeuwkop a proclamation

calling the burghers to arms for the vindication of their rights

against the Basuto.
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CHAPTER VI

EVENTS IN THE SOUTH AFRICAN REPUBLIC FROM 1858 TO 1865

Revolt of the clan of Mapela in the district of Zoutpansberg—Suppression of
the revolt—Laws relating to the treatment of coloured people—Alterationsm some of the general laws—Adoption of a coat of arms for tl>e Republic—
Jicclesiastical disputes—Establishment of the Separatist Reformed Church—Attempt of Commandant Jan Kock to disturb the peace—Overtures for
the union of Lydenburg with the South African Republic-Creation of the
district of Wakkerstroom—Conditions under which the districts of Lyden-
burg and Utrecht became part of the South African Republic-Selection of
i'retoria as the seat of government—Foundation of the village of Middle-burg—Discord throughout the country after the departure of Air. Pretorius
to become president of the Orange Free State—Eflbrts of Mr. S. Schoeman
to obtain power and keep it—Resolute conduct of Mr. S. J. Paul Kruger—
l-lection of Mr. Kruger as commandant-general-Constant commotion andcml war—Re-election of Mr. Pretorious as president—Effects of the long
disturbances upon the public treasury, the reputation of the countryabroad
and the coloured people—Conduct of the Batlapin chief Mahura—Revolt
of the clans of Mapok and Malewu in the district of Lydenburg—Destruc-
tion of Malewu's clan by the Swazis-Transactions with the Zulu tribe—
Spirit of Panda's government—Battle between Umbulazi and Cetewayo—
Cession by Panda of the district of Utrecht to a party of farmers— Flight
of Umtonga to Utrecht—Negotiations with Cetewayo leading to the sur-
render of Umtonga—Cession of land by Cetewayo and Panda-Erection of
beacons along the boundary by a joint commission—Flight of Umtonga toWatai—Removal of the border beacons by Cetewayo—Pacific conduct of
J^anda--Alarm caused by Cetewayo's movements—Abuses in the system of
apprenticeship of coloured children—Cessation of ecclesiastical discord—
iiiStablishmentof three distinct branches of the Dutch Reformed Church in
the Republic—Establishment of other Christian churches—Commencement
of mission work on a large scale by various societies—Scheme of colonisa-
tion proposed by Mr. McCorkindale—Issue of paper money, commencing a
public debt—Insurrection of tribes in Zoutpansberg—Inability of the
government to send assistance to the burghers in laager there—Influenceupon Moshesh of the disturbances in the South African Republic

Early in 1858, when the Basuto chief was endeavouring to
draw the Free State into war, the Bamapela, one of the
clans that had risen in Zoukiansberg in 1854, took up arms
again. There is no direct proof of any kind to connect
Moshesh with this revolt. But when a recurring event is

always aceompaaied by the same phenomena, it is not un-
124
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reasonable to conclude that there is a connection between

them, though that connection cannot always be explained

or proved. So in the case of these outbreaks. They are

always found occurring just when it was to Moshesh's

advantage that they should occur, and hence the chief of

the mountain has been generally suspected of having insti-

gated them.

The outbreak began in the usual manner, by the murder

of a party of Europeans and the seizure of their property.

But it was speedily suppressed. Commandant - General

Sciioemaa called out a strong force, upon which the

marauders retired to a fortified hill. The surrounding

country was scoured, and a good deal of stock was secured.

On the 14th of April, 1858, Commandant Paul Kruger's

division took the stronghold by storm. The enemy rolled

large stones dov\'n upon tlie advancing force and kept up a

heavy lire, so that a good many burghers were wounded,

though only one—Philip Minnaar by name—was killed.

With the capture of this hill the revolt was crushed, and the

commando soon afterwards retired. In the campaign the

Bamapela lost about eight hundred men.

The laws relating to the treatment of Bantu tribes living

within the territory of the South African Republic under-

went several changes in 1858. In 1853 tlie sale of ammuni-

tion to these people had been prohibited under penalties

ranging from death to confiscation of all property. The

punishment for this offence was now changed to a fine of

£500, or imprisonment, or confiscation of property, accord-

ing to the judgment of the court of justice. Traders and

travellers were prohibited from having on their waggons

more than forty pounds of gunpowder and eighty pounds

of lead.

TraflBc in the indentures of coloured children was for-

bidden under penalty of a fine of £100 to £500.

In 1853 it was enacted that the commandants could allot

locations to coloured people, which were to be considered as

leases to be held as long as the occupants should conduct

themselves properly. The new laws provided that the land-

i '

^;!.



'» ^

126 History of South Africa

drosts of the different districts should assign locations to
the coloured people, which should be clearly defined, and
should be regarded as given to them for use during peace-
able behaviour, but not as alienable property. In these
locations the coloured people were to be under the govern-
ment of their own chiefs or captains, and were to be pro-
tected from molestation by other clans or by white people.
They were not to be permitted to form allianeas with other
tribes, or to possess munitions of war or horses. They were
to be under the dominion of the Republic, and those capable
of performing services were liable to be called upon for aid
in war. Trade with them was permitted under a few neces-
sary restrictions.

Contracts with coloured people could only be made with
the sanction of a field-cornet. Those who were not under
any recognised captain were obliged to take service with the
farmers, but were to be well treated, and no spirituous liquor
was to be sold to them without leave of their masters. No
missionaries were to be permitted to reside in the locations
without first obtaining the consent of the field-cornet of the
ward, who was required to consult the executive council of
the Republic before giving it.

Some important alterations were at the same time made
in the general laws. It was now provided that per.^ons of
any creed could vote at elections, but only members of the
Dutch Reformed Church were to be eligible to hold public
offices. The landdrosts were to be appointed by the executive
council, but the inhabitants of the district to which they
were sent could reject them at any time within two months
after their arrival. The field-cornets and assistant field-

cornets were still to be elected by the white inhabitants of
the wards. Their term of office was limited to five years.

In February, 1858, a coat of arms for the Republic was
adopted by the volksraad. It displayed a waggon and a
golden anchor on a silver shield, with an eagle above, on the
right side an armed farmer of the period, and on the left

side a Hon.

Ecclesiastical disputes were still rife, and towards the
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<;lo8e of tins year a new controversy arose. The same society

in the Netherlands that had sent out the reverend Mr. Van der

Hoff— who was before this date the only clergyman north

of the Vaal—now sent out another minister, named Van
Heiningen, who went to reside at Lydenburg. This clergy-

man and his consistory were in favour of union with the

synod of the Dutch Reformed Church in the Cape . Colony,

while Mr. Van der Hoff and his consistory were desirous of

separation of church as well as state.

With the reverend Mr. Van Heiningen there came also from

the Netherlands a clergyman named Postma, who had pre-

viously been minister of a congregation of the Separatist

Reformed Church at Zwolle, and who was sent out by the

synod of that body. In November, 1858, he became clergy-

man of Rustenburg. Mr. Postma held, with the Separatist

Church of the Netherlands, that the use in public worship

of hymns which were not paraphrases of Scripture was im-

proper. In the method of conducting service he differed

in a few small matters from his fellow- clergymen, but the

question of the use of hymns was the one upon which the

controversy arose.

With a view of trying to restore concord, the govern-

ment convened a general church assembly, which met at

Potchefstroom, on the 26th of April, 1859, and continued in

session for five days. The three clergymen of the country

north of the Vaal—the reverend Mr. Van der Hoff, of Potchef-

stroom, the reverend Mr. Van Heiningen, of Lydenburg, and
the reverend Mr. Postma, of Rustenburg—with the '>lders of

their churches were present. In addition, the reverend Mr.

Louw, of Fauresmith in the Free State, and the reverend Mr.

Hofmeyr, of Colesburg in the Cape Colony, had been invited

to assist, and took part in the proceedings.

The first question to be decided was whether the congre-

gation represented by Mr. Postma and its elders was part

of the Dutch Reformed Church, or not. According to the

twentieth article of the constitution that was the state

church, and if Mr. Postma did not belong to it he could not

be admitted as a clergyman. The assembly decided that its
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profession of faith agreed with that of the Dutch Reformed
Church, and it therefore fulfilled the conditions of the

twentieth article of ths constitution.

As a basis of concord, it was next resolved that each

clergyman should be at liberty to use the hymns generally

received, or not, according to the views of his congreagtion.

To prevent further strife by keeping out of the country

persons with a tendency to innovations, a complete revolu-

tion was effected. A majority resolved that no clergyman
should be eligible to accept the call of a congregation in the

South African Republic unless his credentials were confirmed
by the Cape synod, and he was approved of by the general

church assembly.

Lastly, the reverend Mr. Postma was recognised as clergy-

man of ilustenburg, under condition that the ministers of

Potchefstroom and Lydenburg should from time to time visit

that congregation.

On the 1st of August, 1859, Mr. Postma's consistory

notified that it rejected the resolutions adopted at Potchef-

stroom in April. It declared its determination to use in

public worship only the psalms and paraphrases of Scripture

which were put in rhyme in the Netherlands in 1773. It

asserted its conviction that the confirmation of credentials

of clergymen by the Cape synod was unnecessary, unsafe,

even dangerous to an independent state. And it rejected

entirely the interference of the clergymen of Potchefstroom
and Lydenburg. It expressed a wish for union, but proposed

no concessions.

From that date the Separatist Reformed Church has

existed as an independent body in the South African Re-
public. A little later the second congregation of this com-
munion was formed at Vlakfontein in the Orange Free State.

In February, 1861, the church place there took the name of

Reddersburg, and in November of that year the reverend Mr.
Beyer arrived from Holland, became the first resident

minister. Next, a congregation was established at Burghers-
drop, in the Cape Colony, where a theological seminary
has since been founded. In various places elsewhere congie-
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gations have in later years been formed, and the Separatist

Church is now a large and influential body in the Republics

and in some parts of the Cape Colony. It is thoroughly

orthodox in its creed, and very closely resembles the church

of the Scotch covenanter^ of bygone days. By those in

South Africa not of its communion it is commonly called the

Dopper Church.

On the 13th of September, 1859, the general assembly of

the state church came together at Pretoria, and unanimously

resolved to unite with the Cape synod. Since 1862, however,

owing to a decision of the supreme court of the Cape Colony,

no clergymen or elders from territories beyond the colonial

boundary can have seats in the colonial synod.

In 1859, Commandant Jan Kock, whose name was famous

in the early days of the Sovereignty, but who had since been

almost forgotten, came into notice again. On the 8th of

July of that year he issued from Potchefstroom a proclama-

tion in the name and by authority of Commandant-General

Stephanus Schoeman, in which he announced to the in-

habitants of that part of the Free State which lies between

the Vet and Vaal rivers that the territory occupied by them

once belonged to Hendrik Potgieter, that Schoeman was

Potgieter's successor, and that they could at any time claim

protection from Schoeman. The proclamation was a revival

of the old Winburg claim to be united with Potgieter's party

north of the V .c,], and an invitation to the burghers of the

territory between the Vet and the Vaal to rebel against the

Free State Government.

On the 13th of July, Mr. H. Jeppe, acting state attorney

of the South African Republic, issued a protest against

Kock's proclamation as calculated to disturb the peace.

Kock thereupon, on the 28th, published in the ^tate, Gazette

a protest against Mr. Jeppe's protest. President Pretorius

was at the time absent on a visit to Zululand, and Mr. H, S.

Lombard was acting in his stead. He caused the whole
issue of the &tate Gazette to be suppressed, and on the 2nd of

August published a proclamation that the government would
strictly adhere to articles 4 and 27 of the constitution, and
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prosecute all who should disregard them. The last of these

had recently been modified, by giving power to the volksraad

that had formerly been reserved to the people in primary

assembly. As they stood then in the constitution, these

articles were :

—

4. The people desire no extension of territory, and will allow of

none except upon just principles, when the interests of the Republic

make such extension necesaary.

27. No treaty or alliance with foreign powers or people may be

proposed, received, or concluded, except after the volksraad has been

called together by the president and the members of the executive

council for the purpose of making known its views thereupon, and

the proposal shall be approved of and confirmed, or shall be rejected

according to the decision of the members of the volksraad.

This event is hardly worthy of notice, except as an

indication of the spirit of discord that existed in the Republic.

Kock had numerous partisans, though they did not choose

to rally round him on this occasion, and so his object was

not attained. He was brought to trial and fined £37 lOs. for

the attempt to disturb the peace of the country.

On the 11th of September, 1857, the volksraad of the

South African Republic decided to send an invitation to

Lydenburg to come to a reconciliation in ecclesiastical and

political matters. The invitation was forwarded by President

Pretorius, but it did not meet with immediate response.

Karly in 1859, however, the Lydenburg people considered

the matter favourably, and the members of the executive

councils of the two Republics had a meeting and arranged

a basis of union. President Pretorius then convened the

volksraad, which met at Potchefstroom in special session on

the 2nd of May, 1859. Fourteen members were present. A
report of the proceedings, including the basis of agreement,

was laid before them. They expressed gratification at the

prospect of union, but instead of confirming the provisional

agreement, instructed the executive to publish it in the

Gazette in order that the opinior of the public at large might

be expressed. They directed . \e president to bring the
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matter up again at the next ordinary session, and they then

returned to their homes.

Though the union was not legally completed, all public

acts were henceforth based on the assumption that what re-

mained to be done was only formal. Shortly after the close

of the session President Pretorius visited Zululand, and had

a friendly interview with the chief Panda. At Utrecht he

established provisionally a court of landdrost and heemraden,

and also at a place which thereafter took the name of

Marthinus-Wessel-Stroom, the district of which it was the

seat of magistracy being termed Wakkerstroom. In Sep-

tember, 1859, the volksraad approved of these acts.

The territory comprised in the district of Wakkerstroom
was south of the Vaal, and in theory once formed part of

the Orange River Sovereignty, though no actual jurisdiction

was exercised over it. In June, 1854, a commission was sent

from the Free State to confer on several matters with the

volksraad then in session at Rustenburg. The volksraad

claimed, as the southern boundary of the territory to whitjh

the convention of 1852 applied, the Klip river from its

source to its junction with the Vaal, and thence the last-

named stream, the Klip river being the one running through

Zeekoevlei. The Free State made no objection to this at the

time, nor did it protest against the formation of the district

of Wakkerstroom by the volksraad of the South African

Republic in 1859.

On the 25th of April, 1860, Mr. J. H. Grobbelaar, then

acting president of the South African Republic, issued a

proclamation defining the Klip river as the boundary, and
a commission which was sent from Bloemfontein to confer

with him, and the executive council made no opposition, but
even proposed that the boundary question should be brought
before the volksraads of both countries with a view of Klip

river being approved of. On the 14th of February, 1862,

however, the volksraad of the Orange Free State declared

that the upper Vaal river was the boundary, and appointed a
commission to erect a beacon at the source of that stream.

At the same time, a guarantee was given that the rights of
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individuals in the district of Wakkerstroom would not be

disturbed. Negotiations between the two Republics, and
resolutions adopted by the volksraads on various occasions,

failed to affect an amicable settlement of the dispute, but

the district remained in fact a portion of the northern

state.

There was a party, principally residents in the district of

Potchefstroom, opposed to the union of Lydenburg with the

South African Republic. They used no other arguments,

however, than those which originated in the old quarrel

between the adherents of Andries Pretorius and Hendrik
Potgieter, and they were in a decided minority.

On the 3rd of April, 1860, representatives of the two Re-

publics met at Pretoria. There were present fifteen members
of the volksraad of the districts Potchefstroom, Rustenburg,

Pretoria, and Zoutpansberg, forming the South African

Republic, and twelve members of the volksraad of the dis-

tricts Lydenburg and Utrecht, forming the Republic of

Lydenburg. On the following day the articles of union

were ratified.

The constitution, flag, and coat of arms of the South

African Republic were adopted by the united state. The
districts forming the Republic of Lydenburg retained a

council to make purely local laws, but such laws were to be

submitted for the approval of the executive council and the

volksraad. They were to be entitled to choose two members
of the executive council, and to be represented in the

volksraad by nine members. Their church was not to be

forced into uniformity with the others. They were to retain

their own commandant-general for a time.

Pretoria was chosen as the seat of government, and the

heads of departments were to be stationed there within two

months.

One of the articles of agreement rescinded the sentence

of banishment passed by the landdrost of Potchefstroom

against Mr. J. A. Smellekamp in July, 1854, and required

the fine of £37 lOs^j imnosed bv the volksraad in June of

that year, to be repaid to him.
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In October, 1859, the volksraad resolved to found a village

on the watershed between Klipspruit and the highest eastern

branch of the Olifants river. The resolution was carried

into effect shortly afterwards. The village was called Naza-

reth until 1874, when the name was changed to Middleburg,

by which it has since been known.

On the 2nd of February, 1860, President Pretorius ob-

tained from the volksraad of the South African Republic six

months' leave of absence. He had been elected president of the

Orange Free State, and his partisans hoped that within the

six months a plan of union would be devised. But after his

departure from Potchefstroom, and particularly after the

union with Lydenburg, the opinions of many people north

of the Vaal underwent a change. The old enmity of the

Lydenburg faction had a great deal to do with it. They

were jealous of the younger Pretorius, as they had been of

his father, and they felt little inclination to aid in augment-

ing his dignity. They began to argue that union would

confer much greater advantages on the Free State than on

them. Shutting their eyes to the masses of barbarians on

their northern and eastern borders, they spoke of Moshesh

as if he was the only chief whose power was to be feared,

and as if the object of the unionist party in the Free State

was the purely selfish one of getting assistance to deal with

him.

Hostility to Mr. Pretorius was clearly exhibited by the

volksraad immediately after the union with Lydenburg. A
resolution was carried that he must perform no duties north

of the Vaal during the six months; in other words, that he

must not interfere in any way with matters there, and that

on the expiration of his leave he must give an account of

his proceedings. Mr. Schubart, the state secretary, was

dismissed for having accompanied him to Bloemfontein, and

Mr. J. H. Struben was appointed to that office.

The leave would expire on the 2nd of August. On the

28th of July the volksraad of the Free State resolved to send

a commission to Pretoria to ask for an extension of the term,

as the services of Mr. Pretorius could not then be dispensed
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with. They desired more time to devise a plan of union.

They gave the president thvee months' leave from the Free

State, and on the same day ho left for Potchefstroom.

On the 10th of September the volksraad of the South
African Republic met at Pretoria, Mr. Cornells Potgieter,

landdrost of Lydenburg, was its leading spirit. The Free

State commission was present, but met with a cooler recep-

tion than had been anticipated. Mr. Pretorius appeared, in

conformity with the resolution passed in April, and offered

to make a statement. It was provided in the constitution

that the president, during his tenure of office, should follow

no other occupation. The volksraad took advantage of this,

decided that it was illegal for anyone to be president of the

South African Republic and of the Orange Free State at the

same time, and called upon Mr. Pretorius to resign one

office or the other. There was a warm controversy, at the

close of which Mr. Pretorius resigned the office of president

of the South African Republic. Mr. J. H. Grobbelaar, who
had been acting president since the 2nd of February, was
requested by the volksraad to continue in office.

The partisans of Mr. Pretorius hereupon resolved to resist.

A mass meeting was held at Potchefstroom on the 8th and
9th of October. Mr. Pretorius was there, and with him was
his former adversary, Stephanus Schoeman, who now professed

to be one of his staunchest adherents. The meeting resolved

almost unanimously

:

(a) That the volksraad no longer enjoyed its confidence,

and must be held as having ceased to exist.

(6) That Mr. Pretorius should remain president of the

South African Republic, and have a year's leave of absence

in order to bring about union with the Free State.

(c) That Mr. Stephanus Schoeman should act as presi-

dent during the absence of Mr. Pretorius, and Mr, Grobbelaar

be dismissed.

id) That Mr. Struben should be dismissed as state secre-

tary, and Mr. Schubart be restored to that office.

(e) That before the return of Mr. Pretorius to resume

his duties a new volksraad should be elected.
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A committee of five—Messrs. D. Steyn, Preller, Lombard,

Spruyt, and Bodenstein— was appointed to see these resolu-

tions carried out. The electors were appealed to, but the

voting was so arranged that only a thousand burghers recorded

^heir opinions. Of these, more than seven hundred approved

of the resolutions of the Potchefstroom meeting. Thereupon

Mr. Schoeman assumed duty as acting president, Mr. Willem

Janse van Rensburg became acting commandant-general, and

Mr. Philip Coetzer, of Lydenburg, a member of the executive

council.

On the 14th of January, 1861, the volksraad that had been

dissolved by the revolution met at Pretoria on the summons

of Acting President Schoeman. He held his office by the

same authority that had dismissed this body, yet so incon-

sistent and fickle was he that he now acknowledged its legal

existence. The council of war of the Republic met at Pretoria

at the same time. The committee appointed by the Potchef-

stroom meeting was there also. Antagonism to the volksraad

was so strongly expressed by most of those who were thus

drawn together that the majority of the members resigned

after a session of a couple of hours.

If the acting president had been a man of sound judgment

he would after this at least have let matters rest. Instead

of doing so, with his countenance the volksraad came together

again under protection of an armed force, and ordered legal

proceedings to be instituted against the Potchefstroom com-

mittee. On the 13th of February the members of the com-

mittee were brought to trial for sedition. The court con-

sisted of two landdrosts, one of whom was Cornells Potgieter,

of Lydenburg, their bitterest political opponent. The accused

were found guilty by a jury, when Messrs. Steyn, Preller,

Lombard, and Spruyt were sentenced to pay each a fine of

£100, and Bodenstein to pay a fine of £15.

This proceeding caused great commotion throughout the

Republic. A court of twelve members was elected by the

people to settle matters, but beyond making some changes in

the executive council it did nothing. Then Acting President

Schoeman, to support his authority, assembled an armed
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force, which he placed under the orders of Mr. J. C. Steyn.
Upon this, Commandant Paul Kiuger, of Rustenburg, called

out the burghers of his district, and marched to Pretoria

with a determination to drive out Sclioeman and establish a
better government.

In order to prevent civil war, a number of influential men
living in and near Pretoria interposed. At their recom-
mendation, three men were elected from each of the com-
mandoes to form a court to decide what should be done, and
Mr. M. W. Pretorius was rtinested to act as its chairman.
This court resolved that a new volksraad should be elected,

to whose decisions all must bow, that the existing govern-
ment should retain office until the meeting of the new volks-

raad; that the prosecutions for political offences should cease;

and that the armed burghers should immediately return to

their homes.

These resolutions were acted upon. The commandants
disbanded their forces, and at the close of the year 1861 all

was again quiet.

The volksraad, elected according to this arrangement,
met at Pretoria on the 2nd of April, 1862, and continued in
session until the 26th of the same month. It decided to

dismiss Mr. Schoeman, the members of the executive council,

and the head of departments. It appointed Willem C. Janse
van Rensburg acting president until an election could take
place, the ballot papers of which were to be sent in before
the 13th of October, when it would hold another session.

Further, it appointed provisionally J. H. Visagie state secre-

tary, J. H. Valckenaar state attorney, M. J. Viljoen, D.
Erasmus, and W. Coetzer members of the executive council,

and Theunis Snyman commandant-general.

Acting President Schoeman refused to submit to this

decision, and a strong party supported him. At Potchef-
stroom the landdrost, Jan Steyn, declared for him ; and when
Van Rensburg visited that village, he and the officers whom
be tried to appoint were driven away.

For several months there were two acting presidents and
two rival governments in the South African Republic. At
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longth Commandant Paul Kruger resolved to put an end

to this anarcliy. The volksraad had appointed Theunis

Snyman, of Pretoria, comtnandant-geuerai ; but this officer

volunteered to serve under Kruger. So also did Joseph van

Dyk, cominandant-genoral of Lydenburg.

Having driven 8choeman and his adherents from Pre-

toria, on the 7th of October Commandant Kruger, nith a

force of between eight hundred and a thousand men, and

three pieces of artillery, invested Potchefstroom. Schoeman

held the village with between three and four hundred men

and one cannon. Fire was opened from Kruger's battery,

but as the oV»ject was only to frighten Schoeman into sub-

mission, the guns were so directed that during two days of

what the villagers were pleased to call "the bombardment,"

the only damage done Wfc^s to the gables of a few houses.

On the 9th, Schoemaa, who was not wanting in courage,

made a sudden sortie, in hope of capturing Kruger's artil-

lery. Instead of this, however, he was driven back with

the loss of his own cannon, and with one man killed and

himself and seven others wounded. Kruger's loss was two

men wounded. This event disheartened Sehoeman's par-

tisans, and that nip^ht he and his principal adherents fled

into the Free State. President Pretorius, who on the 30th

of September had obtained two months leave from the volks-

raad of the Free State purposely to visit the northern

Republic and endeavour to restore order, had arrived at

Potchefstroom the day after the investment commenced.

Not being able to obtain a suspension of hostilities, he

accompanied the fugitives over the Vaal.

On the 10th of October, Commandant Kruger took pos-

session of Potchefstroom. The council of war issued a pro-

clamation banishing Stephanus Schoeman and the landdrost

Steyn from the South African Republic; and Sehoeman's

principal adherents were fined, Jan Kock, among others, being

sentenced to confiscation of all his property. Kruger then

with his whole force marched to Klip river, where it was

reported that Schoeman was collecting his adherents again.

He left Potchefstroom unprotected. Upon this, Schoeman
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fairly doubled upon his opponent, for he returned to Potchef-

stroom and took possession of the villapfe. Some eight hun-
dred men rallied round him there. Kruger hastened back,

and the two commandoes were ready to fall upon each other
when President Pretorius interposed.

Kruger having consented to a discussion of matters, a
tent was pitched midway between the two camps, and on
the 24th and 25th of November the negotiations were held.

Schoeman entrusted his case to President Pretorius, and
Commandant D. C. Uys, Commandant Paul Kruger, and Mr.
S. T. Prin.sloo appeared on the other aide. They agreed
that all sentences of banishment, confiscation, and fines

should be suspended, that an election of a president and of

a commandant-general should take place as soon as order

was restored, that in the meantime the administration

appointed by the volksraad should remain in office, and that
all criminal charges connected with the disturbances should
be submitted to a court created for the purpose, over which
Mr. Walter Harding, chief justice of Natal, or, failing his

consent, Advocate H. A. L. Hamelberg, of Bloemfontein,
was to be requested to preside. The burghers then dis-

persed.

On the 12th of January, 1863, the special court should
have opened its session at Pretoria. Instead of that, how-
ever, Schoeman with an armed force entrenched himself in

the village, and declared that he would not submit to its

decisions, as its members were his opponents. Kruger then,

with a few burghers of his own district, marched to protect
the court. He formed a camp at a little distance from Pre-
toria, and called upon the burghers everywhere throughout
the Republic to join him and establish order. His appeal
was responded to, and from all sides men gathered to his

standard. Taking only two unarmed burghers with him,
he entered Pretoria and announced that he did not wish to

shed a drop of blood, but that he was determined to compel
all persons to submit to the law. At this, Schoeman's
adherents began to waver, and they offered no resistance

when Kruger placed a strong guard over the public offices.
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On the 19th of January, during a heavy thunderstorm,

Schoeman and his principal adherents tied from Pretoria,

taking two cannon with them ; and as Hoon as possible they

crossed into the Free State. When James II. of England

fled from his capital, he took the great seal with him, in the

silly hope of thereby embarrassing his successor. When
Schoeman fled from Pretoria, he carried off the state flag in

like manner.

On the 20th of January the .special court commenced

its session. Both Mr. Harding and Mr. Hamelberg had

declined to preside over it, so that it consisted merely of

three landdrosts. Each case was decided by a jury of

twelve. S. Schoeman, C. F. Preller, and J. C. Steyn, who

had all fled from the country, were found guilty of rebellion,

were banished, and were sentenced to confiscation of their

property. Schoeman's son was banished. Several others

had light sentences passed upon them, but a door of

reconciliation was left open for all except the leading

oft'enders.

The election for a president and a commandant-general

took place shortly after the session of the special court was

over. For a president only seven hundred and fourteen

votes in all were given. Of these three hundred and seventy

were for W. C. Janse van Rensburg, two hundred and forty-

seven for M. W. Pretorius, and ninety-seven were scattered

among several others. For a commandant-general only foui*

hundred and eighty-six votes were recorded. Of these,

three hundred and eight were for S. J. Paul Kruger, one

hundred and thirty-five for Joseph van Dyk, and forty-three

were scattered.

On the 20th of May, 1863, the volksraad met at Pretoria.

Mr. Van Rensburg, in announcing the result of the elections,

stated that as 30 few votes had been given, the decision of

the people had clearly not been ascertained. He therefore

desired that a fresh election should take place. The volks-

raad coincided with this view, and passed a resolution that

another election should be held, the voting papers to be sent

by the landdrosts to the executive council on or before the
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Ist of October. Mr. Van Ronsburg'a administration was
directed to continue in office until the 12th of October, when
the volksraad would meet again.

Petitions wore road from the Schoemans, father and son,

praying that the sentences passed upon them by the special

court might be mitigated. On the intercession of Mr. M. W.
Protorius, it was resolved that they could return to the
South African Republic; but the father was declared incap-

able of holding any office, and was required to pay a iino of

£500, and the son, who was restored to full burgher rights,

was to i)ay X2r>().

At the appointed time the volksraad met ngain, when it

was announced that in the districts of Potchefstroom, Lyden-
burg, Zoutpansbci-g, Rustenburg, Pretoria, Utrecht, and
Middlebuig, one thousand one hundred and six votes had
been given for Mr. Van Rensburg, and one thousand and
sixty-tivo for Mr. Protorius. In Wakkerstroom the proceed-
ings at the election had been very irregular, and many of the
ballot ])aperH from that district were thrown out. Mr. Paul
Kruger >iad been elected commandant-general by a clear

majority.

On the 24th of October, Mr Van Rensburg took the oath
of office as president, but his opponents professed to believe

that the ballot papers had been tampered with, and declined
to recognise his government.

Connnandant Jan Viljoen, of the Marikwa, raised the

standard of revolt on this occasion. On the 10th of December,
1863, ho entered Potchefstroom at the head of an armed
force, dismissed the officials, and replaced them with others
of his own selection. His force termed itself the Volksleger,

the Army of the People. Commandant-General Kruger
called out one hundred and fifty men to suppress the rebel-

lion, not knowing that Viljoen's force was as strong as it

was afterwards found to be. With this little commando,
called the Staatsleger, or Army of the State, he proceeded
to Potchefstroom, and encamped outside the village. Then
for the first time he became aware of the numbers against
him. There were three hundred men in Potchefstroom, and
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Viljoen with a still stronger force appeared in the rear and

cut off' his retreat.

Kruger then sent to Vi.joen to propose that they two,

witii two others selected from each side, should go through

the Republic, call a meeting at each centre of population,

and hold another election for a president, binding themselves

to abide by the issue. This proposal was rejected. A patrol

from the state army was surrounded and obliged to sur-

render, when Krijger, seeing the hopelessness of his position,

retiied acioss the Vaal, taking with him only an officer

named Carol Eloff. Some of his men managed to disperse

in different directions, but most of them were obliged to

surrender.

The elder Schoeman now arrived at Potchefstroom in

expectation of being called to the head of the volksleger, b' t

was disappointed. His wif'^ was with him, and she handed

over the state flag, which h , i been in her keeping since her

husband's flight from Pretoria.

On the 23rd of December the volksleger left Potchef-

stroom and marched towards Pretoria. Before its arrival at

this place, the officials fled to Rustenburg, so others were

installed by Commandant Viljoen. From Pretoria the

volksleger marched towards Rustenburg, but learning on

the way that Commandant-General Kruger had returned

and was collecting his forces there, Viljoen formed a strong

camp where the road crosses the Limpopo river.

From eight to nine hundred men rallied round Kruger,

and with them he went to meet Viljoen. Having formed a

camp about three miles from that of the volksleger, he

advanced with a mere patrol and drew out his opponent.

Then retreating to a place where he had posted a strong

force, he turned upon his pursuers. A battle followed, 5th

of January, 1864, in which the volksleger was beaten, and

compelled to retire to the camp on the Limpopo, but was

not reduced either to submit or to disperse. On Kruger's

side two men were killed, and six or eight were wounded

;

on Viijoeu's side five were killed, and about thirty were

wounded.
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On the following day Mr. W. M. Pretorius arrived from
the Free State and offered himself as a mediator. Though
he expressed great regret at the course Commandant Viljoen

had adopted, the men who composed the volksleger were
those who had always been his political supporters, and who
were then more than ever determined that he should be
their president. By them he was warmly received. Com-
mandant-General Kruger agreed to discuss matters once
more, and on the 8th of January the representatives of the

two armies met to consult upon terms of reconciliation.

The conference lasted six days. On the part of the volks-

leger the delegates were Messrs. M. W. Pretorius, T. F. J.

Steyn, and J. J. Fourie ; on the part of the staatsleger they
were Messrs. S. J. P. Kruger, S. J. Grobbelaar, and S. T.

Prinsloo. They agreed that a new election for a presi-

dent should be held, for which purpose a commission from
each party should proceed to the several districts, call the

burghers together, and cause the ballot papers to be signed
in their presence; that the existing administration should
remain in office until the new president was sworn in ; and
that to decide all vexed questions a special court should be
created, to consist of President Brand of the Free State,

Chief Justice Harding of Natal, and Advocate Hamelberg of

Bloemfontein.

These terms were submitted to the two commandoes on
the 15th of January, and were approved of. The burghers
were then disbanded, and shortly afterwards Messrs. Kruger
and Fourie proceeded to Bloemfontein to request President
Brand and Advocate Hamelberg to take seats in the special

court. The volksraad of the Free State was in session, and,
upon being applied to, made no objection to their acting as

desired, provided they did so in an unofficial capacity. None
of the gentlemen named, however, would undertake the
duty, as the authority upon which they would act was irre-

gular, and there could be no guarantee that their decisions
would be carried out.

There were two thousand six hundred and thirty-seven
votes recorded at the presidential election. Of these, one
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thousand five hundred and nineteen were for Marthinus

Wessel Pretorius, and one thousand one hundred and

eighteen for Willem C. Janse van Rensburg. On the 10th

of May, 1864, the volksraad met, and Mr. Pretorius took the

(jaths of office. With this ceremony the civil strife which

had so long agitated the Republic ceased. When a little

later it was decided that all sentences of banishment, con-

fiscation of property, and fines, which had been passed for

political ofiences should be annulled, and that whatever had

been seized should be restored to its original owners, there was

a general feeling of satisfaction. With Mr. Pretorius as

president and Mr. Kruger as commandant-general working

together, the government was sufficiently strong to prevent

open rebellion by an}'^ party of disaffected burghers.

The civil strife was over, but the injury it had caused

could not easily be repaired. The treasury was empty,

salaries were in arrears, taxes of all kinds were outstanding

and practically irrecoverable. But this was the smallest

item in the account. The Republic had lost the confidence

of the outside world, no one any longer believed in its

stability. The Orange Free State, once so desirous for

union, now preferred to stand alone even in the dark shadow
of the Basuto power. The most that its citizens spoke of

was an offensive and defensive alliance between the two
Republics, but when that was submitted to their vote in

1892 they took very little interest in it. In their eyes,

north of the Vaal order seemed to have perished.

The discord among the Europeans had been turned to

advantage by the coloured people. Several of the tribes on

the border and in the mountainous districts of the north

had become practically independent. During these years

they had paid no taxes of any kind, nor had authority in

any way been exercised over them. They had been left to do
as the}' liked, and they could not now be disturbed without

a certainty of resistance.

The terms of peace concluded with the Batlapin chief

Mahura on tho ISth of August, 1858, had never been com-

pleted. The amount of damages and costs which he had

8 .,
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undertaken to pay was not stated in the a<i[reement, but on
the 6tli of the following October the president had written

to him demanding eight thousand liead of good cattle, three

hundred horses, and five hundred guns to meet this debt.

He had never paid a single hoof, and when a letter of

demand was addressed to him eleven days after the return to

office of Mr. Pretorius, he referred the government of the

Republic to his agent, Mr. David Arnot. This was equivalent

to ignoring his liability, and declaring that he had no

intention of doing anything in the matter.

Two clans in the district of Lydenburg had taken up

arms, and for many months the white residents there had

been living in laagers. One of these clans, which was under

a chief called by the Europeans Mapok, had been notorious

for cattle-lifting ever since 1853. The other was under a

chief named Malewu. In October, 1863, Mapok attacked the

principal laager, but was driven back with heavy loss. A
patrol of sixty men unlar Field-cornet Daniel Erasmus fell

in with a large party of the enemy on a plain, and killed one

hundred and thirty, at a cost of two farmers wounded

;

but with these exceptions the advantages were all on the

side of the blacks. They had possession of the whole of

the outlying farms, and had destroyed all the houses and

orchards. In December, 1863, a force was sent from Pretoria

against them, but was recalled before doing anything, owing

to the revolt of Commandant Viljoen.

Within a month of the return to office of President

Pretorius, a large commando was on its way to Lydenburg

to deal with Mapok and Malewu. But it had no occasion

to fight. Those chiefs had other enemies in the Swazis,

one of the bravest and most powerful of the coast tribes. In

June, 1864, a Swazi army fell upon Mapok and routed

him. It next attacked Malewu and nearly annihilated his

clan, leaving in one place alone the corpses of eight

hundred and fifty-four men, and two thousand eight hundred

and forty women and children. The Swazis then withdrew

to their own side of the boundary, and left to Commandant-

General Joseph van Dyk only the task of collecting the
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remnants of the hostile clans and assigning them locations to

live in.

The transactions of the Republic with the Zulu tribe at

this time were not considered of much importance, though

fourteen years later they gave rise to a very serious con-

troversy. To understand them, it is necessary to take up

the thread of Zulu history from the establishment of the

colony of Natal.

The government of Panda, though cruel if judged by a

Euiopean standard, was mild when compared with that of

either Dingan or Tshaka. White traders were encouraged

to settle among the people, and missionaries were permitted

to pursue their labours. Two mission societies previously

unrepresented in South Africa—the Hanoverian and the

Norwegian—sent their agents into Zululand. The military

system established by Tshaka was greatly relaxed, though

the organisation of the army was still maintained. It was

not possible to carry on war as formerly ; for on the south

was Natal, under English government, on the west was

the South African Republic, and north of the Pongolo river

was the Swazi tribe, in alliance with white men whom Panda

feared to offend. In January, 1847, the Zulus attacked the

Svvazis, when Commandant-General Hendrik Potgieter,

though not assisting either, used his influence in the interests

of peace. In 1855 the Swazis ceded a tract of land to the

district of Lydenburg, purposely to place Europeans between

the Zulus and themselves.

The family of Panda was a large one, and as his sons

reached manhood they began to quarrel for precedence.

The two ablest of them were named Umbulazi and Cetewayo.

On the 2nd of December, 1856, a battle attended with fright-

ful carnage took place on the nor^'-ern bank of the Tugela

between the adherents of these young chiefs, when Umbulazi

and five other sons of Panda, with four or five thousand

warriors, lost their lives. All the partisans of Umbulazi and

their women and children who could not escape into Natal

wcro slaughtered by the Usutu, as vyetewayos afmy was
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called. The conqueror respected English territory, and did

not pursue the fugitives across the Tugela.

After this date Cetewayo was the real ruler of the Zulu
tribe, though his father. Panda, remained its normal head.

A large number of the people, indeed, were not favourably

disposed towards him ; but having no leader of mark to rally

round, and knowing that unsuccessful opposition would be

followed by their slaughter, they chose to profess a devotion

that they did not feel.

The part of the South African Republic that bordered on
Zululand was the district of Utrecht. This district had
never been occupied by a Zulu army, but as it was below the

Drakensberg it was at one time as much Zulu territory as

the adjoining country in Notal. It was part of the country

which Commandant-General Andries Pretorius proclaimed a

dependency of the Republic of Natal on the 14th of February,

1840. It was included in Zulu land by the agreement made
between Commissioner Cloete and Panda on the 5th of

October, 1843.

In 1847 a number of farmers residing in Natal sent a

deputation, of which Cornelis van Rooyen was chairman, to

Panda, and obtained his consent to their occupying any
portion of the land under the Drakensberg that was not used

by his people. In 1848 a considerable number of Europeans
moved into it, ac has bean related in another chapter. On
the 8th of September, 1854, a deed of cession to the farmers

was signed by Panda, who accepted as an acknowledge-
ment of the favour a present of a hundred head of cattle.

Immediately afterwards the Republic of Utrecht was estab-

lished. Its subsequent incorporation with the Republic of

Lydenburg, and finally with the South African Republic, has

already been related.

In the deed of cession the boundaries of the district were

laid down, but not very clearly, as the document was the

production of men with no great amount of education in

letters. In point of fact, the boundary thereafter recognised

by both parties for several years WiS the Blood river from Its

junction with the Buffalo upwards io where the old hunting

i
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path—a well-known beaten road—crosses it, and thence the

hunting path to the Pongolo river.

In June, 1860, Mr. J. H. Grobbelaar, acting president of

the South African Republic, appointed a commission to

arrange with the Zulus for the erection of beacons along the

boundary, and to acknowledge Cetewayo as heir to the chief-

tainship. The commission was also to endeavour to obtain a

cession of land around St. Lucia Bay, and of a roadway to

that port. The object is not mentioned in the official corre-

spondence, nor in the documents concerning the investigation

into boundary disputes in 1878 ; but it was well known at the

time, and was commented upon by the newspapers. A sea-

port had always been ardently desired by the people of the

Republic, and as they still claimed a vague kind of control

over Panda, it was deemed possible to obtain a cession of the

shore of St. Lucia Bay from him, if the matter could be

quietly discussed. The commission consisted of Nicholas

Smuts, landdrost of Utrecht, Andries Spies, Cornelis van
Rooyen, Pieter Lavras Uys, and W. H. Uys. It took no
immediate action in the matters here named, but it continued

for some time to be the recognised authority on the border

for dealing with the Zulus.

In February, 1861, Umtonga, a son of Panda, fled from

Zululand and sought protection from the landdrost of Utrecht,

as Cetewayo had just put two members of the ruling family

to death, and he feared for his life. He had with him another

son of Panda and two indunas.

A few weeks later Cetewayo sent a message to Landdrost

Smuts thanking him for " detaining the fugitives," and

offering to make the people of Utrecht a present of a tract of

land if they needed it. The object of the chief was apparent.

He wished to prevent Umtonga's being used against him in

the same way that his father Panda had been used against

Dingan. The people of Utrecht had more land already than

ten times their number could profitably occupy, but like

other men everywhere, they were very willing to extend their

border.

Upon receipt of Cetewayo's message, the commission
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called a public meeting, which was held at a place named

Waaihoek. The meeting resolved to send Cornelis van

Rooyen to learn what the chief wanted and what he proposed

to give.

Thereupon Van Rooyen proceeded to the kraal Ondini,.

where he met Cetowayo, who offered to cede a strip of land

alonjj the border of Utrecht as far as a certain line which

was named, if the fugitives and their cattle were given up.

Van Rooyen was inclined to regard the proposal favourably,

provided the lives of the fugitives were s])ared. Cetewayo

promised that no harm should happen to them. It was then

arranged that Van Rooyen should return and report to the

Utrecht people, and that Cetewayo should await a reply at

the kraal of the captain Sirayo, where he had assembled a

large force.

Upon the delivery of Van Rooyen's report, the border

commission went to Sirayo's kraal, and, on the 28th of

March, 1861, in the name of the South African Republic,

formally acknowledged Cetewayo as heir to the Zulu chief-

tainship, and treated with him as the actual ruler of Zulu-

land. They agreed to surrender Umtonga and the other

fugitives, upon Cetewayo's promising himself and sending

two men of note to Utrecht to promise publicly that their

lives would be spared, and Cetewayo agreed in consideration

thereof to cede the land he had named.

Cetewayo sent Gebula, who had for twenty years been

the recognised official Zulu messenger, and the Captain

Sirayo, to make the formal promise required by the border

commission. On the 1st of April a meeting of the people of

Utrecht took place at Waaihoek, at which the i^ulu mes-

sengers were present. Cetewayo, with a strong army, was

not far off, and it was generally believed that he would

invade the district if his brothers were not placed under his

surveillance. On the other hand, the safety of the refugees

was promised, and a valuable strip of territory was offered,

if they were surrendered. It did not take long to decide

which course should bo followed. Umtonga and his retinue

were sent to Cetewayo, and to the honour of the Zulu chief,
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be it said, he strictly kept his word and did no harm to any
of them, though a careful watch was maintained over their

movements, A deputation from the Utrecht meeting visited

him, and on the 3rd of April he attached his mark to a
formal deed of cession of the land agreed upon. Thiee of
his brothers—Uhamu, Siwedu, and Siteku—also attached

their marks to the document.

While these events were taking place, the people of

Natal were in a state of excitement, as they did not know
for what purpose the large army under Cetewayo was massed
so near their border. A military force was being got in

readiness to repel an invasion, when the Zulu chief sent a
peaceful message to the effect that it was only a big hunting
party that he had with him. Rumours then spread that the

burghers of the South African Republic were threatening

to encroach on Zululand, which was the cause of Cetewayo's
movements; and the anti-Republican portion of the press

suggested that if such a thing as a government could be
found north of the Vaal, Great Britain ought to make it pay
the expense that Natal had incurred.

All this had happened without Panda, the nominal head
of the Zalu tribe, being consulted or even made acquainted

with it. The Utrecht people now considered that the validity

of the cession might be questioned at some future time if

any accident should happen to Cetewayo, and that it would
therefore be advisable to obtain Panda's approval. The man
who was likely to have most influence with him was President

Pretorius, of the Orange Free State ; for the Zulu chief could

not comprehend republican institutions, but had a deep-

seated respect for the son and heir of the famous commandant
to whom he owed his life as well as his position. It was
assumed that the president would be very willing to serve

his countrymen, though they belonged to a political party
in opposition to him. Conciliation had always been one of

the most prominent features in his character.

Through the medium of the acting government at

Pretoria, it was arranged that a deputation, consisting of

Advocate Proes and Messrs. Steyn and Viljoen should visit
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Bloomfontoin, nominally to (Hscuhh terms of union botwcon

iliu two Hopuhlics, or, failing that, to decido tho <liHputo

«;(mcorninfj tho Vaal rivor boundary, roally to ro(iuoat Mr.

ProtoriuH to acoompany thoni to Pandu'^ kraal and cxort his

iniluunoo on thoir luihalf. Tho di'imtution iiad no didiculty in

attaining its object.

On the 17th of May, IHfll, President ProtoriuH, accom-

])anied by Messrs. Proos, Steyn, and Viljoen, left BIooui-

fontein. At liarrismith a eonnnission fnnn tho Fron .^fato

joined them, and a futile attempt was made tu como to an

agreement whether the Klip river or the upper Vaal should

form the boundary between tho two Republics. Tho president

and his associates then went on to Panda's kraal, and had

an interview with that chief. After an exchange of a.ssur-

ances of friendship, the object of tho mission was made
known, when Panda gave his c(msent to tho arrangement

concerning tho land. Tho dood of cession signed by Ceto-

wayo had not been brought with tho deputation, but Panda

promised to affix his mark to it whenever it might bo sent to

him. Tho president then returned by way of Potchofstroom

to Bloemf'ontein, whoro ho arrived on tho JJlst of July.

A few weeks later a commission, consisting of Messrs.

T. Potgieter, J. F. van Staden, and C. J. van Staden, visited

Panda, and on the Hth of August, 1801, tho chief affixed his

mark to a document ratifying tho cession made by his son.

Whether any discussion took place concerning St. Lucia

Bay has never been known ; but if a proposal to cede land

there was made to tho Zulu chief, it was certainly rejected.

The line forming tho boundary of the land added to the

district of Utrecht ran from Rorke's Drift on tlie Buffalo

rivor, by a range of hills, to a point on tho Pongolo. It was

not beaconed otl' in 1801.

During the next three years the condition of the South

African Republic was such that no thought could be bestowed

upon boundaries, and the land obtained from the Zulu chiefs

was left unoccupied by white men. At length order was

restored in the country, when the government became con-

scious that its relationship to several of its neighbours was



The South African Republic '51

^rojitly changed from what it had onco boon. Panda, how-

over, waH not HO difficult to d»al with as might have been

oxpoctod. On the 30th of Scptomber, 1804, the voikHroad

inHtructod tho president to appoint a commission to confer

with tho Zulu chiofa and erect beacons along tho Utrecht

border, and wlion this was communicated to Panda ho replied

iti a vory friendly manner, speaking of tho burghers of the

Uopublic as his fathers and acknowledging his indebtedness to

them.

In December, 18G4, President Pretorius, accompanied by

Comnmndant-Ooneral Paul Krugor and Mr. Joseph Fourie,

member of the executive coir . il, visited Utrecht, and from

that phice sent messengers to I'unda and Cetewayo, requesting

tho chiefs to appoint delegates to assist in putting up beacons

aloncf tho line. Panda thereupon appointed (Jebula, and Cete-

wayo directed one of his confidential servants, named Gunjini,

to represent him. The line was then beaconed off, the Zulu

deiagates pointing out the positions and placing tho first stone

of nearly every pile.

8o far all had happened as favourably as the burghers could

have wished. But the beacons had not been erected two

moiths when matters assumed another aspect. Umtonga fled

for the second time from Zululand, on this occasion taking

refige in Natal ; and Cetewayo then repented of his bargain.

Thiro was nothing to show in return for tho ceded land. The

yoang chief's resolution was soon taken, and in February,

B65, a Zulu army appeared on the Utrecht border, and

removed the beacons so recently set up.

Upon hearing this, Panda, who did not wish to quarrel

with the white people, sent a message to the president, asking

him to make another line. 'Accordingly, a commission was

appointed, which arrived at > e kraal Nodwengo on the 12th

of June, and on the 16th had a conference with the chief.

Cetewayo was not present, and sent word that he was sick.

To the surprise of the delegates, Panda and all his captains

at first denied having any knowledge of a cession of land;

bui on tho I7tb Panda .admitted that the line had been

made with his consent, and affixed his mark to a document
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to that effect. He desired the commiHsioD, however, to request
President Pretorius to change the end of the new boundary
near tho Pongolo river, so as to restore to Zululand some
ground there.

Meantime, Cetewayo, so far from being sick, was reviewing
his army ; and the burghers of the South African Republic
were in a state of alarm, owing to reports that he was about
to cross the border. To a considerable distance from the
frontier the farmers went into laager. A commando assembled
in the district of Wakkerstroom, to bo leady to repel an
invasion

; but did not proceed to Utrecht, lest its appearance
there might provoke hostilities. It was while watching
events from Wakkerstroom, under these circumstances, that
intelligence reached Commandant-General Paul Kruger of the
outbreak of war between the Orange Free State and the
Basuto of Moshesh.

A subject that was much discussed in Europe as well as
in South Africa during this period was the existence of
slavery in the Republic. Charges against the burghers of
reducing weak and helpless blacks to a condition of servitude
were numerous and boldly stated on one side, and were :n-

dignantly denied on the other. That the laws were cleanly

opposed to slavery goes for nothing, because in a time of
anarchy law is a dead letter. There is overwhelmkig
evidence that blacks were transferred openly from one in-

dividual to another, and there are the strongest assertions
from men of undoubted integrity that there was no slavery.

To people in Europe it seemed impossible that both shoull
be true, and the opinion was generally held that the

farmers of the interior of South Africa were certainljr

slaveholders.

Since 1877 much concerning this matter that was previous^r
doubtful has been set at rest. On the 12th of April of thit

year the South African Republic was proclaimed Britiih

territory, and when soon afterwards investigation was mace,
not a single slave was set free, because there was not one in

the country. In the very heart of the territory kraals of

blacks were found in as prosperous a condition as in aiy
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part of South Africa. It was ascertained that these blacks

had always lived in peace with the white inhabitants, and

that they had no complaints to make. Quite as strong was

the evidence afforded by the number of the Bantu. In 1877

there were at the lowest estimate six times as many black

people living in a state of semi-independence within the

borders of the South African Republic as there had been on

the same ground forty years before. Surely these people

would not have moved in if the character of the burghers

was such as most Englishmen believed it to be. A statement

of actual facts is thus much more likely now to gain credence

abroad than would have been the case in 1864.

The individuals who were termed slaves by the missionary

party were termed apprentices by the farmers. The great

majority—probably nineteen out of every twenty—were

children who had been made prisoners in the wars which the

tribes were constantly waging with each other. In olden

days it had been the custom for the conquering tribe to put

all of the conquered to death, except the girls and a few

boys who could be made useful as carriers. More recently

they had become less inhuman, from having found out that

for smaller children they could obtain beads and other

merchandise.

With a number of tribes bordering on the Republic ready

to sell their captives, with the Betshuana everywhere prepared

to dispose of the children of their hereditary slaves, a few

adventurous Europeans were found willing to embark in the

odious trafl&c. Waggon-loads of children were brought into

the Republic, where they were apprenticed for a term of years

to the first holder, and the deeds of apprenticeship could

afterwards be transferred before a landdrost. This was the

slavery of the South African Republic. Its equivalent was

to be found a few years earlier in the Cape Colony, when
negroes taken in slave-ships by British cruisers were appren-

ticed to individuals. There would have been danger in the

system if the demand for apprentices had been greater. In

that case, the tribes might have attacked each other purposely

to obtain captives for sale. But the demand was very limited,
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for the service of a raw black apprentice was of no great
value. A herd boy might be worth something more than his

food, clothing, and a few head of cattle which were given to

him when his apprenticeship expired ; but no other class of

raw native was.

It is an open question whether it was better that these

children should remain with the destroyers of their parents,

and according to chance grow up either as slaves or as

adopted members of the conquering tribe: or that they
should serve ten or fifteen years as apprentices to white
people, acquire some of the habits of European life, and then
settle down as freemen with a little property. It was answered
in 1864, and will be anp,wered to-day, according to the bias of

the individual.

A small proportion of the apprentices were children taken
as had been those of Setyeli's tribe, of whom sufficient has
been written in a previous chapter.

The ecclesiastical quarrels came to an end with the cessa-

tion of political strife. Three other clergymen had arrived in

the country. The reverend G. W. Smits had become pastor
of the Rustenburg people who used hymns in public worship,
so that there were now two congregations in that district.

The reverend J. Begemann was stationed at Pretoria, and the
reverend N. J. van Warmelo at Zoutpansberg.

After the decision of the supreme court of the Cape Colony
which excluded the clergymen of the Republics from the Cape
synod, the reverend Mr. Van Heiningen, of Sydenburg, and
the elders of the church at Utrecht united with the Dutch
Reformed Church in Natal. But early in 18G4 they decided
to have a general assembly of their own. This body met
for the first time at Utrecht on the 3rd of December,
18G6. Mr. Van Heiningen had removed, and there was only
one clergyman present on the occasion—the reverend F. L,

Cachet, who had recently come to reside at Utrecht—but
there were elders representing eight congregations then
established. Since this date the great majority of Christians
in the Republic have settled down into three distinct bodies

in friendly rivalry : the Dutch Reformed Church of the old
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school, the Dutch Reformed Church with rationalistic tend-

encies, and the Separatist Reformed Church, all professing to

hold by the decrees of the synod of Dordrecht.

The laws making a distinction between professors of

different beliefs had fallen into disase, and in 1865 there

was a clergyman of the Church of England and one of the

Congregational Church residing in Potchefstroom. In the

same village there was a Wesleyan missionary labouring

among the coloured people.

There were restrictions upon missionaries taking up their

residence wherever they chose, the object being to prevent

the spread of such political and social doctrines as had caused

strife and ill feeling in the Cape Colony. But missionaries

who confined their teaching to the truths of Christianity and

the arts of civilised life had no diflSculty in obtaining per-

mission from the government to prosecute their labours.

Thw Berlin and Hermansburg Societies were beginning the

extensive operations which they have since carried on among

the Bantu tribes. The Dutch Reformed Church of the Cape

Colony also had commenced mission work with a branch o^

the same people, and in 1862 had established a station in the

north of the Republic.

There were very few good educational institutions for

children, and none deserving the name of high schools. The

same society in the Netherlands that sent out the first

clergyman sent out also several qualified schoolmasters, but

those individuals had soon drifted into other occupations

much more remunerative than teaching. At each church-

place there was an elementary school, however, in which

reading, writing, a little arithmetic, and the principles of

Christianity were taught ; and most of the farmers employed

itinerant teachers for short periods. The qualifications of

these teachers were in general very limited, though a few of

them were men of education, who had fallen into poverty

through intemperate habits.

In September, 1864, a scheme of colonisation of a portion

of the waste lands of the country was submitted to the

government by a Scotchman named Alexander McCorkin-

liilii
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dale, who had been some time resident in Natal, and who
had recently been endeavouring in vain to induce the volks-
raad of the Orange Free State to allot him a number of
farms with reduced quif-rent, on which to place immigrants.
Mr. McCorkindale proposed to form a commercial association
in Great Britain, which should send out at least three hundred
suitable families, and locate them on land then vacant, pro-
vided certain privileges were granted to him. The scheme
included the establishment of a bank, the loan of a large
sum of money to the Republic at a moderate rate of interest,
and the importation of a constant and cheap supply of
ammunition.

Mr. McCorkindale further proposed to build warehouses
at a spot where the Maputa river, which empties into Delagoa
Bay, issues from the Lembobo mountains. It was believed
that this river could be made navigable for large boats
nearly as high as the site proposed for the warehouses, which
was also beyond the belt along the coast that is subject to
fever and is infested hj the tsetse fly. This proposal found
great favour with the people of the Republic, who were
exceedingly desirous of having a seaport under their own
control.

From the earliest days of the great emigration from the
Cape Colony, eflbrts had been made to open up communica-
tion with the outer world through Delagoa Bay. The Por-
tuguese Government had acted in the most friendly manner,
and had done all that it could to assist these attempts. A
small and precarious trade was established; but the deadly
fever of the coast belt in the summer season, the destruction
of cattle in the jungle by the tsetse, and the want of a
waggon road had prevented its growth and its stability. Mr.
McCorkindales scheme—if it could be carried into effect,

which he declared was quite feasible—would overcome all

the^e difficulties.

The government therefore granted him many concessions,
and agreed to sell him a block of two hundred farms, or
about one million two hundred and fifty thousand acres of
ground, for £8,000—that is, £40 for a farm. The district in
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which this ground was situated thereafter took the name

of New Scotland. It lies along the Drakensberg, in an

elevated, healthy, and fertile region, and is bordered by the

Swazi country, in which Mr. McCorkindale hoped to obtain

by purchase a large tract of land as well as a roadway from

his proposed colony to his stores at the Lembobo mountains.

The projector returned to Great Britain, and endeavoured

to form colonisation companies in both England and Scot-

land ; but he could not find a sufficient number of capitalists

willing to embark in his scheme, and was therefore unable

to carry it out in its entirety. With such assistance as he

could obtain, a commencement was made, and in 1866 he

reached South Africa again with a large quantity of gun-

powder and a party of Scotch immigrants. The immigrants,

numbering in all about fifty souls, were located in January,

1867, close to Lake Chrissie, in New Scotland, where they

soon found themselves in prosperous circumstances.

After again visiting Great Britain and expending a vast

amount of energy and all the resources that he could com-

mand, Mr. McCorkindale proceeded to Delagoa Bay to make

a thorough inspection of the harbour and coast, and died of

fever at Inyack Island on the 1st of May, 1871.

Owing to the long period of disorder, during which taxes

could not be collected, the treasury of the Republic was empty

;

and money was urgently required for the purchase of

munitions of war, as well as for the payment of salaries to

officers in the civil service, and to meet certain promissory

notes—termed mandates—which the government had been

obliged to issue. In June, 1865, the volksraad resolved, as a

temporary expedient, to is-sne notes to the value of £10,500.

The notes were printed on blue foolscap. Some of them

represented 7s. 6d., others 15s. A promise was made to rec'eem

them after eighteen mouths in metal coinage, and to pay

interest upon them during that period at the rate of six per

cent, per annum. The public servants were obliged to receive

them instead of money, though they soon fell greatly in

value compared with gold or silver. This was the beginning

of the public debt of the South African Republic.

••f:r4!Wfci-
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In April, 18G5, some of the clans in the district of Zout-
pansber^r rose in arms, and the white inhabitants were obliged
to retire into laagers. It was impossible to raise a commando
to restore order, as from the other aistricts a large proportion
of the adult males had gone to Wakkerstroom to be ready in
case of a Zulu invasion. The people of Zoutpansberg were
therefore left to take care of themselves until the difficulty

with Cetewayo could be settled. Being in laagers their lives

were tolerably safe, though their property was exposed to

destruction.

A comparison of dates and events shows that the attitud'*
of Moshesh towards the Orange Free State was in no small
degree due to the disturbances in the South African Republic.
From that quarter, he must have believed, there was no like-

lihood of assistance being sent to the Europeans along his
border. In 1865 it was supposed by many persons that he
and Cetewayo were in alliance, but that was not the case, as
will be shown in the next chapter.
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CHAPTER VII

THE WAR OF 1865-66 BETWEEN THE FREE STATE AND
THE BASUTO

Comparison of the military strength of the combatants—Proclamation by
Moshesh—Failure of an attack upon Mabolela by the Free State forces

—

Gallant proposal of Commandant Wepener—Raids by the Basuto into the
Free State—Massacres by Masupha's followers—Victory of the burghers
under Commandant Louis Wessels at Verkeerde Vlei—Massacre of a party
of citizens of the South African Republic by Ramanela's followers—Pro-
clamation of neutrality issued by Sir Philip Wodehouse—Storming of
Vechtkop by Commandant Wepener— Occupation of Letsie's town by
Commandant Wepener—Storming of the Berea mountain by General Fick
—Concentration of the Free State forces before Thaba Bosigo—Unsuccess-
ful attempt to take Thaba Bosigo by str.rm—Life in the Free State camp
—Second unsuccessful attempt to storm Thaba Bosigo—Death of Com-
mandant Wepener—Subtle overtures of Moshesh—Loss of cattle on Thaba
Bosigo—Terms of peace offered by PresidentBrand—Demand upon Moshesh
by the president of the South African Republic—Condition of the garrison
of Thaba Bosigo—Arrival of a large force from the South African Republic
—Night attack upon Commandant-General Kruger's camp—Victory of the
combined forces of Kruger and Fick at Cathcart's Drift—Return home of
Kruger's commando—Defeat of Morosi's clan by Commandant Pieter
Wessels—Efforts of President Brand to raise a large volunteer corps—Re-
monstrances of Sir Philip Wodehouse— Defeat of Molapo by General Fick
at Leribe—Abandonment of the Lesuto uy the chief Lebenya—Atrocities
committed by parties of Basuto—Raid of Ramanela into Natal, and its

consequences—Attack upon Winburg by Molitsane—Attack upon Bethle-
hem by Molapo's warriors, who are driven back with heavy loss—Offer of
mediation by the high commissioner—Meeting of the volksraad of the Free
Stato—Exprlsion of the French missionaries from the territory overrun

—

Rejection of the high commissioner's offer of mediation—Expedition into
the Drakensberg—Overtures of Molapo for peace—General suspension of
hostilities—Renewal of the war with Moshesh and Letsio—Treaty of peace
with Molapo—Great meeting of Basuto chiefs at Thaba Bosigo—P' j of
chiefs to save their crops by pretending to enter into a treaty of peu,ce

—

Overtures of Moshesh —Agreement of peace—New boundary between the
Free State and the Lesuto—Tieaty of Thaba Bosigo.

Since the war of 1858 the relative military strength of

the Free State and the Lesuto ir^d altered considerably,

though to observers at a distance the disparity between
them seemed still enormous. The extent of the Republic was
much greater than in 1858, and in the interval immigration
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had largely increased its population. No exact census had
yet been taken, but the number of Europeans of both sexes

and of all a^es was computed at thirty-five thousand souls.

The Basuto had also incn^ased in number, but not in the
same proportion, as there had been no large influx of people

from other tribes into their country. The subjects of

Moshesh at this time were about one hundred and seventy-

five thousand all told, or as five to one of their opponents.

In another respect also the disparity of 1858 was lessened.

Tliere were still factions in the Free State opposing each
other in everything political, but by common consent in this

supreme moment of danger their quarrels were suspended,
t-nd with one heart they responded to the president's call to

arms. It was not his party, but his country, that each man
rose to aid. Moshesh was becoming feeble by age, and,

though he still retained all the wiliness of his younger days,

he was no longer capable of making much exertion either in

body or in mind. As his weakness increased, the religion

of his youth was constantly recovering more and more hold
upon him, and at this time he was completely under the in-

fluence of Bantu seers. His actions were now guided to a
large extent by the dreams and ravings of peisons who were
half-maniacs, and by the castings of divining bones and
charms. A great portion of the authority which he i}ad

once wielded had under these circumstances passed into the

hands of his sons, and these men, whose talents were not

beyond those of ordinary barbarians, were intensely jealous

of each other. Letsie, the eldest son by the principtxl wife,

would gladly have seen Molapo, who was next to him in

rank, destroyed or driven from the country. Molapo was
bent upon making himself independenc of Letsie. Masupha,
who came next and who was the ablest of the three, was
endeavouring to draw adherents from both his brothers.

Even this war, which was popular with all because it

promised plunder to all, could not cement for a day the rival

Basuto factions.

In the matter of military supplies the combatants were
on an equality, provided the war should not be a long one.
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The Basuto had accumulated a good stock of rifle and gun-

powder, which contraband traders had brought into their

country, and Moshesh had laid by a large quantity of

ammunition received by him as toll from natives of the

north who had visited the Cape Colony for various purposes

and passed through the Lesuto on their return to their

homes. The leading chiefs had even obtained several cannon

and some small field-guns. On the other hand these sup-

plies, though considerable, were not inexhaustible, and the

Free State had an open market in the colonies on the sea-

board.

But apart from all comparisons as to numbers, political

condition, and material of war, the advantages which the

physical features of their country gave to the Basuto were

so great that the Free State cause to ordinary observers

seemed utterly hopeless. Yet thoughtful men might have

remarked that from the earliest period of their history it was
under such circumstances, when driven to extremities and

with enormous odds against them, that the stubborn Batavian

race has over and over again proved its right to rank with the

best and the bravest of the nations of Europe.

A proclamation, intended as a reply to the president's

declaration of war, was published in the name of Moshesh.

It was the production of a European brain, but one saturated

with Basuto subtility. By a careful suppression of some facts

and distortion of others the Basuto cause was put forth as a

just one. The document was intended for readers in Eng-

land, who knew nothing whatever of the cause of the war,

and it was therefore so worded as to claim their sympathy.

The respect of Moshesh for the Queen was dwelt upon, and

Englishmen in the Free State were informed that if they

remained quietly on their farms they and their property

would not be molested. It would have been too extravagant

to have hazarded a clear statement that the Free State

wished to deprive Moshesh of an acre of his ground, yet this

was insinuated in the words with which the document ended :

" All persons know that my great sin is that I possess a good
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and ferfcilo country." Not a single Englishman in the Free
State was deceived by this manifesto.

At a council of war held by the officers of the burgher
forces whicii were rapidly assembling, it was resolved to

attack Moperi first, and on the 13th of June the Free State
army encamped within two miles of that chiefs town,
Mabolela, the mission station of the reverend Mr. Keck. The
men of each district were mustered under their own com-
mandant, and at the head of the whole force was Jan Fick,
the same man who had suffered so much for his attachment to

the British Government in the Sovereignty days.

On the morning of the 14th, eight hundred and fifty men,
under Commandant-General Fick, with two fieldpieces under
Captain Goodman, marched to attack Moperi. Two com-
mandants—Malan and Fourie—were left with their burghers
to defend the camp. As the foremost file entered a ravine
between mountains, lire was opened upon it from behind
rocks and stone walls, but at too great a distance to do
any damage. Immediately afterwards the burghers became
aware that an army of eight or ten thousand warriors, under
the chiefs Molapo, Masupha, Lerothodi, Moperi, Molitsane,

and one or two others, was there to protect the town. large
bodies of horsemen, yelling defiance, came charging towards
them, but halted beyond rifle reach. The hill-sides were alive

with Basuto foot.

While the Free State forces were vainly endeavouring to

draw their opponents into close comuat, word was brought
that a strong division of the Busuto, under Letsie's son

Lerothodi, was marching past them on the other side of a

range of hills, with the evident object of attacking the camp.
The commando thereupon fell back, and reached the camp
in time to assist in its defence. Lerothodi's warriors j)ressed

on in good style, and lost sixty or seventy men before they
retired. A renegade European, who was leading one of their

columns, was badly wounded by a shell, and died a few days
later. On the Free State side, one burgher—Pieter WosseU
by name—was killed, and another was slightly wounded.

As the Basuto were beaten back from the camp, the move.
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action of the 14th of June was termed a victory by the
burghers

; though they had not succeeded in making them-
selves masters of Mabolela.

Next morninjj a council of war was held. Nearly all the
officers were of opinion that it would be an act of rashness
to attempt to take the town from the strong force there to

defend it, and tliat as the grass had been burnt off before
their arrival it would be necessary to move away at once.

There was one of the commandants, however, of a different

opinion. Lourens Jacobus Wepener, a man held in esteem
by all who knew him, for his upright conduct, his enter-

prising character, and his generous disposition, had moved from
Aliwal North into the Free State less than two years before

the war, and at its outbreak was elected commandant by the
burghers of his district, Bethulie. He had gained experience
in former wars between the Kaffirs and the Cape colonists,

being now fifty-three years of age, and having served in

every conflict that had taken place since he could use a gun.

The opinion which he expressed was that the enemy would
be inspired with confidence, and the Europeans on the other
hand be disheartened, if the army should retreat. It was
necessary to take Moperi's town and to place the camp upon
its site, in order to create enthusiasm among the burghers.

To do thifl was worth a heavy sacrifce. He offered to call

for a hundi-ed volunteers from the other divisions, and with
these and his own men to make an attempt to take the place

by storm. But, on the plea that there was very little

ammunition in the camp, the gallant commandant's proposal
Avas negatived, and it was decided to fall back.

Some time before the outbreak of hostilities—at least as

early afs the 29th of May, as is indicated in a letter of that
date from Poshuli to Mr. Austen—the Basuto had arranged
for an invasion of the Free State. The ordinary preparation
of the warriors by the priests had been made. They had
sent their women, children, and cattle from the exposed parts
of the country into the Maluti mountains, and were ordy
waiting to see in what direction the Free State forces would
move.
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Before daylight on the morning of the 20th of June, some
two thousand warriors under Poshuli and Morosi crossed the

Caledon near its junction with Wilgeboom Spruit, and com-

menced to ravage the district before them. From the farm

adjoining the commonage of Smithfield they laid waste a

broad belt of country for a distance of thirty miles towards

Bloemfontein. The inhabitants, warned just in time to save

their lives, fled without being able to remove anything. The
invaders burned the houses, broke whatever implements they

could not set fire to, and drove off more than one hundred
thousand sheep, besides great droves of horned cattle and

horses. In an hour the richest men in the district of Smith-

field were reduced to destitution.

In this raid thirteen white men lost their lives. A patrol,

consisting of fifteen burghers, was surrounded, when twelve

of them—by name Jacobus Greyling, Louis Taljaard, Pieter

Wessels, Jurie Human, Barend Olivier, Pieter Swanepoel,

Daniel Robberts, Hendrik Robberts, Hendrik Strubel, Jacobus

Kotze, J. Robertson, and I'eter Bay—were killed. The other

three succeeded in cutting their way out. A young man,

named Hugo Stegmann, was murdered in another part of the

district.

But the events of the day showed that in a fair field the

burghers were able to hold their own against ten times their

number of Basuto. A patrol, consisting of thirty-five men,

was surrounded on an open plain, where for hours the raiders

hovered round them without daring to come to close quarters,

and at nightfall the little band retired, with only one man
slightly wounded. The invading force was divided into three

or four parties, the former of which was turned back by a

body of eighty farmers. These burghers were joined during

the night by a few others, and on the 21st the Basuto, who
were then retreating with their booty, were followed up, and

were so nearly overtaken that they abandoned between three

and four thousand sheep on the right bank of the Caledon.

Another raiding party, about two thousand five hundred
or three thousand strong, under Masupha and Moperi, entered

the Free State at a point farther north, and ravaged the
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country as far as the farm on which in October, 1866, the

present village of Brand fort was founded. This party com-

mitted several massacres of a peculiarly barbarous nature.

Most of the half-breeds who had formerly lived at Platberg,

and who had acknowledged Carolus Baatje as their head by

permission of the Free State Government, had been residing

for some years at Rietspruit, about twenty-five or thirty miles

from Bloemfontein. On the morning of the 27th of June a

large party of Basuto, carrying a white flag, appeared at the

village and saluted the half reeds with friendly greetings.

Moshesh's son Masupha, who was in command, said that they

had nothing to fear, for he was at war with uo one but white

men. An ox was killed for the entertainment of the visitors,

and the Basuto and half-breeds sat down together to partake

of food, all the time conversing as friends. When the meal

was over, Masupha gave a signal, on which his followers fell

without warning upon the wretched half-breeds and murdered

fifty-four men and boys, not sparing even male infants at the

breast,. Of the residents of the village only eight men escaped.

Of these, seven were at the time away on a hunting expedition,

and one, who was a short distance off when the massacre took

place, managed to hide himself in an ant-eater's den. The

murderers compelled the grown-up girls to get into a waggon,

which they took away with them, together with such other

property of their victims as they fancied, leaving sixty-seven

women and little girls behind.

On the following day a large party of Basuto, carrying

a white flag, approached the homestead of a wealthy farmer,

named Jan Botes, one of those who had been heavily fined by

Sir Harry Smith after the battle of Boomplaats. Including

two native servants, there were only seven individuals capable

of bearing arms at the place. Deceived by the white flag, old

Mr. Botes permitted the Basuto to come close up and dis-

mount, when they fired a volley which wounded a German

[schoolmaster named Schwim, and killed one of the servants.

Old Mr. Botes they stabbed to death with an assagai. The
remaining four had by this time seized their guns, and Botes's

eldest son shot a Basuto, but was immediately afterwards
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killed himself. The other three apparently frightened th©
assassins, for they pretended to ride away. As soon as they
were out of sight, the survivors mounted their best horses and
rode towards the nearest laager The Basuto followed, and
easily overtook Schwim and the women. These they com-
pelled to return. The women lifted Schwim from his horse,
and his wife sat down by him. The Basuto taunted them for
a while, then they made a target of the wretched man, and
after firing several shots at him, finally stabbed him with
assagais. After this, they destroyed everything on the place.
When they left, the women set out again for the nearest
laager, and after walking all night reached it in the morning.

Another party of Masupha's followers fell in with som°e
travellers in the main road, and murdered two of them,
named Michiel van Helsdingen and Carel Mathee. A little

farther they overtook a trader named Michiel Theron, who
was endeavouring to make his escape, and murdered him and
his servants.

On the 29th of June the warriors of Masupha and Moperi
were retiring with a booty of seventy thousand sheep, rather
over two thousand head of horned cattle, fifty horses, and
four waggons laden with spoil, when at Verkeerde Vlei they
were encountered by three burgher patrols which met there
by chance. The white men, only two hundred and fifty-eight
all told, did not hesitate to attack the Basuto, who were
fully ten times their number. Commandant Louis Wessels,
of Bloemfontein, led the charge. The result was the rapid
flight of the cowardly band, who left one hundred and sixty
dead on the field. The b'lrghers had no other casualty than
one horse killed. All the spoil that was being driven off" by
the raiders was recovered, even to the half-breed girls, who
were rescued and sent to Bloemfontein.

A third raiding band, consisting of about two thousand
warriors of the clans of Molapo and Ramanela, ravaged the
country along their line of march to within fifteen miles of
the village of Kroonstad. They murdered an old man named
Luttig, and a boy named Nieuwenhuizen, and secured a large
booty in horned cattle and sheep.
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In none of these raids were villages attacked, but the

farm-houses were set on fire, and everything that could not be

carried away was destroyed. The lives of females who were

overtaken were spared, but in most instances they were stripped

of clothing and taunted before they were set at liberty.

On the same day that the massacre of the half-breeds took

place, an equally atrocious deed was performed in another

quarter. A party of Europeans with five transport waggons

laden with goods belonging to Messrs. Wra. Munro & Co.,

of Durban, Natal, and destined for Pretoria in the South

African Republic, where the firm of Munro had a branch

establishment, had halted to rest their cattle on the Drakens-

beig, a few yards on the Free State side of the Natal boun-

dary. The party consisted of Pieter Pretorius, who was a

near relative of the president of the South African Republic,

his sons Jan, Albertus, and Jacobus, Andries Smit, Jan

Pretorius's wife and two children, six black men servants, a

little black servant boy, and an Indian coolie. The oxen

were being inspanned when a large body of armed Basuto

under Ramanela made their appearance. The white men

caught up their guns, but the Basuto called to them to come

and talk as friends. The white men then went towards

Ramanela's party and explained that they were not citizens

of the Free State nor combatants, and that the goods on their

waggons belonged to Englishmen. The explanation appeared

to be satisfactory, and in the supposition that they were safe

the Europeans laid down their guns, when instantly the

Basuto fell upon them and murdered the five white men, the

coolie, and three of the black servants. The other servants,

being Batlapin, were spared.

The murderers then left a guard with the waggons, and

went down into Natal. In the afternoon they returned with

large droves of cattle, and went on homewards, taking the

waggons with them. On the way the waggon in which the

widow and children were confined broke down, and was

abandoned after the Basuto had removed the goods and loaded

their pack oxen with whatever they thought most valuable.

During the night the three Batlapin men made their escape.
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and conveyed intelligence of the massacre to Harrismith, when
a party was immediately sent out to search for the other sur-
vivors. In the meantime the widow with her two children and
the little black boy, having left the waggon as soon as the
Basuto were out of sight, had lost her way, and it was not
until the morning of the 29th that she reached the village,

after wandering about for thirty-six hours.

On the 27th of June, at the very time that Ramanela's
marauding band was lifting cattle in the colony of Natal, Sir
Philip Wodehouse issued in Capetown a proclamation of
neutrality, in which all British subjects, European and native,
were warned against assisting either belligerent. It was, how-
ever, beyond his power to prevent aid from reaching both the
Free State and the Lesuto.

When intelligence of the sufferings of their kindred reached
the colony, many a stalwart farmer shouldered his rifle and
rode off to the Free State camps. The Batlokua refugees in
the Herschel district could not be restrained. Lehana, son of
Sikonyela, came up from Griqualand East with a band of
followers, was joined by the Herschel party, and crossed the
Orange to help the burghers against his hereditary foe.

Many of the Fingos of Herschel, calling to mind ancient feuds
and probably thinking of plunder, made their way to the
nearest laager and tendered their services. Adam Kok, who
was supposed to be under colonial influence, though he was
not under colonial jurisdiction, joyfully seized the opportunity
of retaliating upon the Basuto for the robberies of Poshuli and
Nehemiah, and brought a band of Griquas to fight certainly
for their own hand, but on the Free State side. Tt.ese
auxiliaries, all combined, amounted at one time during the war
to as many as eight hundred men.

On the other hand, Moshesh received equal assistance from
his friend?, The bravest warriors that fought for him were
strangers from below the mountains, who hastened to the
Lesuto with a view of sharing the spoil. Among these was a
clan of the Tembus, under a chief named Tyali, the same
people to whom a portion of Emigrant Tembuland was
assigned a little later by Sir Philip Wodehouse.
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Very different from a declaration of neutrality was a

proclamation issued on the 26th of June by Mr. Marthinus

Wessel Pretorius, then president of the South African Re-

public. In the warmest language of sympathy he invited all

who could to go to the assistance of the Free State. " Rise,

brothers, rise, fellow-citizens, give nelp where danger threatens.

Delay not, or you may be for ever too late. God will

bless you for doing good to your brethren. Forward ! As

soon as possible I will myself follow you." But the people

of the northern Republic believed that Cetawayo was threat-

ening them, and though most men agreed with the president

that if Moshesh could be compelled to observe his engage-

ments, no other tribe would attempt to disturb the peace, it

was not possible just then for much assistance to be sent

from that quarter.

The devastation of the border country, though it entailed

ruinous losses upon individuals, was in a military sense

advantageous to the Free State. A larj^er number of

burghers could now be spared for the invasion of the Lesuto,

as only small patrols were needed beyond the blackened

border belt. The Basuto were almost sure not to venture

so far from their mountains, and if they should, a few

burghers on a pliin would be able to drive them back.

It was therefore resolved, in a general council of war,

that an attempt should be made to get possession of Thaba

Bosigo, with which object the Free State forces were to

advance upon the famous stronghold in two divisions from

different directions.

The burghers of the districts of Smithfield, Bethulie, and

Philippolis, with Jan Letele's people and the Fingos, under

Commandant Wepener, marched by way of Koesberg. On
the 13th of July they formed a camp within easy march of

Vechtkop, the strongly fortified mountain which had been

for many years the residence of the robber chief Poshuli,

but which was garrisoned at this time by the clan of

Lebenya. Wepener resolved to make himself master of this

stronghold, which the Basuto believed to be impregnable.

During the night he called for volunteers to follow him up
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the steep path that led to the summit, and his call wa»
gallantly responded to.

In the grey dawn of the morning of the 14th, three
hundred and forty burghers and two hundred Fingos, with
the brave commandant at their head, stormed up the moun-
tain, and at half-past five o'clock, before the light was clear,

they were in possession of it. The Basuto were entrenched
behind stone walls built on ledges along the faces of preci-

pices, positions so strong that with courageous defenders
they could not have been taken. But Lebenya's followers,
though they consumed a large quantity of ammunition, shut
their eyes when they fired, so that the loss on the Free
State side was only one man killed and four wounded. The
arrant cowards did something even more disgraceful than
firing at an enemy with their eyes closed. They placed their
women in front of them wherever they were exposed, with the
result that of the sixty dead bodies found in the sconces
after the fighting was over, more fhan half were those of
females. The commandant in his report expressed great
regret at this circumstance, but no one can justly blame him
for it.

The spoil found on Vechtkop consisted of one hundred
and fifty horses, five hundred and fort> -two head of horned
cattle, and four thousand five hundred sheep. The Free
State forces were so inconsiderable that it was not possible
to leave a garrison even on such an important stronghold
as this. All that could be done, therefore, was to disarm the
enemy, destroy the huts, and move on.

From Vechtkop Wepener marched almost due north,

destroying Poshuli's villages as he advanced. Morosi, in a
great fright, fearing that the commandant might pay him a
visit, sent all his women and stock away into the mountains
along the head waters of the Orange. On the last day of
July Wepener's division reached Matsieng,i and engaged
Letsie's force, which gave way after a very short engage-

1 Commonly called "Letsie's new town" in the documents of the time.
It is about six miles east of Morija. Letsie took up his . ndence there after
the burning of his huts at Morija in the war of 1858.
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ment. A camp was then formed in Letsie's town, and from

it Wepener issued a proclamation in which he declared the

country he had overrun annexed to the Free State, the

boundary of the Lesuto to be in future a straight line from

Bamboesplaats at the east of Pampoenspruit to Thaba Tele

—

a peak of the Maluti, nine thousand feet in height—about

three miles east of Matsieng, and from that point a straight

line north by compass to the Caledon. Two days later he

sent to the landdrost of Smithfield such cattle taken from

Letsie as he did not need. The herd consisted of one thou-

sand one hundred and forty-two horses, three thousand five

hundred horned cattle, and eleven thousand five hundred

and eighty-five sheep.

During this time the other and larger division of the

Free State forces was equally successful in its operations.

General Fick had with him the burghers of the districts of

Bloemfontein, Harrismith, Boshof, Jacobsdal, Fauresmith,

Winburg, and Kroonstadt, under Commandants Wessels, De
Villiers, Bester, Joubert, Roos, Senekal, Malan, and Fourie.

On the 17th of July he moved against Moperi's town, but

found it abandoned. On the 20th he crossed the Caledon,

and proclaimed the whole country north and west of that

river annexed to the Free State. On the 24th he crossed

the Putiatsana, his passage being unsuccessfully disputed by

the enemy.

On the 25th of July General Fick directed an assault

upon the Berea mountain. The path up it was steep, but

not so dangerous as that of Vechtkop. It was, however,

defended by fully five thousand Basuto warriors, under

Masupha, the ablest of Moshesh's sons. These were posted

on crags and behind great boulders. They were well armed,

many of them with pistols as well as rifles, and they had

two cannon at the top of the pathway. The burgheis crept

up from boulder to boulder, in little parties of five or six

together, shooting down every Mcsuto who dared to expose

himself. Very few, however, ventured even to look at the

storming party. The poltroons fired into the air, without

doing the slightest damage, r*nd discharged their cannon
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11: •.

when no one was in front of them, as if noise alone would
frighten back their opponents. Near the top it was neces-

sary for the storming party to close in and make a rush.

First upon the mountain were three young men, whose names
—Chapman, Owen, and Bertram—denote the race from
which they sprang. Tliese gallant fellows actually dashed
forward at a crowd of Basuto not half pistol shot from them.
Close behind, the remainder of the storming party came
clambering up, when the assassins of the half-breeds and of

the defenceless white men encountered in the recent raid,

panic-stricken, abandoned their cannon, and turned and
fled.

In no former war, in no war that has since taken place,

have the Basuto behaved in such a cowardly manner. Well
might it be believed in the Free State camp that God had
stricken their treacherous foe with confusion, for never in

the world's history was a victory won against greater odds.

The only casualty was one burgher wounded, while the
corpses of a hundred Basuto were lying around. Masupha's
town was upon the Berea. General Fick took possession of

it, and formed his camp upon its sight.

The day after the Berea was stormed, five hundred Bare-
long under Tsepinare, Moroko's adopted son and heir, joined
the Free State forces. This was a busy day with the

burghers. At early dawn eleven hundred men commenced
making a waggon road up the mountain. They were looking
down on the mission station, and on a great Basuto army
garrisoning Thaba Bosigo. It was General Fick's intention
to fortify a camp within a mile of Moshesh's residence, and
then to send a strong force to meet Commandant Wepener.
In the afternoon Commandant De Villiers' division with the

cannon moved from the camp at Masupha's town to the

south-western point of the Berea over against Thaba Bosigo
to try the range, when the commandant observed with satis-

faction that Moshesh's house was struck with balls from both
the Armstrong and Whitworth guns.

On the 3rd of August Wepener marched from Matsieng,
and joined General Fick before Thaba Bosigo, where the

m.
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entire force of the Free State, consisting of two thousand

one hundred burghers, five hundred Barolong, and four

hundred Fingos, Batlokua, and Bamonageng, was now con-

centrated. Some twenty thousand Basuto warriors were

gathered there also, but they could not be drawn to an

engagement.

On the 27th of July a heavy fire of artillery was opened

upon .he flat top of Thaba Bosigo from a battery placed on

a point of the Berea which commanded it. The fire was con-

tinued day after day, though it was soon ascertained that

hardly any destruction of life was caused by it. It was

replied to by an occasional ball fiom Moshesh's cannon,

which also did little or no damage.

On the 8th of August an attempt was made to take

Thaba Bosigo by storm. A strong party clambered up the

pathway at the southern extremity, but on approaching the

top found that stone walls had been built across the passage.

The Basuto were in great force above, and had collected a

number of boulders which they now rolled down on the

storming party, compelling them to retire with ten men

wounded.

By this time the disorder which it is almost impossible

to suppress in a body of men without discipline, huddled

together without comfort and without constant occupation,

was beginning to show itself in the Free State camp. The

burghers and their commandants were socially on a perfect

equality, and every man claimed the right of expressing his

opinion upon any subject at any time. A dozen different

plans of carrying on the war were discussed, and each plan

had violent advocates. Jealousies and divisions were daily

increasing.

It was the winter season, and in that high mountain-

land the cold winds were keenly felt by the burghers, who

were not provided with adequate shelter. It was with great

difficulty that fuel could be had to cook the millet and meat,

which were the principal—and at times the only—food.

Subscriptions of cofiee, sugar, biscuits, etc., had been made

in the villages for the use of the men in the field ; but the
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supply of such articles was very far from sufficient. Alto-

gether, the hardships which the burghers were undergoing
were so great that they could not be sustained long. Many
men were already becoming faint-hearted, and were devising

excuses to leave the camp.

The characteristics of individuals were strongly brought
out by the kind of life they were leading. Some became
morose, others burned with passion to punish tho Basuto
for causing so much misery, while a few seemed to grow
more joyous and ilght-hearted as time wore on. In the long

cold evenings parties would gather round the scantj fires on
which their food was cooking, when the descendants of the

old colonists would by turns sing psalms and make plans to

finish the war. Close by a party of youths of English birth

would cause the hills to echo with songs of love, and war,

and the sea. The wits of many were sharpened by the

change from the ordinary quiet life of farms and villages to

the excitement of war, though unattended by pomp or show
of any kind, and accompanied by discomforts that would
demoralise the best army in Europe. The newspapers of

South Africa contained numerous well- written letters from
men who under other circumstances would not have troubled

themselves to use a pen, and a large quantity of verse in

Dutch and English appeared in print. This, however, was
mostly very indifferent as poetry, though breathing a strong,

warlike—and in some instances also a vindictive—spirit.^

1 Perhaps the best, or, at any rate, among the best of the ballads which the

war called forth was the following, written by Mr. William Collins, of Bloem-
fontein

:

«' Up, burghers, all throughout our State, from Nu to Ky-Gariep,
Rise as one man, with heart and hand, shake off your seven years' sleep.

Be men at last, wliate'er your stock, and prove that poet wrong
Who called your freedom mockery, once in reproachful song.

Prove that the lion on your shield is not an emblem vain.

And scorn to wear another hour the foul Basuto chain.

Shame not the European blood that in your bosoms flows,

And rush like men, though few you be, on your ignoble foes.

The Saxon blood which, scarce yet dried, their coward fingers stains,

Wash out at once with fluid drawn from their own meaner veins.

Can one true man in danger's hour the field of strife evade.
While boys and greybeards weak go forth with rifle and with blade ?
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On the other side, the Basuto were less boastful than at

the commencement of the war. They had secured an enormous

quantity of spoil in the raids into the Free State, but much
of it had been recovered by the burgher forces, and more had

been wasted. There was nothing left that they could get

in future by similar means. Their armies had been beaten

by mere patrols in the open field, and two of their strong-

holds—Vechtkop and Berea—had been wrested from them.

Still, they were by no means despondent, as they anticipated

that the burghers would soon be worn out and compelled to

withdraw from the Lesuto.

On the 15th of August another attempt was made to take

Thaba Bosigo by assault, an attempt made memorable by the

death of one of South Africa's bravest sons, Commandant
L. J. Wepener. At sunrise six hundred burghers were left

to guard the camp, and the rest of the force was moved

out .vitli the intention of storming the mountain. Such a

want of preparation and, above all, of co-operation was

manifest, however, that General Fick gave up the idea

for that day, and issued instructions for a march round the

mountain. Commandant Wepener, who thought that a failure

to make the attempt would disgrace the Free State forces,

then proposed to lead a storming party of volunteers. Com-

•' Behold the newly-kindled light in timid woman's eye,

Which cries, though in unuttered words, ' March, men, and do or die.'

Fear not yon seeming power great, a tottering structure built

On years of fraud, too long endured, and half an age of guilt.

Strike the gaunt image in whose shade we pine, without delay

;

Though iron it may seem, your strokes will prove its feet of clay.

Think of the time when feebler hands a mightier foeman quelled,

You who then baLtled, or even you whose youthful eyes beheld

Your fathers fight the Zulu hosts ; and are their sons less brave

When God and countiy call you forth your dear-bought homes to save

Wait not for aye for promised help from cold onlooking world,

By your own hands the avenging bolt must now, or ne'er, be hurled.

And you, brave few, whose life-drops flow from Britain's parent heart,

Need you my humble words to show in this wild strife your part ?

Full little knew the treacherous foe how his false words would turn

To deadlier hate and scorn ihe hearts where generous passions bum.

On then, my countrymen, and strive, with heaven-directed might,

The God of armies will support your conflict for the right."
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mandant Wessols offered to accompany Wepener, and General

Fick gladly consented.

The arrangements were speedily made. A heavy artillery

fire was opened upon the face and crown of the mountain

above the mission station, under cover of which the storming

party crept upwards from rock to rock until the entrance to

the narrow and steep fissure which leads to the summit was

gained. Just before reaching this, Wepener observed that

there were not more than a hundred and twenty men with

them, many who had volunteered having turned back faint-

hearted. He sent down to beg the general to try to get

reinforcements, but to the disgrace of the burghers below only

a fev Fingos offered. Across the entrance to the fissure a

strong stone wall about four feet high was found, and it was

seen that every few yards between it and the top a similar

wall had been built, behind which parties of Basuto were

lying completely sheltered from the fire of the artillery. Still

the storming party pressed on. At the first wall Wepener

fell, shot through the heart, and several of the best men in

the commando fell beside him. Commandant Wessels con-

tinued to advance, and actually got possession of two or three

of the barricades when he was severely wounded, and was

obliged to retire. The storming party was then seized with a

panic, and rushed in wild confusion down the mountain,

followed at a considerable distance by a band of Masupha's

warriors hooting and yelling.

Besides Wepener there were nine men—Jacobus Engel-

brecht, John Horspoole, Gerrit Joubert, Theodorus van Eeden,

Sampson Daniel, Wilhelm Hoevels, Adam Raubenheimer, Jan

Dry, and a half-breed named Jacobus Stolz—killed in this

second futile attempt to take Thaba Bosigo, and thirty-four

others were wounded.

From this repulse until the 23rd no event of any import-

ance took place. The commando lay dispirited in camp, and

was rapidly diminishing by desertion. The burghers had

been more than two months away from their homes, and

could not be kept together now that all hope of a speedy

termination of the war had to be abandoned.
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Moshesh, who was well informed of what was goinpf on,

believed that events were about to take the same course as

in 1858, and that if he could but gain a few days' grace any
danger of another attempt to storm his stronghold would
be removed. On the 23rd he wrote to the president, pro-

posing to invite the high commissioner to arrange terms of

peace. When this letter was sent down to the camp to be

forwarded to Bloemfontein, the chief asked for an armistice.

General Fick informed the messenger that if Moshesh would

supply fifteen hundred head of slaughter oxen as provision

for his army, he would suspend hostilities for six days. On
the 24th Moshesh asked that the armistice should be ex-

tended beyond six days, but he sent no cattle to the camp.

A council of war was therefore held, at which it was decided

to resume hostile operations at once, by detaching a force to

scour the Maluti in search of cattle, and closely blockading

Thaba Bosigo with the remainder.

While these new movements were in preparation, a herd

of from sixteen to twenty- five thousand oxen arrived at the

mountain. Moshesh had been so certain that the burghers

were about to leave that he had given instructions for these

cattle to be brought down to their winter pasturage, and by

some mismanagement his orders had been carried out too

soon. The whole herd was now driven by the back pathway

to the top of Thaba Bosigo, to prevent its falling into the

hands of the burghers. This was hardly effected when

the investment of the mountain was completed, and then

the cattle, without grass or water in a space so confined,

soon became frantic. They rushed wildly about, trampling

down such huts as the bombardment had spared, and press-

ing whole droves together over the precipices, where they

were dashed to pieces. For many days the meanings of the

great herd were pitiful to hear in the camps below. At

last these sounds died away, and there lay on Thaba Bosigo

over four thousand carcases, while at least three times that

number were decaying on the ledges and crags. A horrible

stench filled the atmosphere. Clouds of vultures settled on

the carrion, but weeks passed away before it disappeared.
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On the 28th of August a messenger from Bloemfontein

b 'ought to General Fick the president's reply to Moshesh's

letter. Adjutant-General Lange was at once sent with it

to t^e foot of the mountain, where he displayed a white

flag. Nehemiah came down, and the president's letter was
handed to him, with an intimation that Mi Lange would
wait Tor a reply from his father Moshesh. In a couple of

hours Nehemiah returned with Trekelo. They stated that

G^ jrge was away—which was an untruth—and that "n his

absence Moshesh could not make out the conditions properly.

They requested Mr. Lange to go up and see their father,

bdt he declined to do so. Nehemiah then asked for a truce

of three days in order that Moshesh might have time for

consideration, to which Mr. Lange agreed.

In his reply, which was dated the 25th of August,

President Brand stated that he was desirous of peace—not a

sham settlement, but a real peace. He proposed the follow-

ing terms

:

(1) Moshesh to surrender Thaba Bosigo with all the arms
and ammunition there to the Free State forces. The moun-
tain to be in future occupied by a Free State magistrate, under

whose supervision the Basuto chief should ^Dvem his people.

(2) Moshesh to pay within four days ten thousand head of

horned cattle and five thousand horses as war expenses, and

thirty thousand head of horned cattle and sixty thousand

sheep as compensation for robberies committed and damages
caused by his people.

(3) The land outside the lines proclaimed by Fick and
Wapener to be annexed to the Free State.

If these terms were accepted, Moshesh was within three

hours after receipt of the letter to send two of his principal

sons to remain as hostages in the Free State camp.

Such conditions at first sight seem extravagant. Moshesh
was at that n'oment at the head of an army of twenty thou-

sand men, well supplied with munitions of war, and in pos-

session of an impregnable fortress. The Free State army,

that never exceeded thiee thousand combatants, was rapidly

melting away. But the president felt that this combat was
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one of life or death, and that if civilisation was not to re-
cede the Basuto power must be broken. The burghers were
going home, it was true, but nearly every man promised to
return after a short visit to his family. The religious
fervour of the people was high. Men everywhere not only
said, but really believed, that God would certainly bless their
righteous cause.

The women showed a spirit of the deepest devotion.
Family ties in South Africa are stronger than in most
countries, and the absence of the men from their homes was
attended with losses and privations to their kindred which
it would be difficult to over-estimate. But wives and mothers
were at this time urging the men to do their duty and free
the state from the losses and indignities to which it had so
long been exposed.

Then there was unexpected hope of aid. On the 20th
of July President Pretorius considered the South African
Republic in such danger that, by advice of the executive
council, he proclaimed martial law in force. By this pro-
ceeding the courts were closed for the hearing of civil cases,

judgments for debt were suspended, and even the payment of
certain taxes was postponed.

But shortly after this, Cetewayo gave Commandant-
General Kruger assurances that he had no hostile intentions,

and, to show that he was in earnest, he removed his army
from the Utrecht border and sent the regiments to their
respective kraals. This enabled the government to act
vigorously, and on the 7th of August President Pretorius
demanded from Moshesh the delivery of the murderers of
the citizens of the South African Republic on the 27th of
June and payment of the value of the property seized, with
the alternative of war. A commando of two hundred men,
under Marthinus Schoeman, was sent to Zoutpansberg to
assist in the protection of the Europeans in laager there ; and
a strong force, under Commandant-General Paul Kruger, was
called out to march to the Lesuto in case Moshesh should not
comply with the president's demand, which it was almost
certain he would not do.
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Under these circumstances, the Free State cause appeared

to President Brand so hopeful as to justify him in endeavour-

ing to make conditions that would prevent the Basuto from

again disturbing the peace. He stated subsequently that he

did not expect his terras to be accepted in their entirety ;^

he proposed them, but left it open for Moshesh to offer

modifications. This is a course followed between civilised

nations, but it is beyond question that a much better plan

in dealing with barbarians is to say at once, This I will accent,

and nothing else.

On the day following the receipt of the president's letter^

Moshesh wrote to the high commissioner that he could not

comply with the terms, which were immoderate, and re-

quested his Excellency to come and establish peace, offering

at the same time to give himself and his country up to

Her Majesty's Government under conditions to be afterwards

agreed upon. This letter was sent to Aliwal North under

charge of George Moshesh, who left with instructions to wait

there until a reply should arrive.

Moshesh did not reply to the president until the 17th

of September. All this time a constant cannonading upon

Thaba Bosigo had been kept up, but without causing any

damage. Mr. William Keed, an Englishman who was sent

to Moshesh with a letter from the high commissioner, and

who spent five days on the mountain, described the condition

of affairs there to Mr. Burnet for his Excellency's informa-

tion. There were from fifteen hundred to eighteen hundred

people with Moshesh, mostly men, who were disposed in

pickets along the edge of the mountain. There was no

scarcity of food apparent. About three hundred head of

cattle were sti)' alive, together with ten horses and a hundred

and fifty sheep and goats. In addition to meat, there was

plenty of millet and coffee. The only article of which the

Basuto were short was lead, consequently there was not much

firing, only about a hundred shots a day. There were five

white renegades with Moshesh, one of whom was a gunsmith.

The reply of Moshesh, which was written and signed by

Tsekelo, was to the effect that the conditions proposed by
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Mr. Brand were too severe for him to comply with, and he

asked that a communication might be opened between them

through the medium of the adjutant-general. Mr. Reed

had informed him that the president had just arrived in the

camp.

To this Mr. Brand answered that he considered the con-

ditions necessary to secure a real and permanent peace, but

that he was willing to consider any modifications which

Moshesh might wish to suggest. The chief could deliver a

written statement of such modifications to the adjutant-

general. At the same time, the president complained of

Moshesh making use of his son Tsekelo as his secretary.

This young chief's character was such that a European

would instinctively shrink from having any dealings with

him, though the Basuto revered him on account of his birth.

He had been false to everyone who had at any time trusted

him, he was a convicted horse-stealer, and he was notorious

for his amours with his own brothers' wives.

On the following day—the 18th—Moshesh asked for an

armistice, in order that he might have a personal interview

with Mr. Lange. This was conceded, and the interview

took place, but without any good result. Moshesh was in-

disposed to make any concessions whatever. He sent a

statement in writing to the president that his desire was to

come to peace on equal terms; that he had fully considered

the proposed conditions, and found he could not comply

with any of them ; and that he would agree to nothing but

the boundary defined by his Excellency the governor. Mr.

Brand could therefore only declare the armistice at an end.

By the 25th of September the Free State forces had

become so weak from desertion that the council of war

resolved to raise the siege of Thaba Bosigo. The men who

remained were formed into a couple of flying columns, one

of which, under Commandant Pieter Wessels, was to scour

the country along the Orange, while the other, under General

Fick, proceeded to the north to join a force then on its way

from the South African Republic, and afterwards to attack

Molapo.
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The Transvaal burghers—nine hundred and seventy in
number— were accompanied by President Pretorius, but
were under the military direction of Commandant-General
Paul Kruger. On the 28th of September they encamped at
Naauwpoort, and there, at three o'clock the next morning,
they were attacked by Molapo's followers, aided by a party
of warriors from beyond the mountains. The burghers
were taken completely by surprise, for the first intimation
that an enemy was in the neighbourhood was the rush of
the Basuto into their camp. But to spring to their feet and
grasp their weapons was the work of only a few seconds.
The fight was short, for the assailants speedily retreated,
receiving a volley of slugs as they fled. Six burghers were
killed, and in the morning the dead bodies of fifty-four
Basuto were found.

On the 3rd of October Kruger encamped at Sikonyela's
Hoed, and three days later he effected a junction with
General Fick's force in sight of Molapo's town of Leribe,
since 1858 the mission station of the Reverend Mr. Coillard!
The united commandoes consisted of only twelve hundred
men. The Basuto did not wait to be attacked, but a little
before sunset they set their kraals on fire, and fled. That
evening General Fick proclaimed the district between the
Caledon and the Putiatsana Free State territory.

The combined forces then scoured the country without
any opposition and without any result, until the 23rd, when
they encountered the enemy in great force at Cathcart's
Drift on the Caledon. The seers had predicted that at this
place their countrymen would be triumphant, the warriors
had partaken of raw flesh torn from the bodies of still living
bulls to give them courage, and all the ceremonies which
their religion imposed had been carefully observed. The
Basuto were thus confident of victory, and awaited the
shock of battle more manfully than on any previous occa-
sion during the war. But after a short and sharp engage-
ment they broke and fled, leaving sevan hundred "and
seventy horses, seven thousand nine hundred and forty-four
head of horned cattle, and four thousand one hundred and
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fifty sheep, which were grazing in the neighbourhood, in the

hands of the conquerors.

It had been the custom when cattle W3re c£i.ptared to

give up any that individual burghers swore to as having been

stolen from them. All that remained were sold at auction,

and the proceeds—after deducting the government dues of

one-fourth—were distributed among the captors. This

system gave rise to a great deal of jealousy and ill-feeling,

as it was known that on many occasions cattle were claimed

and sworn to by people who had no right to them. Com-

mandant-General Kruger introduced another rule. Cattle

once in possession of the Basuto, he declared, were lost to

their previous owners, and could not be reclaimed as a

matter of right. It was exposing unprincipled men to

temptation to give them every ox they chose to swear to

;

and therefore, except under special circumstances, all stock

taken from the enemy should be kept for the benefit of the

captors.

On the 30th of October Kruger's force set out to return

home, without making peace with Moshesh before it left. The

burghers could not be kept longer in the field, and the

president and commandant-general were anxious to investi-

gate matters at Zoutpansberg. The Free State was thus

again left entirely to its own resources to carry on the

war.

On the 1st of November Commandant Pieter Wessels with

a small party of burghers, a few Fingos from Herscbel,

Jan Letele's Bamonageng, and Lehana's Batlokua, attacked

Morosi's clan on the north bank of the Orange river. On

this and the following day one hundred and five Baphuti

were killed, and fifty-three horses, nine hundred and thirty-

four head of horned cattle, and two thousand and thirty-

two sheep were captured. Morosi in this extremity sent

messengers to Mr. John Austen, superintendent of the

Wittebergen native reserve ar.d the nearest colonial oflGicer,

to ask to be taken under jt'.I \sh protection. He did this

without any reference to Moshesh. Mr. Austen at once

forwarded the application to Mr. Burnet, civil commissioner
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of Aliwal North, for transmission to Sir Philip Wodehouse.
On the 6th of November Morosi sent to Mr. Austen to say
that if he was attacked again he would take refuge with his
whole following in the reserve.

As it would not be possible to get a reply from Capetown
within a fortnight, Mr. Austen then wrote to Command>mt
Wessels offering his services as a mediator, and an arrange-
ment was made by which Morosi, on payment of five hundred
head of cattle, obtained an armistice until the president could
be communicated with. Mr. Brand offered to conclude a
final peace with him on his paying three hundred horses,
three thousand head of horned cattle, and fifteen thousand
sheep, within fifteen days, and giving two of his sons or sub-
chiefs as hostages for his good conduct. These terms, which
must be viewed as remarkably lenient considering the part
which the Baphuti took in the raid into the Smithfield dis-
trict, were rejected by Morosi. A day or two later he learned
that the high commissioner declined to entertain his applica-
tion. Some of his followers then fled to the reserve, but the
chief himself with the greater number of his people retired
to the rugged country near the sources of the Orange, and
took no further part in the war.

The failure of the attempt to take Thaba Bosigo necessi-
tated the raising of additional forces by the Free State. In
a civilised community it is not possible under any circum-
stances for more than about one-fifteenth of the whole
number of inhabitants to be employed at any one time in
war beyond their own borders. Very few nations can put
that proportion into the field, for it implies an almost total
cessation of ordinary industries. The Republic could not on
this basis send more than two thousand three hundred and
fifty burghers into the Lesuto, and that number was insuf-
ficient, even if it could be kept up. In point of fact, two
thousand one hundred was the highest number ever attained
during the war, and the army could not be kept longer than
two months at that strength. The president, therefore, as
the only means of increasing his force, commissioned Messrs.
Webster and Tainton, two competent and popular oflScers, to
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raise bodies of European and native volunteers. The Free

State had no funds, and therefore the only pay that could

be offered to the volunteers was such cattle as they could

capture.

The high comirissioner, however, regarded this method

of raising an army with no favourable eye. The greatest

difficulty that the colonial government had to contend with

was the tendency of the native tribes to appropriate that

which did not belong to them, and here was a direct invi-

tation to enter upon a career of fighting for booty. He had

issued a proclamation of neutrality, which the Imperial

authorities had entirely approved of, and as it was evident

that any volunteers must be British subjects, here was an

invitation to restless spirits in the colony to set the govern-

ment at defiance. On the 7th of November he addressed a

letter of remonstrance to the president, and on the 28th of

the same month he wrote in still stronger terms, threatening

that if the practice was continued he would prohibit the

supply of arms and ammunition to the Free State. The

colonial officers on the frontier were directed to use the

utmost vigilance to prevent infractions of the foreign enlist-

ment act, and a reward of £50 was offered for the conviction

of anyone found recruiting in the colony.

From this time until the end of the year very little

occurred that is worthy of notice. On the 1st of December,

General Fick, after a sharp skirmish, took possession of Leribe

for the second time, when Molapo fled to Thaba Patsoa,

a strong mountain about fifteen miles to the eastward, in

the Maluti range. On the 6th an engagement between the

burghers, four hundred and fifty in number, and some three

thousand Basuto, took place at Platberg, when General Fick

lost three men and the Basuto lost fifty. Early in the

month the chief Lebenya, with his followers, crossed over

into the Wittebergen native reserve, and claimed British

protection.

The Basuto avoided meeting their opponents in force,'but

whenever an opportunity occurred of cutting off small parties

they took advantage of it. They did not spare those of their
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own colour who were in service with the burghers. Thus on
one occasion about this time three Europeans and two blacks
were surprised when gathering fuel, and were all murdered
Un another occasion two white men, father and son, and two
blacks, who ventured with waggons too near the Lesuto, were
captured and were all put to death. In most instances
the dead bodies were mutilated in a shocking manner. The
Free State forces, on their part, were doing what they could
to weaken their enemy by destroying the crops and picking
up a few cattle here and there.

At this stage it will be well to relate the consequences
ot Kamanela's raid into Natal on the 27th of June, as that
event can hardly be separated from the war.

After the murder of Pieter Pretorius's party, the followers
ot Kamanela descended the Drakensberg and entered a part
ot JSatal where cattle kept on the highlands of the Harrismith
district during the hot season were usually sent to graze in
the winter months. A good many farmers were, in fact, resi-
dents of Natal at one season of the year, and of the Free
btate at another. The raiders seized two hundred and forty-
eight horr.es, one thousand six hundred and nineteen head of
horned cattle, one thousand seven hundred and seven sheep,
and three hundred and seven goats, valued altogether, with
the damage done to other property, at from £17,000 to
£20 000. They wounded one white man, and killed three
blacks.

The first rumours of this inroad which reached the
government at Maritzburg were exaggerations of the real
tacts, and created unnecessary alarm. The volunteers of the
colony were immediately called out, and with all the avail-
able troops were sent to Ladysmith. The colonial secretary-
Major Erskine—and the secretary for native affairs—Mr.
Theophilus Shepstone—proceeded to the border to take
measures for its defence, and the resident magistrate of
Weenen was sent to Molapo to ask for redress. The volun-
teers on their way to the front detected a party of Basuto
plundering a farm, but the marauders fled so hastily that they
could not be overtaken.
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On the 5th of July, Molapo informed the representatives

of the Natal Qovernment that Bamanela had acted in dis-

obedience of positive orders ; that the stolen stock was being

collected by him for the purpose of being restored ; that he,

for his father and himself, was willing to pay compensation

for damages; and also that, if required, he would try to

deliver up Ramanela for punishment. On the faith of these

assurances the volunteers were permitted to return home

and Major Erskine went back to his duties at Maritzburg,

The Imperial troops, consisting of infantry and artillery,

were left at Ladysmith, and Mr. Shepstone, with a few Cape

Mounted Riflemen and a thousand Natal blacks, formed a

camp on the Basuto border.

Sir Percy Douglas, who then commanded the British

troops in South Africa, was at the time in Maritzburg. He
sent intelligence of the inroad overland to King-Williams-

town, whence it was conveyed by telegraph to the high

commissioner, who alone had authority to deal with inde-

pendent chiefs. On receipt of the telegram Sir Philip Wode-

house sent to Moshesh, requiring him to restore the stolen

stock instantly, to make reparation for the damage done, and

to prohibit such acts in future. Moshesh replied that before

the demand reached him he had begun to collect the cattle

for the purpose of sending them back, and had given orders

that anything missing should be replaced.

This letter ought to have proved to Sir Philip Wode-

house, if proof was still wanting, how utterly untrustworthy

Moshesh's statements were. He had not done as he said.

A few days before his letter was written, his son Molapo had

returned thirty-nine horses, one hundred and sixty-one head

of horned cattle, one hundred and ninety-four sheep, and

forty goats, and had informed Mr. Shepstone that Moshesh

and Letsie not only did not approve of the promises he had

made, but that Moshesh had sent word that Bamanela would

not be compelled to make restitution. Molapo believed that

Letsie would be well pleased if the Natal forces were to enter

his district, which was contiguous to the Natal border, and

punish him for the acts of Bamanela, though that marauder

4 ,

,if *

If^l?

ill

i'l

I

ij

> «



i88 History of South Africa

was not in the least under his control. He offered to aban-
don his father and brother, and to place himself and his

people under the protection and control of the Natal govern-
ment. The high commissioner, however, would only deal

with Moshesh as the head of the tribe.

The apparent impunity with which the inroad had been
made was an encouragement to bands of robbers to make
Natal a field of operations, and early in August a case of

.cattle-lifting on such a large scale occurred that by the

government and the people it was commonly spoken of as a

second raid. Moshesh in the meantime was dealing with the

matter as if it was of little importance. Utterly regardless

of truth, he wrote to Mr. Shepstone, as he had written to

Sir Philip Wodehouse, that he had given orders to Ramanela
to restore everything without delay.

After waiting two months, as the only cattle sent back
were the few delivered by Molapo, the high commissioner
concluded that it was necessary to make a more formal

demand than he had hitherto done. He declined to take

into consideration the expense which the Natal government
had incurred, and resolved to call upon the Basuto to refund

nothing more than the actual value of the property taken
and destroyed. He believed that upon the estimate received

from Natal ten thousand head of full-grown cattle would
suffice to cover this, and on the 26th of August he wrote to

Moshesh calling upon him to give instructions for the imme-
diate delivery to the officers of the Natal Government of that

number or an equivalent in sheep at the rate of five sheep

for each bullock. This letter was forwarded from Aliwal

North to Thaba Bosigo by a special messenger, Mr. William
Reed.

Mr. Reed proceeded by way of Bloemfontein, where he

found the president just leaving for the camp, and accom-

panied him to Thaba Bosigo, At the foot of the mountain
he displayed an English flag, upon which Moshesh sent down
for him, and he at once went up. Forty or fifty paces from
the top the chief and his son Tsekelo met him, when Tsekelo

read and interpreted his Excellency's letter. Mr. Reed was

if
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taken to a cave about fifty yards from the summit of the

mountain, where he lodged for several days, until Moshesh

was pleased to send him back with a reply, compelling him at

the same time to avoid the Free State camp, and to take a

circuitous path through the Lesuto. The letter which he

carried back was dated the 18th of September. In it

Moshesh said, "The cattle stolen from tlie Natal territory

have been restored to that government. I have already

given myself and whole of my country into the hands of the

Queen's Government. Your Excellency may therefore con-

sider the whole of the Basutoland under your jurisdiction,

to deal with us, and the compensation demanded, according

to your Excellency's discretion."

There was certainly a difficulty in dealing, according

to the ideas of Europeans, with a man who could dictate

such a letter as this. What the high commissioner did was

to inform the chief that until the question of making good

the damage caused by Ramanela was disposed of, he was

precluded from entertaining proposals for closer union

between the British Government and the Basuto. He then

directed Mr. Burnet to proceed to Thaba Bosigo and en-

deavour to induce Moshesh to issue positive instructions for

the delivery of the cattle and the punishment of Ramanela.

The Natal Government was requested to send commissioners

to meet Mr. Burnet, and to receive any cattle that he might

succeed in obtaining.

While these officers of the different governments were

making their way towards Thaba Bosigo, the old chief was

dictating letters to Mr. Shepstone, at one time stating that

his difficulty in sending the cattle was the presence of the

Free State forces, and at another time that a drove was

about to leave.

Mr. Burnet arrived at Thaba Bosigo on the 2nd of

November. He found the sub-chiefs of Southern Basuto-

land willing to contribute towards making up the number

of cattle demanded by the high commissioner, and at his

request they collected about three thousand head. Moshesh

himself gave nothing, and so far was he from being desirous
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of settling the matter that he actually selected the choicest
cattle contributed by his vassals, and reserved them for
himself. Mr. Burnet persuaded him to dictate an order to
Molapo to punish Ramanela, and to make up the deficiency
of the cattle; but when the commissioner proceeded to
Leribe with the order, the old chief sent to his son counter-
manding it. It was quite hopeless to expect anything like
fair dealing from him, and Mr. Burnet came to the conclu-
sion that the only satisfactory plan would be to negotiate
directly with Letsie and Molapo.

These chiefs, like their father, were at this time entirely
under the control of seers, diviners, and priests. Molapo
was subject to fits of insanity, which the missionaries
attributed to remorse for having abjured Christianity, but
which Mr. Burnet attributed to over-indulgence in sensuality.
They were both urgent to be taken under British protection.
Their aims, however, were widely different. Molapo ad-
dressed himself to the government of Natal, and made
no secret of his desire to be independent of his brother.
Letsie addressed the high commissioner, and asked for
protection, in order that at his father's death he might
remain the head of a tribe that must otherwise break into
fragments.

After more than a month's exertion, Mr. Burnet believed
that he had got together between four and five thousand
head of cattle. Messrs. Macfarlane and Uys, the Natal com-
missioners, had gone to Bloemfontein, and procured from
the president a safe-conduct through Free State territory
for the drove and one hundred Basuto herdsmen. Mr.
Burnet then, having done all that he could, returned home,
and sent a full report of his proceedings to tho h.„. .am*
missioner. Instead, however, of between four and n-

thousand head reaching Natal, only two thousanu one
hundred and forty-one were delivered to Mr. Ayliff, the
officer selected to distribute them, the others having been
detained by Moshesh for his own use after Mr. Burnet's
departure.

From -<hsj jrst the Natal officers were convinced that

nothing

restituti(

the high

of Janu(

authorisi

tion into

but befo

the lieut

in which

would ibi

st(']en to

ovor. Ir

only too

permissic

must ha^

further (

the Basut

Natal.

At th

in the fi(

the heat

The Basu

inroads i

people of

Winburg.

two Euro
on the c(

the place

to go in

shot threi

a hundrec

On th

attacked 1

the comn
and murd
at the tim

presence i

speedily n



The Basuto War ^1865-6 191

nothing but force would cause the Basuto chief to make
restitution, and they would long since have employed force if
the high commissioner had not restrained them. On the 8th
of January, 1866. Sir Philip Wodehouse signed a document
authorising the Natal Government to send an armed expedi-
tion into the Leauto to compel payment of the full demand-
but before the mail left Capetown he received a letter from'
the lieutenant-governor enclosing a report from Mr. Ayliff
in which that officer stated that the cattle already received
would suffice to compensate those from whom stock had been
stolen to tin extent of fifty per cent., and leave a few oxen
ovnr. Immediately on reading this, the high commissioner
only too glad to avoid proceeding to hostilities, cancelled the
permission he had given, on the ground that his demand
must have been excessive. After this date there was some
further correspondence, but nothing more was ever paid by
the Basuto, nor was Ramanela ever punished for his raid into
Natal.

At the beginning of the year 1866 the Free State forces
in the field were too weak to act on the offensive, and during
the heat of midsummer it was impossible to increase them
The Basuto took advantage of this opportunity to renew their
inroads into the border districts. On the 8th of January the
people of Molitsane made a sudden swoop upon the village of
Winburg. They burned four houses in the outskirts, killed
two Europeans and seven black herdsmen whom they surprised
on the commonage, and swept off all the cattle belonging to
the place. Only thirty-three burghers could be mustered
to go in pursuit, but this little band overtook the Bataung
shot three of them, and recovered all the stock except about
a hundred horses.

On the 22nd of January the village of Bethlehem was
attacked by three or four thousand of Molapo's warriors. On
the commonage they captured a burgher and a black servant
and murdered both. But there happened to be in Bethlehem'
at the time a patrol under Commandant De Villiers, of whose
presence the Basuto were quite ignorant. The commandant
speedily mustered one hundred and twenty-five burghers and
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one hundred and fiftj'^ Batloku, and with ihis puny force he

drove back the assailants, followed them up for some miles,

and shot down more than two hundred of them.

The high commissioner, s ;e.'ng no probability of a speedy

termination of this wretched condition of affairs, and fearing

that disorder would increase in the Cape Colony on account of

it, at this juncture— 20th January, 1866—wrote to President

Brand, tendering his services for the negotiation of au equit-

able peace. While ihe combatants were opposing their full

strength to each other he had deemed it unadvisable to

intevfere. In reply to a request of Moshesh that he would

come and make peace, he had then written—25th September,

1S65—that it was impracticable at that juncture to interpose

between him and the Free State with propriety, or with any

prospect of a good result to either party. But now to all

outward appearances the Republic was without an army and

utterly helpless, while the Basuto seemed to be nothing better

than a mob of cowards in the field, and cut-throats when a

victim could be secured.

The high commissioner believed that peace could not be

permanent while the Free State and the Lesuto were alike

independent of control. War would probably be renewed, he

wrooe, after tha lapse of a few years, when one of the parties

might think itself strong enough to attempt the dcstructioi;

of its neighbour To prevent this, he proposed to the secretary

of state for the colonies—13th January, 1866—that the

Basuto, in accordance with the repeated requests of the chiefs,

should be accepted as British subjects, and that an attempt

should be made to govern them for their own good, and for

the common good of Soutli Africa.

But the ink on these despatches was hardly dry when

the aspect of affairs was entirely changed. President Brand

had been making most forcible appeals to his people, and

largely owing to his exertions, in the beginning of February

the burghers again took the field in force. On this occasion

two thousand men mustered under arms, and were divided

into four distinct coluir>>ns, under General J, I. J. Fick, and

Commandants Cornells de Villiers, Louis Wessels, and Pieter
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Wessels. Let it be remembered that if the same proportion

of the population of the British Islands were placed under
arms in a foreign country, that army would muster two
millions of men, and a good idea can be formed of the effort

made by the Free State.

On the 5th of February the volksraad met. The members
unanimously placed on record their approval of the action of

the president in declaring war, and carried by a large majority

a resolution ratifying the annexation to the state of the

territory within the lines proclaimed by Fick and Wepener,

and subsequently by the president. On the 7th a matter was
brought forward which, more than anything that preceded it,

damaged the Free State cause in the estimation of people in

Europe. On that day numerous petitions were read, praying

that the French missionaries should be expelled from the

territory recently annexed.

There were ten stations in that territory, and whether the

missionaries remained or not, they could have no reasonable

expectation that Basuto communities would be permitted

to gather there again if the Europeans could prevent it. A
powerful nation can afford to be magnanimous with a puny
opponent ; but in a life or death struggle, such as this, when
the weaker combatant has been forced into war and conquers,

prudence demands that every possible advantage be taken of

the victory. The Free State would not have been acting as

every nation in the world has acted since the dawn of history

if it had not tried permanently to weaken its enemy in the

only way in which it could be done. As a measure of safety,

the mission stations on territory wrested from the Basuto

must therefore have been doomed. But this was not suf&cient

reason for driving the French clergymen from their homes.

There was a general impression among the burghers that

the missionaries acted as special pleaders for the Basuto,

regardless altogether of the merits or demerits of their case,

that they gave advice in military matters, that some of them
took part in fighting, and that in consequence they were

more hurtful as enemies than the Basuto themselves.

No impartial person who thoroughly examines the evi-
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dence that their writings afford will be able to acquit the
missionaries, as a body, of being special pleaders, though even
in this respect there were several of them on whom no im-
putation can in justice be cast. No one with ordinary power
of discrimination will take mission reports to be faithful

representations of the whole life or actions of a people. At
best they only represent the life of a small section of such
a tribe as the Basuto, as seen from a standpoint very limited

in range of view. The burghers were unreasonably in-

censed when they read letters from missionaries and reports

in mission journals which pictured the Basuto as a very dif-

ferent people from what they knew them to be. They made
no allowance for the position of the writers, nor regarded
it as natural that their sympathy should be with the people
among whom they lived and laboured. A single individual

thrown among a mass of people of different sentiments

usually comes to adopt their ideas. The action of the many
minds affects the one insensibly, unless the one is possessed

of unusual individuality. This is particularly observable in

the lives of missionaries in secluded situations, who have
studied the native languages, and have striven to find out

the meanings of quaint native expressions and the powe.o
of native thought. It is not surprising that such men
become the champions of those among whom their lot is

cast, that they expatiate upon their virtues and fail to see

their vices : it would rather be surprising if it were not so.

To say that some of the missionaries acted injudiciously

is only saying that they were men. That they gave advice

in military matters is not proved, and as regards most of

them is highly improbable. That they committed any overt

act hostile to the Free State will not be believed, or even
suspected, after a careful examination of all the evidence.

The discussion upon the memorials by the volksraad

shows extreme ignorance in most of the members of public

opinion in Europe. That the expulsion of the missionaries

would cause an outcry in England against the Free State

was not taken into consideration. The members even sup-

posed that their statements would refute those of the mis-
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sionaries everywhere, without the slightest recognition of

the fact that hardly a dozen people in all Europe would hear

their version of the case, while the missionaries commanded
the most complete means for publishing their side of the

story that the world has ever known.

The president spoke earnestly against any interference

with men who had been trying to enlighten the heathen

;

but the majority of the volksraad held with the memorialists,

and a resolution was carried that as the missionaries had

not confined themselves to their calling, but had taken part

in political matters, and as their sympathy with the Basuto

was in its operation detrimental to the Free State, all those

in the annexed territory must remove before the 1st of

March, and those who should desire to remain in the Free

State must take up their residence at such places as the

executive council should point out. Whatever property they

could not remove was to be respected. They were to be

obliged to bind themselves in writing to have no correspond-

ence directly or indirectly with anyone in the Lesuto during

the war, to do or undertake nothing against the safety or the

interests of the Free State, and to see that nothing was so

done by their households.

At the beginning of the war the Paris Evangelical Society

had twelve principal stations, thirteen ordained clergymen,

two medical missionaries, and two lay assistants. There

were eighteen hundred church members, several thousands

had been baptized, and the missionaries believed that about

one-tenth of Moshesh's tribe was directly or indirectly under

their influence.

The missionaries who were expelled from the scenes of

their former labour were Mr. Daumas, of Mekuatling, Mr.

Coillard, of Leribe, Mr. Mabille, of Morija, Mr. Dyke and

Dr. Casalis, of Herraon, Mr. Germond, of Thabana Morena,

Mr. Maeder, of Siloe, Messrs. S. and E. Rolland, of Poortje,

Mr. Cochet, of Hebron, and Messrs. EUenberger and Gos-

sellin, of Bethesda, with their families, forty-six individuals

in all. Mr. Keck was permitted to remain at Mabolela,

though within the annexed territory. On account of the
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destruction of the mission buildings, Dr Lautre and his

family were at the same time compelled to abandon the

station at Thaba Bosigo, so that the French mission was

for a time nearly broken up. Most of its members retired to

Aliwal North.

A Roman Catholic mission had been established at Koro-

koro shortly before the outbreak of the war, but was not

affected by the resolution of the volksraad. The Roman
Catholic missionaries, indeed, were never suspected by the

burghers of interference in political matters, and were there-

fore left unmolested.

On the 21st of February the volksraad took into con-

sideration the high commissioner's offer to act as a mediator,

and after a lengthy discussion, on the 22nd the following

resolution was adopted

:

"The volksraad instructs his Honour the state president to in-

form his Excellency that the government of this state has been com-

pelled to wage the present war for the maintenance of violated

rights, which had been recognised and accepted by the treaty of

Aliwal North; that the volksraad, in the interests of religion,

morality, and social progress, heartily desires the termination of the

war, and eagerly longs for a peace which shall offer the guarantees

of permanency; that the volksraad has learnt with a feeling of

gratitude the benevolent offer of mediation by his Excellency, but

entertains the conviction, grounded on an experience of many years,

that the Basuto will not respect the stipulations of any treaty of

peace, unless they be forced to the acceptance of such a treaty by

the power of our arms, and unless they be driven to feel that the

Free State is sufficiently powerful to 'cause the Basuto to perform

the conditions of any treaty that may be concluded, and to compel

them thereto, should need be, by force of arms ; that this govern-

ment has determined, and the people of the state are willing, to

undergo any amount of sacrifice, and to prosecute the war until such

a desirable object shall have been attained ; for which reasons the

volksraad considers the present juncture as not favourable for such

a mediation, and feels to be not yet in a position to avail itself of

the benevolent offer of his Excellency."

The next day was the twelfth anniversary of the state's

independence. The members of the volksraad met at ten
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in the morning, not to transact business, but to listen to

addresses from the chairman, the president, Mr. J. J. Venter,

and Advocate Hamelberg, upon the blessings received from

the Almighty, the difficulties overcome by the Republic

during its existence, the duty of the burghers, and the

patriotism displayed by those who—like Wepener—had lost

their lives in the service of their country. All spoke with

hope and confidence that the war would soon be brought to

an end by the submission of the Basuto. At the close of the

addresses. Advocate Hamelberg presented a poem, which

was adopted as the national anthem of the state. It had

been set to music by a gentleman named Nicolai, and was

sung on this occasion by a choir composed of several of the

best male voices of Bloemfontein and a large number of

ladies.^

^ It will be found in the appendix. The following translation, with a few

lines slightly altered, is by the late Mr. William Rodger Thomson, member of

the house of assembly of the Cape Colony. It conveys the meaning tolerably

well, and preserves the metre ; but much of the beauty of the original is lost

in it.

1. Sing, burghers, loud in freedom's name,

And tell how we one folk became,

From foreign bonds set free.

Founded on law and righteousness.

Our commonwealth will onward press

And rank with powers that be.

2. Though humble now and small our state,

Courage will gain a future great.

With reverend gaze we look

To God, who never puts to shame

Those who Him trust ; Strength is His name,

Which ne'er defeat can brook.

3. Burning with love for this our land,

We'll go together, hand in hand.

In gladness and in woe

As brethren stand, still side by side.

Trusting and trusted ; so, with pride

We'll make our fortunes grow.

4. God shield the council of the land

;

Lead it with Thine own father-hand ;

Send wisdom from on high,

That whatsoe'er it does may rest

On fatherland and people blest

With light from Thine own eye.
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While the volksraad was deliberating, the burghers in the

field were not idle. On the 19th of February Commandant

De Villiers, with two hundred men, defeated two thousand of

Molapo's and Ramanela's warriors, killed sixty of them, and

wounded a great number. On the 21st Mr. F. Senekal, who

had been commandant-general in the war of 1858, was killed

while leading a patrol belonging to this force.

On the 23rd of February the combined commandoes of

Fick and De Villiers, consisting of the Winburg, Harri-

smith, and Kroonstad burghers, five hundred and forty-six

in number, with sixty-one natives as scouts, left their camp

5. In mercy and in love look down

Upon our president, and crown

His labour with reward.

Be Thou his refuge ; with firm will,

And trusting Thee, may he fulfil

His charge in our regard.

6. May godliness, pure, warm, and true.

Possess all hearts, and lead us through

The battle here on earth :

That, struggling on, with heaven above,

We still may grow, in zeal and love.

More fit for noble birth.

7. If lawless wrong should lead to strife

;

And honour, dearer still than life,

Bid us take arms in hand ;

Then let us rise with lion-might,

Then let us give up all, and fight

For our loved fatherland.

8. And "God for us and fatherland"

Be still the watchword, when we stand

In battle's sorest need ;

For him who thus goes to the field,

And trusts in God to be his shield.

Is victory's proud meed.

9. Hail, three times hail, loved land of ours !

Its people, council, ruling powers !

May they live in our song ;

And may the Free State, spurning crime.

In virtue great, to latest time

Its happy age prolong.
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near Leribe with the intention of scouring the Drakensberg.

They spent that night on the bank of the Orange river

where there was no fuel to be had, without other shelter than

their blankets, though heavy rain was falling with occasional

showers of hail.

On the 24th they penetrated farther into the mountains,

the rain still continuing with a cold north-west wind. On the

25th, 26th, and 27th they scoured the mountains, which rose

in an endless succession of peaks and tables around them.

They were over nine thousand feet above the level of the

sea, and though the summer was not yet past and the heat

on the plains from which they had come up was unpleasantly

great, they were suffering severely from cold. A heavy mist

filled the ravines, and at night rain fell in drizzling showers.

Some of the burghers had never felt such chilling air

before, and as their clothing and blankets were wet and

there was no fuel, they were undergoing great discom-

fort.

The 28th was a clear, warm day. That night they spent

on the very crown of the Drakensberg, where on one side

the rich grasslands of Natal lay at a vast depth beneath

them, and on the other side they could look down on a sea

of cloud and mist covering the rugged belt of desolation

which they had just passed through. They were above the

rain and hail from which they had suffered so much, and on

the mountain top they passed the night in excellent spirits,

though they were weary and the air was cold.

At four in the morning of the 1st of March the burghers

left their elevated sleeping place, and before noon they were

again in the belt of rain and hail. On the 2nd, while passing

through a gorge under Thaba Patsoa their advance guard

was attacked by about two thousand Basuto, whose chief

object was to recover the droves of cattle which were being

driven on behind. The Basuto, however, were speedily put

to flight. In the afternoon the burghers reached the camp

which they had left eight days before, without having lost

one of their number or having one wounded. They brought

in one hundred and eighty-four horses, two thousand seven
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hundred nn<l twonty-two lioad of horned cattle, and throe
thousand five hundred Hhoop ; and they had counted thirty
bodioH of Hasuto whom they had killed.

This expedition broup;ht Molapo to treat for peace. On
the 4th of March two Basuto carryinj^' a white (la<? came
into General Kick's camp with a letter from that cliief, in

which he asked on what terms peace could be granted to
himself and to the whole tribe. General Fick replied,

referring him to the president. The messenger returned
speoilily with another letter, in which Molapo stated that ho
wished to conclude peace for himself independently of the
remainder of the tribe. General Fick then ottered an armis-
tice of eight days, to givo time to eonnnunicato with tho
president, on condition of one hundred and fifty slaughter
oxen being furnished as provision for tho comnumdo. Tho
chief replied, asking for a })ersonal conference with tho
general half-way between the camp and his stronghold ; but
when on the morning of tho 6th tho general with twenty-
five burghers went to the appointed place ho was told that
Molapo's captains wore unwilling that ho should venture
away from tho mountain. They requested that an officer

njight bo sent to confer with him. Adjutant A. van den
Bosch with only a native interpreter then went up into
Molapo's retreat, which ho found to bo a natural stronghold
8o well fortified as to bo impregnable if hold by men of

courage. Tho chief agreed to tho terms of the armistice,

and tho adjutant went back to tho camp, taking with him
Joel, Molapo's second son, as a hostage for tho delivery of the
cattle and for his father's good conduct.

The camp of Commandant Louis Wessels was at this

time at Berea. Molapo had requested that ho might be
permitted to conmiunicate with his father, and General
Fick agreed to send his messengers to the camp at Berea at

tho some time that the despatches were forwarded to Bloem-
fontein. Commandant Wessels conducted the messengers to

the foot of Thaba Bosigo, and a few hours afterwards they
returned to his camp with Moshesh's son Sophonia, who
asked if his father could not be included in the armistice

Th
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granted by General Fick to Molapo. The commandant

replied that if MoHheuh wuuld make written propoMals he

would take them into 'consideration. Mouhesh then wrote

that ho wished to make peace on equal terms, to which he

received for answer that if ho desired to communicate with

the president the commandant would agree to an armistice

on condition of being supplied with one hundred slaughter

cattle. The old chief tried to haggle, by sending down a

<lrove of sixty-six cows and calves, but ultimately he complied

with the terms proposed.

Letsio, on being informed of what was taking place else-

where, also made overtures for an armistice, which Com-

mandant Pieter Wessels granted upon payment of fifty

slaughter oxen.

Tliere was thus a general suspension of hostilities, which

was only disturbed by a raid of the Bataung on Winburg

commonage on the 5th of March, when they succeeded in

driving off some stock ; and a second raid by the same

people in another direction live days later, when they were

met by a party of burghers and driven back with a loss of

nineteen killed.

Tlie president was detained at Bloemfontein by business

that could not be neglected, but the truce was prolonged

until he could get away. On the 21st of March he and the

unofficial members of the executive council arrived at Com-

mandant Louis Wessels' camp close to Thaba Bosigo.

Moshesh was communicated with, but as he declined to

make ])eace on any other than equal terms, the armistice

with him was declared to be at an end. Letsie took up the

same position as his father, in consequence of which hosti-

lities were resumed on the 22nd, when a patrol was sent to

scour Mohali's Hoek, and the cattle of the two southern

commandoes were turned into the cornfields of Letsie and

Makwai to destroy them. Nehemiah, however, sought an

interview with the president, stated his intention of aban-

doning the cause of his father and brother, and requested

that he and his people should be received as Free State

subjects. His request was acceded to, but his following
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was too small to make his pretended defection a matter of
any importance.

The president and the three members of the executive
council then proceeded to Imparani, where General Fick
was encamped. By previous arrangement, on the morning
of the 26th of March, Molapo with all his councillors and
sub-chiefs arrived at the ford of the Caledon close to

Imparani, where some tents had been pitched for their

accommodation. There, immediately afterwards, a conference
took place, which ended in a treaty between the Free State
and Molapo.

Molapo agreed to the annexation to the Free State of
all the land up to Futiatsana, and promised to remove
his people from that portion of it on the north and west of

the Caledon. He undertook to pay two thousand head of

large cattle, to abstain from assisting the other Basuto, and
to give one of his sons and one of his sub-chiefs as hostages
for his good conduct. He agreed to become a vassal of the
Free State, retaining the district between the Caledon, the

Putiatsana, and the Drakensberg, as a reserve in which to
live; and he promised to obey any orders issued by the
president through a Free State officer who should be stationed
with him.

A formal treaty to this effect was drawn up and signed
by the president and by Molapo, his son Jonathan, and his

councillors, and was witnessed by the members of the
executive council, and the four officers of highest rank in

the Free State camp. It is known as the treaty of Imparani,
As soon as it was concluded Molapo paid the greater number
of the cattle, and gave the stipulated hostages for his good
conduct.

On the 29th of March a patrol of sixteen burghers and
one hundred and fifty Batlokua, under command of Mr.
Hendrik Oostewald Dreyer, having captured a large number
of cattle in Witsi's Hoek, was returning with the spoil,

when it was attacked about twenty miles from Harrismith.
Mr. Dreyer and another burgher were killed, and some of

the stock was retaken. Mr. Dreyer, who held the office of
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chairman of the volksraad, w*^ a man of considerable

attainments. A South African by birth, he had travelled in

foreign lands, and spent some years in Australia. His body

was found pierced with twenty-one assagai stabs.

About the same time an express carrying letters from

the Cape Colony to Bloemfontein fell into the hands of a party

of Basuto. It consisted of three burghers, two half-breeds,

and two Barolong, all of whom were murdered in cold blood.

Their bodies, shockingly mutilated, were found a few days

afterwards.

On the last day of March a meeting of the sub-chiefs

of Basutoland, convened by Moshesh, took place at Thaba

Bosigo. The defection of Molapo, whether genuine or

feigned, weakened the Basuto power seriously for the time

being. The crops, which were now ready for harvesting,

were being destroyed by the burghers. The sub-chiefs were

therefore all of opinion that if peace could be made in such

a way that they could preserve their strength unimpaired

until the crops were gathered, and then be able to resume

hostilities at pleasure, it would be advisable for Moshesh to

conclude it. The great chief thereupon wrote to the

president making overtures for peace, and offering as a basis

of negotiations to agree to the boundary line proclaimed by

Fick and Wepener, and ratified by the volksraad. The pre-

sident consented to negotiate on this basis, in the vain hope

that he would be able to plant, without any delay, such a

strong body of Europeans upon the land thus acquired that

the predominance of the Free State would be in future un-

disputed, and peace for ever be secured.

On the 3rd of April a conference took place between

Thaba Bosigo and the camp of Commandant Louis Wessels

Moshesh himself was ill and unable to descend the mountain,

but he gave full power to his brother Moperi and his son

Nehemiah to act for him. The terms agreed to were, that

the future boundary between the Free State and the Lesuto

should be a line running direct from Bamboesplaats near

Pampoenspruit to a point—Thaba Tele—three utiles east of

Letsie's new town—Matsieng ; thence a straight line due
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north—b}' compass—to the Caledon, thence the Caledon to
the junction of the Putiatsana, and thence the Putiatsana to
its source; that Moshesh should cause all his subjects
immediately to withdraw from the territory beyond the new
boundary, failing which the Free State should be at liberty
to expel them by force ; that Molai)o and his people should
bo Free State subjects; that Moshesh should pay three
thousand head of large cattle to the Free State; that
Moshesh should in future deliver up refugee criminals on
warrants from Free State officials

; and that Moroko should
be included in the treaty as an ally of the Free State.

The above conditions, and a few others of minor import-
ance, having been embodied in a formal treaty, the document
was signed in duplicate by the president and Moshesh's
delegates. It was then sent up the mountain, where it
received the mark and seal of Moshesh, the signatures of
Masupha, Sophonia, and several other sons of the chief, and
the mark of Poshuli. Subsequently it was sent to Letsie,
and received uis mark. It was also signed by the unofficial
members of the executive council of the Free State, by the
principal officers in the Free State camp, and by Moroko's
adopted son Tsepinare.

The burghers manifested the greatest joy when peace
was concluded, no one foreseeing that within twelve months
it would prove to be the greatest mistake that could be made
by the Free State. The night following was one of festivity
in the camp. At nine o'clock in the morning of the 4th the
president mounted a waggon, round which the whole com-
mando was assembled. Baring his head, he requested the
burghers to join in thanks to God ; then he read the treaty,
after which the whole assembly sang the hundredth psalm!
And never in grand cathedral has the Te Deum been
chanted with greater sincerity than that psalm of praise to
God was sung under the open vault of heaven, when the
burghers of the Free State believed that peace was secured
by the treaty of Thaba Bosigo.



CHAPTER VIII

EVENTS IN THE SOUTH AFRICAN REPUBLIC FROM 1865 TO 1870
' I

DeBcription of the district of Zoutpansberg—The Baramapulana tribe—Other
clans in Zoutpansberg—Causes of enmity between the Kuropeans and the
blacks in Zoutpansberg—Description of the village of Schoemansdal

—

Foundation of the mission station of Uocdgedacht—Feuds between sons of
Ramapulana—Account of the Matshangana tribe—Cummencement of hos-
tilities in Zoutpansberg—Ineffectual efforts to raise a commando—Finan-
cial condition of the Republic—Issue of paper money—Progress of the war
against the rebel clans—Abandonment of Schoemansdal—Attempt to raise

a volunteer force under command of Btephivnus Schoeman— Distress of tiie

European inhabitants of Zoutpansberg—Fresh issue of paper money

—

Conclusion of the war between the Europeans and the blacks—Feuds of the
clans—Abandonment of the village of Potgieter'a Uust on account of an
outbreak of fever—Agreement of peace and friendship between the South
African Republic and the Basuto chief Moshesh—Transactions between the
South African Republic and the Zulu chiefs Panda and Cetewayo—Re-
covery of a white man and woman who had grown up with the Magwamba
—Settlement of the boundary dispute between the South African Republic
and the Orange Free State—Reelection of Mr. M. W. Pretorius as presi-

dent—Formation of the districts of Waterberg, Heidelberg, and Bloemhof
—Increased power given to the landdrosts—Revenue and expenditure

—

Public debt— Mineral wealth of the Republic—Discovery of gold at the
Tati—Result of mining operations there—Discovery of gold in the district

occupied by the Matabele—Exploration of that district—Establishment of

a mission with the Matabele by the London Society—Death of Moselekatse
—Succession of Lobengula as chief of the Matabele—Proclamation of

boundaries of the South African Republic by President Pretorius—Objec-
tions of Her Majesty's high commissioner and the Portuguese consul-
general—Views of various parties as to the proper boundaries—Conclusion
of a treaty between Portugal and the South African Republic—Boundary
between the Republic and the Portuguese possessions in South-Easteru
Africa—Removal of restrictions on liberty of conscience.

' m

The history of the Orange Free State and that of the South
African Republic are so intimately connected that ifc is

impossible to give a complete view of one without frequent

reference to the other. Had there been tranquillity in the

northern Republic, Moshesh would not have ventured to act

as he did, but tranquillity there was well-nigh forgotten.

The South African Republic was at this time engaged in a

war almost as exhausting to the combatants as that between
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the Free State and Moshesh, but, unlike this, it was a war

in which justice was not altogether on the side of the white

man. The district of Zoutpansberg was the scene of the

occurrences that must now be related.

This large district—the northeni portion of the Republic

—in 1864 included the whole country enclosed by the

Limpopo river, the Waterberg, and the Olifants river from

the great bend where it turns to the east. It was as fair

and fertile a land as any that the sun shines upon, with

deep rich soil, abundantly watered and covered with a thick

carpet of the most nutritious grasses. Its scenery was

diversified. In the north the mountain ranges,^ from which

the district has its name, crossed the country from side to

side ; in the east was a broken tract called from numerous

caverns the Spelonken, and a great portion of the remaining

area consisted of rolling plains. The climate was as varied

as the scenery. In the open highlands the temperature on

both sides of the tropic was agreeable to white men, and

a healthier country could not be desired ; but in the deep

forest-clad valleys, where the sugar cane and coffee plant

thrive luxuriantly, the heat in summer was almost unbear-

able, and fever forbade the presence of Europeans. The

wooded lands also in the northern parts of the district were

then infested with the tsetse,^ which prevented occupation by

farmers.

Before the arrival of the Europeans, wave after wave of

war rolled over this district, just as over the country farther

south. The armies of Tshaka, Moselekatse, Sapusa, and

Manukusa swept over it until there was nothing left to gather

as spoil. Most of the original inhabitants perished of hunger

or by the assagai, and those that remained alive either fled

westward to the desert or retired to secluded and almost

inaccessible positions in the mountains.

When Commandant-General Hendrik Potgieter settled

1 They were called Zoutpansbergen by the first explorers on account of

several large saltpans having been found at their northern base.

3 This destructive insect has since that time disappeared from the Zout-

pansberg district, probably owing to the extermination of the antelopes and

other game.
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in the district, he found the open country uninhabited, and

the few natives in the mountains only too glad to welcome

the presence of Europeans, under whose protection they could

live in safety. There was no purchase—or nominal purchase

—of immense areas of land from some chief whose claim

rested on conquest, as in the district of Lydenburg ; but the

white people simply took possession of the territory lying

waste before them. As if it was the most natural thing in

the world, the impoverished blacks admitted the superiority

of the strangers without question or demur, and did not

think of objecting to any arrangements that were made re-

garding them. Gradually they were brought under the same

system as that which prevailed in the other districts. Ke-

serves—often with boundaries ill-defined and thus open to

encroachments—were set apart for their use, and there they

were left entirely under their own laws and subject to the

authority of their own chiefs. Such reserves, according to

a resolution of the volksraad of the 21st of November, 1853,

were regarded by the government of the Republic as quit-rent

farms to be held by the occupants during good behaviour.

The quit-rent, or tribute, as it was often termed, in some cases

was arranged as a money payment, in a good many others it

was a fixed supply of labour, in others again it was agreed

that during the peaceable and orderly conduct of the people

nothing would be exacted.

The former inhabitants who had been dispersed now
began to return, and many of them rallied round a chief of

considerable ability, named Eamapulana, who acted identi-

cally the same part in the Zoutpansbergen as Sekwati has

been described as acting in the mountainous region south of

the Olifants river, and Moshesh in the Maluti and the valley

of the Caledon. The three groups of people under Rama-
pulana, Sekwati, and Moshesh belonged to the same division

of the Bantu family, the division termed the mountain

tribes.

Just as in the case of Moshesh, various little clans from
a distance, and not belonging to the tribes originally inhabit-

ing the country, resorted to the Zoutpansbergen and their
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neighbourhood as soon as there was a prospect of safety

there. These did not become subjects of Kamapulana,

though some of them were allied with him. It would create

confusion to enter into detail concerning the origin of all

these clans, and only those who took a prominent part in

the disturbances of 1865 and later years need be mentioned.

There was one group that had rallied round a half-breed

named Michiel Buys, whose father—Coenraad du Buis—was

a notorious outlaw in the early years of the present century.

Michiel and his elder brother Gabriel had long been employed

to collect tribute from the Baramapulana and other clans as

far as the Li ipopo. Some years before the events now to

be related dabriel died of poison, and Michiel remained sole

ruler of the retainers they had gathered about them. This

party of refugees may be called for convenience Buys's

people. Then there were several clans of the Magwamba,
or Knobnoses, as they were termed by the Europeans from

their custom of raising scars on their faces. These people

were fragments of a coast tribe, and at this time were under

the control of a man named Joao Albasini, whom they

regarded as their chief.

In 1864 the white inhabitants of the district of Zoutpans-

berg were the most lawless of their colour in all South

Africa. There were indeed many respectable well-behaved

people residing on farms, but on the frontier there had

assembled a large number of fugitives from justice, of almost

every European nationality, as well as degraded oifshoots

of old colonial families. These men, whose manner of

living was in many respects even more savage than that of

the blacks, were professedly traders and hunters, but did

not scruple to follow the calling of robbers when there was

any plunder within reach. In early days they had taken

parties of blacks to the hunting fields with them, but recently

they had contented themselves with sending blacks to procure

ivory and ostrich feathers while they remained at home in

idleness. The blacks, thus entrusted with guns and ammu-

nition, soon fouuu tiiat tuey eouid outuin from luicit traders

very much more for the products of the chase than their
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employers were likely to pay them, and disposed in this

way of the greater portion of the ivory, feathers, and skins

obtained. For these they received guns and ammunition,
until the clans to which they belonged became well armed.
Then the hunters refused to restore the weapons to their

European employers.

The chief inland market of the ivory and feather trade was
the village of Schoemansdal, called after Stephanus Schoeman,
and situated on an open plain at the southern base of the

Zoutpansberg range, about half a degree north of the tropic.

It was the most distant outpost of the white man towards the

heart of the continent, and from it as a base of operations

hunting parties made their way to Lake Ngami and the banks
of the Zambesi. The village had been founded some six years

before the period at which we have now arrived. It was in

a pleasant position, had a stream of excellent water running
along each street, and was well adorned with orchards and
gardens. The landdrost of the district of Zoutpansberg—at

this time Mr. Jan Vercueil—held his court here, and there was
a clergyman of the Dutch Reformed Church—the reverend

N. J. van Warmelo—resident in the village. A church and a
parsonage had just been built, and a school for children had
recently been established.

About eighteen or twenty miles west of the village of

Schoemansdal, in the location of the people under Michiel

Buys, was the mission station of Goedgedacht, occupied by the

reverend Mr. McKidd, an agent of the Dutch Reformed Church
in the Cape Colony. This mission was the first among the

blacks of Zoutpansberg, and had not yet made any converts,

though it has since been very successful. The missionary did

not confine his attention to the blacks, but was endeavouring
to bring about a reformation among the Europeans in his

neighbourhood, who needed his exhortations quite as much as

the others did. Shortly after this date, but while the occur-

rences about to be related were transpiring, Mr. McKidd died
of fever, and was succeeded by the reverend Stephanus
Hofmeyr, who is stiii labouring there.

A few miles east of Schoemansdal, Mr. J. Albasini resided.
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He was largely engaged in the ivory trade, was the head of

the refugee Magwamba, and held the offices of vice-consul for

Portugal under the governor of Mozambique, and superin-

tendent of all the blacks in the district of Zoutpansberg under
the president of the South African Republic.

As the wealth and numerical strength of the blacks in-

creased, the chiefs became impatient of restraint, and the tribe

under Ramapulana took advantage of the civil strife in the

Republic to make itself practically independent. It had been
treated in the same manner as all the other tribes and clans

in the country, that is, it had been left to the government of

its own chief without the slightest interference on the part of

the European officials except in matters where white people

were concerned.

For several years preceding 1864 the tribe was convulsed
by a struggle for ascendency between two sons of Ramapu-
lana, named Magadu and Tabana. In 1864 the old chief died,

when Magadu, who was aided by the captains Katiakter,

brother of Ramapulana, Sewase, Mazivemdela, Pago, and
others of less note, accused Tabana of havinsr caused his

father's death by means of witchcraft. With all the forces

that they could muster they fell upon him and his adherents,

who were defeated and driven from their kraals. Tabana,
with those of his followers who managed to escape, fled to

Albasini, and claimed his protection. His enemies requested

that he should be surrendered to them, but Albasini, in his

capacity as an official of the South African Republic, refused

to do this, and gave Tabana a location where he was in

safety. This event was the cause of the division of the

Baramapulana into two sections, one of which, under Magadu,
Katiakter, Sewase, and other chiefs, was unfriendly to the

Europeans; while the clan under Tabana was obedient to the

Republic.

There were thus many elements of discord in the district

of Zoutpansberg. There was the refusal of the black hunters

to give up guns committed to their charge, there was a

bitter feeling on the part of the blacks towards the disorderly

Europeans who had collected there, and who plundered and
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insulted them without the slightest scruple, there were arms
acquired from illicit traders in the hands of Bantu clans who
could not refrain from using them, and there was a violent
tribal feud in which one party was protected by the European
Government. Under such circumstances any trifling event
could produce a collision.

The immediate act that led to hostilities was the escape
from custody of a petty captain named Monene. This man,
who bore the character of being one of the most turbulent in-

dividuals in the district, was a refugee from the powerful coast
tribe formerly under the chief Manukusa. For some miscon-
duct, real or alleged, he had fled from his own people and
taken refuge with the chieftainess Matshatshi, who resided
in Zoutpansberg and was reputed to be the most successful
rainmaker in the country. After a brief stay with Mat-
shatshi, Monene committed some offence there also, for which
he was obliged to flee. He then took refuge with Albasini,
who gave him a location at Goedewensch, and made him head
man of a party of refugee Knobnoses.

The tribe to which Monene originally belonged was
called the Matshangana. It had its origin in the flight of
a horde of people from the neighbourhood of St. Lucia Bay
in the time of the Zulu conquests. In 1864 this tribe was
under a chief named Umzila, and occupied the country east
and north-east of the district of Zoutpansberg. It was
and always had been—absolutely independent of the South
African Republic. Umzila himself had, however, once been
a subject of the Emigrant Farmers. In 1858, while his

father, Manukusa, was still alive, he quarrelled with one of
his brothers, and was obliged to flee. He retired to Zout-
pansberg, and sought protection from Albasini, by whom a
location was given to him close to Ramapulana's kraals.
While residing there, his father died, and his brother be-
came head of the tribe. But hearing that his brother was
not popular, in 1861 Umzila left Zoutpansberg and proceeded
to Delagoa Bay, where he obtained such assistance from the
Portuguese Government as enabled him to destroy his rival
and make himself chief of the Matshangana, though as a
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vassal of the authorities at Lourengo Marques. It needed

some time to establish himself firmly, but by the end of 1863

all opposition to his authority had ceased.

Early in 1864 Umzila sent messengers to Albasini, to

request that Monene with his wives and children should

either be surrendered or be put to death. He threatened

that in case his request was not complied with he would
close the hunting grounds in and beyond his country, then

the chief source of the supply of ivo) j

"^ -fore this request

was made, Monene had lost favour w , _i.lbabini, and was
giving a great deal of trouble by his turbulent conduct. He
came to learn the object of Umzila's messengers, and fearing

for his life, he fled to Commandant Frederik Geyser, to

whom he stated that Albasini was plotting to kill him. The
commandant sent him to the farm of Mr. Jacob de Couto to

be provided for, and summoned Albasini to appear before

the landdrost at Schoemansdal—Mr. Jan Vercueil—on the

7th of April. Monene was directed to be present at the

same time, with his witnesses. Albasini refused to obey the

summons, and asserted that in matters relating to black

people his office of superintendent was superior to that

of either a commandant or a landdrost, so that he held him-

self accountable only to the executive council of the Republic.

There was no power to compel his attendance, and the

matter was allowed to rest until the president should visit

Zoutpansberg, Monene in the meantime remaining at De
Couto's farm.

In July, 1864, President Pretorius visited the district, and

as a temporary measure gave Monene a location close to

Schoemansdal, placing him under the supervision of the

landdrost Vercueil. Some months after this, Albasini entered

a complaint against Monene, who was thereupon arrested

and given in charge of Field-cornet Stephanus van Rensburg.

On the 28th of March, 1865, he escaped from custody, and

took refuge first with Magadu, next with Pago, and then

with Sewase. As soon as Albasini heard that Monene had

escaped, he called together a large party of Knobuoses, and

sent them to search for the fugitive. In doing so, they
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<jomrnitted great atrocities at several kraals. One petty
<;aptain, named Magor, who had long refused to pay tribute,

was surprised by the Knobnoses. A message was sent

a,ssuring him of safety if he would pay the amount overdue.

Magor accordingly delivered between two and three hundred
head of cattle, when some dispute arose, and he was made
prisoner. That night he was murdered, his kraal was
destroyed, and hip women and children were seized.

On the 1st of April a party of white men—the roughest

and .„ost lawless characters in the <listrict—assembled under
Commandant Stephanus Venter to search for Monene, and on
the 7th, having ascertained that Pago had given him shelter,

they attacked that captain at Pisangkop, killed about ninety

of his people, and drove off one hundred and seventy head of

horned cattle and two hundred and fifty sheep and goats,

besides taking away a number of women and children.

Magadu, Katlakter, and other captains then commenced
to plunder the farms in their neighbourhood, and the white

inhabitants of the northern part of the district went into

laager as speedily as possible.

On the 25th of July a commando attacked Katlakter, who
was giving shelter to the blacks that refused to surrender the

guns of their employers. It did not succeed in capturing his

kraal, however, and upon its failure the insurrection spread.

The missionaries now found it necessary to abandon the

station of Goedgedacht, and retire to another part of the

district less exposed to danger. The buildings were shortly

afterwards destroyed by Katlakter's people.

Before the return of the expedition against Moshesh, of

which a relation was given in the preceding chapter, no
attempt was made by the government to suppress these

disturbancey. In November, 1865, President Pretorius and
Commandant-General Kruger visited Zoutpansberg, and
endeavoured to restore concord without having recourse to

arms. They found the white inhabitants in laager, and
learned that a great deal of property had been lost, that

thiity-eight larm-houses and eight liouses m the outskirts

of the village of Schoemansdal had been burnt, and that
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business and farming occupations of all kinds, except tending

cattle, had ceased. Upon investigation, they ascertained that

the conduct of the lawless Europeans on the border could

not be justified, but they had no means of punishing the

guilty persons. There was no police force whatever, and no
money to pay one. The president and commandant-general

did their utmost to persuade all parties, white and black,

to resume friendly intercourse, and having done this, they

returned to the seat of government.

Every burgher throughout the Republic, who was liable to

military duty, except those who had been in the commando
against Moshesh, was now warned to hold himself in readi-

ness to proceed to Zoutpansberg whenever called upon. The
feeling displayed was, however, so strongly averse to war with
the Baramapulana, that it was at once evident the attempt

to raise a strong force would be a failure. With the

quarrels of the clans among themselves, said the burghers,

they would have nothing to do, as they did not feel it their

calling to waste their blood and means in helping one cap-

tain to resist another when the interests of Europeans were
in no way involved. Was not the condition of Natal—with its

fertile lands now lost to the white man—said they, suflBcient

warning against the inexpedience of attempting to shelter

every refugee ? And why should they go to the assistance

of lawless whites, who had brought trouble upon themselves

by reckless and criminal acts ? Language such as this was
generally used in the southern districts of the Republic, and
although the government declared that its object was not

to make war upon the blacks, but to enforce order on blacks

and whites alike, no inclination was shown to take up arms.

Nothing, therefore, could be done to restore tranquillity at

Zoutpansberg.

On the 19th of February, 1866, the volksraad met in

session at Potchefstroom. It resolved to send a commission

of inquiry to the seat of disturbances, to enforce order by
means of a commando, and by the same means to support

the courts of law in punishing wronf-doers there. But the

financial condition of the country was such that these re-
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solutions r -.uld not be carried into etfect. In addition to the

issue of paper money in the previous year, there were a
number of outstanding notes of hand issued by the govern-
ment to meet the most pressing wants, there were salaries

of officials in arrear, and there was nothing in the treasury.

Additional taxation was considered impossible. To redeem
the outstanding paper and defray current expenses, the

volksraad resolved to issue notes of 2s. 6d., 5s., and 20s., to the

amount of £12,000, the notes—though bearing no interest

—

to be a legal tender for ten years ; and as security for the re-

demption of the amount they set apart two hundred and forty-

five farms. As the paper previously issued was not current at

more than half its nominal value, the volksraad passed a

resolution that any licensed dealer who should refuse to

receive the new notes as equal to gold or silver should lose

his license.

In June the government called out a commando of

twelve hundred men, but did not succeed in obtaining even
half that number. The commandant-general was ill and
unable to lead the force, but the president want with it. It

accomplished nothing whatever, and was disbanded within a

month. But now the hostile clans began to quarrel among
themselves, and the Europeans in the laagers were relieved

from fear of attack. It was not possible, however, to occupy
the abandoned farms or to fit out hunting expeditions, so

that the white people remained in a condition of poverty and
discomfort.

In the early months of 1867 the clans suspended their

internal dissensions, and attacked the Europeans again.

The president hereupon called out a commando of two
thousand men to assemble at the end of May, and summoned
the volksraad to meet in extraordinary session. The members
came together on the 15th of May. The president, in his

opening address, informed them that he was helpless for

want of money. The £12,000 in notes issued in 1886 had
been insufficient to do more than pay the most pressing

debts, and the old mandates were still unredeemed. During
a session of twelve days, the volksraad could devise nothing
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better than another issue of notes secured by public lands, to

the amount of £20,000, to redeem the mandates and meet
the expenses of the commando. In such pecuniary distress

was the Republic at the time that a large quantity of ammu-
nition brought from Europe in 1866 by Mr. McCorkindale,
and delivered at the port of Durban by arrangement with
the government in part payment of the land sold to him,

could not be brought from the sea-coast to Pretoria for want
of money to meet the transport charges.

Instead of two thousand men answering the call to arms,
only five hundred mustered on the day appointed ; and with
this small force, ill supplied with material of war, Com-
mandant-General Kruger marched to Zoutpansberg. The
captain Eatlakter had recently made several pillaging

excursions, so the commando moved against him. But his

mountain fortress was too strong to be carried by so small

an army, and therefore after some skirmishing the burghers
fell back to the village of Schoemansdal. Here Kruger re-

ceived trustworthy information that Mapela and other chiefs

living near Makapan's Poort on the southern border of the

district were ready to rise upon his receiving further reverses.

He accordingly appealed to the country to support him with
fifteen hundred men and a sufficient quantity of ammunition,
and announced that without this aid he could not restore

order. His appeal fell upon deaf ears, and he was left to do
the best that he could with his puny commando.

At the same time that an armed force was called out, a
court of three combined landdrosts was directed to punish

European wrong-doers in the district of Zoutpansberg.

Before this court Commandant Stephanas Venter and Field-

cornet J. H. du Plessis were charged with seizing cattle

belonging to the captain Pago in April, 1865, and illegally

detaining them. On the 27th of June the jury found the

accused persons guilty, and the court proceeded to sentence

them. Du Plessis was ordered to restore three hundred head
of cattle to the people of Pago, and to pay a fine of £500. As
soon ai) the sentence was pronounced, there was a disturbance

in the court-room ; an unruly mob took possession of the
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place, set the landdrosts at deBance, and rescued the men
who had been found guilty.

When this lawless proceeding was reported to Commandant-
General Kruger, he abandoned all hope of restoring order,

and acting by resolution of the council of war he withdrew
from Schoemansdal. He considered the position of the

village extremely Dad from a military point of view. In his

opinion, it was always at the mercy of the insurgents, as the

stream from which its water was derived came from the

mountain held by them, and they were well acquainted with

the art of poisoning water to kill game. The respectable

people of the village left with the commando, and the unruly

characters were obliged to follow. Schoemansdal remained

without inhabitants. The former residents saved nothing

except what they could carry away. The reverend Mr. Van
Warmelo took with him the doors and windows of the

church, but otherwise the buildings were undamaged.

Shortly afterwards Katlakter's people came down from the

mountain, set the houses on fire, and reduced the whole to a

heap of ruins.

Commandant-General Kruger retired to Malitsi's country,

thirty-six miles distant, where he formed a camp, so as to

enable any Europeans, who might still be in the neighbour-

hood of the mountains, to withdraw. From this place he

retreated by way of Makapan's Poort, where he stationed

a guard of forty-five men to protect the little village of

Potgieter's Rust, and he then disbanded the commando.
The landdrost of the district, the clergymen, and some of

the other inhabitants took up their residence at Marabastad,

a hamlet about seventy miles south-west of Schoemansdal.

This place was then the property of only four individuals,

and its situation was not a good one. Mr. Van Warmelo
decided that it would be useless to attempt to put up a
church there, so it was only regarded as a place of temporary
refuge.

The abandonment of Schoemansdal, and with it a con-

siderable portion of the district of Zoutpansberg, was regarded

by President Pretorius as the greatest disaster the Republic
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had ever sustained. He made a despairing appeal to the
country for volunteers to recover the lost ground, and hurried
from village to village to urge the people to render assistance.
Stephanus Schoeman—the same man who had taken a promi-
nent part in the civil wars, but who was as brave as he was
turbulent—was appointed commandant of volunteers. Not-
withstanding the efforts made by the president, only fifty-

three men offered their services. At the head of these, in
October, Schoeman visited Zoutpansberg to ascertain the
exact condition of affairs.

At Potgieter's Rust he learned that Makapan had risen.
A party of that captain's people had surrounded a patrol of
six burghers on an open plain, but had been beaten off with
a loss of sixteen killed. Makapan had then gone to Mapela's
mountain, and was living there under that chief's protection.
From Potgieter's Rust the volunteers pushed on to the burnt
village of Schoemansdal. There a meeting took place of the
Europeans of the nearest laager, the captains of the blacks
who professed to be fighting on the white man's side, and the
volunteers. Mapela sent some of his councillors, who de-
livered a message to the efiect that he wished to remain at
peace, and was therefore sitting still. Schoeman replied that
the Europeans considered him responsible for the damage
done by Makapan and another insurgent named Kalikali,
inasmuch as he had given these captains and their followers
shelter.

At the meeting it was decided not to attack the powerful
chiefs Magadu and Katlakter, but to endeavour to do as
much damage as possible to Matshatshi, Sewase, and other
heads of petty clans. The force under Schoeman's com-
mand was too weak, however, to do anything of consequence,
and after a little skirmishing it fell back to Marabastad,
where on the 23rd of December the volunteers were dis-

banded.

In all the exposed parts of the district the farms were at
this time abandoned, and their owners were in laager. There
were three great camps : one in the north, another at Mara-
bastad, and a third at Fotgieters Rust.



The South African Republic 19

In January, 1868, President Pretorius called out a com-

mando of a thousand men, to assemble on the 20th o£

February ; and announced that it' they did not respond to

the order the district must be entirely abandoned. About

two hundred and sixty mustered on the day appointed. With
these Commandant-Qeneral Kruger proceeded to Makapan's

Poort to ascertain the condition of affairs. Mapela still pro-

fessed to be loyal, but all the petty chiefs in that neighbour-

hood were in arms. Mapela had a following of at least five

thousand warriors, and occupied a position of great natural

strength. Kruger was determined that he should take an

active part on one side or the other, and therefore called

upon bim as a vassal of the Republic to furnish a certain

number of slaughter oxen for the use of the commando in the

field. As anticipated, this obliged the chief to show his true

colours, and instead of sending the oxen he declared war.

Upon this Kruger sent a report to the president, urging

the necessity of proclaiming martial law throughout the

Republic, requiring every man who could bear arms to take

the field, and obtaining by any sacrifice an adequate supply

of munitions of war. As he could do nothing wifcli the little

force under his orders, he placed a guard of sixty men at

Potgieter's Rust, and returned to Pretoria to urge the

volksraad, which was tiien in session, to adopt decisive

measures.

The distress and poverty of the Europeans in the laagers

had in the meantime so greatly increased that on the 14th of

March the reverend N. J. van Warmelo and Mr. R. A. van

Nispen—who had succeeded Vercueil as landdrost—published

from Marabastad an appeal to charitable persons everywhere

to assist in obtaining clothing for the women and children,

who were nearly naked.

The volksraad debated earnestly on the pecuniary con-

dition of the country. The last issue of notes had been

insufficient to meet expenses, and £1,230 more had been

created than had been authorised. Notwithstanding the

stringent laws making the notes a legal tender, their pur-

chasing power was then only thirty per cent, of that of gold
;
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but there was no other resource, and a fresh issue was re-
solved upon. Paper money to the nominal value of £45,000
was created on this occasion, a portion of which was to be
used to redeem all previous issues except that of 1867. The
public debt, as represented by this paper, was thus increased
to £65,000. As security for the whole debt, one thousand
farms—equal to three million morgen of land—were set
apart, with a proviso that one hundred should be sold by
public auction every year, with a reserve of £100 on each,
and the proceeds be employed to redeem the notes until all

were destroyed.

^Y this measure a scanty supply of ammunition was
obtained, and at the end of May between eight and nine
hundred burghers took the field, assisted by a large band
of loyal blacks. On the 13th of June Commandant-General
Kruger attacked Mapela's mountain, and made himself
master of every portion of it except one very strong position
on which the chief's principal kraal was built. In the
attack two burghers were killed and eleven were wounded, but
it was computed that Mapela's loss was at least three hundred
warriors killed, besides about two thousand head of horned
cattle, three hundred sheep and goats, and twelve guns
seized by Kruger's commando. Two days later another
attack was made upon the stronghold, and the kraal was
partly burnt, but was not wholly occupied or destroyed. A
number of women and children were made prisoners, and
we-e detained in order to bring the insurgents to terms.

At this juncture intelligence was received from the north
that an old feud had broken out between the most powerful
of the clans in the Zoutpansberg range, that they were fight-
ing with each other, and that Umzila, chief of the great
Matshangana tribe, was preparing to attack them all. The
burghers on commando could wish for nothing better. Their
supply of ammunition was already beginning to run short,
so after an attack upon Matshem, a chief who was assisting
Mapela, and some skirmishing with other clans in the neigh-
bourhood of Makapan's Poort, in which hardly any damage
was done, they dispersed to their homes.
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In July President Pretorius visited Zoutpansberg. Dis-

sensions were prevailing among the clans in the mouutains,

and though Urazila had not yet attacked them, many of the

captains professed a desire to arrange matters so that they
could again live in peace. On the 21st of the month there

was a meeting at the farm Welgevonden, when Tabana with

his people, the Knobnoses, who had formerly been subject to

the superintendent Albasini, the adherents of Buys, and some
others had a conference with the president and the landdrost

Van Nispen. The president announced that Mr. Stephanus
Schoeman had been appointed diplomatic agent in the

district, and that Mr. Albasini was no longer in the service

of the government. At this they expressed much gratifica-

tion, and promised to be obedient to Mr. Schoeman. Mes-

sages expressing a desire for peace and offering to pay
tribute again were received from several of the mountain
chiefs, and friendly replies were returned. Several of the

chiefs then visited Mr. Pretorius, when assurances of friend-

ship were exchanged.

The president left Mr. Schoeman to conclude the arrange-

ments. By his efforts a condition of comparative tranquillity

was restored, which enabled many of the farmers to return

to their former homes and resume their occuoation of

breeding cattle. But the absolute supremacy of the Ke-

publican Government over all the clans was by no means re-

established, and in several instances farmers thereafter were

obliged to pay tribute to the nearest chief to secure their

property from plunder. The condition of things in the dis-

trict was, in short, identically the same as it is in British

Basutoland to-day under the Imperial Government. The law

could only be enforced by moral means, and there was no

power to compel those to pay tribute who did not choose to

do so.

In November, Mapela and his neighbour Matshem sent

messengers to Pretoria to request the government to make a

formal peace with them similar to that made with the chiefs

on the other side ojl the district, jthis was not theu acceded

to, but in February, 1869, terms were arranged. Mapela was

.fi!

M':4

:'
« % ffl

I'
I.

,]

:l\

»
•

',

if '\

i'
(

t.il

^ A

t1



222 History of South Africa

required to surrender all cattle captured by his people, and
Matshem was obliged to leave his mountain and reside on a
plain. They were also to furnish a number of labourers to
assist in rebuilding some houses destroyed at Potgieter's

Rust. Their women and children were then restored to
them.

Between the black and white inhabitants of Zoutpansberg
there was now a general peace, but the clans in the mountains
were engaged in strife among themselves. In March, 1869,
Pafuri and Lemondo fell upon Sewase, and at the same time
Magadu attacked Katlakter. In April, Urazila sent an army
of five thousand warriors into the district, and plundered the
kraals of Lemondo and other captains. Still greater troubles
awaited the Baramapulana. The chief of the Swazis sent an
army of sixteen hundred men against them, before whom
twenty thousand of the mountain warriors would not have
dared to stand on an open plain. The Swazis were joined by
Tabana's people, and at midnight on the 18th of October,

1869, one of Magadu's largest kraals was attacked. The
position was a strong one, but a little before noon the Swazis
carried it, when a dreadful slaughter took place, neither
woman nor child being spared. Other kraals belonging to
Magadu were then attacked and destroyed, but the one in
which he resided was not taken, though the parties that
tried to storm it suffered heavy losses. The conquerors next
marched against Pago and Sewase, and jreated great havoc
with the people of those captains. The Swazis then returned
to their own country.

Early in 1870 fever made its appearance at Potgieter's

Rust. The hamlet had been ten years in existence, and had
previously enjoyed the reputation of being a remarkably
healthy place. By April, eighty-one out of the ninety-three
European inhabitants were either dead or ill, and in May the
hamlet was abandoned by all the survivors. In the entire

district of Zoutpansberg the only village left was Marabastad,
where the landdrost was stationed.

Potgieter's Rust was scarcely abandoned when Makapan
and Kaiikali fell upon some little kraals close by, and rooted
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them out. In a very short time the same scenes were being
enacted there as in the mountains farther north.

The Europeans took no part in these quarrels, but let
the clans fight their own battles. Neither side molested
them, and they believed it to be their true policy to avoid
interfereui ., as long as they were not assailed.

While these events were taking place in the north of the
Republic, there were transactions with tribes in other direc-
tions, which remain to be related.

When the commando under Kruger retired from the
Lesuto in October, 1865, no agreement of peace had been
concluded. In the treaty of Thaba Bosigo no mention was
made of the South African Republic, an omission which
gave a good deal of offence to the government at Pretoria,
as the president and the executive council maintained that
their state ought to derive some benefit from the land taken
from the Basuto. In November, 1866, Moshesh, who was
then preparing for another rupture with the Free State,
caused a letter to be written to President Pretorius, asking
that a formal agreement of peace might be made between
them. He stated that he greatly regretted the murders that
had been committed by his people in June, 1865 ; but they
were done in mistake, and he thought that the blood which
had since been spilt and the losses inflicted on his people were
suflScifcnt to compensate for that crime.

The government at Pretoria, involved in difficulties in
-ther directions and willing to retort upon the Free State
for the fancied injury sustained by their exclusion from the
treaty of Thaba Bosigo, thereupon sent Messrs. M. J. Viljoen
and P. W. Pretorius as an embassy to treat with Moshesh.
On the 20th of February, 1867, there was a general meeting
of chiefs and leading men at Thaba Bosigo, when the embassy
stated their willingness to conclude peace if the Basuto
would pay £1,580 in money or eight hundred head of horned
cattle to the heirs of the persons murdered by Ramanela.
After much discussion, on the 21st this demand was reduced
to forty good draft oxen and fifteen horses, which the
assembled chiefs agreed to pay.
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On the 25th of February, 1867, a formal agreement of
peace and friendship was signed by Messrs. Viljoen and
Pretorius on the one part, and by Moshesh, Letsie, Masupha,
and Moperi on the other. Moshesh promised that the oxen
and horses would be delivered in a day or two. The manner
in which he kept his engagement was one of the most
ludicrous circumstances in connection with his history. The
embassy waited until the 1st of March, and then, as no cattle
had been delivered, they left for their homes. On the 2nd
they were overtaken by a messenger from Moshesh, who
tendered one wretchedly poor old horse, and delivered a
letter from the great chief announcing that four more horses
and twelve head of horned cattle were on the way. The
embassy did not wait to see what description of cattle these
were, but proceeded on their journey, and there the matter
ended.

There is not very much to relate concerning transactions
with the Zulu chiefs, Panda and Cetewayo, in reference to the
Utrecht boundary. In a preceding chapter this subject was
brought down to 1865, when both Panda and Cetewayo ad-
mitted that the line between the Buffalo and Pongolo rivers had
been made with their sanction, but when Panda desired that
it might be altered so as to restore to Zululand some ground
at the northern end, and when Cetewayo had resolved to
recover the whole territory between it and the old Utrecht
border, because the compensation received had been lost by
him.

In July, 1866, President Pretorius sent a commission—of
which Mr. A. A. O'Reilly, landdrost of Wakkerstroom, was
chairman—to confer with Panda concerning the alterations
in the line which he desired to have made, to induce the
chief to remove a few Zulus who were living on the ceded
ground, and to inquire about some encroachments on the
northern bank of the Pongolo. This last subject, which in
later years came into great prominence, was a new difficulty.

The boundary between the Zulus and the Swazis was the
Pongolo river. The former claimed the latter as vassals,

but the claim was jo-nored by the Swazis, who had never
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been conquered. In 1865 the Swazis ceded to the South
African Republic a narrow strip of land along the northern
bank of the Pongolo as far down as the Lebombo mountains,
purposely to get a body of white men between them and the
Zulus, and now, ten years after the event, Cetewayo began
to question their right to do so. In 1865 some parties of
Zulus, by Cetewayo's orders, crossed the Pongolo, and made
their kraals on its northern bank.

Mr. O'Reilly and his fellow commissioners reached No-
dwengo on the 27th of August. They obtained from Panda
an explanation of the change which he desired in the boun-
dary line, but were unable to settle either of the other
matters, as the old chief, under various pretences, avoided
their discussion.

As soon as he could conveniently spare the time. President
Pretorius proceeded to have the line altered so as to meet
Panda's wishes, and it was now supposed that this matter
was finally settled to the satisfaction of all parties. Cetewayo,
however, still regarded the ceded territory as his by right!
and his views in the matter were of course held by his people.

In December, 1866, forty-three farms had been inspected
and allotted to applicants between the old and new boun-
daries, and on the 8th of June, 1869, the volksraad directed
the president to cause the remainder of the ground there to
be disposed of. But when this came to Panda's knowledge,
he sent Gebula to Utrecht with two hundred and forty head
of horned cattle to buy it back again. The government of
the Republic declined to sell it, and sent a commission—with
Commandant-General Kruger as chairman—to confer with
Panda about it. The commission arrived at Nodwengo on
the 11th of February, 1870, and found the old chief so \\\ that
he could not rise from his mat. He admitted that the line
had been made with his concurrence, but the commission
found the Zulu sub-chiefs and people everywhere so opposed
to the occupation of the ceded ground by Europeans, that
they advised the government to postpone giving it out in
farms.

In the meantime the matter had been a subject of corre-
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i

spondence between the lieutenant-governor of Natal and
President Pretorius. Cetewayo had represented to the
secretary for native affairs in Natal that the people of Utrecht
were encroaching upon Zululand, and he had even offered to
cede to Great Britain the ground which he was trying to
recover. The lieutenant-governor, believing that hostilities
were imminent, tendered his services as an arbitrator. On
the 30th of October, 1869, President Pretorius replied that
the government of the South African Republic accepted with
thanks his Excellency's offer to arbitrate, provided that the
losing party should pay all costs. But various obstacles
intervened, and nothing farther was done in the matter for
several years.

The attitude of Cetewayo during this time was professedly
friendly, but his white neighbours were fully aware that he
was not to be trusted. Before the publication in 1878 of his
messages to the Natal Government, they did not indeed know
how skilfully he was playing Natal against the South African
Republic; but they knew that he was gifted with great
intelligence, and that he was crafty and cruel in a very high
degree. They knew also the full extent of his power. They
were aware that all the mountain tribes in South Africa
combined—all the people of Moshesb, of Magadu and his
associates, and of Sekukuni, who in 1860 had succeeded his
father Sekwati as head of the Bapedi—could not stand in fair
fight in open field against half of his trained regiments;
yet they feared an encounter with him less than with any
one of those. The conditions of warfare would be entirely
reversed. The mountain tribes—fighting only behind stone
walls in almost inaccessible positions, swooping down
upon lonely farm-houses, and plundering and murdering
where no opposition could be offered—could wear out the
patience and the strength of a burgher commando; but
the Zulu army would be met in a few desperate engagements,
when the farmers would take good care to be well entrenched,
and the issue would not be doubtful.

Statements that for some years before 1877 the South
African Republic was in imminent peril of being invaded

the
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by the Zulus, that in such a case the Europeans would
certainly have been exterminated, and that Cetewayo was
only kept in restraint by the influence of the government of
Natal, have been so often written and repeated in England
that they are now accepted there as incontrovertible truths

;

but the farmers of the South African Republic have always
thought very differently. They, at any rate, never feared
the result of a Zulu invasion, nor admitted that the influence
of the Natal Government upon Cetewayo was greater than
their own. To each he professed warm attachment, and in
both cases with an entire absence of sincerity. By repre-
sentatives of each he was formally installed as great chief
of the Zulus, but he and his people in reality attached not
the slightest value to either ceremony.

In connection with the Zulus an interesting event took
place on the 16th of December, 1866. A great number of
Europeans assembled on the farm of Jan de Jager, on the
Blood river, where Dingan's army was defeated by Com-
mandant-General Andries Pretorius twenty-eight years before.
Religious services were held, after which a heap of stones
was erected in the centre of the site occupied by the laager on
the 16th of December, 1838, as a memorial of the great victory.
A good many Zulus were present on the occasion, and
messages of friendship were interchanged with Cetewayo,
who declared himself " of the same house as the Boers."

Another interesting event that brought the pioneers to
remembrance took place in August, 1867. Litonga, chief of
the Swazis, sent to Commandant P. J. Coetzer, of Lydenburg,
a white man and woman, with their two children, who were in
all their habits like the blacks. The man and woman were
the sole survivors of Rensburg's party mentioned in a pre-
ceding chapter, and had been living with the Magwamba
from early childhood. They did not know the names of
their parents, or their own. The man was called Tshaka
by the blacks. From the Magwamba they had been trans-
ferred to the Swazis, but by all had been treated as beings
of a superior order. They had never done any work, the
chiefs having caused gardens to be cultivated for them.
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Subscriptions were raised to provide clothing and proper
maintenance for these people, and they were placed with the
reverend Mr. Nachtigal, of the Berlin Mission, to receive such
instruction as could be imparted to them. The woman
proved an apt scholar, and readily adapted herself to civilised
habits, but for a long time the man preferred the society
and the ways of the people with whom he had so long been
associated.

There were at this time some dealings with clans of
the Barolong and Batlapin, but they will be found recorded
in a future chapter, and need not be referred to here.

Ever since the establishment of the Orange Free State
there had been a dispute with the South African Republic
concerning the boundary between them. Various attempts
had been made to settle it, but all without success. At last,

in January, 1867, the two presidents and commissions from'
both states met on the disputed ground, when it was ascer-
tained that neither party was prepared to give way, and the
two governments then resolved to refer the matter to the
decision of Mr. Robert William Keate, who had been ap-
pointed lieutenant-governor of Natal, but who had not yet
arrived in South Africa, and who could not therefore be
prejudiced in any way. Mr. Keate, who reached Natal on
the 23rd of May, 1867, consented to act as arbitrator ; but
some delay took place, and the deed of submission was only
signed on the 13th of October, 1869.

On the 14th of January, 1870, commissions from both
Republics met the lieutenant-governor at Harrismith. With
Mr. Keate were Mr. Theophilus Shepstone, secretary for
native affairs in Natal ; Dr. Sutherland, surveyor-general of
that colony

;
Mr. Melmoth Osborne, resident magistrate of

Newcastle
;
and Mr. R. H. Erskine, private secretary. The

commission of the South African Republic consisted of
President Pretorius, Commandant-General Kruger, B. C. E.
Proes, LL.D., state secretary; Messrs. J. R. Lys and P. J.

Joubert, members of the volksraad ; and Mr. A. A. O'Reilly,
landdrost of Wakkersfcroom. The Free State commission
consisted of President Brand, Messrs. J. J. Venter, C. J. de the
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Villiers. and T. F. Dryer, members of the volksraad, and Mr.
t. McCabe, landdrost of Bloemfontein.

The Free State commission claimed as the boundary the

^
Likwa spruit, the most northerly source of the Vaal. They
maintained that the Sovereignty government had exercised
jurisdiction up to that stream, that the Bantu clans in the
neighbourhood had always regarded the Likwa as the source
of the Vaal, that it was so laid down on the best maps, and
that as It was the true Vaal river they were entitled to the
land up to It by the convention of the 16th of January, 1852

The commission of the South African Republic claimed
the Khp river as the boundary. They maintained that in
June, 1854, it was decided by Messrs. Bester and Wessels as
commissioners of the Orange Free State, with the approval
of the government of the South African Republic, that this
stream .should be the boundary; and that this was reported
to the government of the Orange Free State, and was tacitly
approved. They farther contended that the Vaal river had
Its true sources in the tributary streams of the Wilge Molen
Cornells, Klip, and others rising in the Drakensberg' Thev
maintained that the Likwa co.dd not be the source of the
Vaal river as contemplated in the convention of 1852 as it
does not take its rise in that part of the Drakensberg which
IS mentioned in the convention.

To the South African Republic the question was of greater
importance than to the Orange Free State, as not only was
the district of Wakkerstroom-which was enclosed by theLikwa and the Klip_at stake, but if the Likwa was decided
to be the boundary, the district of Utrecht would be cut off
from the remainder of the country, and there would be no
direct access to Natal.

Documentary evidence on both sides was submitted, after
which the country between the sources of the two streams
was examined by Dr. Sutherland and some members of the
commissions.

On the 19th February, 1870, Lieutenant-Governor Keate
gave his decision at Maritzburg. He pronounced in favour of
the South African Republic, and laid down the line between

I:
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the two states from a point on the boundary of the colony of
Natal immediately over that source of the streamlet called

Gans Vlei, which takes its rise at the shortest distance from
the northern beacon of the colony, thence down this streamlet
to its confluence with the Klip river, and thence down the
course of the Klip river to its junction with the V. .'.

In 1869 the term of office of the president expired. The
election was contested by only two candidates : the retiring

president, M. W. Pretorius, and Mr. Marthinus Jacobus
Viljoen. It vas generally assumed that Mr. Pretorius was
sure to be retu-ned, so most of the burghers did not take
the trouble to record their votes. In all two thousand and
ninety-four voting papers were sent in, of which one
thousand four hundred and ninety-three were in favour of
Mr. Pretorius, and six hundred and one in favour of Mr.
Viljoen.

During the period embraced in this rfhapter three new
magistracies were created in the South African Republic.
In March, 1866, a district named Waterberg was formed out
of the northern part of Rustenburg and the western part of
Zoutpansberg. It had the Limpopo river as its northern and
north-western boundary. The landdrost was stationed at the
hamlet of Nylstroom, situated on the head waters of the river
of that name. At the same time the district of Heidelberg
was formed out of the eastern part of Potchefstroom. The
landdrost was stationed at the village of Heidelberg, which
had been laid out as a churchplace in the preceding year. In
June, 1869, the volksraad resolved to create a new district,

which was named Bloemhof after a village founded in August,
1864. Its western boundary was proclaimed to be the Hart
river from the Vaal upwards to a prominent curve. In 1868
the village of Zeerust was founded as a churchplace, but did
not become the seat of a landdrost until November, 1871. The
country to the westward as far as the road from Kuruman
through the Molopo river—usually called the old English
road, from its having been first used by English hunters
was formed into a field-cornetcy in December, 1869.

The power of the landdrosts had recently been increased
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by the volksraad, and they could now punish with a fine of
£25, twenty-five lashes, or imprisonment with hard labour
for six months. The courts of landdrost and heemraden had
power to inflict a fine of £50, fifty lashes, or imprisonment
with hard labour for three years. No white person, how-
ever, could be sentenced to receive lashes. Upon the whole,
the laws were as good as those of any other country, and
the courts of justice had ample power conferred upon them
by the volksraad

; but for want of a police it was impossible
to enforce justice in all cases. The government was weak,
owing ,'0 discord among the burghers, and the courts of law
were consequently very feeble. Yet great crimes were ex-
ceedingly rare, for nowhere in the world was the moral law
of greater force than among the farmers of the South African
Republic.

The financial condition of the country was about as bad
as it could be. In 1870 the government notes were in
general not worth more than twenty-five per cent, of their
nominal value. Yet salaries were paid in them reckoned at
par, so that the civil servants were in the greatest distress-

No taxes could be collected in metal coin. The only favour-
ablo circumstance was that the income of the state slightly

civ^eeded the outlay. In 1869 the revenue was £31,511, and
the expenditure £30,836. In June, 1870, the volksraad re-

solved to call in the whole of the paper in circulation, and to
issue new notes uniform in appearance. Some of those that
should have been cancelled according to former enactments
were found to be still in circulation, the redemption pro-
vided for by law had not taken place, and the amount of the
new issue needed to cover the whole debt was £73,826. The
volksraad passed a resolution to redeem at least £5,000
yearly out of ordinary revenue, or, failing that, by the sale of

public lands.

Since the first explorations of the country by Europeans,
the mineral wealth of the South African Republic was
known to be very great, though not much had yet been
done towards developing it. Lead was obtained for home
use, but the difficulty and expense 01 carriage prevented its
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exportation. Beds of coal extended over the south-eastern
districts, and where wood was scarce, coal was used for fuel-
but there was no market for it within easy reach. Iron
existed in vast quantities, and was smelted by the blacks for
their own wants, small clans often being in possession of many
tons of It. One mountain in the district of Lydenburg was
composed of nearly pure iron ore, and affected the ma.metic
needle at a distance of ten miles. Common salt was plentiful
and easily obtained. Silver, copper, cobalt, sulphur, and
saltpetre were also found in various localities, but whether
the quantity and quality of these minerals were such as to
mak^e^ their extraction profitable had not yet been deter-

In April. 1866, rumours began to spread that alluvial goldhad been found in the district of Rustenburg and in some
other parts of the Republic. These rumours, which were
vague led to nothing; but in December. 1867, a German
traveller-by name Karl Mauch-arrived at Pretoria from
the north, and reported that he had discovered rich and
extpn^ive goldfields in the Tati district, a tract of country
some two hundred miles north-west of the abandoned village
of Schoemansdal. The district was drained by streams
flowing into the Limpopo, and was nearly uninhabited
being within easy reach of the armies of Moselekatse
A few weeks after this announcement parties of gold-

seekers began to leave the villages of the Republic, and to
pass through them from other parts of South Africa.
Exaggerated reports of the value of the discovery reached
Australia, and from that country a party of experienced
m.ners arrived at Natal, expecting to find gold-digging an
established industry. Some of them were sent to the Tatiby a Na al company, others were employed to prospect for
gold m tiiat colony. In England the Loudon and Limpopo
Mining Company was formed in 1868, and in April of the
iollowing year Sir John Swinburne, its chief manager,
reached the Tati with expensive machinery. At this timemore than a hundred European diggers were at work, andtwo or three times that number of blacks were employed by
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them. Gold was obtained, and some specimens of quartz reef
were found to be very rich; but on the whole, experience
proved that mining there would not pay, and after a short
time most of the diggers dispersed.

In the same year that gold was discovered at the Tati, it
was found also in the district occupied by the Matabele
under Moselekatse. Exploring parties proceeded there, one
sent from England being under the leadership of the cele-
brated South African traveller and artist, Thomas Baines

;

but they were not successful in establishing mines that
would pay the expenses of working, though gold-bearing reefs
were abundant.

The Matabele tribe was still occupying the country to
which it retired after its defeat by Potgieter and Uys. In
1857 the reverend Mr. Moffat, of Kuruman, paid a visit to
Moselekatse, and obtained his consent to the establishment
of a mission in his country. This led to the reverend John
Moffat, son of the old missionary, with the reverend Messrs.
Thomas and Skyes, forming a station in 1859 at a place
called Inyati, on the head waters of one of the streams
which flow northward to the Zambesi. Probably the teach-
ing of the missionaries had some effect indirectly on the
thoughts and habits of the Matabele, though no 'professed
converts to Christianity wo.e made, and the old system of
government—a pure military despotism—remained un-
changed. The country to a great distance around had been
almost depopulated by the soldiers of Moselekatse, who
subsisted chiefly upon plunder.

In November, 1868, intelligence reached Pretoria that the
old chief was dead. This event caused the government to
<}ast a watchful eye towards the north, as it might be followed
by serious disturbances, The recognised heir of the deceased
chief had disappeared many years before, and it was not
certain whether he was still alive or not. Confidential persons
were sent by the indunas to look for him, and in Natal a
man was found who declared that he was Kuruman, the
person being sought for. But upon his being closely ex-
amined, most of the indunas and old people expressed an

J
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opinion that he was not Kuruman, but a son of Moselekatse
of much lower rank. The most influential induna—Umbate
by name-was of this opinion. Lobengula, the son next in
rank to Kuruman. was then selected by Umbate and those
who wore of the same view, and on the 24th of January, 1870
was invested with the chieftainship of the tribe, with the'
usual ceremonies.

These included a war-dance by nine or ten thousand
soldiers, plumed and attired with capes of ostrich feathers
on their shoulders, bands of otter skin round their foreheads,
brushes of the tails of oxen encircling their arms and legs
and kilts of wild-cat skin. A sonj. or chant in praise of the
cinef and defying his rival was described by several Euro-
peans, who were present, as most impressive, the chorus being
accompanied by the striking of the spear-shafts upon the
shields and the stamping of the warriors' feet in perfect time
lo this succeeded the sacrifice of a large number of oxen to
the spirits of the dead chiefs, especially the spirit of Mosele-
katse.

A section of the Matabele, however, declared in favour of
the stranger from Natal. This party included the Sokindaba
regiment, the most famous of all the veteran warrior bands
so that civil war w.is unavoidable. The issue was decided in
one well-contested battle, in which Lobengula's forces won a
complete victory, and secured for their leader undisputed
authority over the Matabele tribe.

As soon as the discovery of gold at the Tati was made
known. President Pretorius sent messengers to Moselekatse
and to Matsheng to endeavour to induce those chiefs to become
subjects of the Republic. Moselekatse was then residing
only about one hundred miles north-east of the Tati. Ma-
tsheng was chief of the Bamangwato, a tribe of Betshuana
living just north of the tropic and not far west of the Limpopo.
In neither case was the mission successful.

Without waiting for reports from his messengers, on the
29th of April. 1868. the president, with the concurrence
or the executive council, issued a proclamation in which the
boundaries of the Republic were extended on the west to a
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straight line from Lako Ngami to the northern point of

Langeberg, and on the east were made to include one mile

on each siuv of the rivers Pongolo and Usutu or Maputa down
to the sea. On the north a great extent of country was
added to the Republic, but not the district occupied by
Moselekatse.

As soon as this proclamation reached Capetown, Sir

Philip Wodehouse wrote objecting to the inclusion in the

Republic of so much territory previously occupied by inde-

pendent native tribes ; and Chevalier Duprat, consul-general

for Portugal in South Africa, wrote that a portion of the

land annexed on the east coast had been since 1546 in pos-

session of the kinguom he represented.

It is purely a matter of opinion what were the rightful

boundaries of the Republic at this time, '" r wherever a line

might be laid down parties would be found not only to dis-

pute it, \ „ to bring weighty arguments against it. All

that can be done is to give the facts on which the different

views rested.

The boundaries were left undefined by the convention of

1852, but there are means of concluding fairly what the

British commissioners understood them to be, at least on the

west. Messrs. Hogge and Owen had before them the de-

claration of Commandant-General Potgieter and the volks-

raad of his party claiming the country as far as the falls

of the Orange river; that is, nearly the whole of what is

now British Betshuanaland, as well as the present South

African Republic. This extent of country was claimed by
the Emigrant Farmers as having been taken from Mosele-

katse, and there is no question that all of the tribes pre-

viously occupying that region, the Batlapin excepted, had

been broken up by the Matabele. The soldiers of Mosele-

katse did not indeed traverse the Kalahari desert as far

westward as the meridian running through the falls of the

Orange, but the terror of their name extended that far, and
there was no compact tribe left east of it. The declaration

of Potgieter, therefore, was not unreasonable from the point

of view of the Emigrant Farmers.
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\mT. i document in which the declaration is madewas hied by Messrs. Hogge and Owen with their other re-
cords, and they never disputed it, or so much as attached anote or a memorandum to it to show that they regarded it
unfavourably. On the 9th of June, 1852. Major Hogge diedand excepting what has been stated in a preceding volume'
there is no further evidence than the above as to what his'views were. Mr. Owen, however, who was in most matters
in full accord with Major Hogge, was of opinion that thevery best thing England could do would be to withdraw all
intercourse with the interior of South Africa, where, in his
opinion, neither glory nor profit of any kind was to be had.The huners would soon finish the game, he believed, andthen If the Boers and the blacks chose to quarrel about anynumber of hundred square miles of desert, let them do it
to their hearts content; Englishmen could be much betteremployed than backing up either side.

In the evening of Tuesday, the 22nd of June, 1852 apublic dinner was given in Bloemfontein in honour of Com-
mandant-General Andries Pretorius, who had arrived on a
visit during the preceding day. Among the guests were
Assistant-Commissioner Owen, Mr. Louis Henry Meurantand Commandant Pieter Scholtz. After a good many com

'

phmentary toasts had been drunk, and when everybody was
in the best of humour, the recent convention happened to bespoken about. Mr. Pretorius asked Mr. Owen: "How aboutour lower hue, after Vaal river ends ?" " Oh » "

replied Mr

hk?''' wr.r':.''''
the Orange down to the sea, if you

w^fh wt)^" T"'^ ''^' ^ ^^^'^^^ «f *he frequency
with which the wme glasses had been emptied or not, both
parties remembered all about it two days afterwards. Com-
mandant-General Pretorius had a very strong liking for theOrange down to the sea, and Mr. Owen was not the man togo back from h,s word. The following document was there-
tore drawn up and signed :

"With reference to the article in the convention entered into byHer Majesty s assistant commissioners. Major Hogge and Mr C MOwen, and the commandant-general, A. W. J. Pretorius, Esquire'
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and other delegates of the Emigrants over the Vaal, dated at Sand
river the 17th January, 1852, concerning the line of Vaal river-
It IS hereby farther resolved by the above-named gentlemen that
the lower line shall be from where the Vaal river joins the Orange
river, down along the said river to the sea, the British Government
havmg no authority north of the said Orange river as above named •

thi^ agreement being oubject to the approval of his Excellency the
high commissioner.

"Bloemfontein, 24th June, 1852.

"C. MosTTN Owen, Assistant-Commissioner.
"A. W. J. Pretorius, Commandant-General.
" P. E. ScHOLTz, Commandant.

" As witness : L. H. Meurant."

But the arrangement made under such convivial circum-
stances never was submitted to the high commissioner, and
consequently never had any legal force, though nineteen
years later the docui-ent itself was produced as evidence at
the Bloemhof arbitration.

The copy of Commandant-General Potgieter's declara-
tion as to the territory belonging to the Emigrant Farmers
extending to the falls of the Orange, was transferred by
Assistant-Commissioner Owen, among many other documents,
to Sir George Clerk, without any observation being made
upon It. Sir George Clerk read over the packages of manu-
script so received, commented upon most of the papers but
passed this one by without notice. The fair inference is
that the special commissioner; like the assistant commis-
sioners, had no objection to the Republic fixing its western
boundary wherever it chose.

There was a man, however, who did object at this time
to the exercise by the Republican Government of authority
over the blacks on the border of the desert. That man was
the reverend Dr. Livingstone. He persisted in claiming inde-
pendence for the Bakwena under Setyeli, with whom he was
stationed as a missionary. The lower road to the interior
opened by English hunters and traders, and passing throuffh
the London Society's station of Kuruman, he constantly
wrote of as being outside the Republic. He complained to

I'll
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Sir George Cathcart, Her Majesty's high commissioner in
South Africa, when Commandant-General Pretorius at-
tempted to close this road so as to prevent the sale of
munitions of war to the blacks. But he failed to induce the
high commissioner to see the matter as he saw it, and the
only conclusion one can arrive at is that Sir George Cathcart
did not object to the indefinite extension of the Republic
westward. The policy of the Imperial Government was one
of withdrawal. The Emigrant Farmers therefore could do
what seemed to them best.

That this question of their western boundary had been
under the notice of the British authorities in South Africa,
when the conventions of 1852 and 1854 were signed, was
unknown to the burghers of the South African Republic in
1868

;
but they were of course aware that a claim had always

been made to the territory as far west as it was habitable,
based on the conquest of the Matabele.

The opposite view, or that held by most people in Europe,
was that the boundaries of the Republic were, or ought to
have been, the outer lines of its old field-cornetcies. That
view cut off all the Bantu clans that were not actually living
among white people, and all unoccupied ground beyond the
outermost settled farm. Several maps were constructed on
this principle. But if it was correct, how can waste lands
be included in the map of any country ?

A third view was that the boundaries should include
the country—and no more—over which the government at
Pretoria actually exercised jurisdiction with the consent of
the inhabitants, white and black. But that implied that as
soon as a clan became strong enough to resist, it was entitled
to independence. The government, as has been over and
over again shown, recognised the plain fact that there were
two classes of people, differing very greatly, living on the
same ground and partly intermingled. One class had the
instincts of civilisation, and was therefore entitled to be
ruled according to the laws and methods of civilised lands.
The other class was composed of barbarians. Those who
belonged to it were excluded from political association with
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the Europeans, but they had their own government left to
them, except in matters in which white people also were
concerned. In such cases the law of the higher race was
supreme. In South Africa this seems very simple and
natural; but people in Europe find it difficult to comprehend,
a^d still more difficult to appreciate. North, west, and east,
the districts settled by white people were fringed with clans
ruled by their own chiefs, over whom the government at
Pretoria claimed supremacy. None of these clans could
have been there at all, many of them could not have beenm existence even, if it had not been for the presence of
Europeans in the country. Were they to be regarded as
independent whenever they chose to declare themselves free
01 control ?

Then there was a fourth view. Among the clans on the
border of the districts occupied by Europeans were several
that, during the years of civil strife, had been left entirely to
themselves. Ought not these to be considered independent
and the ground they occupied to be regarded as no lon<rer
within the domain of the Republic ? According to this view
cessation of interference of every kind for a period of five
or six years is equivalent to renunciation of sovereignty
over people like the Bantu clans. Whether this is correct
or not, the resumption of authority in such cases is generally
attended with considerable difficulty, and always meets with
resistance of some kind.

The o^ections raised by Sir Philip Wodehouse and
Ohevaher Duprat to the proclamation by President Pretorius
of the 29th of April, 1868, caused the government to recede
to a great extent from the claims it had made. The question
of the western boundary will form the subject of a future
chapter, the boundary on the east was arranged without
difficulty.

After some correspondence with the Portuguese consul-
general concerning this subject, and the advantage of a treaty
of commerce, on the 8th of June, 1869, the volksraad approved
ot the negotiations as far as they had been conducted, and
appointed a commission to conclude a treaty The com-

n r^
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missioners chosen were President M. W. Pretorius, Messrs
Hemrich Julius Ueckermann. Joseph Johannes Fourie, and
John Robert Lys, members of the volksraad, Mr. Marthinus
Jacobus Viljoen, member of the executive council, Com-
mandant General S. J. Paul Kruger. and Bernard Cornelis
Ernest Proes, LL.D., state secretary. On the other part
the consul-general, Alfredo Duprat, was fully empowered by
his Majesty the king of Portugal and the Algarves to act on
Dehair ot his i,'overnment.

.u
^';'^^««™'«>s«i«ners on both sides met at Pretoria, and on

the 29th of July, 1869. the treaty was drawn up and signed.
It contained twenty-four clauses: providing for peace and
friendship between the contracting powers; freedom for the
subjects or citizens of each to carry on trade in the dominions
ot the other, exeopt in munitions of wars and in slaves, on the
same terms as the most favoured of any other nation-
complete protection of person and property, freedom of
conscience, freedom from military service or taxes for
military purposes, and full testamentary powers, of the
subjects or citizens of each in the dominions of the other-
extradition of criminals; liberty to appoint consuls and
agents, who were to enjoy many privileges; and other
matters of a similar nature. The clauses relating to com-
merce were to have force for six years, and were thereafter
to be subject to a notice of twelve months before becoming
void

;
all the other causes were to be binding in perpetuity.

The boundary of the Portuguese dominions in South-
Eastern Africa is defined in the treaty as the parallel of
latitude of 26° 30' from the Indian Ocean to the Lebombo
mountains, thence along the highest ridge of the Lebombo
to the centre of the lower poort of Komati, where the river
of that name passes through the range, thence in a straight

r.u ?.';l"°''^^
"^^ ^^'*^ *° Pokioenskop on the northern bank

ot the Ohfants river, where it passes through the mountains,
thence m a direction about north-west by north to the
nearest point of the mountains of Chacundo on the Umvubu
river, and thence in a straight line to the junction of the
"arun anu juimpopo rivi'/s.
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on t?„%mt' "",«f
"O" of ">is treaty took place at Pretoriaon the 10th of July, 1871. The delay was occasioned by the

arrival at Potchefstroom in December, 1869, of a PortuLae
d.plomat.c c„mm.asion, under the presidency of the baron

This commission proposed several supplementary articles

tt^Z:'''
^'"' "«-*«'y-J-te5\y the /ortCt:

The diplomatic commission remained at Potchefstroom forseveral months On the 8th of Jnly, 187(), as a mark of thefriendship existing between the two countries, the governor
ot Quihmane was made an honorary citizen of the SouthAfrican Republic. His residence at Potchefst«>om was p™
Wd r ™r'"*

'""^'"^ ""^ f'S"^^' » "beraJ ideas thathad been made in the Republic since the adoption of the
constitution. His Excellency forwarded to the volksraad twomemorials signed respectively by Bfty-eight and eighty-one
individuals, m favour of religious liberty for Roman Cathdrwhereupon a resolution was adopted-lst of June 1870-
permitting perfect freedom of worship to burghers and
residents, and annulling the restrictive clauses of the con
stitution in that respect Unlike the constitution of theOrange Free State, that of the South African Republic couU
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CHAPTER IX

EVENTS IN THE ORANGE FREE STATE FROM APRIL 1866 TO
MARCH 1868

"""ttS^eVyt^X'^^r^t B^^^^^^^ £ru.r^ r«-^-g
the land

of Molapo'8 c'an-IssL of £4S OOO^f, n«7: f^"'**'?°^
^"^ *•*« government

£67,000 in notes to assisfimpov^sherb;^^^^^^ ^'}'^'' ^'^'^ «f
Wodehouae to the treatiesT Iraoiani ani Th 7^l^^°-*'°°' °^ ^'^ ^^'^^P
eflFortsof Moshesh and LeLi to o^t^n «rrMl

^'^'^^^ Bo^'go-Unsuccessful
by Letsi, Moperi. and MoliLane to ^ft ^'1°°^
State-Refusal of Letsi^s reaue«t T«n''?'r'^

•*« sub ects of the Free
Moperi-Opinion in EnglanTcon^^^^^ ""^

^J^^i^^^^^
and

stations in the territorfacquired bv the VrJ^H'"^^^"^ ^^^ ""^^'^o
volksraad regarding the mTsS on societies fIkp^u^""'^."'?'""""' °^ ^he
Thaba Ntshu by the Church SfPn^Ur.r^ff^l''''?!?* °^ * ™»«"o>» a*
supplant TsepiuL-RSionbvthfp^?"^?'*-*'"^ ^^™"«* ^^"'•oko to
of the Free State GovS-nraeit-Uni^f.S^f

missionary society of the offer

in the ceded territorr-PrepaTa^So^^^^^^^^ *° *°°**^ Europeans
ceded by the treaty of ThabrKr iff f"^fJ" ^^''"^^^ ^^^ g«>»nd
Basuto squatters-Professed suSfnTS^u""*' °^ ^^^ ^^^^ ^tate to^ expel
to be received as Free State sSStsYilS' '^^l^"'

^nd their entreaty
tionof Letsie and a n^'ero'^' pe^V c"p^^^^^^
Reserves set aoart for T,..fQio i\iv^ •

'-"PP^'us as l*ree State subjects-
the high coraratSnlr'^w^tt L^r^^^ of
Great alteration in the conduct nfthoRo.*"' °* * P°^i<5e force—
stored-Murderof anSiSshmanlthpl^^ ^ *''" ^'*'"^«^' "
the murderer by Moshesh-Snt iJS^rS *""''',*

u'^V^'^**
protection of

dent Brand-Murder of a farmer Lfh! ^f^^l^^^.^Y Moshesh to Presi-
the burghers of the Free State to comSfM^f territory-Call to arms of
Thaba |osigo-Remo;ilo?Mo%:no'wsHoeC I'dT *'^

t''''^
°^

peaceable conduct-Tactics employed by the Basuto ""'pIJI
" subsequent

mountain by Chief-Commandant /JBe%ou^'sd^si^noFth.lf ^^^7 ''

'

D^eXi;il^-!Senfof^t^"eed^

of the force under Chief-Commandant louhprf n '^°'*~¥'i,"*'^y
successes

the force under Chief-Comrjat PanTegr '~^^^^^ by
page by Sir Philip Wodehouseof thesSv of™ -.^

of Poshuli-Stop-
ports to the Free State-CapLre of the K,Vn, K "."u ^'r **'^°"?'' S"ti«h
Commandant Pansegrouw--Proclamation bv 4f P^r ^^,r,"

""^^'' ^hief-
iBg the Basuto to ^'^riUs^llt^s^S&lt^^^^^

A FEW weeks after the treaty of Thaba Bosigo was signed,
the vo ksraad met and decided what measures to adopt toprevent the peace being broken again. First and foremost

242
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it was necessary to strengthen the European population. A
portion of the territory taken from Moshesh would be re-
quired as locations for such Basuto as could with safety be
permitted to remain there as subjects of the Free State but
It was determined to dispose of the larger part as farms to
be held under condition of personal occupation. The same
course, in short, was to be followed as had been introduced
by Sir George Cathcart with marked success in the colonial
districts of Queenstown and Victoria East, and had been
adopted by Sir George Grey when settling British Kaffraria.

Next came provision for the control of the Basuto who
had become subjects of the Free State. On the 23rd of
May, 1866, an ordinance was promulgated for the manage-
ment of Molapo's clan, which has been the model on which
the Cape Government, as well as the Free State, has ever
since legislated for purely native territories. Its principal
clauses were to the following effect : The district occupied
by the clan, bounded by the Caledon, the Putiatsana, and
the Drakensberg, was constituted a native reserve, in which
no white man could settle without special permission from
the president and the executive council, and this permission
could only be given to persons whose occupations were defined
No licenses for the sale of spirituous liquors within the reserve
could be granted. A European officer with the title of com-
mandant, but with the power of a landdrost, was to be
stationed in the reserve, and was to have jurisdiction there.
Criminal cases involving the penalty of death were to be
submitted to the attorney-general of the state for instruc-
tions. Molapo and his councillors were to retain jurisdiction
in civil cases, but the parties interested were to have a right
of appeal to the commandant. A hut tax of ten shillings
a year was to be paid by all except the principal captains.
The Dutch Reformed Church was to have the right of
stationing a missionary with the people. The president, with
the advice of the executive council, was empowered to make
regulations for the guidance of the commandant.

Owing to the war, the treasury of the Renublic was m
such a condition that extraordinary means were necessary to

^1 <
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%si

replenish it. A large proportion of the burghers were quite
unable to pay the taxes, and there were outstanding debts
for ammunition to be met in addition to the ordinary expen-
diture. In February the volksraad authorised the president
to contract a loan of fPO.OOO for three years at eight per
cent, interest per annum, out no one could be found willin<r
to advance the niouey, us the prospects of the country
seemed to strangers very dark indeed.

On the 11th of June. 1866, the volksraad, as the only re-
source, resolved to issue notes to the amount of £100 000
and to declare them a legal \ ,nder. Of this «-,m, £57,OOo'was'
to be lent to burghers on mortgage of landed property, at
a yearly interest of six per cent. Each district was to have
an equal share of the loan, and no individual could borrow
more than £500. No portion of this sum was to be redeemed
tor five years, but after that term it was to be paid off at the
rate of £10,000 annually. The mortgages were to be made
out in accordance with this provision. By this means it was
hoped that many persons would be able to commence farmino-
operations again, that the treasury would be enriched bv
more than £3.000 a year, and that the want of a circulating
medium would be to some extent supplied.

The remainder of the issue, or £43.000. was intended
to meet the existing liabilities of the country. The public
lands were pledged as security that the notes would be paid
and the interest received from the other portion of the issue'
as It came in, was to be devoted to the reduction of the'
debt.

The notes thus put in circulation served the purposes for
which they were intended, though the members of the volks-
raad and everyone else admitted that such a measure was
only justifiable under the adverse circumstances in which the
country was then placed. Tliough a legal tender, they never
were equal in value to metal coin, and the rate of exchange
against them was subject to great fluctuations. As they
were valueless in the British colonies, a large portion of the
trade of the country was thereafter carried .n by means of
barter.
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The high commissioner, on learning the conditions of the

treaties of Imparana and Thaba Bosigo, lost no time in writing
to the pn.^ident expressing his disapproval of them. In his
view, the country left to the Basuto was too small. If it had
been impossible to prevent them pressing on the farmers
before, how would it be now that they were rr,lled back
within the new boundaries ? His Excellency did not consider
that one of the main objects which the Free State had in
view was to compel a considerable number of the Basuto to
disperse to other locations which would be provided for ti -mand so to weaken the power of Moshesh. Further Sir
Philip

^

Wodehouse did not approve of the separation of
Molapos eian from the rest of the tribe. As this chief was
not a Free State subject, his Excellency held that the Free
btate was responsible for his share of the cattle still due to
Aatal, and requested the president to require him to furnish
seven hundred head. The correspondence on this subject
however, had no other result than to deepen the impression of
the Free State people that all Sir Philip Wodehouse's sympathy
was against them. ^ r j

The treaties were hardly signed when Moshesh and Letsie
renewed their efforts to obtain British protection in the
supposition that if Great Britain could be induced to take
them over the boundaries defined by Sir George Grey and
feir Phihp Wodehouse >. .uld certainly be restored. To this
effect Letsie wrote to the high commissioner on the 11th ofMay and when this did not succeed, a deputation consisting
of aioperi, Tsekelo, and some others of less note, was sent
by Moshesh to the lieutenant-governor of Natal, with the
same object. This mission led to a good deal of correspond-
ence between the home and the colonial governments and the
chiefs, but 1 id no result. On the 9th of March, Mr. Cardwell
then secretary of state for the colonies, had written to Sir
Phdip Wodehouse that "the extension of B.itish rule in
South Africa was a matter too serious in its bearino-s to be
entertained by Her Majesty's Government without some over-
ruhng necessity," and that he was "not prepared to authorise
compliance with the request of the Basuto chiefs that their
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m

IJ^hTm n°^°"
*''° ''" "'•'"'y- ^'^ Carnarvon, who

succeeded Mr. Cardwoll, withdrew even the authority Rrkntodby h,8 predecessor for the appointment of a resident diplo-

"conlT ""h 'k'
^"""^ "='"^'' '"<' ^""''d his view that^nneehon w,th the tribe should be limited to a friendly

Statin'"'
'"""'"; *"! '"°'"""™ "-^ """^d to the FreeState Government, and expressed a strong desire to become.ts subjects Long afterwarls, Letsie stated that his sdeobject m doing so was to gain time, and that he never hadany mtenfon of submitting in earnest to the Republ c The

wZ"^!.."
""'

'r"^"^'
^^ ^™"- to tha't employed

otect Ttr?""! I'
'"^'' """"--oner with the'sameobject The reply he received was that ho must first provehimself worthy of becoming a subject, and then his requestwouW be taken into consideration; but that before anytWngcould be done m that direction the cattle due to Natal must bfP«d. to prevent the high commissioner holding thTFreeState responsible. In the meantime, he had peLission toremain where he was until his crops should be reapeT In

BloeTfol *:" '" '"f""' «'"'' »"' "^ -° I'-oth.^Ji toBloemiEontem to urge that he might be taken over, but to no

of the"^."^
*""

•rr''™" '° ''"'"" '"' tho -orthem sidethe Caledon unfl a suitable location could be found for

ferm» .T T "lf°""'^
""" ' ""' f°»"« owners of thefarms chose to allow small parties of his people to continuetheir residence where they were, the government woJd notobject a. long as they behaved them,,elves. They thereforegathered their crops, and when the season for sowin™round agaui. put more ground under cultivation tZ Ty

FreeSral r '•''°'^\T''- leniency on the part of theFree State, after so much experience of the folly of treatinepeople like the Bataung with a gentleness whifh the«
not unders and. was afterwards condemned as a mistake byeven the strongest partisans of the Basuto. It was an in-
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direct encouragement, they said, to Moshesh's tribe to believe
that the ground was still theirs.

Moperi was treated in the same manner. This chief was
recognised by everyone as the least untrustworthy of all the
heads of the clans in the Lesuto. His language was so guarded
and his behaviour in presence of Europeans was marked
by such propriety that he had the reputation of being the
most sensible and civilised man in his tribe. Though a
brother of Moshesh, his position was not a fortunate one.
His nephews regarded him with great jealousy. Hemmed
in by Molapo, Masupha, and Molitsane, the tract of land
occupied by his clan was very small, and was constantly being
encroached upon. Knowing his circumstances, the Free State
would have accepted him as a subject at once, if it had not
been for the high commissioner's view of responsibility for the
cattle due to Natal,

The event which attracted most attention at this time
both in South Africa and in Europe was not, however, the
condition or the prospects of either of the late belligerents,
but the treatment to which the French missionaries had been
subjected. In England a great outcry was raised against the
Free State. The directors in Paris not only wrote, but sent
a deputation to the authorities of the colonial department in
London, on the subject. Pens were busy all over the United
Kingdom describing the expulsion of the missionaries as the
greatest outrage of modern times. By all the writers the act
was termed a suppression of mission work and a destruction
of mission stations. There seemed to be but one view of the
matter

:
that the request of the Paris directors ought to be

complied with, the missionaries be permitted to return to their
stations, their personal losses to be made good to them, and
their converts and all who were desirous of Christian instruc-
tion be allowed to gather round them and profit by their
teachings once more.

A slight examination of the matter will show how impru-
dent it would have been for the Free State to have followed
such a course. It would have been equivalent to giving up
all the fruits of victory, for it would have restored the Basuto
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M>^;'jV ^/ ^•^^^/y^ 4/hV«
tribe to the position it held before the war. E^^ery Mosuto

tl.e very existenr„f the Free sZXTf °' "Tl^ '»

mission stations in the annr^ed ttHtory tufdT .

.".'

somewhere else. The stations were br^L „
"
IJ 71

out of antipathy to the propaga ion o ChristillTv^bubecause tne enemies of the Frw Sf.f^
"-nnstiamty, but

allowed to assemble there
'""" ''°' ^^'^'^ *•«

The members of the volksraad deliberated on this matter

;Ltr7Sh'^rx-:rintr'^
take evidence upon the conduet^rtstnar'TC

they decided that no cLpensXrho^ldtmadt^r'
personal losses, on the ..round of thV . ?f'"™''

*<» ti^r

euoh of their letters astrSle ^L:'';:Vt!l •"

Evangelical Society was recognised as owner oLbtlon the stations, and in order to give these buLt f
'"^

tract of land fifteen hundred mo^gTutit^ ir d!"each of the stations, was assigned to the society vhcf.t m.ght use as a farm or dispose of at its opUon theouly^charge made therefor being a sum of «Oo' on 'each

reserves allotted to ^^onl.frZTZrZliZZa
"^

ne.ed the ground to the Lesuto, the We .eyar„rhdr::"rom the stations Impamni, Merumetsu, Umpukani rdL.shuane. retammg between the Orange and th'eV^'o^ *-., -<
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Platberg and Thaba Ntshu. The ground on which all these
stations were situated, except Thaba Ntshu, had now be-
come part of the Free State. The society requested the
volksraad to recognise its right to the land it had once occu-
pied, and was informed in reply that it would receive a title
to fifteen hundred morgen around Platberg. and the same
extent of ground at any or all of the other places named upon
which mission buildings were still standing.

After 1866 the labours of the Wesleyans in this part of
{south Africa were confined to Thaba Ntshu. Nor were they
left alone even in that field, for in May, 1865, a missionary of
the Church of England had gone to reside there, on the invita-
tion of Samuel Moroko, a son of the old chief. Samuel had
spent some time at one of the church schools in England and
upon his return commenced efforts to supplant Tsepinare, the
recognised heir to the rulership of the clan. He succeeded
in obtaining a number of adherents, and thenceforth the
J3arolong clan of Moroko was divided into two factions
quarrelling about a form of Christianity and a choice of
a future ruler.

The board of directors of the Paris society rejected the
grants of land offered by the volksraad, assigning as reasons
that Its missionaries were not farmers, and that to dispose
of the ground by sale would destroy their infiuence with
the people they were desirous of teaching. That was sayingm other words that the Basuto hoped still to recover the
ground, and that the missionaries could not be parties to
any transaction in which the right of the Free State to
It was recognised. These sentiments mav be considered
natural, even praiseworthy, by mission societies ; but where
IS the nation in Europe that would award compensation for
any losses whatever suffered in war by persons making such
admissions ? Where is the belligerent that would hesitate
a single instant in expelling from its territories, or even
treating in a much harsher manner, men who make such
avowals ? Let anyone read the published letters of some
of these missionaries, and note how persistently Free State
authority was ignored, and the ce.led territory spoken of as

1 > 1

f ' 'i

, ! c

W



250 History of South Africa

If'M '''

•if

2l^f^. .
"*''• '^^'* '"'^ * ^^^ *^«° inquire whatwould have happened to an Italian monk writing similar

letters in Alsace just at the close of the Franco-German
war, repudiating and denouncing the German authorities, orto a Greek priest in Calcutta at the time of the Indian
Mutiny, repudiating and abusing the British Crown. The
cases are identical in principle.

.\2^^ T'l^" ""^ *^' ^""^'^ missionaries was not incon-
sistent with the admission by the burghers of the Free
fctate as mdeed by everyone in South Africa who is ac-quainted with them and their work, that the unfortunate
clergymen were earnest, true, and faithful ministers of the
(gospel, that they led irreproachable lives, that their zealand devotion to duty were unbounded, that they exercised
the greatest possible hospitality and kindness to strangers
that m education and refinement they were not excelled by'

!nH ?.'f.u .

^""^ ''*^'' ^""''^'^ ^°^^^"^ i^ South Africa,and that their teaching had been blessed with a largeamount of success. But most of them took the adverse sidem national questions, and that so undisguisedly as to render
themselves liable to the treatment they received, even had
It not been a matter of urgent necessity to prevent Basuto
communities from establishing themselves again on the sites
ot the tormer mission stations.

Three rows of farms adjoining the new boundary were
offered by the volksraad to occupiers under military tenure.From the 1st of applicants who sent in their names themost suitable were selected, but several delays occurred, and
It wu. not until the 15th of January, 1867. that this groundwas actually given out. Before this time a large part of the
remaining land had been sold by public auction, and it was
intended that the purchasers should take possession of iton the same date. Nine months had now elapsed since the
cessation of hostilities, however, and during that period a
great many Basuto squatters had gone in and made gardensDue notice of the allotment of the farms was given to
Moshesh, who was requested to withdraw his subjects in
accordance with the second clause of the treaty of Thaba



The Orange Free State 251

Bosigo. But instead of doing this he sent strong parties of

warriors into the district.

The bishop of the English Church in the Free State pur-

chased one of the farms with a view of establishing a mission,

and then went to see Moshesh, who told him candidly that

he would not allow it. A widow who bad received a grant

of ground went to the great chief to ask if it would be safe

to occupy it, when he told her it would not be. But there

is no need of evidence as to what Moshesh's intentions were,

or as to who was to blame for what followed, since on the

18th of March, 1867, the old chief wrote distinctly to the

high commissioner that he did not mean to give up the

territory. Great quantities of grain were stored on Thaba
Bosigo, the Kieme, Tandjesberg, and Makwai's mountain,
all of which were strongly fortified and garrisoned. It was
evident to the Europeans that as soon as they were settled

a raid would be made upon them, so they hastily retired.

The president then called out an armed burgher force to

expel the Basuto from the ceded territory, but gave notice

to Moshesh that he need be under no apprehension of an
attack, for there was no intention of sending the commandoes
beyond the boundary. The burgher forces were formed into

two divisons, under Chief-Commandants J. I. J. Fick and
J. G. Pansegrouw, the first of whom was to conduct operations

north of the Caledon, and the last between the Caledon and
the Orange. On the 12th of March, 1867, the two commandoes
entered the ceded territory.

The crops were at the time almost fit for gathering, and
it was an object of the utmost importance with the Basuto
to preserve the grain. During the previous winter some
sections of the tribe had suffered greatly from hunger, though
other sections were able to store large quantities of food. It

is one of the anomalies of savage life that hospitality, which
is unlimited towards equals, is not extended towards inferiors.

])uring the winter of 1866 there were chiefs in the Lesuto
with abundance of grain, while at no great distance from
them common people were literally dying of want, and
others were kept alive by the charity of Sir Philip Wode-
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house, for whom some of the French missionaries acted as

sttdTn 7'"* '^""""'^'^ »' '"» -°P of "«'' wa. no^

?««?»,, .
mountam fastnesses, and upon the crop of1867 the mass of the people were depending

The commando under Fick commenced operations in thene,ghbourhood of Viervoet by destroying some of the c„ „telds, and a l.ttlo later Pansegrouw's division began to dothe same. In several places parties of burghers met withres stance, but no pitched battle took place. A few sconcesm the mountams were taken by storm, and on one of theseoccas,ons two Bushmen who had fired poisoned arrows upon

h t bv
:" '°' "'° ""^ '"""^ P™"""-^' -- "ft-wari"

members T^h
""""'"'

;"r" '•'°"'^- ^'^^'-'P™ -™„.Imembers of the commando demanded an investigation andthe pun,shment of the assassin, but the general feeliLofe^asperafon against the Bushmen was so stron.That tlifevidence obtainable merely served to prove that t"he officiil.ad given no orders for the perpetration of the crime!

of Basuto d'et"'."" ^'^r''^''""'
'"""'"^ '' '""^ I'-d^

and milt; ^r "'.r""'''
"""^ «""»s ^"^^^ «»-«and m,Iet, woula be neither interesting nor instructive

narrated. The oue object of the B«snto chiefs was to savethe crops in the ceded territory. To gain that, their 71wa. not to take the field, but to proL the mo abjectsubmission, and to entreat to be taken over as subiectstidgiven ground on which to live. On the 8th of'C "evolksraad met, and on the 10th in mistaken pity yiddedTe suppliants were informed that they could make arrangements to gather the crops with the purchasers of the groundand a few days later they were received as subjects, and thecommandoes were withdrawn.
Letsie was the fli-st to be taken over. The great diffi.cu.ty in his ca.e before had been the Natal debt, and to getover this he informed the volksraad that the Natal Govern-ment had consented to give him credit for seven years.When making this .statement he knew that the falsehoodmust oe detected in a few weeks, but in those few weeks he

i»<El

t
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could complete the storing of his corn, an.l to be convicted
of an untruth had no terror for him. He was not required
to move. The district in which he had always lived was
assigned to him as a location, aijd he was thus left with
nothing but a nominal line between his people and the other
iiasuto. The regulations provided for Molapo's clan were
made applicable to him. There were special clauses in the
document which he signed when he became a Free State
subject making him responsible for any share of the Natal
debt which should be claimed from him. With Letsie were
received a great number of petty chiefs, who professed to be
his vassals, the most important of whom were Poshuli and
Makwai. The last named was then residing on a strongly,
fortified mountain, but Letsie engaged that he should remove
irom it within a month.

The arrangements for the establishment of this new
native reserve were completed on the 22nd of May Th-
only guarantee of good faith which the government of the
l^ree btate demanded was that Letsie should send one of his
sons and one of his councillors to Bloemfontein, to remain
there as hostages, and this he undertook to comply with
apparently most cordially. But the hostages sc-at were in
reality men of no rank, and when the object of their chief
had been attained, one night they quietly decamped from
isloemiontein.

On the 1st of June Moperi was received in the same
manner. A tract of land in Witsi's Hoek was selected as a
location for him, with the object of separating his clan from
the other Basuto. He was informed that he must move as
soon as his crops were harvested, with which intimation he
expressed himself satisfied.

With regard to Molitsane, the volksraad empowered the
president to purchase a block of farms in the district of
Kroonstad, and to locate the Bataung there, so as to remove
this restless c^^a into open ground, where it would have
less power to do mischief.

On learning that these clans had been received as subjects
of the Free State, the high commissioner at once informed

\Z
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the president that in his opinion the Republic had also
accepted their liabilities. He observed farther that " these
large acquisitions of territory and population tended to pro-
duce such important changes in the political position of the
several powers in this part of Africa as would fully warrant
a claim on the part of the British Government, should
necessity arise, of a right to reconsider the bearings of the
convention entered into with the Orange Free State on thp
23rd of February, 1854." When this letter M^as made public
many citizens of the Free State expressed the belief that
they had a more relentless opponent even than old Moshesh.
When territory was annexed, the high commissioner ex-
pressed an opinion that too much land was taken from the
Basuto

;
when that was met by the adoption as subjects of

the greater number of the people who had been living on
.he annexed ground and by the provision of locations else-
where for fchem, he still showed no satisfaction. Did he
then desire, they asked each other, that the Basuto power
which had given Great Britain as well as their Republic so
much trouble, should remain intact, and they for ever be
exposed to its violence ?

The great want of the Free State at this time was a
strong police force, but there was no money to pay one with
In February, 1865. the volksraad voi:ed £20,000 for this pur-
pose, but owing to the war the revenue fell off so much that
the plan could not be carried into effect. In May 1867 the
matter was discussed again, and if it had been possible' the
volksraad would then have made provision for the enrolment
ot a strong force, as its urgent need was recognised The
majority of the members, however, saw no means of increasin..
the revenue, and the project was therefore abandoned.

The crops were harvested and stored in caverns in the
mountains, and then the tone of the late suppliants under-
went a sudden change. Moshesh denied all knowledge of
the cession of land by the treaty of Thaba Bosigo, and
publicly announced that he would not allow Europeans to
settle on it. The Basuto there were instructed not to move
and were informed that if they were attacked help would be
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sent to them. Masupha with an armed band commenced to
plui.ier far and near. Letsie refused to receive the com-
mandant appointed to reside with him, or to remove Makwai
as he had promised. All disguise was cast aside, and
Moshesh's tribe was seen to be in perfect readiness for war.

In the middle of June an English itinerant trader named
Bush was plundered of all his goods and then murdered by
order of a grandson of Molitsane, close to Mekuatling, and
consequently on Free State soil. Bush was one of the rene-
gades who assisted Moshesh during the recent war, but he
had since returned to civilised habits, and the Bataung
looked upon him now as a traitor to them. On this account
he had been strongly advised not to place himself again in
their power, but with foolhardiness he had rushed on his fate.
The murderer fled to Moshesh. The president wrote on the
26th of June demanding his extradition under the sixth
clause of the treaty, and received an answer, dated the 9th
of July, which was to all intents and purposes a declaration
of war. In the most impudent, untruthful, and irritating
language, Moshesh asserted that he had ceded no territory,
that the district in which Bush was murdered was still part
of the Lesuto, and that white men had no right to live
there without his permission. "Let the Boers know," he
added, " that they must remain where they are, in the Free
State

;
there is no other way to keep up peace." This letter,

which was in the English language, bore the signature and
seal of Moshesh, and purported to have been written by
Nehemiah, but there are clear indications of the presence of
a European when it was drafted.

Before this letter was received, on the 12th of July
tidings reached Bloemfontein that a band of about two
hundred Bataung under the sons of Molitsane had appeared
on the farm of a young man named Jacobus Krynauw, in
the ceded territory, and had murdered the owner of the
place in cold blood. A farmer named Abraham van der
Walt, with his wife and three children, happened to be on a
visit at Krynauw's at the time. Van der Walt was very
severely wounded, but he managed to kill two of his assail-
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",'" '""^
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'''''°'' ">«
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Bloemfontein Bank, at eight per cent, per annum interest, to
defray the cost of equipping the forces in the field.

The tactics adopted by the Basuto on this occasion were
to avoid encountering the burghers in the open field, to pre-
tend to hold the hills, but to run away as soon as pressed,
and really to defend, to the best of their ability, the strongly
fortified mountains on which their corn was stored. The
Free State forces were thus employed for the f^-st six weeks
in marching about, securing a few cattle nere and there,
and driving their opponents from ranges of hills, only to find
the same places occupied by the same people a few days
later. This kind of work was wearisome and harassing,
and besides it had no result. A few Basuto were shot, but
the strength of the enemy could not be diminished in this
way.

On the 25th of September, however, Makwai's mountain,
one of the great natural fortresses of the country, was taken
by Chief-Commandant Pansegrouw's division. A camp had
been formed in its neighbourhood, from which during the
night of the 24th three parties set out. The first of these
parties consisted of sixty European volunteers and one
hundred Fingos under Commandant Ward. It marched to
the east end of the mountain. The second, consisting of
two hundred burghers under Commandant Jooste, marched
to the north side. And the third, two hundred burghers
under the chief-commandant himself, marched to the south
side.

Under the darkness of night Ward's party crept un-
molested up the steep slope, and at daybreak found itself on
an extensive tableland with enormous masses of broken rock
forming the background. The garrison was taken by surprise,
the first intimation of the attack which they received being
a volley of bullets. Some cattle were discovered here, and
the Fingos at once commenced driving them down. This
gave the Basuto an opportunity to rally, and they came onm such force that the volunteers were obliged to fall back,
and, after a brief stand, to retire from the mountain.

While the attention of the Basuto was directed to this
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s'drTh?vT".'';* 'T'^'
"^" "^^« «-^-^ *he northerna^de. They reached without accident the summit of whS

Jjandanfs pa.ty, .ho ,,ad crept up in ttTppllI eZn"

s^L t°u """"""^ """'' o™^ -•> thousand "hip ^nduty-e,ght horses fell into the hands of the conquero s' Itleast sixty-seven Basuto were killed Thi. <,, u ,
'

fK Air-^x ,

^^oenyas clan had already crone there from

Adam Z„ .
'^ •" ''^^- *'»''™' ""de peace with

d^ttt V ,
" "T'"*'

^'^'''"^^ *° him settled in thed.stn.t which now forms the magistracy of Matatie eLebenya settled on the land between%he K™igha and Tna

Frhor FromT 'T'."''*',.

'"" '"' ""^''^'-^ °'
«-"

Fletcher. From tins date they took no further part inhostilities against the Free State, and a very few words willsuffice to close acquaintanceship with them. In March 1869Sir Philip Wodehouse visited Nomansland, and clarTd
simng In 1873 Lebenya and his people, at their urgentrequest, were admitted as British subjects and in theTllowing year Makwai was also taken ovel I„ 1880 th whdtof Makwai's clan and part of Lebenya's went into rebeTu a

MounTMetch™ b \ "T T"'^'
'"'""^ '-" Matatie^a tndMount Fletcher back into the Lesuto

kent^MoZT
"'

"^""""f'
°"'"'"*^'°' » "" probability,kept Molapo from joimng his father against the Free StateCommandant Frans Holm, who was "stationed wHh k^.



The Orange Free State 259
reported that he was closely watching the course .i events
and It the Basuto had been successful at first, he would
certainly have cast in his lot with them again. Now
however, he professed to be sitting still, and to be intent
only on cultivating his gardens and taking care of his
cattle.

Another effect which the capture of this stronghold had
was to dishearten a large number of stragglers, peoplewho were refugees from distant parts of the country, andwho were .ot by descent attached to any of the fighting
chiets. lh..e people now swarmed into the Wittebergen
reserve, where they were under British protection. The
free btate armies had thus fewer foes to contend withA garrison was placed on the stronghold to prevent its
being occupied again, and the commando then resumed the
drudgery of patrolling the country. The Basuto on their
part adhered to their former tactics. Letsie with a strong
gnrrison was on the Kieme, a mountain secon.1 only in
strength to Thaba Bosigo. Poshuli in like manner was
holding Tandjesberg. Masupha and Molitsane were watch-
ing for an opportunity to fall upon any defenceless house-
holds on the border, and kept Chief-Commandant Joubert
fully employed in marching from one place to another, and
then back again. In anticipation that by these means the
J^ ree btate forces would soon be worn out. the Basuto were
placing a very large part of the ceded territory under cultiva-
tion. A commando would hardly leave a vallev before
swarms of men and women, issuing from the mountains
were engaged in hoeing the ground and planting maize and
millet. To prevent this a force five times as great as that
the Free State could put into the field would have been
required Sentinels .n every hill gave notice of the approach
of the burghers, who soon found that their only chance

marXt'"^
^^"^ ^""^""^ ^^^ ^^ '^"'''^ ^""^ ^^'^^^*^^^ ''^^^^

In this condition of warfare it sometimes happened thatwomen and children lost their lives, and for this the Free
btate forces have been severely blamed. But no one has as
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y»t devised a plan by which hostilities with a people like thea«„to can be carried on without such casXf Even in

as trZ7r!"'
^"^

"""J
*" '"''^P'««»t matters in Europe

thaitrde^ ^irtrto'"™^'""'" r
p°-» * "- »' -^-^

na even acted for a short time as attorney-general hi«

^SoTh 1^^^^^ r^:' ^'^^^' "^^^ considerrbfe ati:i'tio"m bouth Africa his influence was limited to a very small .^k

trife between the Free State and the Basuto, 11"^'
1867, he announced his intention of becoming, fh.

^ebruary.

of the Basuto, by writin<r to fl,. i

.^^""^ *^^ champion

inquirino- « if Z ^ *^^ °''^^"**^ secretary of Natalinquiring if the government would consider the imnorf«

z:l::z^''^'''^'^'''^''''''^'''''^
'^^^ mtrodrctit n :experienced gunners, at variance with any treatv" FrZ

persevered in his efforts. In August xm-Jtl\ t ''i"
old chiefs nephew and confidentir^eLtgef̂ 11

1



The Orange Free State 261

Moshesh and Letsie to Natal to urge "that they and their
people and their country might be recei\^ed by and be made
to belong to Her Majesty the Queen of England, and be
attached to the colony of Natal ; to occupy the same position
with regard to the government of Natal, and to pay the same
taxes as the native chiefs and tribes already living in Natal,
and to be presided over by a magistrate or other officer

appointed by the government of Natal to live for that purpose
in Basutoland." If this should not be conceded, Makotoko
was to ask that the British Government should "not supply
arms and ammunition to one side and withhold them from
the other, but let both have an equal chance; and if the
Basuto must perish, let them perish defending themselves
with means to procure which they should be allowed the same
facilities as their enemies from a neutral source."

Language like this is apt to mislead people at a distance,
and to create sympathy in those who know nothing of the
circumstances under which it is used. It would be appro-
priate in the mouth of a chief defending the hereditary
possessions of himself and his tribe against unprovoked
aggression, but it came with bad grace from Moshesh and
Letsie, whose want of honesty was the cause of all the trouble,
and who could have secured peace at any time by simply
fulfilling their engagements.

Sir Philip Wodehouse, to whom this matter was referred,
had for a long time advocated the adoption of the Basuto
as British subjects, and he now—17th of September, 1867—
wrote again to the home government to that effect, but
recommending that they should be placed under the control
of the governor of the Cape Colony as high commissioner
rather than under that of the Natal Government. The Duke
of Buckingham and Chandos had recently succeeded Lord
Carnarvon as secretary of state for the colonies. On the 9th
of December he replied to Sir Philip Wodehouse in the
following terms

:

" Her Majesty's Government have had under their careful con-

sideration the repeated offers made by the chief Moshesh that he and
his people, with thefr territory, should be received under the authority

! ,^-
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V iiii

ill

pem^ent .ettteent of .he diffiomtie. which have .„ TmT t,"

Bri.«h .gen., 0. by aome „.he ^ZZXT """^'^
righ'-e, i. woald have been right .ha.Te tn,! h

?^°* """™«°
under the control „f ,he go *™o' of .^ r n 7 ^ ''°°"™°"' *«

of high commirtoner ZTtL ?°.
^"'""^ '" "" "^^^V

and .ie -rporaZ^f .reir^^e'^^T;::/!"''"^^^ '""^T'
oonaiderauon. Her MajVe.,, GcveZnTlr.^'rWeTnrS
WOUM ,« the anne^tion of^CL^,oX^S™^"'"A»«„,,„g, therefore, that the legielatnre of NaW t K^Majesty, Government have reaaon to anticipate, wUl ^'adnv^!qmesce m sneh a meaenre, they anthori„ y„„ rtZveTfl
opportunity may oeonr, to treit with the^wif mXI f» 2reoognifon of himself and his tribe as British subjecr a^d for th!»o»porat,„n of their territory with Nata. on X^.Zl^:rt^^^.

" It is not improbable that the Orange Free State wo„M »,. i j »
see a new order of thing, established whichZm g v!Them f'Im

rwhth ""If
""»• »' '«==»>»PltaUog this measure! andThete^

Her M ^°" n"
'^'"'"^'^ "i* ^e Free State ™ the ,nWHer Majesty's Government will only imnre„ nnn„ ,™7 1 ''^

anoe of including a settlement of fheTZdr, he'^eenrCState and Basutoland a, an inl^gral part of the arran^H.*'
As aoon as the above despatch reached South Africa the

Mo,hesh-13th of Januaiy, 1868-informmff them of thepower placed in his hands, and announcing that he intendedto make u^ of it. To each he recommended a Uptltof hoshlxties. and stated that he would visit the LeTZut
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the end of March or beginning of April to make the necessary,
arrangements.

The reply of Moshesh was full of thanks and protestations
of loyalty. The president, in his answer—dated 31st of
January, 1868—after recapitulating the events that led to the
war, informed the high commissioner that he thought "it
would be unsafe to suspend hostilities against the Basuto at
the moment that the object of the war was nearly accom-
plisLed, and when the arms of the Eepublic were, under God's
blessing, everywhere successful, trusting merely to the good
faith and the inclination and power of Moshesh to make his
people comply with the treaty of Thaba Bosigo." He had.
therefore, written to Moshesh that the war would be prose-
cuted with vigour until the murderers of Bush and Krynauw
were delivered to the Free State, and the annexed territory
cleared of the Basuto. As the second article of the conven-
tion of the 23rd of February, 1854, stated that Her Majesty's
Government had no wish or intention to trter thereafter into
any treaties to the north of the Orange river which might
be injurious or prejudicial to the interests of the Free State,
the communication that Moshesh and his tribe were in all

probability about to become subjects of the British crown
had taken him quite by surprise. He regretted that he
could not coincide in his Excellency's opinion that the course
proposed would tend to the future general peace of South
Africa. And as the interest and welfare of the Free State
would be so seriously afTected by it, he had convened the
volksraad to meet in extraordinary session on the 21st of
March.

The president's statement of the recent successes of the
Free State arms was correct. The northern commando had
succeeded in depriving the enemy of a large quantity of grain
and a considerable number of cattle; it had burnt several

towns, and destroyed extensive fortifications at Platberg, the
Berea, Koranaberg, and other places. The southern com-
mando had met with like success in the districts along the
Orange river and about the Koesberg, And, more than all

this, on the 28th of January, only three days before the
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yards when a ball entered between Poshuli's shoulders and

passed through his chest, killing him instantly. His son

and councillors managed to conceal the body in a cave until

nightfall, when they carried it away for burial. In the

engagement one of the inferior half-brothers of Moshesh also

fell, and two of Poshuli's sons were wounded.

The loss of Tandjesberg was considered by the Basuto

the severest blow they had received since the formation of

the tribe by Moshesh. From its fall the cry of the old chief

to the high commissioner was earnest and unceasing, to

come quickly or it would be too late. The burghers were

in a corresponding degree inspirited. The young corn was

now so far grown that it could be easily destroyed, and

they were doing their utmost to cut it down. Their hope

was strong that, with a little further exertion, Moshesh 's

power would certainly be broken, and the tribe which had

so long menaced their very existence be scattered in frag-

ments too weak to be dangerous.

Sir Philip Wodehouse, on finding that President Brand's

government did not cease hostilities, issued directions that

no ammunition should be permitted to be removed from any

of the colonial ports to the Free State without his authority.

But, while acting in this decided manner, his language to

the president was more friendly and conciliatory than it had

ever been before. He pointed out that "if a fair under-

standing could be arrived at, the British authorities would

be bound to maintain a due control over their own subjects,

and the people of the Free State would thus be left to enjoy

in peace, and without any extraordinary effort on their part,

the If^nds they had hitherto held on such unprofitable terms."

He was seeking, he said, the welfare of the Free State quite

as much as that of the Basuto. He could not forget that

its people were all but a few years before, as many of them

still were, British subjects ; that they were the near kinsmen

of the people of the Cape Colony; and that any misfortunes

that befell them must to a great extent be shared by the

colonists. He therefore still allowed himself to hope that he

might gain the assent of the Free State Government to his
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The Orange Free State 367

border of the colony of the Cape of Good Hope, Her Majesty the

Queen has been graciously pleased to comply with the request made
by Moshesh, the paramount chief, and other headmen of the tribe of

the Basuto, that the said tribe may be admitted into the allegiance

of Her Majesty ; and whereas Her Majesty has been further pleased

to authorise me to take the necessary s^.eps for giving effect to her

pleasure in the matter

:

" Now, therefore, I do hereby proclaim and declare that from and

after the publication hereof the said tribe of the Basuto shall be,

and shall be taken to be, for all intents and purposes, British subjects;

and the territory of the said tribe shall be, and shall be taken to be,

British territory. And I hereby reqi'.ire all Her Majesty's subjects

in South Africa to take notice of this my proclamation accordingly."
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CHAPTER X

EVENTS CONNECTED WITH THP iv<»jrrr. ™^ wuH THE LESUTO FROM MARCH, 1868
TO APRIL, 1870
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Ment-Unsuccessful mission of the PreZ-Sr /?'''!?'' °°'"'"'««'°°«f'»
Negotiations between the Free Stat« «nl *** delegates to England-
sioner-Anarchy in the Le8u"o_fAetjon oFthTv^' ,*^^ ^^^ ^'«^ «""™>«-

A°r* ^«'r«e ^SP"t'«« of theFree State anA V^T™™«°*-Confer.Alwal North-l^rms of the second conv!nf° ^^/a^.'^*",
commissioner at

of the high commissioner and the Kt^T-"'^^^^^^^regulations—Visit of Sir Ph il i« w au^ *'**'®'* "* Korokoro—Tradina
of locations to various clanMhSffmKed ^T'^^^'^-f^-^^^iX^ni
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succeeded in doing that which Great Britain herself had failed

to accomplish, and just when victory was certain its fruits

were snatched away by the hand that ought to have been
most friendly. Language such as this was not confined to

Dutch-speaking people ; many men of English descent ex-

pressed themselves with equal feeling on the subject.

The annexation of the Lesuto, indeed, indicated a great

change in the policy of the Imperial Government regarding

South Africa, and a very large number of people in the Cape
Colony had long and anxiously desired a change. The
abandonment of the Sovereignty in 1854 had been viewed
with alarm by all who were attached to the British Empire,
and of late years a feeling almost of dismay had been created

by the application in another direction of the same principle

of withdrawing from territory through fear of expense and
danger of conflict with Bantu tribes. The present magis-

terial districts of Xalanga, St. Mark's, Tsomo, Nqamakwe,
Butterworth, Kentani, and Willowvale, had been in possession

of the Cape Government since 1858, and were held by a
force of mounted police paid by the colony, so that the

occupation did not put Great Britain to any expense.

Possession had been acquired in such a manner that no one
could say a wrong had been inflicted upon native owners.

The land was waste and unoccupied. Thousands of Euro-
pean families might have been located there, to the advan-
tage of civilisation and the strengthening of the colony.

Instead of that, through fear of a possible conflict with the

Galeka chief Kreli, in August, 1864, peremptory instructions

were issued by the secretary of state that British dominion
must be withdrawn from the territory. In consequence,

Xalanga and St. Mark's were given to some Tembu clans

who had been separated from the main body of their tribe

by Matiwane's invasion in 1827, and who, after taking part

in several wars against the Cape Colony, had the present

district of Glen Grey assigned to them as a reserve by Sir

George Cathcart in 1852. They undertook to give the Glen
Grey reserve in exchange, but instead of keeping their en-

gagement, they merely sent off a swarm to occupy the other

t\ '^\'
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m

land, and retain possession of Glen Grey, from which *h«Cape Government was not permitted to expe TeJtlorc,
were given to the surplus population of Fingo locations

tt C„?^r'' ""' "*" '««-«' ">at the polt^ o1the Imperial Oovemiaent had been reversed onlv V„-nt^a perfidious tribe from being purh-Id'aTifdl;':;

..nfi"ni,'i"re^:;:::w:,;t'n:r':;^e]^
maintained that the act of S^ Philip w . r"""'"''
neces».ry in the general intel^ of fhe ^Jl't,"!Tno means an unfriendly one towards the^r^l^Tt^ iT^L

^9,000 ',tiU in cilXtiouTll^^f7'r» «-^;
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-rit, of payment The whole oT^^:"^ ti^^ "
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the country were worth only £10,000. There were govern-
ment notes to the amount of £126,000 in circulation—
£30,000 lent to the Bloemfontein Bank, £57,000 lent to
farmers, the balance part of the debt—and £5 in notes had
only the purchasing power of £3 in gold. The imports during
the war were at the rate of £300,000 yearly, and the exports
only at the rate of £265.000, thus leaving a balance of trade
against the state of £35,000 per annum. No less a sum
than £650,000 was due by traders and farmers of the state
to the Standard Bank, merchants of Port Elizabeth, and
others in the Cape Colony, while the civil courts were closed
on account of the war.

To all these figures the reply was that the Free State did
not admit that it was exhausted, it was prepared to continue
to the end a struggle which it had nearly brought to a
successful conclusion, and would take good care to make
such terms as would prevent the Basuto from again breaking
the peace. This controversy was maintained for some
months, and only gradually lost the bitterness with which it

was at first carried on.

The proclamation laid down no limits for the Lesuto,
nor did it define clearly what people were annexed. The
followers of Moperi, living in Witsi's Hoek, were unques-
tionably Basuto. So were the clans under Molapo, living
between the Putiatsana and the Caledon, and the adherents
of Jan Letele, living in the district of Smithfield. All these
were Free State subjects, but they might, or might not, be
included in the proclamation, just as one should interpret it.

On the 14th a commission was issued to Sir Walter
Currie, commandant of the frontier armed and mounted
police, appointing him agent for the high commissioner
in Basutoland. He was instructed to lose no time in pro-
ceeding to the assistance of the Basuto with the whole
available police force, which had been assembled for that
purpose in the Wittebergen reserve. At the same time the
high commissioner wrote to Moshesh and to President Brand,
informing them of the proclamation. To the president he
added that he entertained the strongest desire of communi-
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On the 23rd of March Sir Walter Carrie, with the police
erosseC the Orange and entered the Lesnto. He ™
Zm\ f^^f'^S at once to Thaba Bosigo, but wasunable to get gmdes or .distance of anj kind, as the peopleof that part of he country were ignorant of the negotiations
between the h.gh commissioner and Moshesh, L we«
3USP.C.0US of the police. S„ Walter therefore called upon

Th;^ ffl
' ^"P''-*'''«»'''°' "^i tl-e reserve, for assistance.Ihat officer at once repaired to the camp, and sen* -ntmessengers in all directions with intelligence that tre poChad come to assist the Basuto. He also engaged a son 0IKoros, and ten men from the reserve to IcLpany thecommandant to Thaba Bosigo

^

n.-.U"
""/^"' ^" ^"^"^^ ""^'J "' Moshesh-s head-

thT^rr, 1 T'"^ "'" ^'^'y demonstration of iovVythe old chief and the people about him. Upon the proJiLaturn bemg read they all rose up and gave'three cheersTrthe Queen, Moshesh himself being greatly excited. A nl
f^nttoZ

"""'"''''y -»' ty *e high eommissione 's

ITel T, ™:°" "o-^^dants of tL , Free State forces inthe field intormmg thera that he had dii-ected the chiefs toce^e all aggressive movomente, a«d that it wo^ld bfhduty to assist and support the Basuto if hostilities should h.continued against them. He then formed a camp at Koro

east of the Kieme, where he awaited the course of eventsAs soon as President Brand received notice of the prl^da-^nation he issued instructions to the officers of the F.ee Stateforces under no circumstances to cross the boundary feedl;^

the ceded territory ana guard it against encroachments by

Inpertt;".H
*°"" ^"" '"^^ 0' t^^ «"»-' polio*

~nce. '

'""" ""' '° ^""^ '"'"""'y- ""' '» offer no

^nes. d,».u»sion took place upon the high commis:
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sioner's proceedings. The views entertained by the members
were that the Free State had been unjustly and ungenerously
dealt with. Unjustly, inasmuch as the convention of 1864
had been violated by the reception of the Basuto as British
subjects, and by the prohibition of the sale of ammunition to
the Republic by merchants in the colony. Ungenerously,
inasmuch as the little state, which had been thrown upon
its own resources by England owing solely to the difficulty
of dealing with the Basuto, had made enormous sacrifices
to punish the disturber of the ^^^ace of South Africa, and
was therefore entitled to the sympathy of Her Majesty's
Government.

One after another the members reviewed the relationship
between the whites and the Basuto from the time of the
proclamation of the Queen's sovereignty by Sir Harry Smith
to this act of Sir Philip Wodehouse. They denounced in
bitter terms the misrepresentation of events which they
alleged was constantly made in England by a party that
under all circumstances maintained the innocence and integ-
rity of the blacks, while the statements of the whites were
unheard or unheeded. They declared their apprehension
that English rule in Basutoland would bring about a repeti-
tion of the evils under which the country suffered in the
time of Major Warden, for they believed it would not be
supported by any strong physical force, and while the border
would be subject to continual devastation by bands of robbers,
the farmers would be prevented from following up and
punishing thieves by fear that the English Government
might consider such conduct towards British subjects as
hostile towards itself.

Holding such views, on the 24th of March the volksraad
directed the president to protest to the Imperial Government
in the most positive and emphatic manner against the
recent acts of the high commissioner, and to inform his
Excellency that they could not appoint delegates to enter
into any negotiations based upon a violation of the conven-
tion of 1S54. It was resolved to send a deputation to
England to confer directly with tho Imperial Government.
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-calling his attention to the fact that the courts of the Free
State had been closed for the hearing of civil cases during
the continuance of the war, and maintaining that this was
a violation of the convention. He asserted farther that the
employment of British subjects under the conditions offered
by the Free State was an unfriendly act, and tended to set
at naught the neutrality proclamation.

The president replied, explaining that the civil courts
were necessarily closed while the burghers were in the
field, and citing precedents in the recent history of the Cape
Oolony. He claimed that the Free State had respected the
neutrality proclamation, and denied that the employment of
English residents^ who offered their services in war, was
unfriendly towards the British Government. He offered to
guarantee that no molestation should be made across the
boundary according to the treaty of Thaba Bosigo, if his
Excellency would do the same from the other side.

The high commissioner answered that he would be unable
to restrain the Basuto within these limits, as the country
left to them by the treaty was too small for their maintenance.
He then withdrew his former offer, but professed himself
still willing to enter into negotiations. In a subsequent
letter, written at the police camp at Korokoro on the 14th of
April, he proposed that, pending the negotiations with Her
Majesty's Government, a temporary boundary should be agreed
upon, and molestation from either side prohibited. For this
purpose he proposed the line which is at present the boundary
between the Orange and the Caledon, and across the last
named river a line which would restore to the Basuto a
triangular block of ground of no very great extent, but
which contained the French mission stations of Mekuatling
and Mabolela.

This proposal contained no reference to Molapo by name,
but, if accepted, it would have deprived the Free State of
its claim to authority over him and his clan. In making it,

the high commissioner had the line he named in view as the
lUture boundary of Basutoland, for he had already come to
the conclusion tliat it would be a fair division between the
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protect the cattle of the tribe ; but they had intended to

join their kinsmen against the Free State whenever it could

be done with a prospect of success. He had brought a pre-

sent of cattle for the use of the police, had written to the

president throwing off his allegiance, and had set at defiance

the Free State commandant who resided with him.

Moperi had also communicated with the high commis-
sioner's agent, and had expressed a wish to be reunited

to the remainder of the tribe and be taken under British

protection. But he was unwilling to give up his location in

Witsi's Hoek and return to the Lesuto.

In the territory ceded by the treaty of Thaba Bosigo, the
Free State forces held most of the strong places, but had
not succeeded in entirely expelling the Basuto. These,

however, had no powder left, and did not venture to meet
their opponents in the open field.

On the 15th of April a great meeting took place at

Thaba Bosigo. With Sir Philip Wodehouse were Mr. Keate,

lieutenant-governor of Natal, Mr. Shepstone, secretary for

native affairs in Natal, Sir Walter Currie, commandant of

the frontier police and high commissioner's agent in Basuto-

land, and several other officers and attendants. The reverend

Mr. Daniel, who had accompanied the high commissioner from
Aliwal North, acted as interpreter. The old chief Moshesh
was there with his sons, councillors, and most of the leading

men of the tribe, all deeply anxious to learn what the great

power whose aid they had invoked intended to do for them.

The high commissioner stated that in order to carry on
the government of the country three or four British officers

would be appointed, but that the customs of the people

would not be interfered with more than was necessary. As
soon as negotiations with the Free State were concluded the

Lesuto would be annexed to Natal, according to the wish
expressed by Moshesh and the instructions of the Imperial

Government. The Basuto must not expect to have the whole of

the territory within the bou? 'iries of 1858 restored to them,
but he would endeavour to recover sufficient ground for their

comfortable subsistence outside of the limits assigned by the
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house took no notice of it. In ancient times a branch of one
of the many clans whose remnants composed the tribe under
Moshesh may have lived there, but as far back as can be
traced that tract of land was in possession of the Batlokua.

Sikonyela, Mosliesh's bitterest enemy, would have inherited

it if he had not been driven away by invaders from the coast

region. Under the Sovereignty, Major Warden gave out
farms in it without Sikonyela or his people making any
objection. Then it was overrun by Witsi's mixed horde, and
it was afterwards taken from him by Free State forces under
Mr. J. M. Orpen, landdrost of Winburg. Thus Moshesh's
conquest of Sikonyela gave him no right to Witsi's Hoek.

Sir Philip Wodehouse remained in the Lesuto until the
28th of April, but could do nothing towards the pacification

of the country. In the ceded territory skirmishing continued
as before the issue of the proclamation, though military

operations on a large scale were no longer conducted. Trad-
ing operations, however, were renewed to some extent.

As soon as the high commissioner left, a spirit of dis-

satisfaction manifested itself, resting on the disappointment
of the chiefs that the boundaries of 1858 had not been
restored, and that peace had not been the immediate result of

their adoption as British subjects. The lieutenant-governor

and secretary for native affairs of Natal were accompanied
by a number of native attendants from that colony, and these

managed to instil into the minds of the Basuto that if their

country was annexed to Natal a force of ten thousand warriors

would at once be sent to aid them in driving back the Free
State people. Hereupon Molapo became openly a warm
advocate of annexation to Natal, and several other leading

chiefs, including Moshesh himself, were suspected of secretly

holding the same views.

At this juncture Sir Walter Currie was replaced as high

commissioner's agent by Mr, James Henry Bowker, the officer

next in rank in the frontier police, and the greater number
of the police were withdrawn from the Lesuto and returned

to their duties on the colonial border.

The protest of the Free State against the reception of the
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On the 7th of May the volksraad resolved that the high
commissioner should be asked if he would adhere to the
boundary according to the treaty of Thaba Bosigo until the
result of the deputation to England should be known, or,

failing that, if he would agree to some other line as a
temporary measure, and guarantee to restore the land beyond
it, cleared and unoccupied, in case the final decision should be
that the Free State was entitled to it.

The high commissioner replied that he could not enter

into any guarantee of the kind, that he wished to fix the
temporary line as nearly as possible where the final line

must be, and again proposed the old boundary with a belt

of farms under the British Government behind it. As the
Free State Government was complaining bitterly of the thefts

to which its subjects were exposed by Basuto raids from
beyond the Thaba Bosigo line, which its forces could not
check, the high commissioner called the president's attention

to the fact that stealing had not always been confined to one
party in the strife, and referred to the report of the com-
mission in 1861, in which the thefts by Jan Letele's followers
from the Basuto of Moshesh were stated to have been in

excess of those by the Basuto of Moshesh from the residents

in the Smithfield district.

The volksraad rejected the high commissioner's proposal,

and determined to await the result of the deputation to
England. The correspondence was then continued on the
questions of the thieving, which Sir Philip Wodehouse would
do nothing to prevent until some settlement should be arrived
at, and of charges brought by Moshesh against the burgher
commandoes of gross ill-treatment of Basuto women, which
were investigated and disproved.

Mr. Bowker, as high commissioner's agent, found himself
in the midst of intrigues, without any material force to rely
upon. An analysis of their conduct showed him that there
was not a chief among them all whose professions were of
any worth.

As for old Moshesh, of the abilities for which he had
once been so distinguished he retained very little more than
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in the reserve a troublesome Halubi headman named Josana

(son of Mini, third son of Umpanf^azita), whose misconduct

at length necessitated his expulnion. He and his people

then crossed over to the Free State side of the river, and
during the war he took service under Commandant Webster.

He was thus a declared enemy of the Basuto, and subject to

be attacVjd, Some people of the reserve had sent their

cattle to Josana's new location, where the pasturage was
good, and placed them under his charge ; while there tliey

were swept off by Basuto raiders under Sokwati, but the

owners, having joined Josana's people, followed the Basuto

and retook their stock. Sekwati then carried off some hot sea

from the reserve, when he was pursued by Mr. Austen, who
arrested him and two of his followers. Twenty guns were

taken from his other attendants. The robbers were sent by
Mr. Austen to the gaol at Aliwal North, and the preliminary

steps were taken for their prosecution.

At once there was great excitement throughout the

Lesuto, for the people maintained that Mr. Austen was taking

the part of Josana against them, and had subjected to

indignity a chief of such high rank as the son of Poshuli.

Mr. Bowker found it necessary to urge the immediate release

of the prisoners and the restoration of the guns. Mr. Austen

deslined, and the high commissioner was appealed to. The
difficulty was surmounted by the release of Sekwati and his

followers, after a confinement of over a month, on the

grounds that they had been arrested in Basutoland, and
that it was uncertain whether the horses they were charged

with stealing had not beer taken from the Free State side

of the river.

There was no attempt made to enforce authority, or to

secure the observance of any law, English or Basuto. The
most that was attempted by the high commissioner was to

prohibit the sale of spirituous liquor in the country. The
chiefs did each as he saw fit. Moroko had taken no part in

the hostilities between the Free State and the Basuto since

the treaty of Thaba Bosigo, nevertheless Masupha attaxiked

him and carried off three thousand head of homed cattle

I
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The Free State Qovernineiit then realisod how entirely

it was at Sir Philip Wodehouse's mercy. Its supplies of

ammunition were cut off, while traders wore disposing of

powder and shot to the Basnto with hardly an attempt at

concealment. Raids were frequently made into the Free
State from beyond the Thaba Bosigo line, and tlio burgher
commandoes could not cross that line in pursuit without defy-

ing the British authorities. Under these circumstances the

volksraad was convened for the 13th of January. Immediately
after it »Qct it resolved to appoint commissioners to treat with
Sir Philip Wodehouse, and instructed the president to make
the preliminary arrangements.

On the 4th of February, 1869, nearly eleven months after

the Basuto had been proclaimed British subjects, the high
commissioner and the deputies of the Free State met in con-

ference in Mr. Halse's house at Aliwal North. There were
present to represent the Free State, President Brand,

Advocate Hamelberg, and Messrs. J. J. Venter, C. J. de
Villiers, and A. J. Bester, members of the volksraad. All

correspondence since the proclamation of the 12th of March,

1868, was considered as withdrawn, and it was arranged that

negotiations should be commenced on a clear field.

The Free State claimed first a boundary line according

to the treaty of Thaba Bosigo.

The high commissioner objected, and proposed instead a
boundary as before the war of 1865, in which case the Free
State might retain any amounts already received for land

sold beyond it, and he would undertake to pay the sum of

£50,000, which he would raise by the sale of farms.

The Free State refused this offer, and proposed instead

to cede a small tract of land on its side of the Thaba Bosiso
line.

The high commissioner declined, on the ground that the

cession would be insuflficient to meet the needs of the Basuto

;

but offered a line from Kornet Spruit along the Langebergen
to Jammerberg Drift on the Caledon (the present south-

western boundary), farther the Caledon river up to Jack-

man's Drift, and thence a line enclosing a triangular piece
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1864, with a money payment of £60,000 and the proceeds of
the farms already sold.

When the coiiv^ention was signed, the high commissioner
appointed Messrs. J. H. Bowker and H. J. Halse, with Mr.
J. X. Merriman as land-surveyor, to act with the Free State
delegates in marking out and planting beacons along the new
line between Koraet Spruit and the Caledon. They found
the line an excellent natural boundary for the greater portion
of the distance, consisting as it did of well-defined ranges of
hills with streams running in both directions.^

His Excellency then set out for the Lesuto, and arrived
at Korokoro on the 19th of February. The chiefs with their
followers were already commencing to assemble there, and
on Monday, the 22nd, a great meeting took place. At half-
past ten in the morning Sir Philip Wodehouse took a seat
in the shade of a great rock, having with him Mr. Bowker,
his agent in Basutoland, Sub-Inspector Surmon, of the
frontier armed and mounted police, and Mr. Cripps, his
private secretary. At his left hand were seated Letsie,
Molapo, and Masupha, the three sons of Moshesh by his
great wife. On his right were the reverend Messrs. Mabille,
Jousse, Maitin, Keck, Duvoisin, and Dr. Casalis, of the
French Protestant Mission, Dr. Allard and the reverend Mr.
Gerard, of the Roman Catholic Mission, and a few other
Europeans. Before him were grouped the minor chiefs
Molitsane, Lesawana, Nehemiah, Sophonia, George, Tsekelo,
and many others, with two or three thousand attendants
behind them, or posted wherever a footing was to be had on
the face of the rock. Moshesh was too feeble to leave his
residence on Thaba Bosigo.

The object of the meeting was to make the chiefs and
people acquainted with the arrangements entered into at
Aliwal North, and to secure their ratification of the conven-

' It is as follows ;—From the junction of Kornet Spruit with the Orange
river along the centre of the former to the point nearest to Olifants Been, from
that point by Olifants Been to the southern point of Langeberg, along the top
of Langeberg to its north-western extremity, thence to the eastern point of
Jammerberg, along the top of Jammerberg to its north-western extremity, and
thence by a prolongation of the same line to the Caledon rivjr.
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steteTr 1 V much needed as that of the secretary ofstate or the voltoraad. Through the reverend Mr. Mabillewho acted as mterpretor. the high commissioner explained ^the people assembled that he had secured for them as Ld
wZr "^ -Id reasonably expect; that the te'rSy

r h wol™" r°'"^ "-^ -""P'' f°^ *»- reqairements'^

fW t T ?' provision in Nomansland for the clansthat had migmted to that country during the war; a^dZtheir future fortunes rested with themselves

Objected to the arrangement. He demurred to giving ud hisoM location west of the Caledon, but ceased oppositL then

^for^h ''' ^''**' '""^ °' *!'«''*=•>. Molapo wai

of the ine oTtheT'^ 7' 7'*''^'' """' ''^ t*"' ™'>^'""«o»

!LnV . *^f»'0'^°''
'»• th^t of 1864, and hj made no

he ml7^°'''
'!»';<'"fl°«<l hi^ remaxks to a request thathe might be received as a British subject After full dis-oussion, the chiefs and missionaries professed to conl ohe view that the settlement was as satisfactory as und"the circumstances they could hope for, and the leadin. Sspromised to carry it out.

"

The high commissioner then announced that as soon asthe convention was .«ti6ed by the Imperial and Free StateGovernment magistrates would be appointed, when he hopedan era of order and prosperity would be entered upon ThepeopWould be required to pay the hut-tax already agreed
to, but m consideration of the circumstances of the country•t would be optional with each man to contribute in ZeTgmm. or live stock. The high commissioner wouldWforth exerc^e the right of assigning ground to clans audi-dmduals, a right always held and acted upon by the supremeauthority in every tribe. The country would be S!dnto three districts, in each of which one of the prildpLchiefs would be stationed.

principal

To none of these announcements was there any obiectionmade, but everyone who spoke at all fuUv a„eed ll^T
iMext day Sir Philip Wodehouse vkiteli Moshesh,' who
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was as profuse of thanks and expressions of satisfaction as he
had always been on similar occasions. He was, however, so

feeble in mind and body that not much value could be attached

to what he said.

The high commissioner then issued a few simple trading

regulations, in which the charges for licenses were fixed at

£10 a year, or £1 a month, and in which the sale of intoxi-

cating liquor was prohibited under penalty of a fine not ex-

ceeding £10 for the first ofience, and loss of license for the

second, together with forfeiture of all spirits in possession

of the trader. The police in the Lesuto, one hundred men
in all, were distributed in four camps, one on the Orange
river, one on Kornet Spruit, and two on the Caledon,

with the object of suppressing cattle-lifting as much as

possible.

As nothing farther could be done until the ratification of

the convention, the high commissioner left Thaba Bosigo, and
passing through rich fields of ripening corn to the Orange
river, he made his way over the Drakensberg into Nomans-
land. There he assigned locations to the emigrant Basuto

chiefs Makwai and Lebenya, as also to the Hlubi chief Zibi

and the Batlokua chief Lehana. On the way down he had an
interview with Morosi, who requested to be allowed to cast in

his lot with the rest of the Basuto tribe. The high com-
missioner, however, doubted his sincerity, and told him he
must take time to consider the matter.

It had become necessary to select a site for the permanent
residence of the high commissioner's agent, and aa Korokoro
was in many respects unsuitable, in March, 1869, Mr. Bowker
moved to Maseru, a much better situation.

Notwithstanding the nominal assent of the chiefs to

the new boundary, in reality most of them were bitterly

disappointed with it. They had imagined that on their

becoming British subjects Sir Philip Wodehouse would use

his power to recover for the tribe all the country that had
once been Moshesh's. Their discontent was fanned by Mr.

Buchanan, who represented to them that they had been

grievously wronged and that if they would send him to
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their concurrence Mr. Daumas entered into Mr. Buchanan's
schemes.

A memorial, praying the secretary of state to advise the
Queen not to ratify the convention, was prepared in Natal,
and though only sixteen signatures could be obtained to it,'

was forwarded through the lieutenant-governor. Prepara-
tions were hurried on, and without waiting for the contribu-
tion in cattle which Moshesh had promised, in April Messrs.
Buchanan and Daumas sailed for England, taking Tsekelo
with them.

Mr. Bowker, who described the situation as one of
'' treason on ^w^vy side," now endeavoured to take the first
step towards the restoration of order. This was the removal
of Molitsane from the neighbourhood of Mekuatling to the
district along the new south-western boundary which had
been left vacant by the emigration of Makwai. When called
upon to move, Molitsane made various excuses. He asserted
that Moshesh had ordered him either to remain where he
was or to join Moperi in Witsi's Hoek. Mr. Bowker informed
him that if he did not move at once the vacant district would
be given to Fingos from the Wittebergen reserve, and he
would be left, without assistance or a place of refuge, to
meet the Free State forces when the term of grace accorded
by the Aliwal Convention should expire. Molitsane then
pretended to submit, and without further loss of time aban-
doned the district which he had occupied since 1837, and
moved to the location assigned to him. His sons, however,
remained in the Koranaberg.

After the departure of Messrs. Buchanan and Daumas
with Tsekelo, the different chiefs began to vie with each other
in protestations of fidelity to the British Government and
submission to the orders of the high commisx:oner's agent.
Moshesh, Letsie, Masupha, the principal mine .hiefs, even
Molapo, sent messages denying that they had anything to do
with the mission to England. Their object was apparent:
to keep in Sir Philip Wodehouse's favour if the mission
should fail, to profit by it should it prove successful. Mr.
Bowker, who knew exactly what value to place upon the
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""eX' the*'' ""T^^
^?'^' ^^°""^ ^- --—
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sImZt Jt :T^^^^ r^.
'"^°'"""y «-°J"<^«d that thesimplest plan would be to introduce a body of Fin^os anH

.^nar that a beginning ahoufdTtl ^.tfjTZ,

oamed farther the course of events was changed

arriv^d^rE^ZdtiT """ """""• ^*"' ^-'^^'°.

.,„.i
ingiand, and at once set about secnrinir aimporters among those benevolent individuals whose sympath^

"r^1rtu^of^l''' ':^ "^"^ ^^'°"^^- ""' '^-
doing™taT~ The aT

*°- '' T'^ ""^ ">»- »'

took them brthe hand Id ^"^T
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they accepted statements which aZedX nt o° ^f
op.nions, and shortly that va.t m;ch.nerwMr phTa^

^om the direcor^ of the Paris m^^^^^^CCZlgrant an audience to Mr. Daumas, and a similar request from

—Jmas,and Tsekelo were accompanied by several members
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of the Imperial Parliament. They laid before Earl Gran-
ville a memorial signed by seventeen members of the House
of Commons and the secretary of the Aborigines Protection
Society, setting forth Mr. Buchanan's views, and praying
that Her Majesty's Government would annul the convention
of Aliwal North. The secretary of state hereupon wrote to

the high commissioner, expressing full confidence in him,
but asking for further explanations.

While the delay in bringing about a settlement was thus
prolonged, the Lesuto remained a scene of confusion and
violence. The only revenue that could be collected was in

the form of licenses from European traders, which brought
in no more than £6 or £7 monthly. Mr. Bowker was with-
out any real power, and each chief was acting independently
of central control.

Ramanela, ever a prime mover in deeds of violence, had
continued depredations upon the Free State farmers, without
any regard for the high commissioner's proclamation and
subsequent instructions. Molapo ofiered to chastise him,

but President Brand would not consent to his doing so

while he remained a Free State subject. Mr. Bowker, how-
ever, authorised Molapo to punish the robber, which he did

by falling upon him, and seizing about a thousand head of

cattle.

At the end of July the country on the Free State side

of the Caledon was still as fully occupied by Basuto as it

had been in March, 1868. Molitsane himself had moved to

Makwai's old kraal, but his sons were still in the Korana-
berg. Parties of Basuto were even crossing from their own
side and settling on the other.

The high commissioner's position was made more difficult

by the action of the Cape Parliament. The frontier police,

under Mr. Bowker in the Lesuto, had been reduced to thirty-

six men, and if they were withdrawn there would be no
representatives of the British Government left, for there was
no revenue out of which salaries could be paid. Under
these circumstances the legislative council requested the

high commissioner to give " such information as would show

irii
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that the employment of a portion of the frontier police i»

security. The honae of assembly, after a lengthy and warm

with the Free State, passed a resolution by a maioritv of

SknT M f-
'" ""* '' '^P"^'"''^ «- idta thatBasutoland could be regarded as a part of the frontier or as

and mounted police, the finances of the colony being whollymadequate to sustain such a charge for any length ^of t^e"^The high commissioner could only reply that the polTi'would be withdmwn without any unnecessary delay.
^

.JjJ A ^.ff""'''''
explanations to [he seLtaiy ofstate showed with how little justice he could be accused ofwronging the Basuto. He had recovered for them so mudmore ground than they needed that bis agent in the counttwas pro,x«mg to introduce Fingos to fill it and create Ibaknceof power, while Moshesh-i.e., his minor sonsCng

l^r rrT,""'"""^ •" "^'^ ™'y «»« -^^wing over^tares to Jan Letele's people and other subject, of the FreeState to come m and ally themselves with his tribe. Mra>wker computed that there would not be more than fivethousand individuals affected by the substitution of theCaledon for the boundary of 1864, but this number wascertainly too small.
^

The secretary of state, being satisfied on these points nertraised an objection to the thirteenth article of the conve;Sonwhich provided for the submission to arbitration of t2
to the Basuto^ He was not prepared to make any compensl-
tion, a^d If this article was insisted upon by the Free IL7ethe convention must be annulled. If it were expunged hewou d advise Her Majesty to ratify the remaining cuSfiAs eary as the 5th of May the volksraad had ratifiedthe convention. Only one member voted against it tha one

rr;'?:"^ ^f7 'r/'^"""''
a'temativ'e-tt: ;,' ^lt;of 1864 with a body of farmers under English rule behind

It, and the payment of f50,000 in money. And now that
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the question was opened again, the president, in order to
promote a settlement, consented to the thirteenth article

being expunged.

The chief Letsie, to whose interest it was, more than to
that of any other individual in the country, to be under
British protection, became alarmed when he heard that there
yas a possibility of the convention being set aside. His
father was too infirm to take an active part in affairs. His
brother Molapo was in a position of independence of the
ober Basuto. He himself was not yet recognised as para-
mount chief. If the convention were annulled and the war
w^re renewed, he would certainly be ruined. "In fear and
astonishment," therefore, as he caused to be written, he had
a memorial drawn up to the secretary of state. In it he
declared that he was fully satisfied with the arrangements
made by Sir Philip Wodehouse, ignored any connection
with the mission of Buchanan and Tsekelo, and prayed that
the English Government would not withdraw its protection.

The document was signed by Letsie himself, his eldest son
lierothodi, and his sub-chiefs and councillors.

\
Before this memorial could reach England, Mr. Buchanan

bid proved to the secretary of state that he was unworthy
oifurther attention. In his overweening conceit he spoke
oil" his intention to lay waste the Free State," and of " the
peice of the Free State being a great deal more in his hands
thai in those of the high commissioner." In violent language
he abused Sir Philip Wodehouse, and brought charges
agapst him which Earl Granville knew to be contrary to
fact In reply he was curtly infoi-med that Earl Granville

"apprehended the law would be found to forbid such pro-

ceedngs (as those he contemplated), and that it would
prol),bly be put in force by the authorities of the Free State
and )y those of the neighbouring British colonies." And in-

struQions were sent to the lieutenant-governor of Natal to
prevflit him from carrying out his threats. This rebuff did
not slence him, however, and he continued to make the most
extra'.agant complaints, accompanied by statements altogether
misleding.
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J
"'^' ^"'«'°. «» well a» the Paria Society, had alreadv^opted Mr. Buohanan-s views, and were pressing tiem „^Jhe secretary of state. One name especially was Jixed up wUhthese procecdmgs, which ever,, true-hearted man would fanblot out .truth did not forbid it-the name of the venerrM:

of^otl ; "t^"""'
^-"'^ "'^'"""y "f "-e Free Churchof Scotland. H.s connection with Mr. Buchanan in thi.mat..r shows how easily the noblest and moat gifted of me.

rindml ^rT'..'" P'°T°°"S ^^y i^As^'.m withoaan intimate knowledge of the facts of a case. Dr. Duff haimade a short visit to the Lesuto in ISfid o/«, I- ?
th« F«.. «* I .

^™'° "> 'oo*. at the time whm
lin. l! 1, !t T ""*°' ""'y O" preserving a bou„da»-hue which three English governo.«_Sir Harfy Smith sl

?hT«» :\ ?' '''' ^"''P Wodehouse-had"^ laWdow.

Won?ttt 1
"™/^<?,-<' *»ken possession of land fa

tKrah'^d :fthtr:i:^^r tti.trur

arff----1]::^' ^aM-fear';
was forced to the conclusion that the Boers were the chirf

-.I„.*''7 n
*" r ""'"'' <''^t™e«<»>«. it was not until bedose of December, 1869, that the convention ws« ratffi d !yHer Majesty s Government The despatch conveyinrti^a

information had already reached Sir Philip Wode°ho»

state. It was aigned by Lord Shafteabury, Lord AltedChurchiU sixteen members of the House of S,mmnaGeneral Shaw Sir James Alexander, Dr. Duff as con^rnTofmissions of the Free Church of Scotland, Dr. Mur., Lforeign secretary of the London Miasionlry sSv mT
iTp W cL::

"""'"^ "' "' EvangeliJAlrantanS
Mr. F. W. Chesson a^ secretary of the Aborigines Prot^tion
Society. It was a statement of the views held bylte
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gentlemen, such as can only be ascribed to defective in-

formation, and a prayer that the convention of Aliwal should

not be ratified. Earl Granville replied that after receivinj^

detailed explanations from Sir Philip Wodehouse, the con-

vention had been approved of some weeks before.

On the 10th of March, 1870, the document as amended

was signed in Capetown by Mr. P. G. van der Byl, as agent

for the Orange Free State. There still remained the for-

mality that the volksraad should concur in the president's

approval of the thirteenth article being expunged, which

they did on the 3rd of the following May. Owing to the

treaty of September, 1858, having been drawn up at the same

place, this document, as now finally confirmed by all parties,

is oflScially termed the Second Treaty or Convention of Aliwal

North.

And so at last, after more than two years' delay, during

which period the word anarchy fitly describes the condition of

the Lesuto, the British authorities were in a position to

take measures for the establishment of a settled government.

The Bataung stragglers on the Free State side of the Caledon

had already been driven across by a patrol. Towards the

close of 1869 a good many farms in the territory from which

they had been expelled, as well as the villages of Ladybrand

and Ficksburg, had been occupied, so that the clan gave up

further resistance, and settled in its new location.

The next step to be taken was the transfer of Molapo

from the Free State, so as to secure a uniform system of

government in the country. Mr. Bowker ascertained that

he was still secretly hankering after the incorporation of his

district with Natal, but he expressed himself desirous of

becoming a British subject, and addressed a letter to the

volksraad requesting to be released from his allegiance.

While the arrangements for his transfer were being made,

the chief to whom the Basuto owe their existence as a tribe

was dying on Thaba Bosigo. Almost forgotten and utterly

neglected in his last days, the old man pined away, suffering

at times even from want of food= The weight of seven and

seventy years, many of them years of unwonted care and

^"•i
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less oM
1"" ^'''''*",'''^ "i^o^^o transformed him from a help-
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r"girded LT"" rr ''"™'^' "-^ "'»"°<'f°'"' -"d is still

tW Z,^^f r '"!,'' ""?""«"»"» '«verence. It is not only

it i a^> t ""' ''"' ™™'- y^' been taken by a foe

Id^I ^ !' ^""^^ ^y *''« ^Pi"' of th« chief who wis'the founder and preserver of their tribe.
Ihe black man of highest intellect in all South Africa had

appeared m bygone years, that in these chapters a herohas been made of a scheming and unprincipled chieT

dW fotTl ,
•" '°- ^" **'' '"'""y ^i'""^" which hedid not possess have not been attributed to him, nor has he

wham's "M'"" "r^'
°' '™'""'- Y^' Moslsh

tTlfulnl r"n ^ "° ^""P'™ ^•'O '^l^^d honesty and

bXhtn„». ^r \ ^ ''^"'^"^- b"' " «»- horn -dbrought up as the great Basuto chief was can be judged by adifferent standard H'l vi,.«= , ii, •
J""B>=" oy a— u. Q.i, vices Wore the vices of his race, all
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his own were his abilities in creating? order out of chaos,

in organising a compact society out of conflicting elements,

in directing military movements, in substituting mildness of

government for savage ferocity, in devising and sustaining

large and wise measures for his people's good, in dealings

with white men even to the consummate tact with which he
weighed and set off one section of Europeans against another.

By white men his plans of aggrandisement cannot surely
be imputed to him as crimes, though the Sovereignty and
the Free State were undoubtedly justified in opposing them.

His disregard of truth was the weakest point in his

character, yet in this respect, though he must be condemned,
there is something that ought to be said in his defence.

Every black man knows what truth is. In giving the par-

ticulars of an event to his chief he uses language that conveys
the idea of its circumstance in its exact reality, and that

will not bear two constructions. He knows that this is his

duty, and he acts to the very best of his ability upon that

knowledge. But he feels no obligation to do this to a man
of another tribe, and least of all to a man of a different race.

His companions would regard him as a fool if he told the

truth, when there was anything to be gained by falsehood.

In this view of things Moshesh was brought up. If an under-

taking, whether by word of mouth or in writing, served its

purpose for the time, that was enough for him in the opinion

of his own people and of all the other tribes.

None of his sons can be compared with him in point

of intellect or in disposition for improvement. And this is,

perhaps, the most discouraging feature in connection with the

Bantu of South Africa. Individuals here and there rise high
above the mass of their fellows, but there is no certainty

that their children will be more advanced than ordinary
barbarians. Four of Moshesh's sons—Masupha or David,
Nehemiah, George, and Tsekelo—were educated in colonial

schools, but lacked the ability to turn their advantages to

good account.

No other South African chief can be placed upon the same
mental level as Moshesh, except perhaps Khama, the present
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ruler of the Bamangwato, and not even he in all respects,
certainly not as an organiser. Moroko. of the Barolong,
Kama, of the Gunukwebes, Makaula, of the Bacas, and per-
baps a few others, possessed more of the European virtues-
but in everything else they were far beneath him.

On the 11th of April, a month after the death of Moshesh,
Wie arrangements were completed for the transfer of Molapo.Un that day a meeting took place at Leribe, at which Messrs.

. :. •
^' ^' Schnehage, and G. Vergottini, as repre-

sentatives of the volksraad, released the chief from allegiance
to the Free State; and Mr. Bowker, as high commissioner's
agent received him as a British subject. Molapo had pre-
viously withdrawn all his people from the country north and
west of the Caledon, and he now expressed himself perfectly
satisfied with the boundary assigned to the Lesuto by the
becond Convention of Aliwal North.

iiiil
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CHAPTER XI

EVENTS CONNECTED WITH THE LESUTO FROM APRIL, 1870, TO
NOVEMBER, 1871

Objections of the Cape Parliament in 1870 to the employment of the frontier
police in the Lesuto—Reception of the Baphuti clan under Morosi as
British subjects—Illicit trade in munitions of war—Collection of hut-tax
—Meeting of chiefs and leading men at Thaba Bosigo to discuss regula-
tions for the government of the tribe, drawn up by Sir Philip Wodehouse
—Arrival in South Africa of Sir Henry Barkly as governor of the Cape
Colony and high commissioner—Visit of Sir Efenry Barkly to the Lesuto
—Occupation of Thaba Bosigo by Masupha—Annexation of the Lesuto to
the Cape Colony—Revenue of the Lesuto—Consent of the Chiefs to the
annexation-Claim of Letsie to part of Nomansland—Division of the
Lesuto into magisterial districts—Appointment of Mr. Charles Duncan
Griffith as govornor's agent, and of a staflf of subordinate officials-
Powers of the magistrates—Position assigned to the chiefs—Introduction
of a code of laws—Objections of the Basuto to some of the regulations
View of the people with regard to marriages by missionaries—Resump-
tion of their labours in the Lesuto by the French missionaries—Establish-
ment of schools—Ratification of the annexation oi thp i^esuto to the Cape
Colony by the Queen in council.

In the session of 1870 the Cape Parliament showed itself as

little inclined as in 1869 to take upon itself the enforcement

of order in the Lesuto. On the 3rd of May a resolution was
carried in the House of Assembly that ii was expedient that

the frontier armed and mounted police in Basutoland should

be withdrawn and stationed within the colonial boundary as

early as would be safe and prudent. This resolution was
communicated to the governor by respectful address, but he

took no action upon it.

The long term of government of Sir Philip Wodehouse
was now drawing to a close. He had been detained in South
Africa beyond the usual period expressly to settle the Basuto

diflEiculty, and as soon as the second convention of Aliwal

North was accepted by ail parties he made ready to leave.

In May, 1870, just before his departure, he drew up a series
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thl'hfT
^^' '^°*' *^"^^ ^^ appointed Mr. Bowkerthe high commissioner's agent, magistrate of the central andnorthern districts of the Lesuto and Mr T^i, a !

of the tribe were left in abeya^T
*"" ^'"''"»»'

It ad not yet been decided whether the Banhnti „..^be CO .deed British subjects, and whether h^tw^ 4 ih"they occupied south of the Orange was to be regarded Irnlrtof the Lesnto or not Sir Phiiir. m j u ''f
,'" "^ P*"

quested by Morosi ^ tak^h^ L ttrde!! T T
so without further consideration "Toltltnlrhewtstill of the same mind, in June IS7n h. » ,

^
meet Messrs. Bowker and Austen ^t '^J^^.'^l"*^'-'' ">

Puhlala Drift. There MorostdeCar^' that h'etd ZlUyea^ a subject of the late chief Moshesh, andTh^he r^^dto fo low h,s example. He had acted, he said, the part 'f .dog hngenng behind at a kraal and ^awins bonL ,ff I

Bri^ ;„!::"
'"'' '•""'^ "''- «- '"'-^'y «-ved as

Political agitators, instigated by Mr. Buchan«.n „>,„ .. j
returned U. Natal, were keeping the p opr^IVr 5
turbed state that Mr. Bowker was obliged totk for itth t"to deal summarily with them In .i^i u

»'"">°"'y

Jhat he could ordfr such p^ne ':A.'.'^Z^tlt
n7tb ."t

^°' *' °°"'" '^P'' *••»» » ™P™on thT; pend•ugthe h,gh commissioner's decision in each case. Whenibecame known that he possessed such power thel JI ^f
makers desisted from acting as openirrWor;ifM

"

Bowker was aw„re that their intrigues were still conTnuedThe most dangerous of these agitators w„~ jv --"-T -
Who had been partly educated in the Cape'-Ootn^rLtho
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were filled with extravagant ideas of their own importance,
but who were really incompetent to fill any position of trust!

For several months after Sir Philip Wodehouse's departure
there were hardly any occurrences worth noting in con-
nection with the Basuto. The attention of the people
throughout South Africa was directed to the development
of the recently discovered diamond-fields and the disputes
concerning the ownership of the ground along the lower
Vaal. Neither government officers nor private individuals
had time to bestow upon the question of the settlement of a
tribe of whose name all were weary. General Hay, the tem-
porary administrator of the government of the Cape Colony,
left everything to be arranged by the coming high commis-
sioner. Mr. Bowker, having succeeded Sir Walter Currie as
commandant of the frontier armed and mounted police,
appointed Inspector Surmon to act as his deputy in the
Lesuto, and was never afterwards able to be at Maseru except
for a brief visit.

The Basuto at this time were in possession of a large
number of firearms, but since the cessation of hostilities they
had not been able to obtain as much ammunition as they
desired to have. The government wished to divert their
attention to peaceful pursuits, and with this object in view
endeavoured to prevent munitions of war from reaching
them. But contraband traders could not be kept out of the
field. One of these men came up from Natal with a number
of rifles, which were evidently intended for sale, though no
proof could be obtained to that effect. Mr. Bowker took
temporary possession of the weapons, and then wrote asking
for instructions. In reply he was authorised to confiscate
such importations. Still, the profit on illicit transactions in
munitions of war was so great that unscrupulous men could
not be deterred from engaging in them.

In August, Messrs. Austen and Surmon set about the
collection of the hut-tax. The chiefs were promised ten per
cent, of the amounts paid in, as an inducement to exert

s„j, «,,..-_ iUiiuoxiCc
. vrim uuc peupiu. xne resuic

was the receipt of rather over £3,700. A small portion was

[

'

^

f

I

>

i

^ 1

i-h
'

i

i ]

1

i i

I'

1-^

i :li

i"

.

1

f

1.
'

^
1
L

»



304 History of South Africa

paid in money, but most of it was paid in grain, horned
cattle, and goats, which were sent to the Cape Colony and

This being considered satisfactory, the chiefs and leading

T'll
*he country were called together at Thaba Bosigo on

Q S^r ^i^/f^b^^' ^1^6" the regulations drawn up by
Sir Phihp Wodehouse were laid before them, and discussion
was invited. Every one present expressed satisfaction at
having been saved from ruin by their adoption as British
subjects, but with regard to their prospective government
they were less pleased. Molapo and some of the minor
chiefs were still clamouring in disappointment that Great
Britain had not forcibly restored to them the whole of the
land ceded to the Free State by the treaty of Thaba Bosigo.
Tsekelo recently returned from Europe, had stirred up their
disaffection anew. He had informed them of interviews
which he had with powerful men who wished them to get
back all they had lost. He had told them that the settle-
ment affected by Sir Philip Wodehouse was condemned in
England, and that the coming governor would undo all that
the late one had done. Mr. Buchanan's emissaries also were
busy fomenting seditious feelings, though he himself remainedm Natal, by whose government he was earnestly advised to
abstain from further interference in Basuto affairs. The dis-
satisfaction on the question of territory was, however, rebuked
by Letsi who expressed himself contented with the country
left to the tribe.

^

Much greater concern was expressed when the regula-
tions were read over, and it was discovered that the chiefs
were ignored in them except as tax collectors and census
framers fheir judicial authority, they observed, was only
incidentally referred to, in order that it might be set aside
by the white magistrates. That they would relinquish the
outward and visible sign of rank and power was not reason-
able to expect, and certainly they had no intention of doing
so m reahty, whatever they might profess in words. Molapo,
Masupha, and the minor chiefs spoke openly against the
aeeoptance of the regulations, on the ground of their ignoring
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the chiefs and placing women in a position which, according

to Basuto ideas, could only be filled by men. Finally, how-
ever, Letsie stopped further discussion by declaring himself

satisfied, and adding that the people must accept the regu-

lations and pay the hut-tax.

A little later in the day an address to Mr. Bowkcr was
drawn up in v/riting and signed by the chiefs. In it they
expressed their thanks for having been received as British

subjects, and declared that the laws read over were reason-

able. But they stated that "they were sorry not to see

mentioned the rights and the authority left to the chiefs,

who were the captains of the Queen."

At this meeting cattle were collected to be sent, according

to traditional custom, with messengers announcing the death
of Moshesh to the chiefs of tribes with whom he had inter-

course in his lifetime. By some oversight no messengers
were sent to Cetewayo on this occasion, which omission of

courtesy led some time afterwards to a panic grounded on
fear of a Zulu invasion.

On the 31st of December, 1870, Sir Henry Barkly assumed
duty as high commissioner and governor of the Cape Colony.

As soon as his arrival in South Africa was known, the

Basuto chiefs sent him a letter of welcome. They had been
persuaded by Tsekelo and Mr. Buchanan that Sir Philip

Wodehouse had been recalled owing to their representations

in England, and that the new governor would most likely

favour them much more than the late one had done. The
chiefs were therefore anxious to know what Sir Henry
Barkly's views and intentions were. He did not keep them
long in suspense. Within ten weeks of his arrival in Cape-

town he was on his way to the Lesuto, and on the 16th of

March, 1871, he had a meeting with Letsie at Maseru. The,

governor was accompanied by Messrs. J. H. Bowker and
C. D. Griffith. Lieutenant-Governor Keate, of Natal, by
previous arrangement met him in the Lesuto.

Sir Henry Barkly announced that he intended to increase

uhe staff of luuropean omeors m the territory and to annex
it to the Cape Colony, to which Letsie replied that he would

^M^
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\^ satisfied with anything and everything that the Queen's
Government might do.

ms cub

The other chiefs were equally loyal in words. Molapo
a^ked about the ground he had lost, and was told that the
Caledon was the fixed boundary, and no other must bethought of. He said that he was satisfied, as the governorknew what wa. best for them

; but as soon as he was beyond
the hearmg ot Europeans he burst out into passionate utter-
ance^s agamst Sir Henry BarV'. -nd Si. Philip Wodehouse

Upon the death of Moshesh, .lasupha Lad removed from
his residence on the Putiatsana to Thaba Bosigo, against

fbLt ;V\*'t,'^^'
commissioner's agent. He wfs the

ablest of Moshesh's sons, and recognised the advantage to
himself which the occupation of the sacred and impreg;able
mountain would give. He had obstructed the coUecUon of
hut-tax and had put himself in opposition to all authority.
Nevertheless, with a large armed following he met the
governor and escorted him through the Berea district, de-danng himself a thoroughly loyal and obedient subject.
Sir Henry Barkly told him that he could not be recognised
as a chief, nor receive any commission upon the receipt of
hut-tax until he removed from Thaba Bosigo and took up
his residence in the Berea district, over which he was
appointed native head. He promised to comply with the
governor's wishes, but went straight back to Thaba Bosigo

Nehemiah, George, and Sophonia had just before been
announcing as their views that the chiefs should collect the
revenue, pay the magistrates, and dispose of the surplus as
they should see fit, that the laws should be made by the
Basuto chiefs and headmen sitting in council at Thaba
Bosigo, and that the chiefs, advised by the magistrates,
should have the administration of affairs. These sons of
Moshesh were now, if their professions to the governor could
be trusted, the most humble and dutiful subjects, contented
to abide by whatever the Queen's representative should please
to consider good for them.

Sir Henry Barkly, deceived by these protestations of
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loyalty, returned to Capetown convinced that the chiefs
were sincere, and that there would be no difficulty in govern-
ing the tribe. The country, in his opinion, was capable of
supporting many times the number of inhabitants then in it.

On the 27th of April he opened the Cape Parliament with a
speech in which he stated his intention to introduce a bill

to annex Basutoland to the Cape Colony, and informed the
members that th>3 hut-tax was generally paid, that the amount
collected had left a considerable balance after defraying
expenses, and that the revenue was adequate for purposes of
government, including police.

The Imperial Government had never intended that the
Lesuto should be a direct dependency of the Crown. When
permission was given to Sir Philip Wodehouse to take over
the people, it was on condition that the legislature of Natal
should previously express its consent to their incorporation
with that colony. He had not adhered to his instructions,
and the secretary of state had then permitted him to have
his own way for a time, provided he did not put the home
government to any expense. This difficulty he had got over
by employing none but members of the frontier, armed and
mounted police, with an officer of that force as his agent in
the territory, though in direct opposition to the wishes of
the Cape Parliament. But this was an arrangement which
was not intended by any one to be permanent.

On the 17th of October, 1870, before Sir Henry Barkly
left England, he was instructed by the secretary of state to
discuss the question with Sir Philip Wodehouse, and received
directions in writing that " Basutoland should be annexed as
soon as possible either to Natal or to the Cape Colony." An
alternative was indeed mentioned in another paragraph, in
which the secretary wrote: "You will endeavour to secure
either that this territory is annexed to one of the neighbour-
ing colonies, or that a revenue is raised from it sufficient to
enable you, as high commissioner, to conduct its government
without external assistance." But the views of the Imperial
^^overnment were decidedly against the last of these courses,
if annexation could be brought about.

!
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On the 3rd of May the governor's secretary brought the
annexation Bill to the legislative council, where it was
received and read for the first time. It then dropped out
of sight for two months, until the 3rd of July, when it was
referred to a select committee of eight members. The
committee consulted Messrs. J. X. Merriman and J. H.
Bowker, as well as the colonial secretary and the attorney-
general, all of whom were in favour of annexation to the
Cape Colony rather than to Natal. Mr. Bowker stated that
Masupha and a few of the petty chiefs were opposed to us
but the power of the tribe was completely broken and its'
influence was gone.

On the 1st of August the select committee brought up a
report. Basutoland, they affirmed, offered a wide field of
profitable commercial enterprise, which it would be sound
policy to secure

; the country having already been declared
British territory, it would be undesirable for the colony
being geographically connected with it, not to obtain legisla-'
tive control over the people; and with reference to the
financial aspect of the question, it did not appear that
annexation was likely to entail any additional burden on the
colony.

The actual revenue received from the date of the assump-
tion of British authority to the 31st of May, 1871, was £4 753
This was made up of hut-tax, £3,721, trading licences, £96l'
fines, £63, and fees for registration of marriages, £8. The
hut-tax was one year's collection only, the other items were
receipts of rather more than three years. A large increase
in all might reasonably be expected. The expenditure pro-
posed by Sir Henry Barkly was: chief magistrate and
governor's agent £800, and £100 for house rent, two magis-
trates at £400, and £50 for house rent, two assistant magis-
trates at £200, one European clerk at £125, and three native
clerks at £50 each per annum. Stationery, £75. Total.
£2,550. With the balance of the revenue he proposed to
provide a police force. Nothing was allowed in these esti-
mates for public works, buildings, education, or postal
communication.

.^.m
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The 1( -islative council in committee adopted the report

by a maj(jrity of eleven to six, but after a warm discussion

the second reading of the annexation bill was only carried

by ten votes against eight. On the following day—2nd of

August—it passed its third reading in the council, and on
the 5th it was brought up in the house of assembly and read
for the first time. The session was then drawing to a close,

and business was being hurried through. On the 9th the
bill was read for the second time. On the 10th the house
of assembly went into committee, and after a very brief

discussion the bill was read the third time without a division.

On the day following parliament was prorogued.

By this Act the Lesuto was annexed to the Cape Colony,
but was not made subject to colonial law. The duty of
legislating for the territory—that is, of making, repealing,

amending, and altering laws and regulations—was vested in

the governor. All legislative enactments were to be laid

before parliament within fourteen days of the opening of the

session following their promulgation, and were to remain in

force unless they should be repealed, altered, or varied by
act of parliament during that session. No act of parliament
was to apply to the territory unless so declared in express
terms in the act itself or in a proclamation by the governor.

On the 16th of August a great meeting of the Basuto
people took place at Maseru. A message from the governor
was read to Letsie, informing him that no change whatever
was effected in the position of the Basuto by the annexation
of the country, except giving them the full privileges of

British subjects in the Cape Colony. Letsie, Masupha,
Nehemiah, George, Tsekelo, Makotoko for Molapo, and
others, using the most loyal language, agreed to what had
been done. No one raised a dissentient voice.

A little later—11th of September—Letsie caused a letter

to be written to the governor expressing his satisfaction

that his country had been united to the Cape Colony, and
asking that the upper districts of Nomansland should be
declared part of the Lesuto. He claimed them, he said, a§
having been presented by the Pondo chief Faku to his father
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Moahesh. This was not the first time that Letsie advanced
pretensions to the ownership of the best part of Nomans-
land, and m previous chapters it has been recorded how
persistently Nehemiah schemed to obtain the recognition
by Sir George Grey and Sir Philip Wodehouse of his occu-
pation of that territory. Sir Philip Wodehouse had located
the clans of Makwai. Lebenya, Lehana. and Zibi in it ; but
without proclaiming it British soil. The restrictions placed
by the secretary of state in 1864 upon the extension of the
British dominions in South Africa were still in force regard-
ing the whole country east of the Indwe and the Kei
Letsies claim could not therefore be recognised, even had
the high commissioner been disposed to admit the validity
or Faku's cession.

The Lesuto was now divided into four districts, named
Leribe, Berea, Thaba Bosigo, and Kornet Spruit. Over the
whole Mr. Charies Duncan Griffith had already been placed,
with the titles of chief magistrate and governor's agent.
On the 2nd of August he assumed the duties, when he found
the only questions causing general interest were the refusal
of Ma^upha to leave Thaba Bosigo, though Letsie professed
to endorse the order of the governor that he should do so,
and Mr. Buchanan's efforts to obtain the cattle promised by
Moshesh to defray the cost of his mission to Europe, but
which no one was disposed to contribute.

On the 15th of July the reverend Mr. Jousse wrote to the
governor on behalf of Masupha, asking that he might
remain on Thaba Bosigo, as Letsie had no intention of
going to live there. On the 2nd of September the governor
directed the chief magistrate to inform Masupha that he
must move as soon as he conveniently could to the Berea
distnct, but this intimation was not to be followed by
any active steps unless Letsie should apply for assistance.
Masupha therefore remained master of the stronghold. As
for Mr. Buchanan, he continued to write inflammatory
letters to the chiefs, and did his utmost to keep alive a spirit
of disaffection. On the 2nd of September the high commis-
sionei- directed Lieutenant-Governor Keate to inform him
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that if he sent messengers again into the Lesuto they would
be prosecuted for stirring up sedition, but that he could
bring his claim against the Basuto chiefs for compensation
for the expenses he had incurred in his visit to England
before the proper law courts, if he chose to do so.

At Leribe Major Charles Harland Bell was appointed
magistrate, and assumed duty on the 13th of May. He was
received by Molapo in a very cordial manner, and at a meeting
which was held to introduce him, Jonathan and Joel, Molapo's
sons, Selebalo, Molapo's half-brother, and Mapetshuane, son
of Poshuli, and cousin of Molapo, who were the leading men
of the district, expressed their pleasure in welcoming him.

In the district of Berea, Inspector William Henry Surmon,
of the frontier armed and mounted police, was appointed to
act as magistrate.

The governor's agent was also required to perform the
duties of magistrate of the district of Thaba Bosigo. He
resided at Maseru, and had as assistant Mr. Emile Roland.

In the district of Kornet Spruit Mr. John Austen remained
as magistrate.

The sub-magistrates had jurisdiction in civil cases of any
amount, but their decisions were subject to review by the
chief magistrate. They had jurisdiction in all criminal cases,

except when persons were charged with crimes punishable
by death under the colonial law. All sentences of over a
month's imprisonment, or a fine of £5, or twelve lashes, were
subject to the review of the chief magistrate, upon application
of the person convicted. Persons charged with offences
punishable by death under the colonial law were tried by a
court of three magistrates, of whom the chief magistrate was
to be one, and he was to preside. If they were not unani-
mous in finding the prisoner guilty, he was discharged ; if

they differed as to the sentence, their proposals were sub-
mitted to the governor for his decision. No sentence of
death could be carried out except upon the warrant of the
governor.

All trials were to take place in open court, the evidence
was to be recorded, and a return of all cases tried in the
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inferior courts was to be sent to the chief magistrate at theend of every month.
Each district was placed under the superintendence of

one ot the pnncipal chiefs, who was to be consulted by the
governor's agent in distributing the ground among the
people. The chief was required to use his influence in collect-
ing the hut-tax, and was allowed a percentage of the receipts.
Me could try any civil or any petty criminal case occurring
in his district, but had no assistance given to him to enforce
his decisions, and his having tried a case did not prevent a
suitor from bringing it afterwards before the magistrate ^

The hut-tax was fixed at ten shillings per annum for
each hut occupied by a family or a single man. When two
or more wives of a man occupied the same hut, ten shillings
was to be paid for each of them. This tax was made payable,
either in money, or stock, or produce of the land, on the
1st of June in each year. Anyone neglecting to pay it was
liable to have his property seized, or to be ejected. The
headmen were responsible for the payment of the tax in their
villages.

The sale of spirituous liquors was prohibited under a
pena ty of £10 for the first offence, and. in addition to this
tme, the trading license was to be forfeited on a second con-
viction. All spirits found in such cases were to be destroyedNo firearms or ammunition could be sold without the sanctionm writing of the magistrate of the district, under a penalty
not exceeding a fine of £500 or seven years' imprisonment
with hard labour. Licenses to trade in other goods were to
be paid for at the rate of £10 per annum, or £1 per mensem
tor each shop or waggon.

Before the law alfmen were declared equal. The crimes
punishable by death were murder and arson, with intent to
kill. Infanticide was made punishable by imprisonment,

' Though this was the law, in practice the chiefs continued to try nearly allcases, except such as were brought by a member of one clan againsfa mele"of another
;
and public opinion was so greatly in their favour that they hadno difficulty m causing their decisions to be carried out

„J.^1';
°*"^'

;*: T'^^'I "^^ ''"°». ^hen committed by common people.
.... «,u=Lj. punished oy a line of ten head of cattle. Culpable homicide was



The Lesuto 313

and rape by flogging? not exceeding fifty lashes, or confisca-

tion of property, or both,^ Forcible seizure of property,

except by order of a magistrate in course of law, was
declared to be theft. Forcibly compelling anyone to be

circumcised, or circumcising anyone wi;-hout the consent of

parents or guardians, was declared to be assault.'^ Practising

or pretending to practise witchcraft, or falsely accusing any-

one of doing so, was declared to be roguery. All other acts

against person or property which were punishable by the

colonial law were declared punishable in the Lesuto, due
allowance being made for circumstances.

Punishments were to be inflicted either by fines, or im-

prisonment,^ or flogging; but no female was to be flogged.

Hardened criminals, and those who had not sufficient property

to pay fines, were to be flogged, not exceeding thirty-six

lashes.

No woman could be compelled to marry a man against

her will. Marriage by a minister of the Christian religion

was declared to be as binding as if performed according to

the custom of the country. No marriage, however performed,

was to be considered valid unless within twenty days there-

after the parties to it declared their consent before a magis-

trate, and caused it to bo registered. A registration fee of

'

-!i

punished by a fine of four or five head of cattle. The degree of punishment
depended upon the rank of the offender and upon that of his victim. Death
was inflicted for acts of treason against the chief, and for being pronounced by
a witchfinder guilty of having caused any great calamity. A man caught in

the act of stealing cattle at night could be killed with impunity. A notorious

thief whose conduct was likely to get his tribe into difficulty was usually put
to death by order of his chief.

' Under native law these crimes were very leniently dealt with. The first

was hardly noticed at all.

2 Moshesh and Letsie at one time were indifferent as to circumcision.

Some of Letsie's sons were not circumcised. He would not punish those who
practised it, but he said he saw no advantage in it. Molitsane suppressed

circumcision in the Bataung clan. The Zulus and Natal tribes have been
uncircumcised since the practice was abolished by Tshaka.

3 This is a method of punishment unknown to native law. It necessitated

the erection of prisons. On the 2nd of September authority was issued by the
fiovemor to hnild nriaona, and t.n fimnlnv at. fianh s«a*-. of marriofrnow nno ehipf

constable at £36, one constable at £18, and two at £12 each per annum.
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two shillings and sixpence was made payable. In every
marriage contract the cattle to be transferred to the woman's
family were to be registered, or no action at law could there-
atter be entertained concerning them.i Either survivor of a
marriage was to be entitled to the custody of the children
until the males were eighteen, and the females sixteen years
ot age. In all cases where marriages were not registered, thewoman was to be entitled to the custody of the children Awidow was to be free to marry again, but in this case the
custody of the children was to be transferred to some relative
of the deceased husband to be selected by the magistrate.

Jhese regulations were to come in force on the first of
December, 1871. They had been laid before the Basuto
chiels and leading men at the meeting on the 22nd of Decem-
ber, 1870, and Letsie had agreed to them, but some of the
clauses were very objectionable to the great body of the
people. In particular, the tribe was not prepared for such a
revolution in the position of women. The veneering of civilisa-
tion m even that section of the people which was under
missionary influence was very thin, and the families to whom
the guardianship of children by women seemed reasonable
could not be reckoned by hundreds.

It had been a common practice for young men who were
nominally Christians to get married by missionaries in
churches, and afterwards to abandon these wives, and take
others according to the Bantu custom. Their treatment of
the cast-off women was regarded by the tribe as a mere joke
tor m the eyes of the people they had not the status of wives ^
Naturally fathers soon came to object to marriages in church
and required their daughters to take husbands according to'

'

^n'
^"^ °°* *° ^^'^'^ marriages contracted before the lat of December,

old cimT'
"" connection with which were to be decided according to the

» One of the leading missionaries in the Lesuto wrote to the governmentabout these marnages, which, as he said, were considered jokes. Ihe remedywhich he suggested was to make the wife in such a case entitled to a divorceA layman may be pardoned for preferring to such a remedy the Bantu system

. . .•
•

. /" ^'„T"~ s ^""t« opmiona regarding women and their
status m society. Sir Henry Barkly declined to facilitate divorces.
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the ancient custom, which provided some security against

desertion or gross ill-treatment of married women. Thus
public opinion, even in the small section of the people under
missionary influence, was at this time in favour of the old

system, under which a woman was throughout life a ward
under protection. The nine-tenths of the people whose social

view were not affected by missionary teaching had, of course,

but one opinion. Thus these clauses in the regulations only

caused irritation, without serving any good purpose.

With t.he establishment of British authority in the Lesuto

the French missionaries returned to their labours. The ter-

ritory retaken by Sir Philip Wodehouse from the Free State

contained all their lost stations except four. At once they set

about reorganising their work, establishing new church
centres and opening new schools. Prior to this date the

children in their schools had received instruction in no other

language, than their own. Though there were more than
three thousand individuals in the country who could read

Sesuto, Mr. Bowker was unable to obtain a single native

interpreter, the few petty chiefs who understood English

being considered untrustworthy by him. From this time

forward the youths in the higher classes have been taught

English also. In 1868 a training school for teachers was
established at Morija. The government would have assisted

with grants of money if there had been any revenue that

could be applied co such a purpose, but it was not until the

close of 1871 that state aid could be given, and then it was
only in the form of outfits for schools.

On the 3rd of November, 1871, tne act of parliament by
which the Lesuto was annexed to the Cape Colony was ratified

by the Queen in council, and the existence of the territory as

a separate dependency of the Crown was thus ended.
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CHAPTER XII

EVENTS IN THE ORANGE FREE STATE TO THE CLOSE OF 1870

Account of the Griqua clan under Nicholaa Waterboer—Sir Harry Smith's
dealings with the Griqua clans—Treatment of Nicholas Waterboer by theOrange Free State m 1855-I)escription of the Griqua territory-Retrogres-
sion in civilisation of Waterboer's clan-Position of the districts of Griqua-

^iu°
.a°«i_,Aibania-Mr. Arnot's project of a European settlement in

Albania-Fruitless negotiations between the government of the Orange
Iree State and Mr. Arnot on behalf of Nicholas Waterboer—Interview
between President Brand and Nicholas Waterboer at Backhouse—Agree-ment to refer the dispute concerning the ownership of the Campbelfdis-
trict to the arbitration of Sir Philip Wodehouse-Inability of ^ir Philip
Wodehouse to act as arbitrator—Important conference at Nooitgedacht
between representatives of the Orange Free State and the Griqua council
-Proclamation of President Brand declaring the Campbell district the
property of the Orange Free State-Discovery of diamonds in the district
of Hopetown and m the country about the junction of the Hart and Vaal
rivers—Various claimants of the last-named territory—Mistaken action ofthe government of the South African Republic-Establishment of an
independent republic by the diamond-diggers-Overtures of President
Pretorius to the diggers-Political parties at the diamond-fields—Discovery
of diamonds at the mission station of Pniel in the Orange Free State-
Appointment of Mr. 0. J. Truter as commissioner at Pniel-Discovery ofthe dry diggings—Disputes between the proprietors of the farms and thediggers—Arrangements as to government—Discovery of the Kimberlev
mme-Description of the cam|r-Controversy between Lieutenant-GeneralHay and President Brand-Unsuccessfil mission of Messrs. Brand andHutton to Capetown.

In a previous chapter it was stated that Mr. David Arnot,
agent-at-law on behalf of the Griqua captain, Nicholas
Waterboer, laid claim to the Campbell district, west of the
Vaal river, and also to a large strip of territory east of the
Vaal, that had formed part of the European section of
the Orange River Sovereignty, and was transferred by Sir
George Clerk to the assembly that established the Orange
Free State. The Griqua clan under Nicholas Waterboer has
not been mentioned frequently in these pages, because after
1848 it took no part in any event of importance. With
Andries Waterboer, father of Nicholas, a treaty had been

316
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made by Sir Benjamin D'Urban in December, 1834, in which
the chief undertook " to protect that portion of the colonial

border opposite to his own, namely, the line from Eheis
on the Orange river to Ramah, against all enemies and
maraudcv; from the interior who might attempt to pass

through his territory." This treaty originated with the

missionaries of the London Society, who were desirous of

securing for Waterboer the recognised position of captain of

Griquatown. He had been a teaclier in one of their schools,

and was elected to be captain of the station when the Koks
and Barend Barends moved away to other localities.

In the treaty of 1834 there is no definition of boundaries

except that in the clause above quoted, and indeed the

government, not of Andries Waterboer only, but of all the

Griqua captains, was at that time tribal rather than terri-

torial. The Griquas, who were intruders, did not claim or

attempt to exercise jurisdiction over the Korana and Batlapin

clans among whom they were living, and who had for genera-

tions been wandering about in the desert west of the Vaal.

In the treaty it was necessary to define the extent of border

along which Andries Waterboer undertook to perform police

duty in return for a certain consideration, and so the line

from Kheis to Bamah was named. At that time the Griquas

had outposts south of the Orange, and in Sir Benjamin
D'lJrban's despatches to the secretary of state he expressly

mentions that they were occupying both banks of the river.

In a conversation with several of the captains. Sir Pere-

grine Maitland stated that Waterboer's country might adjoin

that of Adam Kok, and Kok's western boundary had then
been fixed by treaty from Ramah on the Orange to David's

Graf at the junction of the Riet and Modder. But whether
Waterboer could claim along the whole of that line, or only

along the southern portion of it, was not decided. Owing
to there being no Europeans in the district which his clan

occupied, and no likelihood of any ever trying to settle there

or to pass through in search of vacant land beyond. Dr.

Philip and the colonial government did not consider it

necessary to make any fresh arrangements with him when
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Sir Harty Smith treated Andries Waterboer in tho »„.
common^sense manner aa ho treated Adam k4 t™«Kok and Moshesh. He took from none of them anythtnTto

^^p^r^ ^rrottriin::5;:r

:

fZiJfh'TTT" "^^ '" g-O""'™ 0' tl'eir history o

^d Adam kI ""^r u
''°"''"*^ ""' <»'^'=°^<' -^ "'c^dShed. Adam Kok and Moshesh were induced by him to attachthe.r names to agreements whieh destroyed the treaty stteCornehs Kok and Andries Waterboer were dealt wTth ^„ 7k^e prineiple but as there was no troat^ tl h oTo of "hf„'and the treaty with the other defined no boundaries 1^was not necessary to obtain their consent in writ^tollnew agreements. On the 17th of December, isir s"r HaZ

to the 0.nge river '^^^.^t'^l^ZT^ZT::^'^
of February 1848, he proclaimed Her Majesty's soverd^tlover the entire territory between the Orange^dTheC
t'^l::' '-'-^ '° »'-'^» ^-«^ lok^'or'AnS

tion!" ^jj'ztz ciittrorth^r™-

uovernment. The captains were not deposed, nor were their

T,^^ 1 •

^urneas nok remained with sovftrpian

rlZd wi^\r'"""'
"' ^"'P'""' --J Andries wZrZremained with the same powers at Griqaatown

In Decern^ - 1862, Andries Waterboer died. The people
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of Qriquatown then elected his son Nicholas as his successor,

and applied to the high commissioner for a renewal with
him of the treaty of 1834. But this the high commissioner
declined. The treaty of 1834 was personal, they were in-

formed, and ceased to be of effect upon the death of the
captain with whom it had been made. The policy of the

Imperial Government, at this time, was entirely opposed to

such treaties.

The Free State Government acted towards Nicholas Water-
boer with much greater consideration than the Sovereignty
authorities had shown. The Volksraad approved, with a
slight alteration, of the boundary laid down by Adam Kok
as arbitrator between his district and that of Comelis Kok
in October, 1855 ; and thereafter he was treated not only as

owner but as sovereign of the territory east of the Vaal
enclosed by the Orange river, the line from Ramah towards
David's Graf, and the Vetberg line.^

Waterboer's people at this time were retrograding in

civilisation. They never were in the advanced state of im-
provement described in mission reports of earlier years, but
they had once been in possession of a large amount of pro-

perty. Such prosperity as they had enjoyed a generation

before had now nearly disappeared, owing partly to causes

beyond their control, partly to their conceit and indolence.

The territory occupied by the clan is a continuation of

the great plain of the Orange Free State, though portions

of its surface are broken by ranges of hills. The plain

becomes more arid as one advances westward, and the pas-

turage gradually gets thinner until finally the desert is

reached. There is not a single permanently-flowing river

in the whole district of Griquatown. Along the Orange,
which is its southern boundary, a strip of land, some ten

miles in breadth, is an absolute desert. The soil elsewhere
consists, in general, of only a few inches of sand overlying

strata impenetrable by rain. It is, therefore, a country in

which agriculture cannot be carried on, except in a few
situauions wfjsrs uxisre are xOunbEins or where tiio water that

t Seie page 23 of this volume.
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occasionally falls in torrents can be conserved. For some
reason, as yet unexplained, the country has been drying up.
and fountains which the first missionaries found yielding
water suflicient to irrigate large areas of ground do not now
rise to the surface.

It is a region of protracted droughts and terrible elec-
trical storms. When rain falls, it is often in a destructive
deluge, and is usually confined to a narrow belt. A bank of
vapour, whose blackness is intensified by streaks of the most
vivid lightning playing upon it, is seen rapidly advancing
over the plain. The air is oppressively calm and hot; and,
as the storm-cloud rushes on, in advance may be heard a low,
moaning sound, caused by the vibrations which it communi-
cates to the atmosphere. Beneath the cloud, water is falling,
not in drops but in sheets ; while the roar of thunder is

aJmost continuous and deafening. In the midst of a storm
like this, the stoutest heart is appalled, and even wild
animals are helpless with fear. In from five minutes to an
hour the bank passes over, and leaves behind it miniature
lakes in every hollow and gullies on every slope. Several
years may pass without such a storm ; but very grand elec-
trical displays, in which no rain falls, are frequent. In the
summer season, much discomfort is often caused by sand and
dust being caught up by whirlwinds and blown about until
the air is darkened. Under such conditions, the construc-
tion of reservoirs for storing water requires an amount of
engineering skill beyond that which the Griqua is capable
of acquiring.

But these people never depended upon agriculture. The
ten or a dozen gardens and orchards, and rows of trees along
watercourses, of which glowing accounts can be found in
mission reports, were really due to the labour of the
Ljissionaries themselves and of a few blacks who had been
slaves in the Cape Colony. The early prosperity of the
Griquas was derived from the chase. For many years after
their settlement at Klaarwater or Griquatown, they were
without rivals in this pursuit, than which nothing could be
more congenial to their habits. With ivory, ostrich feathers,
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whips of hippopotamus and rhinoceros hide, and skins of

lions, jackals, and other animals, they obtained in the Cape
Colony waggons, rifles, ammunition, English clothing, coffee,

sugar, and whatever else they needed or had a fancy for.

The dried flesh of antelopes was their principal food. Their
excursions in pursuit of game extended far into the heart of

South Africa, and often lasted five or six months. In these

expeditions the women usually accompanied their husbands.
This condition of prosperity lasted until European

hunters—chiefly those of Zoutpansberg—supplanted the
Griquas in the interior, and all the large game in their

neighbourhood was destroyed. An enterprising people
would then have turned their attention to breeding sheep
and oxen, but this branch of industry was generally

neglected. Those who tried it became disheartened on the
outbreak of a new disease, which destroyed great numbers
of horned cattle. Traders were now among them, with
Cape brandy as the principal article for sale, and what
property was left soon disappeared. Indolence, almost sur-

passing description, and conceit, born of past prosperity and
fostered by the thought that they had a tinge of European
blood in their veins, prevented them from making any effort

to improve their condition. In 1870 some five hundred
individuals of both sexes and all ages, most of whom were
steeped in poverty and wretchedness, constituted the Griqua
clan under Nicholas Waterboer. Any influence that they
once had with the Koranas and Batlapin in that part of the

country had long since been lost, and there was no possibility

of their ever regaining it.

The clan occupied the territory called the district of

Griquatown, which was north of the Orange and west of the

Vaal. Some of the Batlapin chiefs asserted that they were
the proper owners of it, but no white man disputed the

Griqua right, or attempted to get possession of land there.

Waterboer's sovereignty was also undisputed in the district

east of the Vaal, and enclosed by the Vetberg line, the line

from Ramah towards David's Graf, and the Orange river.

This tract of country had recently acquired the name of

1 .
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Albania, and was partly occupied by white people under a
plan of settlement devised by Mr. Arnot.

In January, 1867, circulars were issued in Waterboer's
name in and about Grahamstown, offering farms of three
thousand morgen in extent on lease for twenty-one years, at
rentals varying from £5 to £25 a year, according to the quality
of the land. The leases were to be renewable on the same
terms for as long a period as the occupants or their heirs or
successors might choose. A council of lessees was practically
to form a government, though public documents were to run
in Waterboer's name. A portion of the rents was to be at
the disposal of the council for public purposes. This plan
of settlement was intended to give Waterboer a revenue
until the occupiers of the farms might choose to repudiate
him, and under any circumstances he could lose nothing
except his sovereignty over ground which his own people
were too few and too feeble to make use of. /

Some ten or a dozen Englishmen accepted the terms
offered, and took up their abode in Albania. To this, no
reasonable objection could be offered by anyone. When
issuing his circulars, however, Mr. Arnot attached a map to
them, in which Waterboer's territory was made to comprise
not only the districts of Griquatown and Albania, which
really belonged to him, but the district of Campbell, west of
the Vaal and adjoining Griquatown, and portions of the
districts of Boshof and Jacobsdal, east of the Vaal and in-

cluded in the Orange Free State from the day it came into
existence. This was brought to the notice of the govern-
ment at Bloemfontein, and on the 14th of March, 1867, an
advertisement was inserted in the newspapers by the state
secretary— Mr. J. C. Nielen Marais—warning all persons
against having anything to do with the scheme.

The territory east of the Vaal and north of Albania,
which Mr. Arnot claimed for Waterboer, having formed part
of the European section of the Sovereignty from 1848 to 1854,
and having been transferred in 1854 by Sir George Clerk
to the provisional government which established the Orange
Free State, was not regarded by President Brand and the
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volksraad as subject to dispute. The Vetberg line, however,
which separated it from Albania, was not marked by beacons
along its whole course as clearly as it should have been. On
the 12th of May, 1869, therefore, the volksraad approved of a
commission being appointed by the president to examine it

and define it distinctly, in conjunction with persons named by
Waterboer. Messrs. C. W. Hutton, F. McCabe, and D. J. van
Niekerk were chosen to form the commission. On his part,
Waterboer agreed to a meeting on the 31st of May at
Swinkspan, one of the three farms which Adam Kok allotted
to him when making the Vetberg line in 1855, but which the
government of the Free State kept possession of, as it was
held under a British title issued in 1849. The farm was
included in the district of Jacobsdal.

But when the commission reached the place appointed,
Waterboer did not appear. In his stead, Mr. Arnot was there!
and he repudiated the Vetberg line altogether. For his
client he asserted a claim to all that portion of the Free State
situated west of a line from David's Graf near the junction
of the Biet and Modder rivers to Platberg on the Vaal river,
stating that it had once been under the government of
Waterboer's father, and that no one but he had a right to
dispose of it. The Free State commission did not attempt
to argue the matter, as they might as well have discussed
the ownership of the market square of Bloemfontein.
Instead, they proceeded to erect beacons along the Vetberg
line, William Corner, who was Cornelis Kok's son-in-law, and
who was present when Adam Kok acted as arbitrator in
October, 1855, pointing out the boundary then made wherever
it was doubtful.

The other tract of land claimed by Mr. Arnot on behalf
of Nicholas Waterboer was the Campbell district, west of
the Vaal. The Griqua pretensions to the ownership of this
ground were treated with every consideration by the presi-
dent and the volksraad of the Orange Free State, as the
title on which their own claim was based—the deed of sale
by Adam Kok as heir of Cornelis Kok—was open to dispute,
though they believed their case was a good one. In 1864,
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Sir Philip Wodehouse was requested to arbitrate in the
matter, and consented to do so, but Waterboer declined to
sign the deed of submission after it had been drawn up by
the attorney-general of the Cape Colony. Mr. Amot wished
to include the land east of the Vaal, am: Waterboer would
only act by his advice. Then the Basuto war of 1865-6
occupied the attention of the Free State Government, to the
exclusion of less pressing matters.

On the 21st of January, 1867, Mr. Arnot brought the
mattei on again by offering to submit his client's claira to
the arbitration of Sir Philip Wodehouse, provided the land
east of the Vaal and north of the Vetberg line should be in-
cluded in the dispute. The Free State Qovernment rejected
this offer, as they would not admit that there was any valid
ground of contention concerning territory that had been
transferred to them by Sir George Clerk, and in which many
of the farms were held under British titles. On the 20th of
June, therefore, the volksraad resolved that if Waterboer
would not consent within four months to refer the question
of the ownership of the Campbell district, without reference
to any other territory, to the arbitration and decision of Sir
Philip Wodehouse, the president should send a commission to
inspect the ground preparatory to further action being taken.
But the difficulties which followed with the Basuto, and
which necessitated a call of the burghers to arms within a
month after the adoption of this resolution, absorbed the
attention of the Free State Government; and this matter was
allowed to stand over.

On the 31st of March, 1870, President Brand had a con-
ference with Waterboer at Backhouse, and the captain then
consented to submit the question of the ownership of the
Campbell district alone to the arbitration of Sir Philip Wode-
house. The president forwarded a deed of submission duly
signed by both parties, but on the 5th of May the high com-
missioner replied that he was unable to act in the matter, as
he was about to leave South Africa.

^ The volksraad then sent Messrs. Steyn and Hohne to

Waterboer to endeavour to induce him to come to some
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friendly arrangement. They succeeded in obtaining his
promise to appoint a commission to meet one from the Free
State, with power to settle the dispute. It was agreed that the
commissions should meet on the 16th of August at Nooitge-
dacht, near the ford on the Vaal river kuown as Klipdrift.

°

The commissioners of the Free State were President
Brand and the members of the executive council, namely,
Mr. F. K, Hohne, government secretary, Mr. F. McCabe,
landdrost of Bloemfontein, and Messrs. M. Steyn, J. W. Louw,
and Jeremias Venter. Attorney C. J. Vels accompanied +he
commission to conduct the case, and the secretary of the
volksraad was employed to keep a record of the proceedings.

On arriving at a farm named Nooitgedacht at the
appointed time, the commission found no representatives of
the Griqua clan

; but next day they learned that the kraal
of the Korana captain, Barend Bloem, north of the Vaal bore
the same name, and that Waterboer was there in waiting.
Accordingly they proceeded to Bloem's kraal, and on the
18th the conference commenced. Waterboer was accom-
panied by seven of the Griqua councillors, and by Mr. Arnot
and Attorney D. C. Grant to conduct his case. The meetings
tuuk place in a tent pitched for the occasion. A large
number of people, either interested in the case or drawn
together by curiosity, had assembled to watch the proceed-
ings. A commission from the South African Republic,
consisting of President Pretorius, Mr. John Robert Lys,
member of the volksraad, and the state secretary, Proes, was
there also, and desired to be admitted as a party to the
dispute, for the government at Pretoria claimed territory
that was supposed to overlap a portion of the Campbell
district. Neither the Free State nor the Griqua commission,
however, would consent to admit a third party.

Waterboer's case was first stated. It rested chiefly on
the following grounds :

—

(a) The treaty between Sir Benjamin D'Urban and his
father in 1834, which proved nothing relevant.

(6) A treaty between his father and Adam Kok, dated
on the 9th of November, 1838, in which all the land west of
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» line from Ramah on tho Orange to Platberg on the VaaF
was assigned to Andries Waterboer, and Cornelis Kok uas
completely ignored. This document was regarded as of
great importance on the Griqua side of the controversy. But in
reality it was of no more value than the treaty of Dover would
be in a dispute between France and the Netherlands, Just
before it was made the elder Adam Kok, to whom Dr. Philip
had given the district of Philippolis, died, and his sons
Abraham and Adam fought for the succession. Cornelis
Kok aided his nephew Abraham, and Andrie.s Waterboer
aided Adam. The treaty was a division of territory between
two allies against a common enemy. Abraham Kok was
defeated, but his uncle, Cornelis Kok, held his own, was not
subdued, and many years later was not only reconciled with
the nephew against whom he bad fought, but made that
nephew his heir. Under such circumstances, the treaty of
1838 could not in justice be held to favour Waterboer's claim
in the least.

(c) A treaty between his father and the Batlapin captain
Mahura, dated on the 22nd of April, 1842. This was an
arrangement—if it was valid, which the Batlapin have ever
since persistently denied— concerning territory to which
neither of the contracting parties had any right or title, and
affecting numerous clans and captains who knew nothing
whatever of its existence.

{d) An assertion that Cornelis Kok had no right to

dispose of land, he having been subordinate to Waterboer.
It was hardly necessary to disprove this assertion, which
was made in defiance of well-known historical facts ; but the
Free State commission did so by overwhelming testimony,
including correspondence of Waterboer himself.

Further, Waterboer's case rested on ignoring many
events connected with the Griquas since 1847, repudiating
Sir Harry Smith's acts, turning his back upon his own
doings before 1863, and making a stand upon rights alleged

to have belonged to his father by implied consent of wander-
ing clans at the time when the policy of building up large

native states was favoured by the Imperial Government. He
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brought forward nothing that could subatantiate his claim

in the opinion of President Brand and the other Free State

comuus8ioners.

I

But he had as advocate and adviser a man of consummate
skill in such matters, who made it a principle to contest a

case to the very last point, and who really felt a pleasure in

fi(,'hting a legal battle with tremendous odds against him.

There was no one else in South Africa so well qualitied as

llr. Arnot to represent the Griqua captain. And he bore

|o love to the Republics, so that his heart was in the task

I|e had set himself to accomplish, which was to get as much
territory as possible admitted to be Waterboer's, that it

eould afterwards be transferred to Her Majesty's Govern-

ment. On the fifth day of the conference, when everyone

else considered the Griqua case completely broken down, he

proposed that the evidence of the Griqua councillors who
were present should be taken as to the status of Comelis

Kok. The Free State commission objected to their appear-

ance as witnesses, because they were sitting in the capacity

of judges. Tlie objection does not seem to have been

founded on good grounds, because if the councillors had

any special knowledge they would make use of it when
giving their votes in the final judgment, and the Free State

commissioners would be in no worse position by hearing it.

The proposal was pressed, so the president and his

associates asked for time to consider it, and the meeting

was adjourned. Before it was opened again Mr. Arnot
addressed the president in writing, asking if the govern-

ment of the Free State would promise and undertake, upon

the conclusion of this question, to submit the claim of

Waterboer to land east of the Vaal to the arbitration of Sir

Philip Wodehouse's successor as high commissioner. The
president replied, declining to do so. Upon this, the Griqua

commission withdrew from the conference, and on the

following day the members abruptly left Nooitgedacht, with-

out notifying their intention to do so or taking leave of the

other party.

A meeting then took place between the commissions of

; •
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the Free State and the South African Republic. The latter
claimed the territory north of the Vaal and east of the Hart
down to the junction of those rivers. After some discussion
and production of documents, the Free State commission
formally announced that it made no pretension to authority
or ownership there. Messrs. Pretorius, Lys, and Proes
expressed themselves satisfied, and the conference ended

Having thus failed in obtaining an amicable settlement
of the dispute with Waterboer, and being convinced tha:
the pretensions made by Mr. Arnot on behalf of that captaii
were untenable, on the 29th of August, 1870, Presides
Brand, with the advice and consent of the executiv.
council, issued from the Berlin Mission station of Pniel t
proclamation declaring the Campbell district, west of the
Vaal nver, the property of the Orange Free State Its
boundaries, as defined in the proclamation, were the Vaal
river from the junction with the Hart down to the ford
known as Koukonop Drift, thence a well-known and long-
recognised line separating the districts of Griquatown and
Campbell, and thence various points in the desert round to
the starting-place.

At this time the minds of Europeans throughout South
Africa were entirely occupied by one fascinating subject-
the discovery of diamonds. After the exhausting wars with
the Basuto, the disastrous occurrences at Zoutpansberg and
the severe depression in agriculture and trade caused by a
drought which had prevailed for several years in the Cape
Colony, almost anything that could brighten the prospects of
the people would have been felt as a relief. And a marvel-
lous change from despondency to hope, from adversity to
prosperity, had unexpectedly taken place.

In 1867 a farmer named Schalk van Niekerk, who resided
in the district of Hopetown, in the Cape Colony, happening
to call at the house of a neighbour, observed one of the
children playing with a remarkably brilliant pebble. Small
atones of diflferent colours and various degrees of beauty are
found in the bed of the Orange rivf>r a1o"« fK« ,„u„]„ _r.-._

upper course, and their appearance was familiar to everyone
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in the Hopetown district. But this one with which the child

was playinp' reflected the light in a different and more beau-

tiful way than the pebbles ordinarily met with. The mistress

of the house, on hearing Mr. Van Niekerk express his

admiration of the stone, without any hesitation made him a
present of it. Some little time after this, a trader named
O'Reilly was in Van Niekerk's company, when the glittering

pebble was shown to him as a curiosity. He instantly sus-

pected it to be a diamond, and, after obtaining possession of

it, sent it first to Grahamstown to Dr. Atherstone, and
afterwards to Capetown to M. Herite, the French consul,

to be tested. Theac- gentlemen pronounced it to be a dia-

mond. The gem weighed twenty-one carats, and was sold

to the governor. Sir Philip Wodehouse, for £500.

Search was immediately commenced by several persons in

the Hopetc ^n district, and shortly a second diamond was
found. T' ;n a third was picked up on the bank of the

Vaal river, and attention was drawn to that quarter. During
1868 several gems were found, and in March, 1869, the " Star

of South Africa" was obtained from a native witchfinder,

who had been in possession of it for a long time without the

least idea of its value other than as a powerful charm. It

was a magnificent brilliant of eighty-three carats' weight
when uncut, and it was readily sold for £11,000.

Still, belief in the existence of diamond mines so close at

hand was not widespread. Most people were of opinion that

the gems had been accidentally lost, or concluded that

ostriches had brought them from some far distant region of

the interior. This was the belief of a professed expert who
was sent out by a diamond merchant in England to inspect

the country about Hopetown and report upon it.

But by the close of 1869 it had been proved that

diamonds in large numbers were to be found along the

northern bank of the Vaal, above the junction of the Hart,
where some hundreds had been picked up by Koranas. In
all parts of South Africa companies of diggers began to he
fitted out. First to commence work was a party from Natal,
who selected Hebron, close to the kraal of the Korana
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captain, Barend Bloem, as a likely spot. Through the in-

of trco f" p?^°'°" ^^^^^^' - °^^ ^-^- irf that p:rtof t^.ecounry, Bloem permitted the search to be carried on

fTr ^n^t'ir"^
''"" ''"^''^'''' ^'''' *^ ^^"^« ^«« ^ party

fnl f
Williamstown. The whole of the colonies and

dltr?w f*'' ""''^ ^° '"^^ ^ wretchedly depressed con-dition that a large proportion of the population was ready to

r)T.,n 7 T '""^f
P"'' *^"* ^""^^ P^«^i<J« a subsistence.

D.amond-seeJ«ng held out better prospects than thatMechanics and clerks, professional men and labourers, farmersand merchants, all who had nothing particular to do at the

the Vaal. That barren region, hitherto so lonely, began toresound with the bustle and din of an activity such as^outtAfrica never before had witnessed.
It was extremely hard work, digging for diamonds; butmen whose lives had been passed in idleness, laboured there

hitherto latent, w nch surprised the diggers themselves. Along
the Vaal diamonds were not found where they had originallybeen formed An ancient mine must have been eaten i^to andworn away by the river, which did not always flow in its pre-

amid debris of all kinds, of which enormous boulders formed
the principal ingredient. The masses of rock had to beremoved before the ground could be taken out and conveyed
to the stream there to be washed in a cradle and the pebbles
remaining to be sorted. Under the burning sun this labourwas performed, willingly and cheerfully.

Along the river, camps of canvas tents rose as by magic
If a diamond was discovered in a new locality, the next daysaw a camp there, the ground marked out. and digc^ers at
work. For fifty or sixty miles above the confluenc! of theHart and the Vaal a crowd of men swayed backwards and
forwards^ The largest camp was at Klipdrift, now known asBarkly West, where a great many diamonds were found.

The territory in which these diamond-fields were situated
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was claimed by the South African Republic, and was included
in the district of Bloemhop. But it was claimed also by the
Barolong as part of their country, by the Batlapin as part
of theirs, and by a Korana clan as its lawful inheritance.

Last of all, Mr David Arnot claimed it on behalf of Nicholas

Weterboer.

The diggers did not trouble themselves about settling

the question of ownership of the ground. At Hebron, the

highest camp on the river, the authority of the South African

Republic was acknowledged, and probably no resistance to

this state would have been shown elsewhere if it had not

been for an egregious blunder committed by the government.
Just before the volksraad ended its session in June, 1870, and
when only twelve members were present, the executive was
authorised to grant a concession of mining privileges to one
of two companies that had made application. Upon this

authority President Pretorius and the executive council

granted to the firm of Messrs. A. J. Munnich, J. M. Posno,

and H. B. Webb the exclusive right to search for diamonds
in the territory along the Vaal above the junction of the

Hart, for twenty-one years, from the 22nd of June, 1870. The
firm bound itself to pay a royalty of six per cent, upon the

diamonds found, reckoned at £3 a carat, irrespective of the

size of the gems.

This concession utterly destroyed the authority of the

South African Republic in all the lower camps. The diggers

would not acknowledge the monopoly, and announced that

they would resist with arms any attempt to enforce it. In

the villages of the Republic also objections to it were raised,

as being most impolitic. The constitution required the

executive council to give three months' notice in the Stoats

Gourant of all important laws to be brought before the

volksraad, and as this course had not been observed, there

was a general expression of opinion that the proceedings

were illegal. The government was obliged to cancel the

concession ; but it was then too late. By that time the
Ai n*n*rk*.rt au caCii camp nail elecued & conimiutee uo iraiiic
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regulations for its government, and to carry them out. AtKlipdnft r free Republic was established, and Mr. Theodore
I'arker was elected president.

Upon discovering the effects of the error, President
Pretonus vis,ted the camps along the NTaal, and endeavoured
to allay the irritation that was prevalent. He succeeded inmaking himself personally popular, but he was unableto restore confidence in a government at Pretoria, though bemade offers of very large powers of local rule. On tL Is

tha the territory east of the Hart was part of the SouthAfrican Republic but that circumstances being peculiar
there, he considered an entirely different system of govern-ment, according to the wishp<a nf +i,« j-

adonfpri TT. T. •

*^® diggers, must be

nw? t •
, r^'''^^

*' ^'^' *^"^ *^« "^^^t to elect theirown officials, who were to be invested with extraordinary
powers. And he desired that delegates should be elected bythe people to meet him and discuss the best way in which
the interests of the diggers could be promoted

^^^'^>^^"^^ZT f""''"'^
^^ ^ proclamation, dated at

Klipdritt on the 10th of September. 1870, in which the right
ot the South African Republic to the territory east of fheHart river was asserted, and the following basis of govern-ment was laid down :—

«"vem

narH T'''"' fr *^' *^^''°"''^ of diamonds it is desirable to makeparticular regulations to promote the interests of the diggers andthe residents m the said territory, be it known

the vL^^''
^^1 territory from the junction of the Hart river and

lrtlbl;r T "'" "P""'^ '' *^^ ^^rr^.-^rM,, also called
Hartebeest-hoorn, thence to the banks of the Hart river in Zdirection of Enkele Kameelboom, shall never be given out 'n farmsbut^e kept exclusively for digging purposes, 'and be a seprt^

Distrit.'^'''*
*^' '"^^ ^''*"'' ''^'" ^^'^ '^' "^«^« '^f diamond

• Z \ l^u^
'^ *^' '^'^ '^''*'''* ^° ^P^*''^! concession or prefcrentright shall be given to anyone.

preicrent

"4. That the English currencv shall he the lawful m,-^-.- •

this territory.
" "" cuixency m
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" 5. That the English language shall be the official language to
be used in all courts.

" 6. That considering the distance from the seat of government,
a local executive of three members shall be appointed provisionally
by me, to be approved of by the residents of the said territory.

" 7. That the said executive shall assist the diggers in all possible
ways, and, subject to my approval, frame laws, appoint officers, direct
the laying out of towns, but carefully abstain from interfering in the
administration of justice.

"8. That a resident magistrate shall be appointed for the ad-
ministration of justice and the preservation of order, being as a
judge independent of the executive.

" 9. That nine heemraden shall be elected, four of whom, with
the magistrate, shall form a court of appeal,

" 10. That capital crimes shall belong to the jurisdiction of two
magistrates and twelve jurymen.

" 11. That for the salaries of the said officials, as well as for the
payment of a proper police force, a license shall be paid by every
digger : five shillings for three months.

" 12. That no resident can be compelled to any commando or
burgher duty, unless for the protection of the aforesaid diggers'
territory."

At the same time that President Pretorius was offering

these concessions, the ground was being claimed by a man
named Theodor Doms, who styled himself political agent of
the Barolong and Batlapin tribes, and who was in correspon-
dence with the high commissioner concerning what he termed
the rights of his clients. He also was ready to make almost
unbounded concessions, if only his authority was recognised.
The result was that parties were formed : one in favour of a
free Republic without acknowledgment of any of the claim-
ants, another in favour of requesting the high commissioner
to establish British f uthority, a third in favour of submission
to the South Afr7ca,n Republic, a fourth in favour of self-rule

under pretence of an agreement, with Doms acting in the
name of the Barolong and Batlapin. It is needless to
speculate as to how the dispute might have ended, for before
a critical point was reached, richer deposits of diamonds were
discovered elsevviiere, anu nearly the whole of the diggers
removed from the northern bank of the Vaal.

t :
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Early m 1870 diamonds were found by prospectors on theFree State side of the river, and in June of this year a partvof men set to work on the mission station of Pnie], although
the reverend Mr. Kallenber^, who was then the resident
clergyman, ordered them away. The ground turned out to be
particularly rich, and the missionary was then obliged to come
to terms with the diggers and consent to their remaining on
condition of one-fourth of the value of the gems found being
paid to him for the directors of the Berlin Society. Thecamp at this place rapidly increased in size. After the con-
ference at Nooitgedacht it was visited by President Brandand the executive council of the Free State, who recognised
at once that a court of justice on the spot was necessary, asthe village of Jaoobsdal. where the landdrost of the distric
resideo, was more than forty miles distant. On the 29th of
August, 1870, Mr. Olof Johannes Truter, a gentleman of well-known abiMty.was appointed commissioner of the diamond-
fields on the Free State side of the river, with the same

couTthem
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A little later in the year rumours spread that richer
deposits were to be found far away from the river. Some
children of a farmer named Van Wyk, residing at Dorst-
tontem, on the rim of a saucer-like depression of the groundknown as Dutoitspan, had picked several small diamonds
from the mud with which their dwelling was plastered.
Forthwith search was made in the place from which themud had been taken, and diamonds were found. A party of
diggers hastened to Dutoitspan, and found several farmers
friends of the proprietor, already at work. They asked
permission to dig, and offered to pay a reasonable fee to theowner of the ground, but were ordered away. The farmer
did no want them there. But as they would not leave, hewas obliged to come to terms, and the dry diggings-as they
were called—were opened at Dorstfoutein.

,\.^1^^^^^^'' ^^^ ''*"^*^^ ^^ * P^^* «f ^^ Free State
that thirty years earlier had been just on tbc border of the
i.nqaa terrx^orj under the government of Curaelis Kok. The
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country in its neighbourhood had never been occupied by
Griquas, except at a fountain here and there, but Kok claimed

the land as far east as a line from the junction of the Riet

and Modder rivers to Platberg on the Vaal, and his claim was
recognised by the Emigrant Farmers. Such a line would pass

on one side of Dorstfontein or the other, according to what
part of Platberg was made the terminal point. It had never

been marked by beacons. A large tract of land adjoining it

on the east had been purchased in 1839 by Mr. D. S. Fourie

from the captain David Danser, but only the crudest kind of

measurement had been used to determine the positions of the

farms, so that an opinion could be formed as to whether they
were in Kok's district or in that obtained from Danser. If a
farm was believed to be west of the line, Europeans who
fancied to live in a region so desolate bought it from Cornelis

Kok, but did not thereby come under the government of that

captain, as it was understood that a transaction of this kind

covered sovereignty as well as ownership. In 1848 Sir Harry
Smith obliterated Cornelis Kok's rule, but not his proprietor-

ship, over the land still unsold, by proclaiming the whole

country as far as the Vaal part of the Queen's dominions.

In the titles to farms issued by the Sovereignty and Free

State Governments, no reservation of minerals was made.

The land in that part of South Africa was believed to be good
for nothing but pasturage, and for that purpose only it had
been occupied. Twenty pounds for a thousand acres would
have been considered a fair price for it before the discovery

of diamonds. It had cost the original proprietors the merest

trifle. A thousand pounds would have amply repaid them for

all their improvements. But now, relying upon the omission

of a reservation clause in the title-deeds, companies were

formed and purchased the farms Dorstfontein, Bultfontein,

and Vooruitzigt, which adjoin each other. The farmers were
seri(jusly frightened at what they saw going on before them,

and were glad to sell for a few thousands each. The object

of the new proprietors was to monopolise digging in the best

nlaces, and to charo'e heavv licenses from others.

The proprietors and the diggers speedily came into colli-
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sion. The law was on the side of the proprietors, but the
diggers claimed that justice and common-sense were with
them. Disturbances took place, Bultfontein was forcibly

taken possession of, and claims were marked out up to the
very door of the farm-house. But this violent act was generally

disapproved of, and, after a little persuasion, the diggers
withdrew. They were desirous that the government should
take over the land from the proprietors at a reasonable valua-
tion, as is done in other countries when it is necessary to

construct a railway through private grounds, or whenever the

interests of the whole community demand it. They argued
that the land had really been granted for grazing purposes
only, and that the proprietors would suffer no injustice by the

proposed arrangement. But the government saw difficulties

in the way, and the proprietors shielded themselves behind
their titles, which gave them absolute and unqualified owner-
ship of the ground and its contents.

At length, in May, 1871, a provisional arrangement was
made by the government, to have effect until the volksraad

should come to a decision in the matter; and all parties

expressed themselves ready to abide by it. It was to the

effect that for each claim of nine hundred square feet a

monthly license of ten shillings should be paid. Of this, the

government was to receive five shillings, the proprietors of the

farms were to receive four shillings, and the diggers' committee
was to receive one shilling. The committee of eit^nh camp was

invested with municipal power.

On the 22nd of February, 1871, the mission station of

Pniel had been cut off from the district of Jacobsdal and

created a district of itself. Its limits were now enlarged so

as to embrace the dry diggings, and the landdrost Truter was
removed from Pniel—where few diggers then remained—to

Dutoitspan. A post office was established, and a body of

police was enrolled.

In June the first diamond was discovered at the mine now
known as Kimberley, on the Vooruitzigt farm. Prospecting
was then being actively carried on, and this place had twice

before been examined and abandoned.
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It was not yet supposed that there were diamonds at any
great depth beneath the surface, the prevailing opinion being
that they had been transported by the agency of water from
some unknown place of formation, and deposited where they
were being found. The plan upon which all ground had
hitherto been worked was in accordance with the view that
only the surface soil was productive. No roadways were left

when blocks of claims were marked out. Experience, how-
ever, was beginning to show that this system was faulty, for

already many of the inner plots of ground at Dorstfontein,

Bultfontein, and another mine called De Beer's, were not
only difficult but dangerous to reach. It was therefore re-

solved to adopt another plan.

The Kimberley mine, when first laid out in claims, was a
gentle swell above the general surface. It is hardly a mile
from the rim of the great pan, on the northern slope of which
the Dorstfontein and Bultfontein diggings are situated.

Seven hundred claims, or plots of ground, each containing

nine hundred square feet, were marked ofi^, and immediately
taken possession of. But many of these were afterwards
found to be beyond the reef, or caldron of rock which con-

tained the diamond-bearing soil, and were therefore of no
value. Many even of those within the reef were soon found
not to be worth working, and less than seven acres is the
actual area of that portion which has yielded so amazingly
as to reduce the price of diamonds throughout the world to

a mere fraction of their former value. Twelve roadways, each
fifteen feet in width, were left across the mine by a regula-

tion which required each claim-holder to reserve one-fourth

of his plot for that purpose. Between these roads great

trenches were opened, the ground taken out being conveyed
beyond the reef, and there sifted and carefully sorted.

Hills of sifted earth, rivalling in size the natural eleva-

vations of the country, rapidly rose around the mine, now fast

changing its form to that of a crater. These hills, the roads,

and the trenches swarmed with human beings. In that little

spot thirty thousand men, white and black, were working at

once. The reports of the enormous quantities of diamonds
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found attracted strangers from all parts of the civilised world.
Blacks from every tribe in South Africa congregated there
too, allured by the prospect of obtaining guns and ammuni-
tion with the very high wages offered. The river diggings

.
were almost d- aorfcd. Men, who by mere chance secured rich
clainas for nothin<^ >,v hen they were first allotted, could now
readily obtain a thousand pounds for half their ground.

A great camp of canvas tents of all sizes and shapes
covered the ground on one side of the mine. Streets and
squares were shortly laid out, •7^:! Roon iron buildings rose
along them. Churches and schools, banks and newspaper
offices, concert rooms and theatres, atores and shops, diamond
buyers' offices, hotels, canteens, and gambling houses were
all to be seen before the close of the year. Along the streets
passed an incessant stream of waggons, carts, carriages, and
pedestrians. Similar, but on a smaller scale, were the camps
at Dutoitspan, Bultfontein, and De Beer's. The whole four
mines were within a circle having a radius of a little less

than two miles.

Life at the dry-digging camps, in their early days, was
full of excitement, but far from pleasant. Water was scarce
and bad. The best was brought in casks from a farm five or
six miles away. When at length it was obtained by sinking
wells, much of it was found to contain lime in solution, and
to increase rather than quench thirst. It was only after a
great many wells had been sunk, and a selection could be
made, that this discomfort was got rid of. For a long time
the camps were in a filthy state, and during the calms the air
was offensive. The dust storms were terrific. Violent gusts
of hot wind caught up the sifted ground and loose materials
of every kind, and whirled them about until the atmosphere
was darkened and breathing was difficult. A discomfort
scarcely less than any of these was the amazirg abundance
of insect life. The bad water, the filth, the dust storms,
and the vermin brought on sickness, which, during mid-
summer, prevailed to an alarming extent ; but the death rate
"was not very high.

On the 2nd of June an ordinance for regulating the
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governmont of the diamond-fields was passed by the volksraad.
In efiect it did little more than confirm the provisional
arrangement made by the executive authority on the 16th of
May, and which met with the approval of the diggers and
the proprietors of the farms. The ninth clause provided for
the establishment of a committee of management in each
camp, to consist of six members elected by the diggers, with
tl ! government inspector as chairman. The tenth clause
gave to the committees of management power to frame such
regulations as might be found necessary for the local cir-

cumstances and social management of the diggings, subj'^ct

only to the i .jproval of the executive council.

Under this system of government good order was main-
tained. Class legislation to a limited extent prevailed.
Blacks were not allowed to roam about the camps after nine
o'clock at night, canteen-keepers were proliibited from selling

intoxicating liquor to them unless with the written permis-
sion of their employers, and they were not permitted to buy
or sell diamonds. But these regulations were carried out in
such a manner as not to oppress anyone unnecessarily.
Blacks were never disturbed when walking quietly along the
streets, even after nine o'clock, and those who wore clothing
and presented a respectable appearance were not prevented
from digging for themselves.

The Free State, however, was not permitted to establish
the machinery of government on the diamond-fields without
opposition. On the 15th of September, 1870, Lieutenant-
General Hay, who was then Her Majesty's high commissioner
in South Africa, wrote to President Brand that he had
noticed in a newspaper the proclamation concerning the
Campbell disf ict, adding that he was in communication with
Nicholas Wa.orboer, who claimed territory on both sides of
the Vaal, and that he was desirous of obtaining information
concerning the Free State title. He concluded by intimating
that the planting of beacons to mark the Campbell district

would be premature.

Four days later. General ^.fiy wrote further that he had
seen a notice of the appointment of Mr. O. J. Truter as com-
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missioner at Pniel, in a portion of the country claimed by
Watorboer, and that he did not acknowledge the sovereignty
of the Free State over any subjects of Her Majesty living
within the limits of the territory in dispute. "Tiio concourse
of people at the diamond-fields, however, had received his

close consideration," he said, *' and with a view to prevent the
commission of crime or outrage by any of Her Majesty's
subjects therein, he had taken measures for the issuing of

magistrates' commissions giving jurisdiction over such sub-
jects, under the provisions of an Act of the Imperial Parlia-

ment, 26 and 27 Victoria, cap. 35 "—the Cape of Good Hope
Punishment Bill in an amended form.

This was the commencement of a series of letters, some of
very great length, which cannot be read now without a
feeling of intense weariness of the subject. And all the time
there were documents which, if brought to light, would have
set the question at rest at once and for ever. But no one
knew that they were in existence. The records of political

occurrences in the government offices in Capetown had never
been kept in such a manner that they could be easily referred

to; most of them, indeed, at that time were tied up in

packets and put away wherever room could be found for

them. There was no archive office, and no one specially

charged with the duty of registering and indexing papers of

importance.^ Each department kept its own records in its

own way, and all were so cramped for space that documents
a few years old were of necessity put on top shelves or in

' In March, 1879, the author of this work was appointed keeper of the
archives of the Cape Colony, and was the first to hold the office. At that time
there was no apartment in any of the public buildings that could be spared,
excepting a small room in the surveyor-general's office. In that confined space
a few hundred volumes and as many parcels of the oldest Dutch records had
been packed by a commission which had examined and reported upon the
state of the archives a short time previously. The situation of keeper of the
archives was held in conjunction with another office, which provided six or
seven hours' employment every day. In 1884, upon the completion of the new
parliament house, a section of the basement of that building was set apart
for the safe keeping of the records ; but even yet they are not all collected and
... ,...,g.... „.,.,., I,, . On pfjoeni; rvccper Oi mc aiuuives uuius also anocner omce
which claims much of his time.
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cellars or garrets. In a colony events succeed each other
rapidly. Governors are changed every few years, and public
officers are constantly being moved from one place or occupa-
tion to another. Under such circumstances, transactions,

considered even at the time of their occurrence of very small
importance, come to be entirely forgotten after fifteen or
twenty years, except by the immediate actors.

And the district in which Kimberley is situated, with its

railway station, and telegraph office, and streets lit by elec-

tricity, was as little known before the discovery of diamonds
as the heart of the Kalahari is to-day. Nobody cared to know
anything of it, for it was not worth the trouble of reading or
writing about. Mission reports occasionally contained state-
ments concerning Nicholas Waterboer, and Lis name appeared
in public documents yearly as the recipient of a pension at
the expense of the Cape Colony, given in consideration of the
good conduct of his father ; but farther than that he and his
clan were hardly ever heard of.

Lieutenant-General Hay and President Brand entered
upon this controversy like two lawyers conducting a case on
opposite sides, each unaware of the existence of witnesses
capable of giving direct and clear testimony, and each making
the very utmost of circumstantial evidence of all kinds.

President Brand's arguments might be reduced to this:
The Campbell district and the district in which the diamond-
fields east of the Vaal were situated were distinct from each
other. The latter was part of the Free State, on account of
having been in the undisturbed possession and occupation of
its burghers for twenty years by virtue of British land certi-

ficates issued before the abandonment of the Sovereignty by
Her Majesty's Government in 1854. In this district persons
coming to push their fortunes by diamond-digging were cer-
tainly subject to the jurisdiction of the courts of the Free
State. He therefore protested against the appointment by
the high commissioner of special magistrates to exercise
authority therein, as a violation of the convention of 1864.
The boundary of Waterboer's district east of the Vaal was
the Vetberg line, and no other could be recognised. Inter-
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ference between the Free State and a clan such as that of
Waterboer was a violft^ion of the convention, and tended to
paralyse the government, which had no wish or intention to
do wrong to a single individual, but was desirous of main-
taining its own rights.

Lieutenant-General Hay, on the other hand, could see
no distinction between the Campbell district and the land
east of the Vaal. The Vetberg line, upon which so much
stress was laid by the president, was not a boundary origin-
ally made between Waterboer and the Free State, but be-
tween Waterboer and Cornelis Kok, therefore the Free State
by claiming that line admitted the ground above it to have
bpon Cornelis Kok's. But the pretensions of the Republic to
Cornelis Kok's ground were derived solely from a sale by the
agent of Cornelis Kok's alleged heir, and if that did not cover
the territory on both sides of the river, the Republic appeared
to have not even the shadow of a right to the eastern bank.
Waterboer asserted that Cor-ielis Kok had been his sub-
ordinate officer, and denied that captain's right to sell land.
He also denied that he had been a party to the mr.king of
the Vetberg line, and Ignored it altogether. He produced a
treaty between his father and Adam Kok, in which his
father's eastern boundary was defined as a line from Ramah
by the way of David's Graf to Platberg. It was thus clear
that his father had once been in possession of the whole
territory west of that line, and there was nothing to show
that either his father or himself had ever consented to part
with an inch of it. The titles to land in the district east of
the Vaal, the high commissioner believed must have been
issued by Major Warden in error. Waterboer asserted that
Major Warden had admitted as much. And lastly, if Sir
Harry Smith had included the territory in question in the
Sovereignty, it had reverted to its original owner upon the
withdrawal of Her Majesty's Government.

In all the controversy there is not one word on either
side concerning the broad distinction between proprietorship
and dominion which Sir Harry Smith had made, and upon
which the right of the Free State really rested. The high
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commissioner confused the three farms given out by Major
Warden on Waterboer's side of the original Vetberg line with
ten times that number given out in the district farther north,
and a vast deal of time and paper were taken to try to put
him right

; but it was not shown that the site of Bloemfontein
itself was held by the Free State on exactly the same tenure
as those farms, for it had once been ground recognised as

the property of Adam Kok, and sovereignty over the district

in which it was situated had been acquired in just the same
way as in the other case. The want of a clue, such as could

be supplied by the documents tied up in bundles and forgotten

ever since Sir George Clerk left South Africa, is apparent
everywhere throughout the controversy.

As a statement of their case, made and repeated in every
possible form in writing, had no impression upon the high
commissioner, the volksraad instructed President Brand and
Mr. C. W. Hutton to proceed to Capetown and endeavour to

explain matters by word of mouth. The delegates reached

Capetown on the 29th of December, 1870 ; but General Hay
declined to grant them an official interv^iw, on the ground
that Sir Henry Barkly, who was hourly expected, would have
to settle the matter finally, and it was therefore better to

wait for him. On the 3rd of January, 1871, Messrs. Brand
and Hutton had a meeting with the new high commissioner,

but naturally could make no impression upon him, as he had
not yet been able to study the subject except from such
papers as had been printed.

The correspondence between Lieutenant-General Hay and
President Brand was conducted in temperate language ; but
some of the despatches sent by the former to England
occasioned great irritation in South Africa when they were
published in blue-books. There are certainly expressions in

them which were not justified by facts, as, for instance, the

following which is taken from a despatch addressed to Lord
Kimberley, secretary of state for the colonies, on the 19th of

November, 1870

:

" The governments of the two neighbouring Republican states

—

the Orange Free State and the South African Republic—have, since

•l^'

w



344 History of South Africa

the discovery (of diamonds) referred to, assumed an attitude towards
the Gnqua people and other aboriginal inhabitants -hich plainly
indicates an intention of seizing upon and appropriating between
them, without sufficient or justifiable cause, nearly the whole of theGriqua and adjacent other native territory, and of ejecting therefrom
the native population by whom it is now. and for a long series of
years has been, occupied."

J#.^^
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CHAPTER XIII

EVENTS IN THE SOUTH AFRICAN REPUBLIC FROM 1870

TO 1872

Various claimants to the diamond-fields along the northern bank of the Vaal
—Origin of the different claims—Conference between commissioners of the
South African Republic and Batlapin and Korana chiefs—Failure of nego-
tiations for the arrangement of the Batlapin debt—Extension of the district
of Bloemhof to the Hart river—Claims of the Barolong chief Montsiwa

—

Conference between commissioners of the Republic and chiefs of the
Barolong, Bangwaketsi, and Koranas—Agreement to refer disputed terri-

torial claims to a court of arbitration—Correspondence between the high
commissioner and the president—Resolution of the volksraad to proceed to
arbitration—Offer of Nicholas Waterboer to transfer to the British Govern-
ment the territory which he claimed—Appointment by the high commis-
sioner of a special magistrate for the diamond-fields—Commission granted
to the speciii] magistrate by Nicholas Waterboer—General repudiation of
Waterboer'u pretensions—V'sit of Sir Henry Barkly to the diamond-fields
—Meeting with various chiefs—Arrangements for arbitration—Session of
the c jurt of arbitration at Bloemhof—Imbecile manner in which the case
was conducted by the commissioners of the South African Republic—The
Keate award—Consternation of the burghers on finding that a large portion
of their settled territory as well as all the open land to the west was cut
off by the award—Outburst of indignation against the government—Resig-
nation of the president and principal oflScers—Appointment of Mr. D. J.

Erasmus as acting president—Irritating conduct of the reverend Mr. Ludorf
—Repudiation of the Keate award by the volksraad—Declaration of the
hiph commissioner that he would maintain it—Effect of the award upon
the Barolong and Batlapin clans—Alteration of the clause of the constitu-
tion concerning the qualifications of the president—Efforts of a strong

farty to unite the two Republics under Pr-isident Brand—Attitude of
resident Brand—Discovery of gold-bearing reefs near Marabastad—Elec-

tion of the reverend Thomas Fran9ois Burgers as president of the South
African Republic.

The territory along the northern bank of the Vaal, in which
diamonds were found, was claimed by the South African

Republic, the Barolong chief Moroko, some clans of the

Batlapin, a horde of Koranas, and Mr. David Arnot for the

Griqua captain Nicholas Waterboer. Of these claimants, the

South African Republic, the Biitlapin, and the Koranas were
345
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then in actual occupation. A few farmers were scattered
over it

;
there was a large kraal of Batlapin at Likatlong

where the waters of the Hart join those of the Vaal ; and
between Likatlong and Hebron were sev.^jral little kraals of
Koranas.

The Barolong claim was based on the fact that the
territory in bycrone years was partly occupied by the clan
that since 1833 had been living under Moroko at Thaba
Ntshu. Waterboer's pretensions rested on the treaty with
Mahura already mentioned, on the fact that in the time of
his fath.^r Griqua influence extended Lo this territory, that
there were formerly Griqua outposts of the captains Cornells
Kok and Barend Barends in the neighbourhood, that he
considered those captains subjects of his father, and that
Likatlong was a station of the London Society in subordina-
tion to the missionary at Griquatown.

The claim of the South African Republic was put forward
at a later date as founded upon a treaty which it was asserted
had been concluded with the Barolong clan of Montsiwa in
December, 1851, but when the controversy first arose it was
made to rest upon recent dealings with the Batlapin. After
the war of 1858. in which Gasibone was killed, the Batlapin
chief Mahura, to obtain peace, through his representatives
entei-ed into an agreement to pay all costs and damages- but
the civil strife in the Republic which followed closely upon
this event gave him an opportunity to escape from his engage-
ment. When order was again restored, and a demand was
made upon him, he referred the government of President
Pretorius to his agent, Mr. David Arnot, of Colesberg.
Mr. Arnot declined to comply with the demand, and in a
letter to President Pretorius, dated on the 8th of August, 1864,
claimed for the Batlapin the whole country along the northern
bank of the Vaal from a point opposite Platberg up to
Makwasi Spruit, thence along the Makwasi mountains and
round by the source of the Hart river to the source of the
Molopo. This territory did not include the diamond-fields,
which were farther westward. In all these contentions, it

must be remembered, it was not the native clans that first
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fabricated extravagant claims, but European agents acting
nominally on thoir behalf.

For several years after 1864, subjects of greater import-

ance than the debt of Mahura occupied the attention of the
authorities at Pretoria; but towards the close of 1868 an
arrangement was made for a conference between a commission
from the Republic and the Batlapin and Korana chiefs, with
the object of discussing and arranging matters in which
they were all interested. It was agreed that the place for

the conference should be the farm of Mr. Daniel Verwey, on
the bank of the Vaal some miles below Bloemhof, and the
date the 10th of February, 1869.

The commission of the South African Republic consisted

of President Pretorius, Mr. W. Brest, landdrost of Bloemhof,
and Messrs. J. W. Yiljcen, H. C. W. Vermaas, D. Verwey,
and H. C. Weber. The chiefs did not arrive at the time
agreed upon, but some of them sent messages that they were
coming; and on the 19th of February, Botlasitsi, Mahura,
Jantje, and Matlabane, with four Korana captains and
seventy-two councillors, were assembled. The conference

continued until the 26th. Both the Batlapin and the
Koranas claimed the country along the northern bank of
the Vaal above ard below the junction of the Hart, and the
arguments of each seemed of equal weight. Their govern-
ment was, in fact, tribal, not territorial. The Koranas, how-
ever, were few in number, and were not disposed to object to

the supremacy of the white men. Mahura admitted his In-

debtedness on account of the war of 1858, and the president

offered to accept fifteen hundred head of cattle in full pay-
ment, if he and the other captains would consent to the
Hart river as the boundary. Jantje demurred to this, and
promised to assist Mahura to meet hi.s old engagement.
Thereupon, on the J!8th of February, an agreement was
drawn up and s'>n 'd by the Batlapin captains, in which they
undertook to deliver three thousand head of good cattle at

Potchefstroom within two months, and promised to attend

another conference, after the delivery of the cattle, in order

to fix a permanent boundary line.
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A fortnight before the expiration of the two months Mr
Arnot, as agent for Mahura, wrote to the president, declinincr'
to pay the cattle, and proposing to refer all differences and
dispu^.es to the arbitration of Her Majesty's high commissioner
in South Africa. But a few days later Mr. Arnot ceased to
be Mahura's advocate. The Batlapin were laying claim to
the same ground that he asserted was Nicholas Waterboer's
and would not be satisfied with the territory to tl)e eastward
to which he desired to limit them, so that he abandoned their
cause. He was succeeded by one Theodor Doms as chief
adviser, agent, and representative of Mahura.

On the 26th of July, Doms wrote to Landdrost Best of
Jiloenihof, announcing that the Batlapin had failed to collect
the three thousund head of cattle, and on their behalf he
ottered, as a settlement, to agree to a boundary from Saltpan's
Drift on the Vaal in a direct line to Mamusa on the Hart
river, and Alienee up to the Zwartkopjes beyond the Schoon-
spruifc sai.pan; further, to pay £10,000 in money in the
course of eight or ten months, and as security to pass a
mortgage bond on all the ground east of the Hart river Mr.
Best referred this proposal to the president and executive
council who declined it; but offered to accept fifteen hundred
head of cattle, li delivered before the 6th of September, and
the line of the Hart river up to midway between Taung and
Mamusa. Doms replied that he desired to consult the chiefsand requested to be supplied with copies of all documents
relating to transactions with the Batlapin subsequent to 1857.A copy of the agreement of the 26th of February and some
extracts from the minutes of the conference were sent tohim; but as the government of the Republic declined tosupply all that he asked for, and thus practically reopen the
matter, he began to complain that injustice was being done,and the negotiations came to an end.

th/mt' ^?M '*"''? ^^^ ^'^^^"'^ '" ^^^P ^^«i^ agreement, on
the 12th of November, 1869, President Pietorius, with the
concurrence of the ex.^cutive council, issued a proclamation
extending the district of Bioemhof to the Hart river from its
contiuence with th. Vaal upwards to the junction of it. north-
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western affluent above the place called the Poort, and thence
northward to the Zwartrand.

Nothing further occurred in connection with these people
until the 25th of August, 1870, when the commission of the

South African Republic—President Pretorius and Messrs.

B. C. E. Proes and J. R. Lys—had a conference at Nooitge-

dacht with the Barolong chief, Moroko, and the Batlapin

chiefs, Jantje and Mankoroane. Mahura was then dead, and
Mankoroane, though not of high birth, had succeeded as

head of his clan. Dom^ was with them as adviser and agent.

At this conference, Moroko laid claim to the land east of the

Hart as his by inheritance, and the others agreed with him.

The Batlapin captains claimed the land west of the Hart
down to Griquatown. All repudiated Nicholas Waterboer's

pretensions.

We turn now to the Barolong clan under Montsiwa, who
were left in 1854 in the country of the Bangwaketsi, north of

the Molopo, though the location south of that river, assigned

to them by officers of the Republic in December, 1851, was still

regarded as theirs. Montsiwa remained with the Bang-
waketsi, and his reserve, being almost unoccupied, attracted

the attention of a few farmers. These settled at some of the

best springs, where for several years they were undisturbed.

At length Montsiwa addressed President Pretorius upon the

subject, and as no steps were taken to remove the farmers,

on the 15th of August, 1868, a letter was written in his name
by the reverend Joseph Ludorf to the president and the

members of the volksraad, which was the commencement of a

long and acrimonious controversy.

In this letter the right of the Barolong to the country

occupied by their ancestors in the time of the chief Tao was
made to rest upon an alliance alleged to have been entered

into by Commandant-General Hendrik Potgieter in 1837 with

Tawane and Moroko, heads of refugee clans at Thaba Ntshu.

It was asserted, as if it was a well-known fact, that when the

Emigrant Farmers " decided to take the country from Mose-
lekatse, they entered into a treaty with the Bai\>Iong chiefs,

Moroko and Tawane, with the ex- ress condition that if the

I
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Barolong would assist against the Matabele, their independent
and perpetual right to the land of their forefathers would be
guaranteed

:
namely, Tawane's portion situated between the

rivers Molopo and Hart west to the Kalahari desert; and
Moroko's ground, as indicated by thousands of kraals of his
former residence ^ east of the Hart river." It was further
asserted that " depending on this treaty, the Barolong, under
Moroko and Tawane, took up arms, and faithfully executed
their part of the contract." Subsequent events were then
made to fit in with this view of past transactions, and with a
quotation from the Bible the encroachment of the farmers was
protested against, and the volksraad was requested to remove
the intruders.

Such a perversion of historical occurrences would never
have entered the mind of a South African native if it had
not been first put into shape by a European. It is true, any
one of the little party of Barolong herdsmen that accompanied
Maritz and Potgieter, and afterwards Potgieter and Uys
against Moselekatse, when relating the events of those
expeditions to an assemblage of blacks, would probably re-
present himself and his companions as the principal actors
and only casually mention the farmers. But he would never
devise the conditions of a treaty which had no existence.
However, when once suggested to him, he would readily grasp
the importance of a statement such as the above, and would
have no hesitation in affirming its truth, especially if his
chief approved of it. Thus it happened that a cunningly-
devised fiction came to be represented by the Barolong of
Montsiwa anc some of the other clans as a correct statement
of their case, and is to the present day accepted by many
persons as a faithful version of events.

On the 28th of August, 1808, a few days after the letter
to the authorities of the South African Republic was written,
one was addressed in the name of Montsiwa to Sir Philip
Wodehouse, asking for protection. This was the boginning
of the intercourse between the TsiH branch of the Barolong

;
F""^ the walls of round atones constructed by these people, the sites of

their villages can be determined for an indetinite period after abandonment.
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and the representative of the Imperial government in this
country. Montsiwa was made to say

:

" May it please your Excellency to permit the undersigned chief
of the Barolong to take refuge under your protecting wings from the
injustice of the Transvaal Republic, whose Government has lately,

by proclamation, included our country within the possessions of the
said Kepublic.

"Upwards of thirty years ago, when Commandant I^, Potgieter
first left the colony with his party, they found our tribe at Thaba
Ntshu with Moroko. We then warned the emigrant Boers not to
go near Moselekatse, for he would surely attack them. But they
would not listen, and went on for * Canaan.' After their party was
almost destroyed on the banks of the Vaal river, the Barolong
fetched the remainder back to Thaba Ntshu, where they during two
years received every possible kindness and hospitality. By and by
others came from the colony, and by force of persuasion we at last
yielded to enter into an alliance with Commandant Potginter to
assist him in avenging himself on Moselekatse, on condition that if

we succeeded to dislodge the Matabele we should have our fathers'
country back and live under our own rule. Which was agreed to.

-' Leading the Boers on to the Lion's den, we warred at our own
expense, had our own horses, guns, ammunition, and victuals, and
constantly refused to take any of the captured stock. We had one
desire only, which was to have our old country where are the graves
of our fathers.

" Moselekatse was defeated. Soon after the Boers moved into
the newly cleared territory, and the Barolong, under the chief
Tawane, returned to their old grounds, whilst Moroko remained at
Thaba Ntshu.

" When Commandant A. Pretorius had lost the day at Port Natal
and immigrated to the Transvaal country, H. Potgieter duly in-
formed the new-comers of the alliance that existed between the
Republican Boers and the Barolong, and the right of the latter to
their own country. Potgieter went to Lydenburg, Pretorius and his
party stayed in the south-western parts.

"About 1850 one Boer after another took possession of the
fountains and lands of the Barolong: when in 1851 the latter com-
ulained to Commandant A. Pretorius, he appointed a commission of
some commandants and field- cornets, and a boundary line was agreed
on between the Republic and the Barolong. This line was to be the
Hart river from whorfl it fint.firs tlio Vaai ri^"*- "t> « 4.u^ _j?
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Hart river, which is Eland'a Fountain ; from there with the waggon-
road to the head fountain of the river Molopo, thence to a very large
fountain called Pogoaurmane

; from there to the waggon-drift of the
road from Lotlakana across the Molopo to Klein Mariko.

" In 1863, by the most crying injustice, the Boers attacked us,
and after fighting a whole day they found out that there, existed m
grounds whatever for such bloodshed, calling themselves the blind
commando they left. All the farmers of Mariko then fled, fearing
we would retaliate. Several seasons passed, till at last the Boera
made some overtures for a setthment. On coming to terms with
Commandant Jan Viljoen and President M. Pretorius, the old
boundary lines were agreed to on both sides. But knowing how
little the promises of the Boers could be trusted, we would not go
back to our old residence Lotlakana, but continued to sojourn with
the Bangwaketsi tribe, to keep somewhat out of the Boers' reach.

" And now, without the least provocation on our side (though the
Boers have from time to time murdered some of my people and
enslaved several small villages of our Balala), the Transvaal Republic
deprives us, by the said proclamation, of our lands and liberty, against
which we would protest in the strongest terms, and entreat your Excel-
lency, as Her Britannic Majesty's high commissioner, to protect us."

In this letter the Hart river is affirmed to have been a
boundary agreed upon in 1851 as separating an independent
tribe of Barolong from the South African Republic. The
statement was as far from being correct as was the picture
of Tawane's fugitive horde in 1837 " warring at their own
expense, with their own horses, guns, and ammunition ; " but
from the reverend Mr. Ludorf's standpoint it served to give an
appearance of completeness and justice to Montsiwa's claim.

Perhaps another adviser might have thought that an equally
good claim to independence could be made out from the fact

of its having been practically enjoyed since 1853 ; but in that
case the reserve south of the Molopo would have h en lost.

The government of the Republic found it difficult to deal

with Montsiwa. He was a chief to whom every possible

consideration had been shown in former times, who had a
location as large as he desired assigned to him, who had
broken his engagements and gone into rebellion, who had his

location restored to him, but instead of occupying it had
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removed to another part of the country. Why should farmers
be prevented from settling on ground thus abandoned, pud
making use of it? True, there were some little kraals of
Barolong in the location, but there was ample space tor them
and the faimers too. And the whole country thereabouts
belonged to the white man by right of conquest from Mose-
lekatse, so tliat the farmers were not ejectinj;^ lawful ownors.
Viewing matters in this light, nothing was^done to displace
those whom

; reverend Mr. Ludorf termed intruders.
In March, 1870, Montsiwa's brother Molema, who was

living on the Molopo, was called upon to pay taxes to the
government. This ho refused to do, and Montsiwa supported
him in his refusal, on the ground of the independence of the
Barolong by virtue of the alleged treaty with Commandant-
General Potgieter. In July a protest was published in the
name of Montsiwa against any encroachment beyond the line
of the Hart river. In September an interview between Pre-
sident Pretorius and Montsiwa took place by chance on the
road as the president was returning home from the meeting
at Nooitgedacht. He had there learned to his great surprise
that Montsiwa claimed the Hart river as a boundary by a
treaty made in December, 1851. He had never before heard
of such a treaty, none being, in point of fact, in existence

;

but he would have been overjoyed to meet the Barolong on
this condition. He believed it would give a clear title to the
diamond-fields north of the Vaal, and for that he was willing
to renounce the claim of the Republic to the barren territory
farther westward. He therefore eagerly asked if Montsiwa
would adhere to the treaty of 1851. Montsiwa replied that
as far as he was concerned he would, but that the ground east
of the IJart belonged to Moroko. It was then arranged to
have a conference at the Molopo river between a commission
from the South African Republic and as many chiefs as could
be got together, to endeavour to come to some final settlement
of the matter in dispute.

The conference was held at the place appointed on the 15th
of November. There were present, on behalf of the Republic,
President Pretorius, Commandant-General S. J. Paul Kruger^
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and Messrs. T. F. Steyn. H. Greef, H. Beukes, J. Botha, M.
Joubert, J. Snyman, and H. Coetsee. The chiefs who attended
were Phoe, Montsiwa, Moroko, Molema, Matlabe, Bakhobi, and
Izaak Motlabane, of the Barolong tribe, Mohilo, of the Bahurutsi
at Marikwa, Gasiitsiwe, of the Bangwaketsi at Kanye, Andries
Rei representing the Korana chief Massou, and others of less
note. The reverend Mr. Ludorf was present also, and took a
prominent part in the proceedings.

Montsiwa claimed the country of Tao for the whole of the
Barolong clans, by virtue of a treaty with Commandant-
General Potgieter. He asserted that it was bounded by a line
from the source of the Molopo to the source of the Hart,
thence to the source of Schoonspruit, and thence along
Schoonspruit to the Vaal. He alleged that a document ac-
knowledging the right of the Barolong to the land west of
that line had been drawn up by Potgieter, but was accident-
ally destroyed by fire at Thaba Ntshu.

Commandant-General Kruger, as the member of the com-
mission best acquainted with early transactions of the Emigrant
Farmers, replied that he doubted the correctness of sucli an
arrangement having been made. There was no document to
that effect, and events that were known to have happened
could not be reconciled with it. He would not take it upon
himself, however, absolutely to deny it, as he had not sufficient
information to do so.

There was plenty of documentary evidence in Capetown
to overthrow such a statement completely, but neither the
commandant-general nor any member of the commission
knew of its existence. In this, as on other similar occasions,
the officers of the Republic were dependent on their personal
knowledge alone.

During the remainder of the conference—which was closed
on the 16th—the Barolong chiefs maintained an attitude
of independence. They wanted the whole country of Tao
acknowledged to be theirs, and to be free of all control in it.

Moroko, who would have resented—and with justice—any
intrusion upon the district of Thaba Ntshu, which his clan
had occupied for thirty-seven years, claimed the land between
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Schoonspruit and the Hart river as having been the home of
his ancestors, and pointed to the remains of stone kraals
scattered over it as proofs of Barolong right. That the Baro-
long had been driven away by war, that the land had been
absolutely lost to them, and that it had been taken by the
white people from Moselekatse, were arguments which did
not approve themselves to his mind. The chiefs denied, in-
deed, that Moselekatse had ever built a kraal in the country
they claimed. And it was correct that he had not ; although
it was no less correct that military bands from his town of
Mosega traversed it at will, and that if the impoverished
remnants of the Barolong clans had not taken care to get
out of the way they would have been served as rats are
served by terriers.

Montsiwa farther rested the case of his own particular
clan upon the alleged treaty of December, 1861, and claimed
the country west of the Hart as acknowledged by it to be
his. The commission of the South African Republic, having
never seen this treaty, expressed doubt about it, and some of
the members denied its existence.

Upon this, the reverend Mr. Ludorf stated that to oblige
the commission he had furnished the government secretary of
the Republic with a copy of the minutes taken by the Baro-
long themselves on the occasion when that treaty was made.
In his report of this conference, sent to the high commissioner,
he states that he added :

" It is a thousand pities that if ever
you meant to keep faith with these people your government
has not drawn up proper documents of such important
transactions as treaties of peace, boundary lines, etc., and
kept official records thereof : this would have saved you the
mortification of having to apply to the natives for proper
information." It will presently be seen what value ought
to be attached to documents thus furnished.

The draft of some clauses which it was proposed to add
to the treaty between Portugal and the South African Re-
public, in which the boundary line of the last-named state
was made to include the country far to the westward, was
read ; but of course the Barolong ignored it.
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This conference proved that a friendly arrangement of

territorial claims was impossible. The Republic could not

withdraw from ground occupied by its people for nearly a

quarter of a century. And the Barolong clans, now strong

in numbers and counselled by Europeans who felt intense

hatred for the farmers, would not consent to occupy a position

of vassalage such as they had gladly submitted to in their

time of distress. They cannot be blamed for the attitude

which they assumed. It was natural that they should wish

to get all the ground that they possibly could, and to be free

of control and taxes. But it would be difficult to write too

harshly of some of their European advisers : men who per-

verted truth, and taught the chiefs and people to base their

pretensions on what was false; whose letters are loathsome

compounds of deceit and villainy, abuse of people more honest

than themselves, quotations from holy scripture, and profes-

sions of devotion to the cause of philanthropy and "justice to

the poor, oppressed natives of South Africa."

As no settlement could be mrde in a friendly manner, it

was agreed on both sides to refer to a court of arbitration tiie

questions of disputed territory and the claim of Montsiwa to

independence. Accordingly, on the 13th of November a letter

was addressed to Lieutenant-General Hay, Her Majesty's

high commissioner, requesting him tc appoint two members
of a court of arbitration. The letter bore the signatures of

the Barolong captains Montsiwa, Bakhobi, Moroko, Matlabe,

and Izaak Motlabane, of Gasiitsiwe, chief of the Bangwaketsi,

and of Massou, chief of the Koranas. The high commissioner

was informed that Montsiwa would proceed to Capetown to

confer with him, and furnish particulars and documents con-

cerning their claims.

Lieutenant-General Hay had already opened a corre-

spondence with President Pretorius on the subject of the

conflicting claims to the territory along the northern bank of

the Vaal, and had shown himself not altogether impartial.

The question was undecided whether the various elans were

trying to make aggressions upon the South African Republic,

or the South African Republic was trying to make aggres-
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sions upon them, when, on the 19th of September, 1870, the
high commissioner wrote to the President " desiring to urge
upon him in very strong terms the necessity for abstaining
from encroachment, without lawful and sufficient cause, upon
the pop-essions of native tribes in friendly alliance with Her
Majesty's Government." When or how the tribes came to be
in alliance with the British Government his Excellency did
not explain.

On the 5th of December the volksraad resolved that the
correspondence with the high commissioner should be con-
tinued, and that if necessary the Republic should submit its

claims to arbitration, and defend them on the grounds of the
convention of January, 1852, rights of conquest, negotiations

with natives, and occupation during years. The members
particularly desired that an impartial court should decide

whether the high commissioner had a right to interfere in

questions north of the Vaal not injuriously affecting British

subjects. A stanr^Ir^ committee of three members of the
volksraad was appointed to assist the president, the state

attorney, and the executive council in conducting matters
connected with the territorial disputes.

A few days before this resolution was adopted Lieutenant-
General Hay took a very decided step in reference to the
ownership of the diamond-fields. From the eastern districts

of the Cape Colony it was computed that fully one-fifth of the
young and able men had by that time gone to seek their

fortunes as diggers. In a region which so shortly before was
little better than a desert, machinery for the enforcement of

law and order was, of course, wanting ; and those who re-

mained at home but invested money in fitting out parties of
miners became ap{)rehensive that property might be unsafe.
Under the peculiar circumstances which had so suddenly and
unexpectedly arisen, they maintained that it was a necessity

for the Cape Colony, as the strongest power in South Africa,

to take possession of the diamond-fields. Several memorials
to that effect were sent to Lieutenant-General Hay. The
first of these in date as well as importance was signed by the
honourable R. Godlonton and the honourable D. H. Kennelly,
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members of the legi ilative council of the Cape Colony, and by
about five hundred others.

Following closely on these memorials came a petition from
Nicholas Waterboer to Her Majesty the Queen, dated the
25th of August, 1870, requesting that he and his people
might be received as British subjects, and the territory which
he claimed be incorporated with the British dominions. He
had been induced to make this proposal by a prospect of an
annuity for life that would put him in a position infinitely
better than that of captain of a little horde of semi-barbarians.

Lieutenant-General Hay had no power to annex an
inch of ground, but he practically substituted the British
authorities in South Africa for Mr. Arnot and his client
Nichohs Waterboer in the dispute concerning the ownership
of the diamond-fields. On the 30th of November, 1870, he
issued to an old colonial civil servant—Mr. John Campbell
—a commission under the Cape of Good Hope Punishment
Bill, empowering that officer to act as special magistrate in
accordance with its provisions in all the territory claimed by
Mr. Arnot for Waterboer. On the 13th of December Mr.
Campbell arrived at Klipdrift—now Barkly West—when
President Parker immediately resigned, and the new diamond-
field Republic came to an end. Along the northern bank of
the Vaal a large number of diggers—probably a majority of
them—welcomed the special magistrate, and without hesita-

tion submitted to his authority.

But the power of a special magistrate under the Cape of

Good Hope Punishment Bill is very limited. Mr. Campbell
could cause a British subject to be arrested and sent to the
Cape Colony for trial, but he could not try him where 'ihe

crime was committed. As an attempt to obviate this difficulty,

on the 1st of February, 1871, a commission was obtained
from the captain, Nicholas Waterboer. This, however, did
not much improve Mr. Campbell's position. At the best,

Nicholas Waterboer was only a claimant to the territory in

which Klipdrift was situated, and of all those who asserted
that they were th.. legitimate owners, he was the one who in

general opinion had the least right. His entire clan was too
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small to occupy more than one little village, and his residence

was some ninety miles distant in a direct line. No on6 could
ascertain that lie had ever exercised jurisdiction within a
radius of fifty miles of Klipdrift, or that any of his people

were livin^r outside of his district of Griquatown. The natives

who had their kraals along the river—Batlapin and Koranas
alike—entirely repudiated the pretensions made in his name.
The missionaries of the London Society, who were in a
position to know all the details of the history of his clan,

denied that he had any right to the ground in which the

diamond-fields were situated. They had kept silence when
his claim to a large portion of the districts of Boshof and
Jacobsdal in the Orange Free State was announced, but as

soon as it was known that Mr. Arnot was asserting his right

to land above the junction of the Hart and the Vaal also,

they gave their testimony against him. The reverend Robert

Moffat, the well-known missionary of Kuruman, wrote that he

could make out as good a title for himself as for Waterboer.

His son, the reverend John Smith Moffat, sent a letter to

Jantje, which was immediately forwarded to the high com-

missioner, to the effect that the territory could be proved

beyond question to belong to the Batlapin.

There were indeed people who favoured the pretensions of

the Griqua captain, but they brought forward no evidence

beyond mere assertions in support of their views. That

section of the newspaper press, both in South Africa and in

England, that under every variety of circumstance was
antagonistic to the Emigrant Farmers, took Waterboer's side

without investigation of the matter, simply because both the

Republics were opposed to him. Some of the articles in thfise

papers were exceedingly ludicrous when read on the banks of

the Vaal, as, for instance, depunciations of the rapacity of the

Boers of the Free State and the South African Republic, who
were represented as trying to defraud " the hereditary par-

amount ohief of all the Griquas " of his diamond-fields.

But such advocacy, though tending to create false impressions

at a distance, had no other effect than producing merriment

in tho mining camps. The general opinion there of white
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men and black was so decidedly opposed to the supposition
of Waterboer's having any riorhts in the neighbourhood, that
Mr. Campbell thought it prudent to keep his commission as
much as possible in the background.

Shortly after his assumption of duty as high commissioner,
Sir Henry Barkly proceeded on a visit to the Lesuto and the
diamond-fields. He arrived at Klipdrift on the 26th of
February, 1871, and was received with dutiful respect as Her
Majesty's representative. President Pretorius was there to
meet him, and so were Waterboer and the Barolong and
Batlapin chiefs. Mr. Arnot was present as adviser of Water-
boer, and th^ reverend Joseph Ludorf as adviser of Phoe,
Montsiwa, and Moroko. Mr. Theodor Doms came forward
as the mouthpiece of the Batlapin captains, but they disowned
him, as they stated he had been selling land in their names
without authority to do so, and they selected the reverend Mr.
Ludorf as their adviser and agent.

All of the captains, through their agents, laid statements
before his Excellency, and all professed to be willing to submit
their claims to a court of arbitration. Sir Henry Barkly
thereupon caused deeds of submission to be drawn up, and
on the Ist of March one of these was signed by President
Pretorius and Captain Nicholas Waterboer, and another by
President Pretorius, the Barolong chiefs, Montsiwa, Moroko,
Phoe, and four others of less note, and the Batlapin chiefs,'

Botlasitsi, Jantje, Matlabane, and Mankoioane.
At the same time an agreement was concluded between

Sir Henry Barkly and President Pretorius, providing for the
government of the diamond-fields on the northern bank of
the Vaal until the decision of the court of arbitration should
be made known. Mr. Campbell, special magistrate at Klip-
drift, was to have authority over all British subjects, and was
to receive the fees for digging-licenses paid by them. In the
same way Mr. J. A. de VilHers, who some months previously
had been stationed as landdrost at Hebron, was to have
authority over all citizens of the South African Republic, and
was to receive their license-money. The revenue collected
on both sides was to be held in trust until the decision of the
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arbitrators should be given, wlien it was to be transferred to

whichever claimant should be pronounced the rightful owner
of the land.

It was af'reed that the judges of the arbitration court

should be Mr. Anthony Alexander O'Reilly, landdrost of

Wakkerstroom, on behalf of the South African Republic, and
Mr. John Campbell on behalf of all the other parties to the

dispute. In case of the judges disagreeing, Lieutenant-

Governor Keate, of Natal, was empowered to give a final

decision. Sir Henry Barkly instructed Mr. Maximilian Jack-

son, the officer in command of a detachment of colonial police

that accompanied him to the diamond-fields, to act as special

magistrate while Mr. Campbell was otherwise employed.

On the 4th of April, 1871, the court of arbitration was
opened at the village of Bloerahof. To conduct the case,

President Pretorius and the state attorney, Frederick Klein,

appeared for the South African Republic ; Mr. David Arnot
and Attorney D. C. Grant for Waterboer, Attorney Grant and
Mr. Edwards for the Batlapin chief, Mankoroane ; the reverend

Joseph Ludorf for the Barolong chiefs, Phoe, Montsiwa, and

Moroko, and the Batlapin chief, Botlasitsi ; and Mr. Carl

Mathey for the Bangwaketsi chief, Gasiitsiwe, and the

Batlapin chief, Matlabane.

From the 5th of April to the 19th of June the arbitration

court listened to evidence, documentary and oral, that fills

three hundred and ninety-two pages of a blue-book.

The South African Republic went into court utterly un-

prepared to conduct its case properly. It is almost beyond
belief that no study was made of the early history of the

Emigrant Farmers, that Commandant-General Potgieter's

correspondence was not sought for, that numerous letters

which are in existence from men who took part In events

between 1836 and 1854 were never once referred to, that

the policy carried out by Sir Harry Smith was ignored as

completely as even Mr. Arnot himself could have desired.

But if this is nearly incredible, what can be said of the

following ?

Nothing could have been more opposed to the claims of

t i«
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the Republic, if properly represented, than a treaty such as
the reverend Mr. Ludorf asserted was made with Montsiwa in
December, 1851. If genuine, such a treaty would have
established Montsiwa's right to independence and to all the
land west of the Hart river. It would not have affected the
claim to the country east of the Hart in the slightest degree,
as Montsiwa put forward no pretensions there. The whole
of the evidence of the farmers was opposed to such an agree-
ment having been made. Can it be believed that Messrs.
Pretorius and Klein obtained a copy of the alleged treaty from
the reverend Mr. Ludorf—a man whose denunciations of the
farmers were generally known—and put it in as part of their
case, to show that one of the chiefs admitted their ownership
of the diamond-fields along the Vaal ? They alleged that it

would have greater weight as having been obtained from
their opponents. And after all, it turned out to be spurious.
The so-called treaty was nothing more than an es:tract from
certain papers which professed to be minutes of the meeting
of the 30th of December, 1C51, taken down by the reverend Mr.
Ludorf himself. No white man, except Ludorf, had ever put
pen to it. The names which professed to be signatures of
individuals at the foot of the document were placed there
without the slightest authority. So much could be gathered
from the evidence. And then the writer of the document
was examined, and made the following statement :

1

" I acknowledge the document now exhibited to me to be the
same I lent to Mr. Forssman, and it is in my handwriting, and
is in the same state as when I lent it. I cannot account at this

moment for the discrepancy of the word ' Get ' {i.e. geteekend or
signed) being before the name of A. Stander, and then the cross

against the names of Motsegane and Montsiwa, and which I think
must be an error. There is also the N.B. after the signatures,

which differs from the copy I got from Montsiwa, but corresponds

with the document printed with the correspondence between the
Governor and the Transvaal. I admit there must be an error some-
where, which I cannot account for. I cannot say how long ago I

made this copy, but it must be years ago. I am unable to state

1 Evidence of reverend Joseph Ludorf. Page 179 of the Bloemhof blue-book.
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when I made this copy. I cannot swear that the document was
made within the last five or siz years."

After this an expressive remark follows in the proceedings

of the court of arbitration

:

" The commissioners, on examining the water-mark of the paper

of this document, found it to be 1868."

The agents on the opposite side put in a great number of

short extracts from printed books. Messrs. Pretorius and
Klein must have been unaware that such books were in

existence, or at anyrate they must have been unacquainted
with their contents, for there is not one of the volumes of any
value which could not be used with far greater effect on the
side of the Republic.

Nearly all the evidence given by Waterboer's witnesses,

except that of his brother-in-law, might have been admitted
at once, if Messrs. Pretorius and Klein had known the history
of Sir Harry Smith's administration, and had produced a few
of that governor's proclamations and letters. The evidence of
Waterboer's brother-in-law could have been invalidated by
the production of documents easily obtained.

The fiction of an alliance between the early Emigrant
Farmers and the refugee chiefs Tawane and Moroko, with the
condition that the whole country of Tao should be given up
to the Barolong to be held by them as an independent people,
pressed into prominence by the reverend Mr. Ludorf, was not
rebutted with that overwhelming documentary evidence that
could easily have been obtained. Oral evidence, both European
and native, indeed, was brought forward to refute it, even to
show the absurdity of the supposition; but that evidence
which no judge, however partial, could refuse to accept as
conclusive, was left out entirely. In this most important
matter to the South African Republic, Messrs. Pretorius and
Klein were satisfied to allow a decision to be given by the
judges according as they might attach more credibility to one
set of witnesses than another.

In shorl, instead of getting up their case as they ought to
have done, the representatives of the South African Republic
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went into court depending upon a general feeling among the
farmers north of the Vaal that their claims were just, and
upon the evidence of witnesses who knew nothing except from
personal experience.

The agents for the claimants on the other side acted very
differently. They knew exactly what to withhold, as well as
what to bring forward. Overwhelming evidence was produced
as to what Sir George Napier and Sir Peregrine MaJtland had
done and enacted, but great care was taken to avoid Sir Harry
Smith. From the evi.^.once given at Bloemhof, documentary
and oral, it could never be gathered that the policy of the
Imperial Government in creating and recognising native states
in South Africa had been reversed.

From the beginning it was anticipated that the decision
would not rest with Messrs. Campbell and O'Reilly as judges.
They would see that order was preserved, that each side
should have an opportunity to bring forward all the evidence
it chose to produce, and that the evidence was faithfully put
on record. But it was never supposed that they would agree
in pronouncing judgment. The real arbiter was the final
referee, Lieutenant-Governor Keate, of Natal. He had
decided in favour of the South African Republic in the
question of the disputed boundary with the Orange Free
State, and therefore, as the high commissioner's action made
arbitration by someone a necessity. President Pretorins was
willing to leave this matter also in his hands. The judges
disagreed, as was foreseen, and on the 17th of October, 1871,
Lieutenant-Governor Keate signed at Maritzburg the 'docu-
ment known ever since as the Keate Award. It was entirely
adverse to the South African Republic. It gave to Nicholas
Waterboer the northern and north-eastern lines which Mr.
Arnot claimed for him, and gave the Barolong and Batlapin
all the territory between the boundaries so assigned to
Waterboer and a line sweeping round from the source of the
Molopo past the source of the Hart to Makwasi Spruit, and
down Makwasi Spruit to the Vaal.

The publication of this award is a turning-point in South
African history. All recent transactions of any importance
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north of the Orttrige are connected with it directly or in-

directly. It is the event to which the present British
dominion over Betshuanaland really owes its existence. It
is the event which opened a road for England from the Capo
Colony to the heart of the continent, and made the occupation
of Rhodesia possible. Some of its immediate consequences
will be related presently, but its effects in general must be
reserved for anotiier volume.

A great deal of blame has been cast upon Lieutenant-
Governor Keate in connection with this award ; but, if the
matter be carefully considered, this will be found to be un-
deserved. It is easy for those who know something of South
African history of fifty years ago to point out errors of

judgment in the document; but Mr. Keate could not be
supposed to have any acquaintance with event' that occurred
in the interior of the country before his arrival at Natal.
There was not a volume in existence to which he could refer

for accurate information upon the South African Republic,
or the Barolong, or the Griquas, or even the Cape Colony.
To get any knowledge concerning the occurrences of bygone
years, it would have been necessary for him to examine vast
quantities of documents scattered throughout the country,
and for that he had no time. The most that he could do
would be to look through ten or a dozen blue-books, with
the chance after all of finding very little to the purpose in

them. He was a trained barrister, and he had a right to

expect that the parties in the case would produce all the
evidence in their favour that they could. It was not his

duty to hunt up old letters and records to favour either one
side or the other; on the contrary, he would have been
greatly to bla.ne had he done so. It was for him to give a
decision upon the evidence placed before him, and not to go
beyond that evidence in the least respect.

He was, and ought to have been, like a judge in some
distant country who had never heard more of the contending
parties than that there were such people living somewhere,
and to whom the Bloemhof papers might be sent with a
request for a decision upon the various claims. Such a man
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would be compelled to reject some of the evidence, for much
of it is conflicting. To enable him to decide as to the credi-
bility of the witnesses, he would refer to the documentary
evidence. If he had no reason to suppose that this was
garbled, and he found it generally leaning to one side, he
would give the preference to the witnesses on that side.

And this is just what Lieutenant-Governor Keate did. He
rejected the evidence of a few natives and of all the Euro-
peans except the agents 'or the Griquas and the Barolong,
and he accepted the evidence of the Griquas and as much of
that (»f the Barolong and the Catlapin as did not conflict with
that of the Griquas, because the documents put in by Mr.
Arnot, and which were before him, seemed to favour that
view.

Very diflferent is the duty of the historian. He, too, must
weigh evidence carefully, when it is coniiictiig ; but his in-

vestigations are not to be limited to any set of papers. He
must do what Lieutenant-Governor Keate would not have
been justified in doing: he must search diligently for every
source of information from both sides; he must not be

satisfied with extracts which may be garbled, but must ex-

amine the en, lie documents or volumes from which they are

taken
; he must go to the very origin of every dispute, and

trace it to its ending. Hence comes the apparent anomaly
that a judgment like the Keate Award must be shown to be

subversive of rightful claims, while the man who pronounced
it can be regarded as perfectly blameless.

The award was received by the people of the South
African Republic with consternation. It cut oft' from the

jurisd'ction of their government not only the territory occu-

pied by the clans of the Barolong and the Batlapin, and the

vast region bordering on the dt, ert, to which their rights

were really open to dispute, but the whole district of Bioem-

hof, part of the district of Potchefstroom, aiid part of the

district of Marico,^ all containing farms occupied by the

earliest European settlers.

' In October, 1871, the volkaraad resolved that landdrosts should be stationed
at the villages of Zeerust and Middleburg, thus creating new districts out of
portions of older ones. The districts were proclaimed by Acting-President

if: I?
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Public meetings were held, at which those speakers who
advised resistance to the dismemberment of the Republic
were most applauded. An outburst of indignation against
the government followed. A commission of three members
of the volksraad had been appointed in December, 1870, to
assist the president, the executive council, and the state
attorney in dealing with territorial disputes, but the presi-
dent had signed the deeds of submission to the court of
arbitration of Bloemhof without consulting his colleagues.
One of the chLf objects that the volksraad had in view in
consenting to arbitration was to have it decided whether
Her Majesty's high commissioner was justified under the
convention of 1852 in continually interfering in matters
north of the Vaal, and tliis had not been brought forward at
Bloemhof. The populace made the most of these omissions,
and declared that they had no longer any confidence in tlie

government.

The volksraad was in session when, on the 16th of
November, 1871, the award reached Pretoria. Two letters
from President Pretorius to Sir Henry Barkly were first

brought on for consideration. One of these letters was
dated on the 22nd of July. In it the president stated that
he had learned from a report of the debates in the Housa of
Commons that instructions had been issued by Her Majesty
to accede to the request of Waterboer and the Griquas to
become British subjects ; that by this proceeding confidence
in an impartial decision had been weakened ; and British
officers could no longer be looked upon as arbitrators, but as
parties in the case. Further, he protested against the re-

ception of the Griquas as a breach of the convention of
January, 1852, and requested that the claim of Engkmd to
act thus in disregard of the convention might be referred for
decision to another power. This letter was not objected to

;

but the other, which was dated on the 10th of November,
Erasmus on the 24th of February, 1872. Middelburg, on the eastern side of
the state, had previously been part of Lydenburg. Marico, as the new district
was termed, of which Zeerust was the seat of magistracy, was proclaimed with
boundaries including two long-settled field-cornetcies, one of which was almost
entirely cut off by the Keate Award.
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and in which tlie president stated that on receipt of the

award he would gladly comply with it, was disapproved by
the volksraad.

Such a hostile feeling towards the executive was now
shown by the members that the principal officers thought it

prudent to resign their situations. The state secretary

Proes, a well-educated and able, but erratic man, though he

had little or nothing to do with the arbitration, was the first

to retire. The reverend Mr. Swart was immediately elected in

his stead. The state attorney Klein then sent his resigna-

tion to the president, and received an honourable discharge.

Mr. Pretorius next laid down his office, when the volksraad

directed Mr. Daniel Jacobus Erasmus, the oldest unofficial

member of the executive council, to act as president until an

election could be held.

Meantime, the reverend Mr. Ludorf was doing all that was

possible still further to irritate the European inhabitants of

the country north of the Vaal. Sir Henry Barkly had in

vain, both privately and officially, cautioned him to act with

prudence. His enmity towards the farmers seemed to have

no bounds, or unexpected success in obtaining a triumph

for his clients had disordered his mind. On the 8th of

October, before Mr. Keate's decision reached Pretoria, Sir

Henry Barkly proclaimed in the OovernTnent Gazette of the

Cape Colony the boundary fixed by the award between the

South African Republic and the Bangwaketsi, Barolong,

and Batlapin tribes. Thereupon Mr. Ludorf drew up a

constitution for a native state which he proposed to bring

into existence, and in the name of a number of chiefs

issued a pompous proclamation. On the first trustworthy

imformation reaching them that Her Majesty's high com-

missioner in South Africa acknowledged their independence

of the Republic, the chiefs began to show those symptoms

of jealousy of each other which so soon thereafter led

to feuds and warfare after the manner of barbarians, yet

Mr. Ludorf's project of a constitution was for a single

government, with a representative assembly. In his pro-

clamation, a copy of which he forwarded to the govern-
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ment afc Pretoria, he styled himself "commissioner and

ZZ " n
'^ ^ '""^^'^'^ ^"'^^^°^' Bangwaketsi.and

"And we do further proclaim and make known that all whitepe^ons who have settled or may hereafter settle within the limitsou erntory shall be bound to conform to law and order, butwdl at the same t:me enjoy all civil rights, protection, freedom ofreh^on, press, etc.. etc. General affairs of state to rest in the hands

1 1 Tt T''''f\
°^ '°"'*''"'^ "^^*'^«' *^^«*"«t affairs in those of

the local chief and his heemraden, the administration of justice tobe entrusted to one or more civil commissioners. There will be two
courts of appeal, namely, the high court, consisting of the chief andheemraden m each district, and in the last instance the great council
of combmed chiefs. Legislative functions are vested in'the nation^

the nght of being represented. Everyone, without exception, shall
be bound m case of hostilities to render his aid, and at on'ce ^o con-

^Zl r t '"• '''""''^^ ""^ '« '^'''^ of *»»« forces by the

u de fiL?' f*"°V'r'°''^'^*^'
^"^ commander-in-chief, 'eachunder fixed orders and rules. State revenues are obtained from thefoUowmg sources: shopkeepers', trader.', and hunters' licenses

ransf r and registry dues, poll tax, summonses and appeal cost^
fines, taxes to be levied on subjects, tolls, etc."

Probably this was designed purposely to annoy the
Europeans, for Mr. Ludorf could not have seriously befieved
that the farmers who had been cut off from the Republic bythe award would submit to such a government as that which
he proposed, or that their friends on the other side of theme would abandon them, in case the chiefs attempted to
enforce their authority.

h « «^"

But whatever effect it was intended to produce, it was the

Till ^77* ^'"°" ^^^"^ *^^^^ ^^ *^e volksraad. On
the 24th of November that body instructed the acting pre-
sident how to proceed in the matter, and on the following
day Mr Erasmus published a proclamation and a protest

S 1 t"'^^ n
''^'^- ^^ ^^''^ documents he announced

that as the late President Pretorius had neither authority
'lor right to sign the acts of submission singly and without
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the concurrence of his colleagues, the whole proceedings in

connection with the arbitration were regarded as invalid,

and the award would not be acknowledged as binding.

Further, he announced that he would take steps to assure

the inviolability of the territory of the Republic, and to

protect the rights of property within it.

On the 2nd of December a communication covering

copies of these documents was forwarded to the high com-

missioner. Sir Henry Barkly replied that he had nothing to

do with the dispute between the executive and the legislature

of the Republic, that he adhered to the proceedings of

the arbitration, and intended to abide by and maintain

the award. And Earl Kimberley, then secretary of state for

the colonies, approved of this reply.

But in point of fact the award never was enforced. There

was only one way in which the boundary laid down by Mr.

Keate could be maintained, and that was by Great Britain

assuming direct control in the territory west of it, and keep-

ing a strong military or police force there. This step the

Imperial Government was unwilling to take. The South

African Republic therefore continued to embrace the field-

cornetcies that were occupied by the farmers, and a landdrost

remained in the village of Bloerahof and held a court there.

Beyond the parts occupied by farmers, disorder soon

reigned supreme. The clans quarrelled with each other,

and European vagabonds of almost every nationality went

among them fomenting jealousy and strife. The government

at Pretoria considered it no part of its duty to do anything

for the protection of people whom the high commissioner

had declared independent, and when it was pointed out that

mischief-makers were crossing over from the Republic, retorted

that a much larger number of the same class went there from

the British possessions, without any hindrance or check on

their movements.

The chief political desire of the largest party among the

burghers, now that they were reeling under the tremendous

blow of the Keate Award, was to obtain as president a man

competent to meet the British authorities in South Africa
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on a footing of equality in controversy. All other qualifica-
tions were to be subservient to this one of cleverness in
combating an opponent by argument To get such a man
aa they wanted it was necessary to look beyond their own
stete, and according to the constitution it was required that
the president should be an elector of five years' standin... and
a member of the Dutch Reformed Church.

To meet this difficulty, in November, 1871. an act was
passed by the volksraad amending the constitution. It pro-
vided that the president should be chosen by a majority of
the burghers entitled to vote. He was to hold office for five
years unless he should resign sooner, or be dismissed for
lawful reasons by the volksraad. He was required to be
above thirty years of age. to be a member of a Protestant
Church, and never to have been convicted of a dishonourable
offence ,-^ but it was not necessary that he should be a burgher
of the Republic at the time of his election. Anyone ;ith
the foregoing qualifications, who should receive requisitions
signed by at least one hundred qualified voters and publishedm the maxiU Gourant one month before the election, was to
be eligible. Every burgher over twenty-one years of age
resident in the country for twelve months, or having pur-
chased burgher rights, was to be entitled to vote for a
president, i he voting was to be by ballot papers

There was a strong party in favour of the election of
President Brand, of the Orange Free State, to be president
of the South African Republic also. The programme of the
leaders of this party was the close unicm of the two Republics
under one constitution if possible, and. if that could not be
effected, under one president, leaving to each state its own
constitution. Union, it was observed, would have been
brought about years previously had it not been for Sir Geor^^e
Grey s explicit declaration that in such a case Great Britatn
would not regard the convention as binding any longer.
But of waat value, after all, were these conventions ? GreatBn ain v. . .ed them at will. She would not permit a third
party to interpret them, but whenever it pleased a hostile
Hign commissioner to interfere in matters north of the
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Orange, he was allowed to do so despite of the plain meaning

of their clauses. As things stood, the conventions practically

were binding only on the Republics. Better let them go, and

do all that could be done to strengthen their own position.

The most glaring violations of the conventions were enu-

merated as

—

1. The stoppage of supplies of ammunition to the Orange

Free State.

2. The interference on behalf of the Basut > of Moshesh.

3. The appointment of a special magistrate and stationing

police on the Vaal.

4. Interference between the South African Republic and

nominally the Griqua captain Waterboer, with the design of

acquiring the territory in which the diamond-fields were

situated.

6. Interference between the South African Republic and

various Bantu tribes.

6. The dismemberment of the Orange Free State, and the

appropriation of a portion of its territory.

7. The open and undisguised sale of guns and ammunition

to blacks at the diamond-fields which had recently been

annexed to the British dominions, although the acting

president Erasmus had brought this matter to the notice of

the high commissioner, and had protested against it not only

as forbidden by the conventions, but as dangerous in the

highest degree to the peace and quietness of the whole of

South Africa.

This party proposed then to let the conventions be con-

sidered as annulled, to push on with the waggon-road which

was being constructed between Lydenburg and Delagoa Bay,

so as to secure communication with the outer world through

a port that was not under the English flag, to establish a

gunpowder manufactory in the country, to be careful to do

nothing to give Great Britain an opportunity to attack them

with any show of justice, but to maintain their rights, and

if attacked, to defend themselves to the very best of their

ability. Military conquest might be prevented, they said,

but even that would not put them in a much worse position
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than they were in already by striving to keep faith with the
Imperial authorities.

Requisitions embodying these views in language more or
less guarded were sent to President Brand with over
a thousand signatures attached to them. But that prudent
statesman dreaded the growth of such opinions as detrimental
to the best interests of South Africa, and declined to allow
himself to be put in nomination. Officially he replied that
constitutional questions prevented him from accepting the
requisitions, but privately he com.nunicated his true relsons.
His was the part of the peacemaker. He visited the prin-
cipal men who wished him to be the head of both Republics,
and discussed the matter with them.
He pointed out that England would certainly regard the

union of the two states under such circumstances as a menace,
and that the large number of English people in South Africa

[

could not be expected to join against their mother country,
although many of them might disapprove of the conduct of
the Imperial authorities. It was impossible, he said, for
any section of the inhabitants to stand alone. In face of the
enormously rapid increase of the blacks which was taking
place on every side, peace, friendship, the uttermost good
will, ought to exist between white people in the country, no
matter what nationality their ancestors were of. He had
strong hope, also, that justice would ultimately be done to
the Republics by the Imperial Government, for he believed
that It was not from an inclination to be harsh and oppressive,
but from ignorance of facts, that so many errors had been
committed. It was an exemplification of the common proverb
"Onbekenk maakt onbemind"-What is unknown is jjnloved.
But hundreds of intelligent Englishmen were now visiting
the distant interior, the recencJy-discovered gold-fields in
^utpansberg i were attracting them and would continue to
'In the winter of 1871 gold-bearing reefs were discovered in the district

IST^?" ?r
***' ^^^ °^ September of that year Mr. Edward Button

Itssol?; 7m T"^
'P'"''"'"' °* ""'^ gold-bearing quartz found ninemles south-east of Marabastad. This discovery, with its results, will be fully

related in annthnr ynlune hut- if {= -^^-^ t. . ,

the text intelligible.
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do so, and through them the truth concerning the Republica
which was not believed in England when it came from South
Africans—would certainly become known and recognised.

Only have patience, he said, and all would come right.

It cannot be stated with accuracy what number, but it is

certain that a large proportion—probably over two-thirds—
of the burghers of the Orange Free State were at this time
in full sympathy with the party in the South African Re-
public that President Brand was endeavouring to pacify.

He succeeded, owing to his great personal influence and the

confidence everywhere felt in his integrity and devotion to the

welfare of the whole community.
Having failed to secure President Brand as the heaJ of

their state, the burghers of the South African Republic
looked round for someone else with the requisite qualitica-

tions. There was a clergyman of the Dutch Reformed
Church—the reverend Thomas Fran5ois Burgers—stationed at

Hanover in the Cape Colony, who had in recent years been

prominently before the public. Accused of holding heretical

views, in 1864 he had been condemned and suspended from
the ministry by an ecclesiastical tribunal ; but as he held his

appointment from the Colonial Government, he brought his

case before a court of law, and won it. From the supreme
court of the Cape Colony, an appeal was made by his oppo-

nents to the Privy Council of England, and in 1865 judgment
was given in his favour. In 1866 he gained a case which he

brought in the supreme court of the colony against the

presbytery of Graaff-Reinet for depriving him of his seat.

Mr. Burgers was a member of one of the oldest families in

South Africa, and had a very strong feeling of sympathy
with his countrymen. He had received a good education in

Europe. A patriot, a fluent speaker in both Dutch and

English, and possessed of unbounded energy, he seemed in

all respects but one to be the man that was needed. His

creed was not in unison with that of nineteen-twentieths of

the people of the Republic, and in the interior of South

Africa this meant a great deal. Five years later it was the

cause of hundreds o2 men fearing to go into battle with him



The South African Republic 375
as their leader. But now in the anxiety of the burghers to
get a clever man as their president, this was overlooked. It
was not yet known that he was fond of forming large vision-
ary plans, and trying to carry them into effect without
sumcient means.

Only one other candidate—Mr. W. Robinson—was put
forward. At the election three thousand three hundred and
fifty-two votes were given, of which two thousand nine hun-
dred and sixty.four were for Mr. Burgers, and on the 1st
of July, 1872, he took the oath of office as president of the
South African Republic.

! i



CHAPTER XIV

EVENTS IN THE ORANOE FREE STATE DURING 1871

Favourable opportunity in 1870 to bring about perfect concord between theKepubhcB and colonies in South Africa—Transactiona of the Free Statedelegates and the high commissioner-Proceedings of the special magis-
trate at Klipdrift-Negotiations between the high commissioner and theauthorities at Bloemfontein—Misleading despatches to the secretary ofBtate-Irntatmg language used by Earl Kimberley-Permission given tothe high commissioner to annex Waterboer's country under certain con-
ditions-Resolutions adopted by the Cape Parliament-Correspondence be-tween Sir Henry Barkly and President Brand-Failure of Mr. Hamelberc's
mission m England as diplomatic agent of the Orange Free State—Issue
of proclamations by Sir Henry Barkly declaring the principal diamond-
helds British territory by virtue of cession from Nicholas Waterboer-
Appointment of British officials in the annexed territory—Particulars
ooncerning the land annexed east of the Vaal-Possession taken of the
diamond-fields by the frontier armed and mounted police—Protest of
President Brand—Retirement of Landdroat Truter—Meeting of the volks-
raad in extraordinary session—Address of the president-Protestpublished
by the vo ksraad-Other diamond-fields in the Free State-Revenue of
the Republic-Reduction of the state debt-Formation of the districts ofBethlehem and Rouxville—Erection of a monument at Bloemfontein inremembrance of those who fell in the Baauto war.

In 1870 and the early months of 1871 there was an oppor-
tunity for a statesman in British South Africa to bind
together the diverse elements of society, and with little

difficulty to extend the influence of England in the interior.

The Republics had not yet recovered from the state of ex-
haustion caused by the wars in which they had been involved,
and would have been only too glad to enter into any fair

arrangement to secure to Great Britain, through the Cape
Colony, every advantage that could be desired, provided only
their independence was left intact, and they were treated with
common courtesy and justice. No one of any note in either

state refused to admit that the discovery of diamonds in vast
numbers must produce a change of some kind in the country,
and that England, as the power of greatest weight and
importance, was entitled to a corresponding share in the
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settlement of the new interests that had arisen. There canbe no shadow of doubt that, under the circumstancen then
existing, past errors could have been consigned to oblivionand an era of harmony have been entered upon. There wasan opportunity for a statesman, but the man was not at hand
to take advantage of it.

Sir Henry Barkly, on his arrival in South Africa-Slst
of December. 1870-found President Brand and Mr. C WMutton waiting in Capetown to explain matters from their
standpoint. The Free State delegates had learned that the
principal officers of the Colonial Government were disposed
to act as advocates of Nicholas Waterboer, and Mr. Button
declared afterwards in the volksraad that he would not have
remained twenty-four hours if the president, who was
earnestly desirous of an amicable settlement, had not per-
suaded hxm to stay. On the 3rd of January, 1871, an inter-view of three hours' duration took place with the high
commissioner. Sir Henry Barkly spoke of Waterboer's
c aim to the district m which the diamond-fields were
situated as If it rested on a firm basis, and proposed that
the Free State should submit the dispute to arbitration.
Ihe delegates maintained that the Free State could not
reter to arbitration the question of its right to a portion

!! ,«L '''*°;T
*r^»«ferred to it by the British authoritiesm 1854, m which no Griquas were living, and over which

Waterboer had never exercised jurisdiction. As for the
tampbell district, the condition was different, and they did
not objent^ to submit the question of its ownership to the
decision of a foreign court; but after Waterboer's off-er to
cede his territory to the British Government, the high com-
raissionei- could not be regarded as an impartial and dis-
interested person to act as umpire.

The delegates remained some weeks in Capetown, though
from the first even President Brand saw little chance of
success. The high commissioner kept them occupied in ex-
plaining m writing the pettiest details of transfers of r„rn;3m verifying paltry documents, and such-like matters.

At the beginning of February, Mr. Campbell-the special

K
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magistrate at Klipdrift—began to feel his way towards
asserting authority on the Free State side of the river. On
the Ist of the month he issued a notice cautioning all
persons against purchasing or alienating land at either
Klipdrift or Pniel, and on the 8th he warned the committee
of management of a new camp at a place called Cawood's
Hope, on the left bank of the Vaal, not to pay license fees
to anyone but himself. On the 8th, also, ho called for
tenders for the hire of strong rooms, to be used as a lock-up
and a prison, at Pniel, and for the supply of n-aizo or tiiiliet

for the use of a hundred mounted policemen on cither side

of the river.

These notices called forth remonstrances from the Free
State Government, but the high commissioner supported Mr.
Campbell. In a letter to President Brand, dated on the
28th of February, 1871, be stated that "as long as the
boundaries between the Orange Free State and the chief

Waterboer remained in dispute, all acts performed under
the authority and with the consent of the latter, within the
limits mentioned by Lieutenant-General Hay, were, in the
opinion of Her Majesty's Government, of greater force and
validity than those of the representatives of the Orange
Free State."

After his visit to the diamond-fields at the end of
February and the beginning of March, 1871, Sir Henry
Barkly touched at Bloemfontein on his way to the Lesuto.

There he endeavoured to induce President Brand to follow
the example of President Pretorius, and submit to the de-

cision of arbitrators the right of the state to all the ground
claimed by Mr. Arnot r Waterboer, and further to agree
to the exclusive jurisdi?^ -'." British special magistrates
over British subjects ^ . i,v, oii^- territory in dispute until the

decision of the arbitrators should be made known. But to

this the president and the executive council would in no
wise consent. In the territory east of the Vaal claimed in

the name of Waterboer, they observed, there were at least

one hundred and forty occupied farms, a considerable

number of which were held under titles issued bv the
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Sovereignty Government. They could not suspend their
right of jurisdiction over any individuals there, and in case
anyone else should attempt to exercise authority they would
be compelled to adopt measures of resistance. But as re-
garded the Campbell district, they were willing to submit
their right to it to the decision of either the president of the
United States of America or the king of Holland, or they
would dispose of their title on fair terms either to the
Imperial or Cape Colonial Government, or they were pre-
pared to exchange it for the district of Albania. Sir Henry
Barkly would accept none of these proposals.

In the meantime the practical government of the diamond-
fields was made almost impossible by the action of the
high commissioner and the special magistrate. Under
the plea that obtaining licenses from officers of the Free
State would be recognising one party in the dispute, British
subjects were called upon to pay taxes of all kinds to the
special magistrate only, and were promised protection against
the enforcement of demands by any person else. A few
individuals then set the Free State authorities at defiance,
upon which the president called out a commando to support
the courts of law.

The high commissioner chose to regard this proceeding
as a menace to the British Government. On the 20th of
March he wrote to the president that his « fixed determination
was to repel force by force, and to protect Her Majesty's
subjects by every means in his power from all interference
by the Free State authorities, whilst pursuing their lawful
calling m the territory claimed by the chief Waterboer, as
long as the question of title to the territory was not disposed
of by competent authority." Under the Act of the Cape
Parliament, No. 3 of 1855, the governor was empowered to
employ the frontier armed and mounted police within or
without the colonial boundary as to him should seem meet,
bince its enrolment it had frequently been stationed beyond
the border, and at this time a detachment under Inspector
Jackson^ was at the diggings north of the Vaal. In April
tx.e whole available force was concentrated at Hopetown, and

J
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a troop under Commandant Bowker moved on to Klipdrift
to support the special magistrata.

Just before this the volksraad met in special session at
uiloemfontein, for the purpose of discussing the perilous
condition of the country. The members repudiated the
assumption of the high commissioner that the Free State
was .'.ctuated by any othar than the most friendly feelings
towards the British Government; at the same time, they
deprecated the treatment the Republic was receiving at the
hands of Sir Henry Barkly, and declined emphatically to
submit their rights to a court of arbitration of which any of
the judges should be nominated directly or indirectly by
him. They felt, however, that they were under a necessity
of making some proposal to show that they were only desirous
of defending their own possessions, and therefore they
expressed themselves raady to submit to foreign arbitration
their right to the land in which the dry diggings were
situated. On the 5th of April they adopted a resolution " to
propose to his Excellency that the head of an independent
foreign power be requested to give the desired decision as
arbitrator, and to propose to the choice of the British Govern-
ment liis Majesty the Emperor of Germany, or his Majesty
the King of the Netherlands, or the president of the United
States of Ar erica, and that pending the said decision the
jurisdiction of the Orange Free Str.ce over the disputed ground
should be maintained, and continued to be exercised as had
hitherto been the case."

When this was communicated to the high commissioner,
he replied that he was precluded from discussing the question

further until the armed force of the Free State was recalled.

The volksraad then resolved that the commando should be
withdrawn, protesting at the same time that there never
was any intention to oppose the British authorities, the

object being to support the courts of law against resistance

made in the name of the captain, Nicholas Waterboer. Upon
this the high commissioner renewed his proposal of local

arbitration with concurrent jurisdiction until the result

should be known, which the Frea State Government again
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declined. The phraseology which he used irritated the
members of the volksraad exceedingly, foi- he wrote of the
diamond-fields as being in that part of Waterboer's territory
claimed by the Free State. Shortly afterwards Lord
Kimberley announced that the reference of South African
disputes to the head of a foreign country could not be agreed
to, so that the confidence entertained in the Republic of
arriving at a settlement in this manner came to an end

The Imperial Government must be held responsible for
the acts of Its agents, more especially when it formally
approves of those acts; but it should be remembered at thesame time that the secretary of state derives his information
upon such subjects as the ownership of a plot of ground in
the middle of a South African desert entirely from men

h1 wT 7r\f" ?'"'^ ^"'^'^^^ ^"^ Lieutenant-GeneralHay Whether these high officers in their turn were grossly
misinformed, or not, may be left undiscussed ; beyond dispute
their despatches were misleading. The distortion of events'm some of them would be perfectly ludicrous if the conse
quences had not been so serious. As an instance, a pro-clamation was published by one Jacob Makantsi, a councillor
of the Barolong chief Moroko, and Theodor Doms andRoderick Barker, styling themselves diplomatic agent and
commander-in-chief of the Batlapin and Barolong tribes
declaring war against the South African Republic Thiswas considered by some of the diggers a capital joke, andDoms was loudly cheered when he mounted on a cart andbegan to make a speech. The whole proceeding was a pieceof buffoonery and was so regarded by every sensible personwho witnessed it, as may be seen from the accounts in the
newspapers. Yet the high commissioner represented it tothe secretary of state as a serious matter, and the special

rrth?/'\rf'?• ^^'\ '^"°^ ^^^^^^^^^ - -'^-^

at the fieldf
^

'
'"^

' ^'^^ *^' ^"^''^ '"^j««*«

With information so incorrect as that supplied to him
Jl-arl Kimberley caused despatches to be written ^w,.v, ^..„x,..'

increased the irritation existing in the Free State^* InTne
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of these despatches, dated on the 17th of November, 1870
the secretary of state expressed his views as follows :

—

" Her Majesty's Government would see with great dissatisfactioa

any encroachment on the Griqua territory by those Republics, which
would open to the Boers an extended field for their slave-dealing

operations, and probably lead to much oppression of the natives and
disturbance of peace. ... I should wish you to discourage, by all

practicable means, short of the application of force, any combination
of the Dutch Boers and English immigrants for the purpose of

expelling or overpowering the native occupants of the lands, whether
Griquas or other tribes."

While using language such as this, which showed his

absolute ignorance of the real condition of the country and
its people, Earl Kimbcrley professed that he entertained the

most friendly feelings towards the Republics. He was averse

to the extension of the British dominions in South Africa,

if extension implied increased responsibility or cost. On the

24th of January, 1871, he instructed Sir Henry Barkly "not
to be a party to the annexation of any territory which the

Cape Colony would be unable to govern and defend by its

own unaided resources." The Free State Government had
sent to the secretary of state for foreign affairs a protest

against the appointment of British magistrates to exercise

jurisdiction within its territory. The secretary of state for

foreign affairs had referred the protest to the secretary of

state for the colonies, and the secretary for the colonies left

the matter to the high commissioner's judgment, with no

other reservation than the above.

On the 8th of March Sir Henry Barkly replied that " it

appeared to him that the British Government had already

gone too far to admit of its ceasing to support the cause of

either Waterboer or the diggers."

Earl Kimberley then gave the high commissioner power

to annex Waterboer's territory, which he believed contained

the diamond-fields, because he had been so informed. But

the power so given was only to be used under certain con-

ditions, which, if they were observed, would prevent a wrong
being done. The authority was conveyed in a despatch
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dated on the 18th of May, 1871, and containing a commission
of Her Majesty, issued on the preceding day. These docu-
ments were thus worded

:

"It is not without reluctance that Her Majesty's Government
consent to extend the British territory in South Africa, but on a
full consideration of all the circumstances, the presence of so large
a number of British subjects on the diamond-fields, the probability
that this number will rapidly increase, the danger of serious dis-
turbances on the northern frontier of the Cape Colony if a regular
authority is not established without delay in Waterboer's country
and the strong desire expressed both by Waterboer and the new
settlers that the territory in question should be brought under
British rule, they have come to the conclusion that they ought to
advise Her Majesty to accept the cession offered by Waterboer if
the Cape Parliament will formally bind itself to the conditions which
you have indicated, namely, that the colony will u.idertake the
responsibihty of governing the territory which is to be united to it
together with the entire maintenance of any force which may be
necessary for the preservation of order and the defence of the new
border, such force not to consist of British troops, but to be a force
raised and supported by the colony."

"Victoria, by the grace of God, etc. Whereas divers of our
subjects have settled in districts north of the Orange river in South
Africa, and alleged to belong to certain native chiefs and tribes •

and whereas it is expedient, with the consent of such chiefs and
tribes, and of the legislature of our colony of the Cape of Good
Hope, to make provision for the government of certain of such
districts as part of our said colony : now we do by this our commis-
sion under our sign manual and signet authorise you the said Sir
Henry Barkly by proclamation under your hand and the public seal
of our said colony to declare that, after a day to be therein men-
tioned, so much of such districts as to you, after due consideration
shall seem fit, shall be annexed to and form part of our dominions'
and of our said colony; and we do hereby constitute and appoint
you to be thereupon governor of the same, provided that you issue
no such proclamation unless you have first ascertained that the
native chiefs and tribes claiming the district so to be annexed are
really entitled thereto and consent to such annexation, nor until
the legislature of our said colony shall have provided by law that
the same shall, on the day aforesaid, become part of our said colony
and subject to the law«i in force therein."
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His power to act being thus conditional, the high com-
missioner applied to the Cape Parliament for the authority
needed. At that time the ministers were not dependent
upon a majority in parliament, but held their offices by
direct appointment of the secretary of state, and carried out
whatever instructions the governor gave. They had the right

of proposing measures and of debating in both chambers,
but had no votes. The possession of the diamond-fields by
any state or colony was regarded everywhere in the country

as a great prize, and the governor believed that the Cape
legislature would be eager to secure it. Before causing an
annexation bill to be drafted, however, he desired to obtain

an expression of opinion to serve as a guide when framing
it, and therefore, on the 11th of July, 1871, the colonial

secretary moved in the Assembly that the house should go
into committee to consider the following proposition

:

"That in the opinion of this committee it is desirable aud need-

ful, as well for the interests of this colony as with a view to the

maintenance of peace and order on our borders, that the territory

commonly designated the diamond-fields, partly belonging to the

Griquas of West Griqualand under the government of Captain

Nicholas Waterboer, and partly to other native chiefs and people

living in the vicinity of the said Griquas, should, in accordance with

the desire expressed by the large number of British subjects now
located there, and with the sanction of Her Majesty the Queen, and

the consent of the said Griquas and other natives, be annexed to

this colony. Aud this committee is further of opinion that if

measures having for their object the annexation of the territories

aforesaid and the good government of the people resident therein are

introduced into the house of assembly by his Excellency the governor,

it is expedient that the house should give the most favourable

attention thereto, and should do what in it lies to make proper

provision for the government and defence of the said territory, and

for meeting the expenditure that may be occasioned thereby."

Mr. King seconded the colonial secretary's proposal.

Mr. J. C. Molteno—subsequently first premier of the colony

under responsible government—moved as an amendment

:

"That, considering the questions now before the Parliament

affecting the future constitution of this colony, and of the adoption
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of the principle of a federal with provincial governments, now before
a commission for the purpose of inquiry and report, and also of the
existence of questions affecting territorial rights of the Orange Free
t>tate and native tribes contiguous to the diamond-fields, still un-
settled, this house is of opinion that it cannot at present entertain
the question of the annexation of the territories commonly designated
the diamond-fields to this colony."

The amendment was seconded by Mr. Watermeyer, but
upon being put to the vote, was lost, the division showing
twenty.fave for it and twenty-seven against. In consequence
on the 19th of July the house of assembly considered the
question m committee. The colonial secretary then moved
his proposition as above. Mr. Molteno moved his amendment
and four other amendments were proposed, of which two
were withdrawn after discussion, and the two followincr were
submitted to vote

:

"

1. By Mr. Porter, to add to Mr. Molteno's proposition:
"At the same time this committee, sensible of the evils likely to

result to the large and still increasing population congregated on
the diamond-fields, as well as to the people of this colony and those
ot tbe J^ree State, from leaving unsettled the dispute respecting the
ownership of the main portion of the lands in question, desires to
record Its conviction that this dispute can be, and ought to be,
decided justly and speedily, and without any considerable expense,
by arbitrators to be found within the limits of South Africa And
this committee further considers that such a number of the armed
and mounted police as the governor may deem necessary may, pend-
ing the settlement of the existing dispute, and without prejudice to
the rights of any of the parties to it, be employed in preserving
order amongst the diggers, of whom so great a proportion are Cape
colonists." ^

2. By Mr. C. A. Smith, to alter the colonial secretary's
proposition, so that it should read as follows

:

"That in the opinion of s committee it is desirable and need-
ful, as well for the interests of this colony as with a view to the
maintenance of peace and order on our borders, that such part of the
territories commonly designated the diamond-fields as belongs to the
Griquas of West Griqualand, under the government of Captain
i^icholas Waterboer, or to other native chiefs and people living in
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the vicinity of the said Griqiias, should, iu accordance with the
desire expressed by the larger number of British subjects now located
there, and with the sanction of Her Majesty the Queen and the
consent of the said Griquas and other natives, be annexed to this

colony. And this committee is further of opinion that if measures
having for their object the annexation of the territories aforesaid and
the good government of the people resident therein are introduced
into the house of assembly by his Excellency the governor, it is

expedient that the house should give the most favourable attention
thereto, and should do what in it lies to make proper provision for

the government and defence of the said territory, and for meeting the
expenditure that may be occasioned thereby."

In the discussion that took place there was a general
agreement that the acquisition of the diamond-fields would
be of great advantage to the colony, that whatever territory

really belonged to Nicholas Waterboer ought to be annexed,
and that no ground which of right was part of the Free
State should be taken. But there were various views as to

the method of determining Waterboer's true boundary.
When the different propositions were put to the vote, Mr.
Porter's was lost by thirty-five to sixteen, Mr. Molteno's was
lost by twenty-eight to twenty-three, and Mr. Smith's was
carried without a division, thus making it unnecessary to

submit the colonial secretary's.

On the 20th of July Mr. Smith's proposition, having thus
become the resolution of the committee, was brought before

the house, when a strong feeling was exhibited by many
members not to interfere at all in the matter until the dis-

pute with the Free State was settled. Even most of those

who were in favour of immediate action were careful to state

that in their opinion the bill to be brought in should provide

against annexing any land that was not Waterboer's. And,
modified as the resolution was, it was only carried by twenty-
seven votes against twenty-six. It was then communicated
to the governor by the speaker, and on the 24th was sent for

consideration to the legislative council. In that chamber it

was carried in committee on the 28th by thirteen votes to six,

but when it came on for reading, Mr. De Roubaix moved as

an amendment

:
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"That in the opinion of this council it is desirable that thediamond-fields should be annexed to this colony, but that suchannexation should not be carried out until the queLn of d putetterritory should have been finally settled."

a«putea

This amendment was only lost, and the resolution carriedby ten votes to nine. The governor, finding that notwith-'
s andmg all the influence and power of the ministers his
r^ans were adopted by such narrow divisions, then abandoned
the design of bringmg in an annexation bill during that
session. Instead of this, on the 5th of August, shortly
before the prorogation of parliament, the colonial secretarymoved a proposition in the house of assembly

:

"That pending the adjustment of the boundary dispute and thepassmg of a law for the annexation of the diamond-fields to this
colony th,s committee is of opinion that the governor should be
requested to adopt such measures as may appear to him to be neces
sary and practicable for the maintenance of order among the diggers
and other inhabitants of that territory, as well as for the collection
of revenue and the administration of justice."

The colonial secretary assured the house that it was not
he intention of the government to take one inch of territory
from the Free State, and with this assurance the proposition
was adopted without a division. Two days later it was sent
to the legislative council, and with the same understanding
was assented to by that chamber.
On the 15th of August the high commissioner forwarded

the resolutions of the two houses of parliament to the secre
tary of state, feeling confident, he observed, the Earl
Kimberley would regard the second as a substantial compli-
ance with the requirements of the Imperial Government and
would sanction and approve such steps as he might take for
carrying it into effect. « It struck him," he said. « as out of^e question any longer to uphold the fiction of acting in
Waterboers name in the maintenance of order by the Cape
mounted police, the collection of revenue from British sub
jects, and the administration of justice by British ma-i=
trates." The secretary of state replied on the 2nd of October
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that the resolutions did not in themselves amount to a for-

mal compliance with the conditions laid down in his despatch

of the 18th of May, but Her Majesty's Government relied

entirely on the judgment and discretion of the high com-

missioner.

During this time the correspondence had not ceased be-

tween Sir Henry Barkly and President Brand. On the 18th

of July the high commissioner informed the president " that

he held a commission under the royal sign manual, author-

ising him to accept the cession of territory offered by Captain

Waterboer, and to annex the same to the colony with such

boundaries as he might see fit to proclaim ; but that he felt

extremely reluctant irrevocably to fix the boundaries in direct

opposition to the claims set up by the Orange F»'ee State, so

long as the slightest chance existed of an amicable adjustment

either by means of arbitration or otherwise." No solution

of the difficulty was suggested, however, until the 3rd of

October, when the president wrote, notifying that Advocate

H. A. L. Hamelberg had been appointed plenipotentiary and

diplomatic agent of the Orange Free State in England, and

would bring the question of the true import of the second

article of the convention of 1854 under the notice of Her

Majesty's Government. He offered to propose to the volks-

raad to submit all other matters in dispute to the arbitration

of a board of six members, three to be chosen by the

authorities of the Orange Free State and three by the high

commissioner, with any of the heads of foreign governments

previously mentioned as final umpire, in case the board could

not agree upon a decision. This proposal was rejected by

the high commissioner, who announced that after annexation

he would consent to arbitration by a purely local court, but

a foreign umpire was not admissible.

Mr. Hamelberg, upon reaching London, was referred by

the secretr.ry of state for foreign affairs to the secretary of

state for the colonies. The latter declined to receive him in a

diplomatic character, but granted him a personal interview,

which led to nothing. He was informed that the rule would

be adhered to that the governor of the Cape Colony should
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Her
be the regular channel of communication between
Majesty's Government and the Orange Free State.

On the 17th of October the Keate Award was published.
The Free State was not concerned in it, but it gave Nicholas
Watorboer the north-eastern boundary which Mr. Arnot
claimed for him, and one extremity of that boundary was
Platberg on the Vaal. Four days later—21st of October,
1871—Sir Henry Barkly issued a series of proclamations!
declaring the territory of Nicholas Waterboer part of the
British dominions, making the laws of the Cape Colony
applicable therein as far as circumstances would permit,
establishing a high court of justice, making regulations for
diamond digging, confirming the holders of land in their
possession of it, and dividing the territory into the three
magisterial districts of Klipdrift, Pniel,and Griquatown. The
boundaries of the territory were laid down as, on the south
the Orange river from Kheis to Ramah, on the east a line
from Ramah to David's Graf and thence to the summit of
Platberg, on the north-east a line from the summit of Plat-
berg to a point north of Boetsap ; further, various points in
the desert round to Kheis.

The following officers were appointed : Advocate J. D.
Barry to be recorder of the high court. Attorney J. C.
Thompson to be public prosecutor, Mr. Arthur Tweed to be
registrar and master, Mr. P. L. Buyskes to be sheriff, Mr.
X Campbell to be civil commissioner and resident magistrate
of the district of Klipdrift, Mr. Francis Orpen to be civil
commissioner and resident magistrate of the district of
Griquatown, and Messrs. J. Campbell, J. C. Thompson, and
J. H. Bowker to be an executive committee to see that the
instructions of the high commissioner were carried out. A
magistrate was not appointed to the district of Pniel, in
which the dry diggings were situated, as it was hoped that
Landdrost Truter, who was very popular wi< h the diggers,
would consent to continue his duties under the British
Government.

In communicating these proceedings to the secretary of
state by the next outgoing mail, Sir Henry Barkly wrote :

l\
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" I intimated to Mr. Brand that I was about to proclaim Griqua-

land West British territory, with the boundary in question, and

requested him to give directions to the officials of the Free State in

the disputed territory to withdraw in time, so as to avoid all risk

of collision with the British authorities about to be stationed there.

... I am confident that the enthusiasm with which the announce-

ment of the extension of Her Majesty's sovereignty will be hailed

by the great majority of the diggers will suffice to render all

attempts at opposition fruitless, whilst the difficulties in which the

Free State Government have latterly found themselves involved iu

their dealings with that class of the community will probably dispose

them to rest content with a protest against this mode of ejectment

from a territory they have so unscrupulously usurped."

The whole territory annexed to the British dominions

received the name of Griqualand West. It was about seven-

teen thousand eight hundred square miles in extent. That

part of it comprised between the Vaal river, the Vetberg line,

and the line from Ramah to Platberg, over which the Free

State courts had exercised jurisdiction, and which, according

to Sir Henry Barkly, the Free State Government had " so

unscrupulously usurped," contained between one hundred and

forty and one hundred and fifty occupied farms. Over two

hundred thousand acres of ground in it were held under

British titles, granted during the Sovereignty period. It

contained also the whole of the reserves along the Vaal set

apart by the Sovereignty Government for the use of the

people of Jan Bloem, Scheel Kobus, David Danaer, and

Goliath Yzerbek, none of whom was ever dependent in any

way upon Nicholas Waterboer or his father. It contained

the Berlin station of Pniel, of which the reverend C. F. Wuras—

who was then the resident missionary of Bethany and

superintendent of the Berlin missions—testified that he had

purchased the ground from Coinelis Kok, and had never

heard of Waterboer's pretensions until recently ; but that

the mission had always enjoyed peace, and justice, and pro-

tection under the Free State Government. No Griquas were

living within it. About a thousand Europeans, young and

old, were residing on the farms, not one of whom knew any-

thino- more of Nicholas Waterboer than that he was a petty
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captain with a following of four or five hundred souls all
told, occupying a district on the other side of the river.

On the 4th of November a small party of the Cape
frontier armed and mounted police took possession of the
dry diggings, and hoisted the British flag. Instead of the
enthusiasm with which Sir Henry Barkly anticipated this
act would be received, the great majority of the diggers kept
very quiet. There was no uproar, and on the other side no
symptom of satisfaction shown except by a small party of
blacks and a few white men not of the refined class, who
followed the procession and cheered when the proclamations
were read at the different camps. The dissatisfaction of the
Free State people and those colonists who sympathised with
them was not publicly exhibited, and perhaps the strongest
expressions of disapproval were those of Englishmen with a
keen sense of honour, who were indignant at the act that
was being performed in England's name. A protest was
drawn up by Landdrost Truter, and handed to Inspector
Gilfillan, who commanded the police. Much has since been
written of this event, but no disinterested person. Englishman
or foreigner, who has examined the subject, has ever at-
tempted to justify it except on the plea that it was necessary
for the paramount power in South Africa to be in possession
of the diamond-fields.

On the 7th President Brand published a formal protest,
and indicated the course that his government would pursue,
as follows

:

"Whereas I am desirous of preventing any collision between the
governments and people of the Cape Colony and this state who are
allied to each other by the strongest ties of blood and friendship :

therefore I hereby order and enjoin all officers, burghers, and
residents of this state, to guard against any action which might lead
to such collision, in the fullest conBdence that the information and
explanation which will be given to Her Britannic Majesty's Govern-
ment in England by our plenipotentiary will secure the acknowledg
ment and recognition of our j'.^st rights."

As Landdrost Truter showed no inclination to transfer his

allegiance, Inspector Gilfillan was appointed to act as resi-

;'.
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dent magistrate and civil commissioner of the dry digginffs.

He assumed duty on the 16th of Novembe?-, and on the same
day Messrs. Campbell and Thompson, on behalf of Sir

Henry Barkly, gave Mr. Truter notice that they would pre-

vent the continuation of raasfisterial and other duties by him.

A prisoner charged with theft, who was in custody of the

Free State police, was that afternoon rescued by the police

under Mr. Gilfillan's orders. In accordance with President

Brand's instructions, the landdrost then sent in another

protest, and on the 18th he retired to Bloemfontein.

These acts were all approved and confirmed by the

secretary of state in Her Majesty's name, on the 8th of

December, on which day a commission was issued appoint-

ing Sir Henry Barkly governor of Griqualand West. In-

deed, Earl Kimberley may almost be said to have directly

authorised them, as on the 24th of July he had written to the

high commissioner:

*' If, as I trust will be the case before this despatch reaches you,

Waterboer's territory has been annexed to the Cape Colony with the

consent of the colonial parliament, you will renew your offer to the

Orange Free State of arbitration by a commission similar to that

agreed to by the Transvaal State, assuring President Brand that

whilst Her Majesty's Government have thought it their duty to

accept Waterboer's proffer of allegiance in order to prevent the

disorders which must result from the prolonged absence of a settled

government at the diamond diggings, they desire that the question

of limits should be determined with due regard to the claims of the

Free State."

On the 4th of December the volksraad met in special

session to consider what should be done. A very large pro-

portion of the burghers were disposed to take up arms, even

though defeat was certain, in order to draw the attention of

European powers to what was taking place. The president,

who was doing all he possibly could to pacify the people,

opened the session with an address, in which he said

:

" I have, with the advice of the executive council, considered the

mode of protest as the way in which it behoves us to act, in the full

reliance that our good right will be ultimately acknowledged and
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respected by Her Britannic Majesty's Govornmeiit. I cherish tliis

confidence becauHe I am convinced that the government of England
will do no injustice to the Orange Free State, but that the diffi-

culties in which we are now involved, and the vexatious proceedings
towards this state, are solely to be ascribed to the erroneous im-
pressions which the British Oovornmetit have received in regard to
the Free State. And that erroneous opinions are really entertained
in England regarding the government and population of the Orange
Free State appears clearly from the published despatches of the
secretary of state for the colonies to his Excellency the high com-
missioner and governor of the Cape Colony. Mention is therein
made of infringements of the territory of the natives in order to
have wider scope for slave-dealing, and of the want of a regular
government at the diamond-fields as a reason for adopting Captain
Waterboer and his people as British subjects; whereas eveiy one
who is in the least degree acquainted with the Orange Free State is

fully aware that nothing even remotely resembling slave-dealing
exists there

; that the territory above the Vetberg line was never
inhabited by Waterboer and his people, but has been for a number
of years under the government of this state ; that all disputes and
trials arising within that territory are decided by the law courts of
this state and by the court of final appeal ; and that after the large
increase of population at the diamond-fields, the government of the
state, by constituting Pniel a separate district and appointing a
landdrost and other officers thereto, have striven to meet the
requirements of the diggers as fully as possible. •

" When these and other erroneous impressions, of which we are
yet unaware, shall have been put in the proper light by our repre-
sentative to Her Majesty's Government, I fully expect that we shall
be reinstated in the enjoyment of our violated rights, and that
although this young state, with its population limited to thousands,
cannot possibly cope in armed resistance with large and powerful
England, with its population of millions, still the sense of justice and
equity entertained by the government and people of Great Britain
will lead to the restitution of our infringed rights."

The volksraad remained in session until the 8th of
December, the discussions being carried on during the
greater part of the time with closed doors. During the
open sittings not a single voice was raised in favour of such
arbitration as the high commissioner desired, t :8 opinion of
every speaker being that it would prove a mere sham, as Sir

III
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Henry Barkly would certainly nominate men who would
decide as he wished, and so remove from him the stigma of
having seized the property of a weaker neighbour. The
idea of all was an appeal to public opinion in Europe.
Several of the members were in favour of considering the
violation of their territory an act of war, and taking up
arms as the best means of attracting notice. Action so
rash was, however, overruled, and on the last day of the
session it was agreed to publish a protest, and circulate it as
widely as possible. This document was worded as follows

:

"Whereas his Excellency, Sir Henry Barkly, Her Britannic
Majesty's high commissioner in South Africa and governor of the
British colony of the Cape of Good Hope, has, by proclamation dated
the 27th of October, 1871, accepted Captain Nicholas Waterboer and
his people as British subjects, and has proclaimed to be British

territory a large tract of country to the south of Vaal River, for a
long course of years governed by the Orange Free State, and the
property of and inhabited by Free State subjects; whereas thereby
infringement is made on the territorial rights of the Orange Free
State, and the treaty formerly concluded and subsequently acknow-
ledged between Her Britannic Majesty and the Orange Free State is

thereby violated
j whereas in said proclamation allegations are made

as motives for this proceeding of Her Britannic Majesty's high com-
missioner, which cannot be admitted by the Orange Free State as
just and well-founded ; and whereas in regard to the inhabitants of

the Orange Free State and their conduct erroneous impressions

exist, which might bring them as a people into contempt in the eyes

of European nations

—

"The volksraad of tho Orange Free State has resolved to be com-
pelled to confirm, as it hereby does confirm, all the protests made up
to this time by the state president of the Orange Free State against

the said proclamation and the proceedings of the high commissioner

;

and solemnly and formally to protest, as it hereby does protest, and
must ever persist in protesting, against the proclamation above

mentioned and the proceedings of his Excellency Sir Henry Barkly

in regard to Captain Nicholas Waterboer and his people and the

proclaimed territory, as being an infringement of the territorial

rights of the Orange Free State, obtained from the predecessors of

Her Britannic Majesty's high commissioner similarly acting in the

name of the Queen of England, and a violation of the convention cou-
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eluded on the 23rd of February, 1854, between Her Britaonic Majesty's
Government and the Orange Free State> which convention was on the
12th of February, 1869, at Aliwal North, acknowledged by Sir Philip
Wodehouse, Her Britannic Majesty's high commissioner at that time.

"And the volksraad, considering that it thereby maintains the
interests of the people which it represents, and upholds the dignity
of the Orange Free State, has deemed it incumbent to publish to the
world the reasons of its protest, with some grounds for the claims of
the Free State people, and publicly to refute the accusations brought
against it.

" The volksraad therefore communicates to the world that by
proclamation of his Excellency Sir H. G. Smith, at that time Her
Majesty's high commissioner in South Africa, dated 3rd of February
1848, the sovereignty of Her Britannic Majesty was established
over the country situated between Orange River, Vaal River, and
the Drakensberg; and by further proclamation of his Excellency
Sir H. G. Smith, that proclaimed territory was divided into four
magistracies, viz., Griqualand, with Bloemfontein as its seat of
government; Winburg, with Winburg as its seat of magistracy, Vaal
River, with Vrededorp—now Harrismith—as its seat of magistracy,
and Caledon River, with Smithfield as its seat of magistracy. The
supremacy of Her Britamic Majesty was then established over all

people, whether white or coloured, living within those limits. Of
that proclaimed territory a chart was made, which must still be
found in the archives of the British Government, on which the said
proclaimed territory was delineated as bounded by Vaal River,
Orange River, and Drakensberg.

"In 1854 Her Britannic Majesty withdrew said sovereignty over
this country, and a plenipotentiary—Sir George Russell Clerk-
commissioned by Her Majesty, addressed himself to the white in-

habitants then dwelling in the territory, and urged it upon them to
take over the government of that territory.

" Few in number, and surrounded by hostile and powerful coloured
tribes, these white inhabitants were reluctant to take its government
upon themselves ; but constrained by Her Britannic Majesty's pleni-

potentiary, and hearing that no choice was left them, inasmuch as
the abandonment of the country was determined on, they accepted
the government of this territory.

" On the 23rd of February, 1854, a convention was concluded
between the said pleninotentiar^^ of Her Britannic Ma'cst'" ard th~-

delegates of the white population of this territory, in which conven-
tion, among other matters, the people of the Orange River Sovereignty

^1
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—now Orange Free State—was declared to be a free and indkpen-
DBNT PEOPLE, and was released from its British allegiance ; and—
being surrounded by hostile and powerful coloured tribes, with
which a collision must sooner or later inevitably take place, the
white population having been invested against their will with the
government of the country which Her Britannic Majesty had so
abandoned—secured to itself, under the second article of the con-
vention, the following advantages : The British Government has no
alliance whatever with any native chiefs or tribes to the northward of
Orange River, with the exception of the Griqua chief, Captain Adam
Kok ; and Her Majesty's Government has no wish or intention to

enter hereafter into any treaties which may he injurious or preju-

dicial to the interests of the Orange Free State Government. Besides
this, a free import of ammunition from the Cape Colony was at the
same time guaranteed. For, being wholly left to themselves, few in

number, surrounded by powerful tribes which had been rendered
their enemies by wars which the British Government had waged
against those tribes, and deprived for the time to come of the strong
hand of England which had up to that time protected them, that
small people were under the necessity of at least stipulating that the
powerful hand of England should not be lifted up to their detriment
on behalf of those hostile coloured tribes. Without the guarantee
secured by the second article of the convention, the taking over of

the government was an impossibility.

••Between the years 1848 and 1854 Her Britannic Majesty's re-

presentatives in this territory issued many titles to land, and also

established the magistracy of Griqualand, of which Bloemfontein
was at first the capital, but of which a portion, with Sannah's Poort
or Fauresmith for its capital, was subsequently formed into a

separate district. Whence it also arose that on the taking over of

the government, delegates from Bloemfontein, Winburg, Caledon

Eiver, Vaal River, and Sannah's Poort, as representatives of the

whole white population of tlie country, took over the government.
The government handed over to them extended over the country

proclaimed in 1848 by his Excellency Sir H. G. Smith British

territory,^ by proclamation in 1854 discharged from British supremacy,

iThis is an error, as the native reserves were not transferred. See first
chapter of this volume. The right of tlie Orange Free State to the territory
between the Vaal river, the Vetberg line, and the line from Ramah to Platberg
was not affected m the slightest degree by this mistake ; but a large portion
of the document published by Sir Henry Barkly as a reply to this protest is
aevotea to a refutation of it.
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and by the couvention on the 23rd of February, 1854, ceded to a
people from that time forward frbk and independent.

"The white population being thus, against their will, charged
with the government of the country and the management of their
own affairs, established a Republic, and gave to this territory the
title of Orange Free State. By the convention ot 1354 the new
government—later denominated the Orange Free State Government
—bound itself that the titles to property and land-rights granted by
the British Government should be guaranteed, and that the owners
thereof should not be disturbed in their possession. Faithful to the
obligation thus assumed, the Orange Free State protected those
who had obtained such titles, and among others those to whom titlea
had been granted in that tract of country now proclaimed by
his Excellency Sir Henry Barkly, as the property of Captain
Nicholas Waterboer, to be British territory. Over this tract of
country the Free State Government has for a number of yeara
exercised jurisdiction, the courts of the Free State have settled
disputes between the inhabitants of those now proclaimed grounds,
taxes have been levied, and all rights and obligations attached to
sovereignty have been enjoyed and fulfilled.

" The titles for landed property granted by the British Govern-
ment between the years 1848 and 1854 in the tract of country
recently proclaimed British territory are now alleged to have been
granted only provisionally, or by mistake, although the Orange
Free State bound itself to the maintenance of those very titles, and
although those titles for land obtained from the British Government
have subsequently passed by sale and transfer into other hands,
which transactions have been recorded in the land registers of the
Free State.

" In 1865 the Free State—compelled by the reiterated violation
of treaties, the neglect to fulfil solemn promises, the incessant
robberies, and the presumptuous proceedings of the Basuto nation-
girded on its sword, and declared war against that nation. In 186ft
a peace was concluded with the Basuto nation, and a new treaty
was signed whereby that nation ceded a tract of country by way of
indemnification for war expenses. That treaty was not respected, but
was wantonly broken, and the Free State was once more forced to
take up arras. Notwithstanding the provisions of the second article
of the convention, England interfered in that dispute, declared the
Basuto nation British subjects, and prohibited the transit of ammu-
nition we required, although solemnly bound by that convention to
allow it. And although the British Government, on the protest of
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the Orange Free State against that interference as being a violation
of the second article of the convention of 1854, alleged that their
protection of the natives in this case did not tend to the detriment
of the Free State, still the right did not then accrue to them utterly
to negative the opposite view of the other contracting parties, to
refuse to hear them, and so to act as if such other party had no
voice in the judgment of its own concerns. And in 1869 a conven-
tion was at last concluded at Aliwal North on that question between
Her Britannic Majesty's high commissioner and the Orange Free
State, whereby the convention of 1854 was confirmed and declared
not to have been violated by the proceedings of Her Britannic
Majesty on the Basuto question.

"On the 15th of September, 1870, it was announced to the
president of the Orange Free State by Lieutenant-General Hay, at

that time acting governor of the Cape Colony, that Waterboer and
his people had applied to be accepted as British subjects, and it was
demanded of the Orange Free State to bring forward its proofs of

right to the grounds claimed by Waterboer. Four days later—
before the letter of the 15th of September, 1870, could have reached
Bloemfontein, the capital of the Free State—the Orange Free State
was apprised that British magistrates would be appointed by the
British Government in the now proclaimed grounds then actually

in its possession and under its jurisdiction.

" The government of the Orange Free State, as representing a
free and independent people, acknowledged as an independent State

by friendly powers—among others by the United States of North
America, Germany, France, Russia, Austria, Italy, Spain, and the

Netherlands—having concluded conventions and agreements with

Her Britannic Majesty's Government, and consequently being

recognised by Her Majesty as such, oflfered to submit the decision of

the claims advanced by Captain Nicholas Waterboer, and of the

rights of the Orange Free State to those grounds now proclaimed,

to the arbitration of the head of a friendly power; at the same
time urging for a similar decision regarding the true meaning of

the second article of the convention of the 23rd of February, 1854,

grounding such claim on the law of nations, as granting such right

even when one party is weak and the other powerful. This oflfer

was refused by Her Britannic Majesty's Government, and in a

despatch of Earl Kimberley, dated 29th of July, 1871, the Orange
Free State was informed that England cannot allow foreign arbi-

tration in South Africa, because serious embarrassments might
arise therefrom.
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"On the 27th of October, 1871, that territory which has longbeen governed by the Orange Free State, and in which since 1869

rich drnmond-mmes have been discovered, was, in the name of Her

S7' w? T^ ^'""^ '^' ^''' ^'^'' ^°^' ^« ^he property ofN cholas Waterboer, proclaimed to be British territory Ld,^though he claims of the Orang. Free State to sovereignty ove
that territory are denied to have ever existed, the occnpiers of
those grounds are nevertheless guaranteed in their rights to them
If acquired from the Orange Free State before January, 1870

"In the proclamation declaring said grounds to be British
erritory, the following reasons are alleged for this proceeding: that
the Orange Free State has obstinately refused to submit to arbitration
the existvng d^fference between their government and Her Britannic
Majesy, act^ngon behalf of Waterboer, or has attached to it impossible
cond^t^ons. While, on the contrary, the Orange Free State has all
along been, and still is, willing to submit its claims to such an
arbitration as consists with international right, to which the Orange
Free State as a free and independent state, considers itself entitled.

In a despatch of Earl Kimberley, dated 21st of July, 1871 as

\TTl
f°r proclaiming the diamond-fields British territory, ii is

stated thntWaterboer's offer is accepted to prevent the irreglrities

tlZ T; {r:^^^'^-^^^
«^-- «/ « regular gLrnment

at the du^mond-fields. But the Orange Free State most positivelydemes the soundness of this reasoning, because magistrates wereappointed by the Free State over those diamond-fields, a police f" e

TblTf n""f
°'^"'"^ ""^ ^^^^^^'«^^^' -d ^1^—ds of

lirt f "'.'"' ^""' P'"''"*"*^ ^^ '^' ^^^°g« Free State in
thei property and persons; and that in such a manner that afterthe forcible seizure of the diamond-fields by Her Britannic Majesty's
Government addresses signed by a great number of Engli hmen

undlT"^ V ': n
' ^'""^"^^ '^^ ^^'^^•^ ^-^^^' -q-«t1ng Thatunder the British Government the magistracy might be conferredupon the gentleman who had hitherto represented the Free State

Government. And in those addresses the following words, among

tT/nTVr ""^^ "^«'---^-^'', in accepting the administration
of the Brittsh Government now in force in the above-mentioned and other
places const^tut^ng the territory known as the diamond-fields, desire re-
spectfully to draw your Excellency's attention to the satisfactory ande3c^ent manner inM the Free State Government has maintained lawand order among the large number ofpeople now present at the diamonds
nelds. And while the existence of a regular government at the
diamond-fields is denied, the functionaries appointed to those fields

li;
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since hia Excellency's proclamation are offering the Free State

Government to take over by purchase the prison and other oflBcial

public buildings. The newspapers likewise, published at the

diamond-fields, are filled with comparisons between the former

Orange Free State administration and the British system now vio-

lently introduced, which comparisons are to the advantage of the

Orange Free State Government.

"In a letter, dated 23rd of October, 1871, from his Excellency

Sir J- ^*arkly, conveying copy of the proclamation of the

di»mo. i3, the authenticity of a letter from Captaiu Andries

Waterbobr, father ox Nicholas Waterboer, dated 10th of February,

1846, is called in question on the ground of a simple denial by
Captain Nicholas Waterboer, and the Orange Free State Govern-

ment is thus indirectly accused of forgery, although the said letter

of Captain Andries Waterboer was found by the Orange Free State

Government among the documents taken over from the British

Government, while the receipt of that letter is acknowledged by the

former British Government in the known handwriting, attached to the

letter, of a British functionary then in the service of that government.

"In a despatch, dated 17th of November, 1870, Earl Kimberley

accused the people of the Free State of slave-dealing, an accusation

which the people of the Orange Free State indignantly repel. It

invites friendly powers to inquire whether this accusation has any

foundation, and fears not the result of the inquiry.

" Besides, the entire correspondence carried on by his Excellency

with the Free State shows that no disposition for an accord exists

with him. All proofs advanced by the Free State are treated with

contempt, or their authenticity is questioned, and to everything

advanced by Waterboer, even pure and simple assertions, instant

belief is conceded ; and all this is the more remarkable, because the

Free State people are bound to the population of the Cape Colony

by intimate ties of relationship, and never have interposed the

slightest difficulty towards the Cape Colony.

" As an independent, though weak, nation, not willing to have

forced upon it by a stronger neighbour a mode of arbitration in

which the people of the Free State have no confidence, it refuses,

and will persist in refusing, the arbitration offered it by his Ex-

cellency Sir Henry Barkly, with a final umpire in South Africa, as

an ultimatum. For the people of the Orange Free State will not

furnish the show of right wherewith in such a case the injustice

inflicted on them would be cloaked. As an independent people, they

resolve to persist in their determination to claim—as a member,
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however small and weak, of the brotherhood of nations-to enjoy the
privileges to which the law of nations entitles them.

"And whereas in the said proclamation of the Excellency SirHenry Barkly, dated 27th October. 1871, British supremacy is still
further proclaimed over a great extent of country, including the so-
called Campbell grounds, in which also rich diamond mines, have been
discovered and which lies on the other side or west of the Vaal
River; whereas the Orange Free State lays claim to the thus pro-
claimed Campbell grounds, by virtue of a purchase in 1861 from the
general agent of the Griqua chief. Captain Adam Kok; whereas the
decision of the claims of the Orange Free State to those Campbell
grounds, notwithstanding repeated fruitless negotiations with Captain
Nicholas Waterboer, has not yet taken place; and whereas also in
that respect infringement has been made on the rights and claims of
the Orange Free State :

fnrmln^' 'f'T^\
'^ '^' ^'^^Se Free State likewise protests

formally and solemnly against the establishment of British supremacy
over that territory, usually called the Campbell grounds, and against
all the proceedings of his Excellency the high commissioner.

"And beheving that the Most High controls the destinies of
nations an-i protects the weak, the people of the Orange Free State
humbly but confidently commits its rights and future well-being to
that Supreme Ruler, feeling assured that such reliance can never be
disappointed.

"F. P. SoHNBHAGE, Chairman.
"JoH. Z. DB ViLLiERs, Secretart/."

In a future chapter the history of the dispute between the
J! ree btate and the high commissioner will be continued, when
the refusal of the Cape Parliament in 1872 to adopt an
annexation bill introduced by Sir Henry Barkly, the riots at
the diamond-fields, the progress of mining operations, the
method by which the territory ^.as governed, the session of
he high court in 1876 for the settlement of disputed claims
to land, the decision of the court-after long investigation
and examination of witnesses-that Waterboer never had any
rights there, the compensation of £90,000 then offered to the
Free State by the British Government and accepted by the
volksraad^and ^he subsequent incorporation of the territory
^ith the Cape Colony, will be fully entered into.
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Though the principal diamond-fields were thus severed
from the Free State, two mines remained within its limits

:

those on the farms Jagersfontein and Koffyfontein, both a long
distance east of the line from Ramah to Platberg.

During this time the revenue of the Republic was rapidly-
increasing. The loss of the largest diamond-mines only
affected the state treasury nominally, for the cost of Govern-
ment there absorbed the whole of the receipts. An excellent
market for farm produce of all kinds remained, and the people
of the Free State made good use of it. Gold and silver money
speedily became plentiful, and before the close of 1871 the
bluebacks, or paper currency, rose to be worth 19s. 6d. in the
pound. The public revenue was then at the rate of a little

over £80,000 a year, and the expenditure was kept well within
it, so that the loans were being paid off. Of the £43,000 in
notes issued to meet the Basuto war expenses, £17,000 were
called in and destroyed before 1872.

In May, 1871, provision was made by the volksraad for
the appointment of landdrosts to the villages of Bethlehem and
Rouxville, thus creating two new districts.

Prosperity was now dawning on the Republic, after the
series of arduous struggles which its citizens had gone
through. But the memory of those who had laid down
their lives for their country in the recent war with the
Basuto tribe was still fresh. That future generations might
have before their eyes something to remind them of what
their ancestors had gone through, a monument was erected
in Bloemfontein in remembrance of the brave men who had
fallen. The monument was unveiled with befitting ceremony
on Monday, the 29th of May, 1871, after religious service in

the Dutch Reformed Church. Addresses were made by the

state president, the chairman of the volksraad, and other men
of note, one of the most stirring being by the clergyman of

the English Church, who trusted that the Free State through
all time would be found fighting, as in the past, only when its

cause was just.
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Passing over the mountains, in the eastern part of the present

Orange Free State and Basutoland, the highest estimate in 183^
was 50,000. Notwithstanding all the wars with Europeans in that

region, the number to-day is not short of 200,000.

In the South African Republic the contrast is almost as striking

as in Natal, but in the northern part of that territory the increase

is partly owing to immigration from tribes beyond the boundary.

Everywhere throughout the region stretching from the Limpopo
river to the shores of the Indian ocean there has been a tendency on

the part of the Bantu population during this period to occupy the

vacant places, just as water flows into cavities, and this tendency is

still in full force. It may appear in some localities as if the numbers
were stationary, but upon close inquiry it is found that they only

appear so because swarms have periodically migrated to other

grounds. The great uninhabited wastes that every traveller of half

a century ago described are now teeming with human life. That

the Bantu population in South Africa from the Limpopo to the sea

has trebled itself by natural increase alone within fifty years is

asserting what must be far below the real rate of growth.

Though no census of these people beyond an enumeration of

small sections of them has ever been taken, statistics are not want-

ing to show how rapidly they are multiplying compared with the

different branches of our own race.

The census of England and Wales in 1881 showed a population

of 25,974,439 souls. Of these, 7,911,436 were males over 15 years

of age, 8,594,412 were females over 15 years of age, and the remain-

ing 9,468,591 were children of both sexes under 15 years of age.

The females over 15 are considerably in excess of the males. The

proportion of children under 15 to females over 15 is as 110'17 to

100.

The census of the Dominion of Canada in 1881 showed a popu-

lation of 4,324,810 souls. Of these, 108,547 v;ere native Indians,

21,394 were of African blood, and 4,883 were Chinese. No distinc-

tion was made in the age returns between these and the remaining

inhabitants of European blood, but their numbers were too small to

affect the matter now under notice. 1,348,387 were males over 15

years of age, 1,324,428 were females over 15 years of age, and

1,651,995 were children of both sexes under 15 years of age. The

males over 15 are slightly in excess of the females. The proportion

of chi'dren under 15 to females over 15 is as 124"73 to 100.

The census of the United States in 1880 showed a population of

European descent of 43,402,970 souls. Of these, 13,544,412 were
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males over 15 years of age, 12,938,919 were females ovrir 16 years

o aT TK
''?'''''' ""' ^'"^'«" °^ ^''^'^ ««' "'^der 15 yea"ot age. The males over 15 are considerably in excess of the females

to 100
" '^"'*'''" "°^"' ^^ *° ^''"*^'' °^"" 1^ '« ^ 130-76

The Australasian group of colonies during the ten years preced-ing the census of 1881 presented more favourable opporLnitie's thanany other part of the world occupied by our race for an increase ofpopulation by natural means. The males were greatly in excess ofthe females; there were no wars, or famines, or pestilences; thepolonies were blessed with agricultural, pastoral, and commercial
prosperity; and the climate is salubrious to Europeans. Here
therefore, the highest rate of increase is to be found. The returns of*he census of 1881 show as follows •—

Emopean maiea over 15 years of am
victoria . .

"^

New South Wales
South Australia

Queensland .

Western Australia

Tasmania

New Zealand .

JEuropean femcdes over 15 years of aqe
"Victoria . .

New South Wales
South Australia

Queensland .

Western Australia

Tasmania

New Zealand .

Both sexes under 15 years of age.
Victoria .

New South Wales
South Australia

Queensland

Western Australia

Tasmania
New Zealand .

273,195

249,891

90,742

72,600

11,167

27,932

159,794

895,321

245,261

192,752

76,249

47,811

6,984

32,845

117,309

719,211

331,762

298,620

108,723

81,885

11,412

44,084

207,826

1,084,312

,'! '1
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Proporti<yn of children under 15 to femaiea over IG.

"Victoria 135-26 to 100
New South Wales
South Australia .

Queensland

Western Australia

Tasmania . .

New Zealand

Mean of all the Austra

154-92 to 100
142-58 to lUO

171-26 to ^.00

163-40 to 100

134-21 to 100

177 16 to 100

160-76 to 100lasian colonies

(In the above calculations the Chinsbe residents are not included.
They number, in Victoria 12,128, in New South Wales 10,206, in
South Australia 4,161, in Queensland 11,229, in Western Australia
146, in Tasmania 844, and in New Zealand 5,004; altogether
43,706. The aborigines of South Australia, 6,346 in number, of
Queensland, 20,585, of Western Australia, 2,346, and of New
Zealand, 44,097, altogether 73,374, have also been excluded. In
Tasmania there are no aborigines. The aborigines of Victoria, 780
in number, and of New South Wales, 1,643, are included in the
above calculations, because in the census returns of those colonies
they are classified with Europeans in the tables of age. The total

population of all the Australasian colonies in 1881 was 2,815,924.)
Turning now to the census returns of the Cape Colony for 1875,

the Bantu population is found to comprise 287,639 souls. Of these,

5,181 were returned without their ages being specified. Of the
remainder, 78,963 were males over 15 years of age, 75,373 were
females over 15 years of age, and 128,122 were children of both
sexes under 16 years of ages. The proportion of children under 15
to females over 15 is as 169-98 to 100.

But these figures, high as they are, can only be taken as repre-

senting the rate of increase of the Bantu under the least favourable

circumstances. In the census returns an undue proportion of those
who have adopted Christianity and European customs, nearly all of

those who have attained the highest positions, as well as the whole
of the degraded residents on the town locations and the great major-
ity of the drunkards of the race, are included. It is certain that a
census taken almost anywhere else in South-Eastern Africa would
show a larger proportion of children under 15 to females over that

age. On every occasion where clans in the native territories have
been accurately numbered—as in the instances of their removal
when they have been fed by the government—this is found to be the

case. In a considerable number of such cases the lowest proportion

is 195 children to 100 females over 15.

In the Lnited States the rapid increase of the negro population

IS oausii

will be.
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"'"''' •?<""•'•«»• •» to what the future of ih, country

06 680 79, °T', nl"'"
"''°"""' " PoP"'"'"" °' AWoau blood

;ro/r °';r
""'' '•^^"^» ''"''™" ^ ^'i' -'-r'^"

m"8 toToo.
P-^P""™ "f "'"ildren to female, over 16 ia as

one'zrthi'io-ur'""'
'°'^""" '"" ""^ -"^ "»- ^°

England and Wales ....
Dominion of Canada ..]**'
United States, European . .

' ' '

Australasian colonies

Bantu of South Africa under the 'least' favourable
circumstances ....

United States, Negro . . ,

'
'

Bantu of South Africa under ordina^r circumstances'
probably....

11017
124-73

130-70

150-76

169-98

172-28

195-00

of tl«% .

^ *° ^\ ^or^i^^^r^^ is the average duration of lifeof the Bantu as compared with the European, but there are no
statistics whatever upon which to base a calculation

r«f« ^'^^/^u-^^^
* ''''''"^^'' containing several questions havingeference to this matter was issued by the native department of hfCape Government to the officers in the native territories, and copiedwere also supplied to the missionaries and leading traders with arequest that they would kindly assist in the investigation. Thereturns sent m are voluminous, but the substance of them all whencondensed is as follows :

Question 1. To what cause or causes do you assign the greatincrease of the natives in number during recent years?
^

To this question the replies were almost uniform in language andentirely uniform m effect
: To the controlling power of the cfvHisedgovernments. i-iviiiHea

While, except in that very small section of the people that hasembraced Christianity, there is nothing to affect senfibly any of the^ses that m former times te.ded to a rapid increase of populat on-such as early marriages, polygamy, which secures that no womlncapable of ch.ldbearing shall remain single, constitutional vigourreedom from herkable diseases, and absence of care and anJety asto provision or children-the ancient checks upon overcrow."tl
oeen removed.

" " ^

Hi

llj
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(a) Tribal wars and feuds between clans, by which great numbers
of people were formerly destroyed, have been prevented.

(6) The execution of people on charges of dealing in witchcraft
has been suppressed.

(c) A better and surer supply of food than in ancient days is

secured. Tkie introduction of the plough has enabled the people to

grow much more corn, and in seasons of drought they can procure
food in return for labour or in exchange for property of any kind.

The improved means of intercourse admits of food supplies being
sent to any part of the country where there is a demand for them.

Question 2. Which race attains the greatest average age, the
Bantu or the European ? On what calculations do you base your
reply f

To this question the answers from nearly all the old and
experienced magistrates, missionaries, and traders were to the effect

that the average life of the native is longer than that of the
European. This opinion is based upon

—

(a) The very large number of natives still living who remember
and took part in the battle of Amalinde in 1818, the flight of the

Fingos from Natal in 1821 and 1822, the wars of Moselekatse and
the depopulation of the present South African Republic and Orange
Free State, 1821 to 1830, the defeat of the Amangwane in 1828, and
other notable events of more than fifty years ago.

(6) A comparison of natives and Europeans known to be of the

same age, when the native invariably has the appearance of being

the younger of the two. A native of fifty does not look older than

a European of forty.

(c) The general good health of the natives, in which prolonged

observation shows that they greatly surpass Europeans.

(Four of the youngest magistrates abstained from giving a reply

to this question, on the ground that they had made no observations

and were without experience. Two other magistrates and one

trader were of opinion that the average duration of life is about the

same. One magistrate, one missionary, and two traders were of

opinion that the European must live longer, because he is better fed

and undergoes less exposure, while the native is without those home
comforts and solaces which civilisation and Christianity bring.)

Question 3. Are there any causes in operation tending to affect

the future increase of the native population ? In the reply to this

question, please state the effects of embracing Christianity, of

drunkenness, of syphilis, etc., upon the birth-rate of the natives

under your observation.
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(a) Less cleanly habits. The uncivilised native bathes frequentlv

rr Of f."
°°' °'""' """""'' '"" Ws body till it is wornout Of course, there are exceptions, but this is commonly the c.^

(4) Exposure to wet. The greyed native takes no harm from

doth ng, „„,ng to h,s .mprovidence, seldom has a change of gar-

ret/rrhltlf.'^
'" ^™ "--'^^ ""- -i" -ually^its4a

Si ?° T.","'"'
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{a) Less bodily exercise.

All the returns agree in the view that the unrestrained use of

needivf . 'T "•'"^' "°' °"^^ '^''^'^^^^ ^^'^ ^irth-rate, but

teltln T"^ " ''''• ^"*^'^^ ''' '"^^^P^b^^ «f resisting thetemptation to use spirituous liquor to excess when it is withineasy reach But as yet drunkenness has had no perceptible effe tupon the birth-rate among the people of the purely nativeVrHton"
uecau«e rhe sale oi spirits has not been permitted by law, and the
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contraband trade has not been very great. It is in the colony
proper that the destructive effects of drunkenness can be seen.

As to syphilis, different opinions are expressed. In the purely
native districts it is prevalent only among those persons who come
into close contact with vagrant Europeans. One missionary states

that it appears from observations he has made to be more easily

eradicated from natives than from Europeans. Two magistrates
report that some of the native herbalists appear to have remedies of
their own, and cure it easily. On the other hand, several mission-
aries regard it as a coming evil, the deleterious consequences of
which must be widely felt, owing to the immoral habits of the
uncivilised natives.

Question 4. What is the average age at which native women are
married ?

The replies to this question are as varied as the tribes with which
the writers are residing.

There is a general agreement that marriage may take place im-
mediately after the ceremony which girls go through upon attaining
the age of puberty, usually about thirteen, and that in all the tribes

it does sometimes take place shortly after. But while with some
tribes such early marriages are very frequent, with others they are

very rare. The Betshuana and Basuto tribes are those in which
early marriages are common. With some of these the average
would be as low as fourteen, with others it would be fifteen. The
native girls along the coast, as a rule, are not married so early. In
some of the tribes sixteen is the average age, while in others it

would probably be as high as seventeen. There are mission stations

on which it is as high as eighteen and even nineteen.

For the whole of the Bantu tribes sou\,> -T the Limpopo the

average would probably be between fifteen and sixteen; but this

estimate can only be regarded as conjecture formed from such infor-

mation as is available. The object which the father or guardian has

in view in bringing about the marriage of girls before they are fully

developed is variously stated to be

—

(a) To settle them respectably in life, for which purpose

alliances are sought with influential families, the proposals being

frequently made by .he guardians of the females.

(6) To preserve the girls from loss of reputation, which delay in

marriage would probably cause.

(c) To prevent capital from lying waste. A girl represents a

certain number of cattle, the increase and milk of which take the

place of interest on money invested.
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(e) That his posterity may be numerous in the land.
Question 5 Can you give any information upon the relativenumber of births and deaths in places not affected by emigration or

immigration? "^ s k i^u or

The almost invariable replies to this query were either that owing
to no records of births and deaths having been kept, or that owing to
the roving habits and frequent change of residence of the natives, no
reliable information could be given. Only five returns in all were
sent m, representing five mission stations and small kraals, at which
during certain stated periods the total number of births was 379, and
the total number of deaths 125.

Question 6. What is the average number of children of women
married (a) to monogamists, (t) to polygamists. In the reply to this
query, please state the number of women from whom the calculations
are made. The greater number the better, but care must, of course,
be taken not to include women who are still capable of child-bearing.
The only reliable plan will be to question the old women, and ascer-
tarn from each one exactly how many children she has given birth
to, and how many wives her husband has had. If the husband was
a monogamist, note whether Christianity had been embraced. The

Tvalue
^""^^'^^^ ^""'"'"^"^

'' '"^^'"'"'''^ *° "^^^^ *^^ ""^P^^ *° ^^'^ 'l^^'"^

To this question a good many carefully drawn up tables were
sent m, particularly from some of the older magistrates and from
several missionaries. One from Donald Strachan, Esq., merchant,
of Umzimkulu, is especially valuable, from the great pains that has
evidently been taken to obtain reliable information. Altogether
these returns embrace 393 women, the wives or widows of mono-
gamists, mostly professing Christians, and 591 women, the wives or
widows of polygamists. In a few instances it is noted that the
women may not yet have passed the age of child-bearing. The 393
women, wives of monogamists, have borne 2,223 children—that is on
an average, 5-65 children to each woman. The 591 women, wives of
polygamists, have borne 3,298 children-that is, on an average, 5-58
children to each woman. Thus monogamy in this respect makes a
slightly appreciable difference in the birth-rate. Christianised
native girls do not marry at as early an age as the others, but the
interval between the births of children in families who have embraced

!'
.
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€hriatianity is usually shorter than with women in an uncivilised
state, owing to a superstitious feeling of the latter which requires
them to live in strict seclusion from intercourse with their husbands
and lovers during the period of giving suck to their children, usually
from two to three years.

But the death-rate of the Christian natives is so much higher
than that of the others that the balance is more than equalised.
Some of the returns merely give the total number of children each
woman named had given birth to, but others have been so carefully
arranged as to give the sexes of the children born—showing that
more boys than girls are brought into the world—and give the
numbers living when the information was obtained and the numbers
that had died. Of the children of polygamists 73 per cent, were still
living, while of the children of monogamists only 67 per cent, were
alive. The larger death-rate among monogamists is explained by the
facts that chest diseases have become not uncommon on mission
stations, and that the children are perceptibly less robust, owing to
their changed conditions of living.

The widows of polygamists continue to bear children as if their
husbands were still living. In some instances a widow returns to
her father or nearest male relative, and is remarried, when her
children after the second marriage belong by law to her second
husband. But in most instances she remains with her dead husband's
relatives, because she cannot take his children away with her. In
such cases either a brother of her dead husband takes her, or she has
a male companion formally allotted to her, and she has her lover.
All the children she gives birth to are under any of these oircum.
stances considered as her dead husband's.

The number of women who have never borne children is less than
three per cent, of the whole ; a few have borne ten and eleven each

;

but the great majority range from four to eight.

The numbers in these tables are too small for the averages here
given to be considered more than approximately correct. To arrive
at anything like accuracy, similar statistics must be collected for

many years and by competent persons in all parts of the native terri-

tories.

Question 7. Can you explain why decrepit, infirm, and half-breed

ohildren are not found among the natives %

The answers are to the effect that owing to the robust constitu-

tions of the people very few decrepit children are born. In olden
times such children were destroyed by filling their mouths with earth.

Now thoj are commonly neglected, or it is given out that they get
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be found but always on mission stations or in places where Europeanmfluence is prevalent. Albinos are met with occasionally, andTh"are suffered to live. As for half-breed children, they are seldomfound except m places where the people have become sem ^i ms^or where shipwrecked or renegade white men have been hvinlt
f male ,s sulyect equal in the opinion of her people to that of giving

t^ if l^o.
' /T' ^'"*^°" '' ^^^^'^^-^^ -"Id be refor^^^I

to, If the customs of the tribe had not previously been partly aban-doned and those of Europeans adopted. In this'respect' the Bantuare the very opposite of the Hottentots, whose females have norepugnance to intercourse with white men. Owing probably to'nter^marriages with near relatives, many idiotic childrL'are born am ngthe branches of the BaEuto.
^

Question 8. Have you observed what effect great difference of

The replies are uniform that it has no effect whatever. Men donot marry women older than themselves. Old men very frequentlymarry girls, but nearly every uncivilised native woman has a ov^as^ell as a husband. This fact cannot be left out of considerationwhen studying the effects of polygamous marriages. It is taken as a

Te 1 chief T'" II '
T'"'^

^'"'^^ *° ^ polygamist. unless hebe a chief of very high rank, will form a connection with some otherman She does not sink in the slightest degree in the estimation ofther women by so doing. The offence is punishable by native law,
the lover being subject to a fine, and the woman to chastisement by

nln .'^^ '"l

"""'* '"'*^°'^« '' P*^«^« ""««<^i««d as an ancient,custom ot the people.

'»»
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Thk Thirty-three Articles.

The following is an English translation of the code of laws which
the partisans of Potgieter regarded as a constitution :—

1. All trials shall be held in public.
2. Persons present at trials shall keep their head, uncovered, shall

preserve a respectful demeanour, and shall mamtain silence. Whatever
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the presiding officer commands for the observance of good order shall be
strictly carried out.

3. In case one or more persons shall break the silence during a public
trial, and show approval or disapproval, whether during the pleadings or
the charges or admonitions of the presiding officer, or during the delivery
of sentences and orders of court, or make any noise or commotion whatever,
and on the warning of the messenger of court not instantly be silent, such
person or persons shall be ordered to withdraw, and in case of resistance
shall forthwith be committed to a place of confinement for twenty-four
hours or longer, according to the nature of the case. Whenever the pre-
siding officer shall consider it necessary, he shall be assisted by those
present to take refractory persons in custody.

4. In case such persons refuse to assist the presiding officer, they will
render themselves liable to prosecution.

5. In case any member or members of a court of justice be obstructed
in the execution of duty by abuse or threats, the person or persons guilty of
such obstruction, after proper investigation and hearingof witnesses, shallbe
punished by fineor imprisonment, accordingtothe natureof thecase ; butthe
insulted member of the court of justice shall not act as judge in this event.

6. Any member of the burgher council of this association (i.e., when
sitting as a court of justice) may be objected to by the accused or the
accuser, as also by the other members of the council ; first, whenever the
accused person stands in relationship, either by blood or marriage, to the
third degree inclusive

; secondly, if he has a personal interest in the case
;

thirdly, if he has given any written advice in the case ; fourthly, if he has
received, during the suit, presents from anyone interested in the case, or if

such have been promised to him ; fifthly, if the judge be guardian or trustee,

administrator or presumptive heir or legatee of either of the parties to the
suit ; sixthly, if there exists any enmity in a high degree between the judge
and the person on trial ; seventhly, if abusive language or threats have
passed between the judge and the person on trial, after the commencemont
of the process or within the previous six months No persons of mixed
blood shall be permitted to sit in our assembly as members or judges, until

the tenth removal (from the coloured ancestor).

7. The objection must be made either verbally or in writing at the

beginning of the trial ; but it cannot be made during the course of the

investigation.

8. Every commandant, sub-commandant, field-comet, or assistant-

field-cornet of the armed force of this association, who, after lawful

summons by the council or burgher authority, shall refuse to call out the

force under his orders, shall be liable to a fine of £3 15s. to £11 5s., or to

imprisonment, according to the nature of the case.

9. All persons entering into plots or intrigues with foreign powers, their

governors or officers, with a view of inducing them to carry on hostilities

or undertake war against this Republic, or to supply them with means for

that purpose, or use any means to promote treasonable practices, shall be
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21. AH who fraudulently take possession of proporty to which they
have no right render themselves guilty of theft, and in all oases of theft
the Dutch law will be taken as a basis.

22. Every combination of evil-doers against persons aud property is a
crime against the public tranquillity. This crime is perpetrated whenever
there is a contriving and concerting among them and their leaders, or when-
ever any agreement exists for dividing plunder when such takes place.
Even though this crime be accompanied by no other, those guilty of the
same shall be punished by compulsory labour, according to the finding of
the judges and the nature of the case.

23. All persons who, after a lawful summons from the constituted
authority and without valid reasons, shall refuse to act on commandoes or
duties connected therewith, shall be punished by a fine of £1 lOs., for the
first oflFence, £2 5s. for the second, and £3 15s. for the third, for the benefit

of the public treasury.

24. Anyone guilty of breaking open letters shall be punished by a fine

of £3 15s., but should any suspicion of treason exist, such letters shall be
sent to the nearest commandant, sub-commandant, or field-cornet, who will

in such case be entitled to open the same. Should nothing be found in them
prejudical to the assocation, he shall forward such letters with all despatch
to the persons to whom they are addressed.

25. Every burgher of this assocation shall be bound, on removing from
one ward to reside in another, to give notice thereof both to the field-comet

whose ward he is leaving and to the one into whose ward he is going, within

fourteen days ; and in case of his neglecting to do so, he will be liable to a

fine of 7s. 6d. , to be paid into the public treasury.

26. Every burgher who, after due warning, builds or plants too close to

anyone's property, thus acting against his better knowledge, shall be dis-

qualified from claiming his handiwork. The dispute may be settled by two
arbitrators—the commandant and field-cornet. But should the contention

be more serious, it shall be brought before the landdrost and the land

commissioners, who will be able to give a final decision.

27. All persons guilty of slanderous imputations against the chastity or

purity of character of any female, tending to bring such a one into disrepute,

shallbe liabletoafine of £3 15s. to £7 10s., according tothe nature of the case.

28. No person or persons shall have the right to repair to any of the

dwelling-places of the natives for the purpose of taking away their children

in an illegal manner. Such offenders shall be punished by a fine of £7 10s.,

or an imprisonment of six months, and the children so taken away shall be

restored to their parents.

29. No natives shall be permitted to place their dwellings too close to

any village lands, to the detriment of the villagers, except with consent of

the full council.

30. A new election of members of the council shall take place yearly,

and all voting-papers must be sent in sealed.

31. In all cases wherein these laws shall be found defective, the Dutch
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aasociation.
""*• *"** ^"-^^ * ^^e'^ ^ the welfare of the

them. Should such oLr Z T^^^^^^
^"' "^'^ '° "^*^«*<=

removed, and the mX shaU ^7 ^J^^"'
''"''^ "^-*'«**«d shall be

the case.
"" '^*" ^'^ P"""^^«d according to the nature of

4

1.

Heft, Burgers, 't lied der vrijheid aan,
H-n zmgt ons eigen volksbestaan »

van vreemj^e banden vrij,
Bekleedt ons klein gemeenebest.
Up orde, wet, en recht gevest,
Rang in der Staten rei.

2.

Al heeft ons land een klein begin,
VVy gaan met moed de toekomst in
Het oog op God gericht,

*

Die nooit beschaamt, wie op Hem bouwt,Op Hem als op een' burgt vertrouwt.
i»ie voor geen stormen zwicht.

3.

Vervuld met liefde tot ons land,
Gaan wij eendrachtig hand aan hand,
In voorspoed en in druk

;

Als broeders staan w' elkadr ter zii
In eer en trouw : zoo atichten wij
Het zekerst volksgeluk.

ill

Bescherm, o God, den Raad ran 't land,
Geleid hem aan Uw vaderhand,

Verhcht hem van omhoog,
Opdat zijn werk geheiligd zii,
En vaderland en burgerij
Ten zegen strekken moog !

2 D
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6.

Zie in gen& en liefdo nedr

Op onzen PreBJdent, o Hoer !

Wees Gij zijn toeverlaat !

De "^k, die op zijn' schouders rust,

Vervulle hij.met trouw en lust,

Tot lieil van volk en staat

!

6.

Een warme, reine gudsdienstzin

Dring' in ens aller harten in

En maak' ons hier op aard,

Het worstelperk voor d' eeuwigheid

In 't Koningrijk, der deugd bereid,

Een zaal'ger leven waard I

7.

Dwingt woest geweld ons tut den strijd,

Geschonden' ear of waardigheid

Tot 't grijpen van het zwaard,

Dan trekken w' op mot leeuwenmoed

En off'ten gaame goed en bloed

Voor 't land, ons lief en waard.

8.

Met God voor volk en vade,rland I

Die leus doen w' altijd trouw gestand,

Zelfs in den heetsten strijd.

Voor hem, die zoo to wapen snelt,

Die zoo zijn' God tot schild zich atelt,

Is zegepraal bereid.

9.

Hoil, driewerf heil den dierb'ren Staat,

Het Volk, den President, den Raad !

Ja, bloei' naar ons gezang

De Vrijataat en zijn burgerij,

In deugden groot, van smetten vrij,

Nog tal van eeuwen lang !
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placed in custody for committing an I'fT^
Monene's subsequently being
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commiBBioner, 305 ; proceeds on a tour of inquiry, and on the 2Gth of

February, 1871, arrivea at Klipdrift, 360 ; where he hati a conference with

Preaident Pretorius, Nicholaa Waterboer, and various Haroiong and Hatla-

pin chiefs, 360 ; arranges for the disputes between them to be submitted

to a court of arbitration, 360 ; obtains the consent of President Pretorius

to a joint government of the diamond-fields on the northern bank of the

Vaal until the decision of the court of arbitration is made kuovn, 360 ; in

March, 1871, visits Bloemfontoin, and endeavours, but u) vain, to induce

the Free State Government to come to an arrangement regarding the

diamond-fields south of the Vaul similar to that made with Pre8i<lent

Pretorius, 378 ; as the Free State Government calls out a commando to

support its courts of law, orders the colonial police to assemble at Hope-
town, sends a troop to Klipdrift, and announces that he will protect Her
Majesty's subjects from all interference by the Free State authorities, 379;
rejects the proposal of the Free State Government to submit to the decision

of the head of a foreign power its right to territory transferred to it by
Sir George Clerk, 380; on the 16th of March, 1871, has a conference with
Letsie and other Basuto chiefs at Maseru, 305 ; the chiefs profess to be

thoroughly loyal, and the governor credits their statements, 306 ; by
instructions from the secretary of state, in May, 1871, submits to the Cape
Parliament a bill for the annexation of the Lesuto, 308 ; which is passed

by both houses in August, and is carried into effect, 309 ; endeavours to

obtain the consent of the Cape Parliament to the annexation of the dia-

mond-fields, 384 ; but does not succeed in the attempt, 386 ; gets a resolu-

tion carried authorising him to maintain order among the diggers and
collect revenue pending the adjustment of the boundary disputes, 387

;

upon the repudiation of the Keate Award by the government of the South

African Republic, announces that he will maintain it, 370 ; on the 21st of

October, 1871, issues a series of proclamations declaring the whole of the

territory claimed by Mr. Arnot for Nicholas Waterboer, and containing

the principal diamond-fields, part of the British dominions, and providing

for its government, 389

Barter between whites and blacks : in 1854 is prohibited by law in the South

African Republic, 27

Basutoland, or the Lesuto : as contained within the boundaries defined by
Major Warden and confirmed by Sir Harry Smith, on the abandonment of

the Sovereignty by Great Britain in 1854 is left independent of all ex-

traneous control, 2 ; receives a large addition of territory by the first treaty

of Aliwal North, after the war of 1858 with the Orange Free State, 71

;

loses a much larger extent of territory by the treaty of Thaba Bosigo,

after the war of 1865-6 with the Orange Free State, 204 ; in March, 1868,

becomes part of the British dominions, 266; in February, 1869, recovers a

portion of its old territory by the second treaty of Aliwal North, 286 ; in

August, 1871, is annexed to the Cape Colony, 309; and is then divided into

the four magisterial districts of Leribe, Berea, Thaba Bosigo, and Kornet

Spruit, 310

Basuto tribe : at the time of the abandonment of the Sovereignty by Great

Britain in 1854 is rapidly increasing in power, 3 ; makes aggressive move-

raeuta against the Orange Free State, 10, 98, and 101 ; after Sir Philip
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Batlap.n
: account of the various clans of, 63

^^'^^^:j^T^fZ:^i
the e ^^ence.e„t of the war of ,858 suffers

groatly'^^edu^ed iflel^r*
''''' ""' **"' A^t treaty of Aliwal North 2

In June 5862 is .n^^ ?
'" '"°°T°'-«t«d with the Orange Free State. 71

Bell. Major Chi Hrrd'rMTy'^^^^^^
311 ° ^"y* ^**7^' " appointed magistrate of Leribe,

Bethlehem, village of : is founded in March. 1860, 80Be h ehem district of : is established in May, 1871, 402

'"'pt:^rtt^ol;:?r.;r^ ^-^.^ chief Lep„i become.

district under a landdrolt, 79
"*''^' ^^*^' '" """^^'^ »°*° »

Bethulie, village of : is founded in June. 1862 79
Beyer.reverend Mr.: in November isfti k<.„

Reformed Church at Redd"rsb;;g 128 " "'"^""^" °' ^''^ ^^^P"''*"*

b!oZIT''"m^*"\=
'^ established in June. 1862, 104B oemhof, village of : is founded in August 1864 230B oemho

,
district of: is established in June. 1869 MOBloemM:proceedingsof the court of arbitra\ion^?ApriltoJune.l871.a,

"^i^Z^^H^ 'Islr^^'.rin"'
the Orange Free State. 15;

conference with Most;h a^Sm tW^'ld;;S:X''S^^ a"nf
"^"^ 5^^ *

formal treaty. 16; in Februarv lfi<!s 7 ^ t' ' ^^ concludes a

accepted by the volksrald bi^^fl.'.^ " ^'' resignation, which is

Boshof. village of : is founded in April. 1856. 24.
Boshoi. district of

: in February, 1858. is established by the volksraad 80Boundary dispute between the Orange Free State «nrl7hl « .u '.? •

Republic: inFebruarv ^V^(\ \.A -X T- r
**^® ^""^^^ AfricanF V-

.

lu jeoruary, J870. is decided m favour of the latter h„ T;<...

Bowker. James Henrv • in Anrii ihab :„ • ^ j ... '

in Basutoland, 279' ^ ' '
^^'""'"'^ ^'^^ commissioner's agent

Brand Advocate Jan Hendrik
: is elected president of the Orange Fr.e Staf«and assumes duty in Februarv IRfid inft.fi 1 ,

^ ^™°S® ^ ' «e Mate,

Dressing unnn iU^l V"

'

' ^^ '
^°''^ ^^^"8 «f the Basuto tribe

Ji;

!!!
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1864, 117 ; but upon request of the Baauto chiefs extends the time

for the removal of property to the end of January 1865, 120 \ owinp *'-

the outrageous conduct of Bamanelaon Free State soil, in May, 1865, ca^ls

out an armed force to punish tliat chief, 122 ; finds hostilities with the

Basuto tribe inevitable unless Moshesh will keep his people in order, 122

;

on the 2nd of June, 1865, sends an ultimatum to Moshesh, of which no

notice is taken, so on the 9th of June proclaims war with the Basuto, 123;

on the 3rd of April, 1866, agrees to peace, and signs the treaty of Thaba

Bosigo, 204 ; owing to the deceitful conduct of the Basuto, in July, 1867,

is obliged to take up arms again, 256 ; but is compelled by the interference

of Sir Pliilip VVodehouse practically to cease hostilities in March, 1868,

272 ; in February, 1869, is driven by force of circumstances to sign the

second treaty of Aliwal North, 285 ; upon the expiration of his first term

of office is again elected president of the Orange Free State ; in Decem-

ber, 1870, with Mr, C. W. Hutton visits Capetown to explain the position

of his government with regard to the territory claimed by Mr. Arnot for

Nicholas Waterboer, 343 ; carries on a long, but fruitless, correspondence

with the high commissioner concerning the right of the Free State to the

diamond-fields south of the Vaal, 340; is desired by a large party to

become president of the South African Republic, so as to unite the two

states, 371 ; as the scheme is unfriendly to Great Britain, he declines >

allow himself to be put in nomination, 373; but acts as a peacema' :,

373 ; upon the annexation of the diamond-fields to the Britisli dominions,

on the 7th of November, 1871, enjoins all officers and burghers of the Free

State to avoid anything that might cause a collision with the incoming

authorities, 391 ; and expresses perfect confidence that England will do

justice to the Republic as soon as the true condition of affairs is known,

391

Buchanan, David Dale, editor of the Natal Witness : in February, 1867, becomes

the avowed advocate of the Basuto tribe, 260 ; after the annexation of

the Lesuto to the British dominions, fans the discontent of the chiefs

towards the high commissioner because they have not obtained everything

they desire, 289; in April, 1869,with the reverend Mr.DaumasandMoshesh's

son Tsekelo proceeds to England, 291 ; obtains support from various

missionary and philanthropic societies, 292 ; on the 22nd of June has an

interview with the secretary of state, 292 ; with the result that Sir Philip

Wodehouse is called upon for explanations, and the ratification of the

settlement efiected by him is delayed, 293 ; by his violent language Mr.

Buchanan forfeits the attention of the secretary of state, 295 ; he returns

to Natal, and instigates political agitators in the Lesuto, 302 ; is earnestly

advised by the government of Natal to abstain from interference in Basuto

affairs, 304; in September, 1871, is informed by authority of the high com-

missioner that if he sends messengers again into the Lesuto they will be

prosecuted for stirring up sedition, 311

Burgers, reverend Thomas Frangois : on the 1st of July, 1872, becomes president

of the South African Republic, 375

Burghers of the Orange Free State : according to the constitution of 1854 are

all persons of European blood who have resided six months in the state,

3 ; according to the amended constitution of 1864 are all white persons
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bornm the country, all white persons resident in the country and pos-sessing fixed property to the value of £150 registered in their /ames. andall white persons resident for three successive years in the country 107

vearoV^:
South African Republic are all white persons over twenty-onem ^>. .^™ ^^'^''^ *^^ ^*"*«' ^'^^^^ P-«°°« P°«««««i°g landed

oT^^l "">. .*^
'*^*'' """^ ''•^'^^ P«"°°« °* ^^'^ ''°°d"«t resident for

tJ«1.1M 1
''^ *° *^' P'°P^" ''"'^ ^•'^ government, obedience to

ctiXtr't^S ''^ *^^ ^-^^^^^-^-^^ °^*^^ ^^P"''^^^ ^«^o- they can

^"Ts'bS'
'°

^;^T'^'/^^*'
'^ ''^* ^y S'^ ^^"'•g^ ^l«rk at Bloemfonteinas British agent, 18; in April. 1855. is moved by Sir George Grey to AliwalNorthas civil commissioner and resident magistrate. 19; in February 1862IS sent with Mr. J M. Orpen to Moshesh to obtain ^formation for the

tXshrhTlT' \ ' *5 "'^'T^'
'''*• '^ -"t again as a commissioner

slThnfnV^ K u"'^"'"'
^^^ """^'^^ '"^ *=°°^^°* t° '^' mediation of

in OcSr T«1^- ''
^''^^^^

**^« Basuto tribe. 113;m October, I863 la sent again as a commissioner to Moshesh to endeavour

''"'diS:^z^:^g.ijr
r

""'"'^^
'' ^"^^-^^ ^-^ -'''- '^^ ^'^

Campbell Johm
: on the 30th of November. 1870. is appointed by the highcommissioner, under the Cape of Good Hope Punishment Act, specfal

Str ".f t'f 't7'r '^^™^' ^y ^^- ^™°t f«r Nicholas' Wat r-

from Nfo^°? w'' V^^'^^'y'
1871. obtains a commission as magistrate

udL rAt' T":^^,^°^'-'
358

;
from April to June. 1871. is one of the

oft^ ;?f

7^bi
f

tion court at Bloemhof. 361 ; upon the annexationof the diamond-fields to the British dominions is appointed civil com-missioner and resident magistrate of the district of Klipdrift. and amember of the executive committee. 389
Campbell district, west of the Vaal river: dispute between the government of

mohnr^wri^*'*'
""•* ''' ^""^ ^^'^''*' ^^'-' f«^ *he Griqua captaS

JNicholas Waterboer. concerning the ownership of. 109 and 323
Cetewayo, son of the Zulu chief Panda : in December, 1856. defeats his brotherUmbulazi m a battle fought on the left bank of the Tugela river, and exter-mmates the partisans of his opponent. 145 ; upon the flight of his brotherUmtonga to Utrecht in February. 1861. he offers the people of that districta strip of territory along their border if they will surrender the fugitive.

147 ;
the farmers of Utrecht consent to the proposal upon condition thatthe life of Umtonga is spared. 148 ; Cetewayo agrees to this, and thearrangement IS concluded. 148; Panda approves of what has been doneby his son. 150; and in August. 1861, signs a deed of cession of the ground

150; m December. 1864. the boundary of the ceded land is beaconed offby a commission from the South African Republic and delegates fromPanda and Cetewayo. 151 ; in February, 1865. Umtonga flees from Zululandto Watal, when Cetewayo. having lost what lie had obtained for the
ground, causes the beacons to be removed. 151 ; Panda then requests
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President Pretorius to alter the boundary so as to restore to Zululand
some ground along the Pongolo, 151 ; the attitude of Cetewayo is so
threatening that the farmers of Utrecht go into laager, 152 ; and a com-
manuo under Paul Kruger assembles at Wakkerstroom, 152; in July, 1865,
Cetewayo gives Commandant-General Kruger assurances that he has no
hostile intentions, and removes his army from the Utrecht border, 179

;

but a little later sends people to build kraals on ground belonging to the
Republic north of the Pongolo river, 225 ; and claims the ceded territory
along the Utrecht border, 225 ; oflFers the ceded ground to Natal, 226 ;
which leads to correspondence between the two governments concerning
arbitration, 226 ; all the time Cetewayo professes that he entertains no
other feeling than friendship for the South African Republic, 226 ; but
does not succeed in deceiving the burghers, 226 ; who are aware that he is

not to be trusted, but are not afraid of his power, 226 ; he succeeds, how-
ever, in skilfully playing oflf Natal against the South African Republic.
226

^

Civil strife in the South African Republic : commences in September, 1860,
134 ; and ends in May, 1864, with the election as president of Mr. Mar-
thinus Wessel Pretorius, 143

Claim to a large portion of the Orange Free State made by Mr. David Amot
on behalf of the Griqna captain Nicholas Waterboer : particulars con-
cerning, 110

Coat of arms of the Orange Free State : description of, 40

Coat of arms of the South African Republic : description of, 126

Comparison of the military strength of the Free State and the Lesuto in

1865, 159

Condition of the Lesuto in 1868 when it was annexed to the British Empire,
276

Conference at Jammerberg Drift on the 7th of October, 1864, at which the
Free State and Basuto commissioners lay statements of their cases before
Sir Philip Wodehouse, 115

Constitution of the Orange Free State : is framed by the volksraad in March
and April, 1854, 3 ; is amended in 1864, 107

Constitution of the South African Republic : is framed in December, 1856, by
an assembly of delegates representing the districts of Potchefstroom,
Rustenburg, and Pretoria, 34

Currie, Sir Walter : on the 14th of March, 1868, is appointed high commis-
sioner's agent in Basutoland, 271

Danseb, David : on the abandonment of the Sovereignty by the British

Government in February, 1854, is left in an independent position, 2 ; in

September, 1854, is at war with Goliath Yzerbek, 14 ; expels his opponent
from their joint location, 14 ; is compelled by the Free State Government
to restore his booty and permit Goliath to return, 14 ; in 1858 aids the

Free State against Scheel Kobus and Goliath Yzerbek, 65

Danser, Jan : in 1859 sells to the Free State the location along the Vaal river

assigned by the SovereigntyGovernment to his late father David Danser, 77
Diamonds, discovery of : in 1867 a trader named O'Reilly obtains irom a farmer

named Schalk van Niekerk a pebble—afterwards proved to be a diamond

—
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by the eovernmfinf r>f u ^
""« ^»tn oi April, 1868, 235 ; is empowered

^canTpubir^ which"f ^ ""'''^! ' '"'^'^ "^*^ *^« South
240

''^P"'^^'°' ^40
'
which treaty is signed on the 29th of July, 1869,

ECCKSUSTXCA. matters in the Orange Free State : particulars concerning.

^^''mt:\T'''
i, ,he South African Republic : particulars concerning.

Edenburg. village of
: is founded in February, 1862, 104

£ZrC 'V^^^^^*''
''''^ "P- ^-e State territory, 98 and 105arasmus, Daniel Jacobus : in Novemhpr ik7i „r,^ at,M \v P»„4.« • .
^''wvemDer, 1871, upon the resignation of Mr

FAKU,Pondo chief: offers Nomansland-now Griqualand East-to Moshesh.
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75 ; in 1850 is required by the Natal Government to make compensation
for thefts by Bushmen residing within the Pondo treaty state, 90 ; in 1861
offers to Sir Walter Currie, on behalf of the government of the Cape
Colony, to cede the territory now known as Griqualand East, exclusive of
the district of Mount Ayliff, 91 ; after which date that territory has never
been regarded as part of Pondoland, 91

Pick, J. I, J. : at the commencement of the Basuto war in 1865 is elected
commandant-general of the Free State forces, 162 ; on the 20th of July,
1865, crosses the Caledon, and proclaims the whole territory north and
west of that river part of the Free State, 171

Financial condition of the Free State : in 1868, 270 ; at the close of 1871,
402 (See also Paper Money.)

Financial condition of the South African Republic : particulars concerning,
231 (See also Paper Money.)

Flag of the Orange Free Stato : description of, 40

Flag of the South African Republic : description of, 37

Foreign Banks are expelled from the Orange Free State in January, 1866, 112

Freedom of conscience in the South African Republic : is restricted by the
constitution of January, 1857, 35 ; but the restrictions are removed by the
vplksraad in June, 1870, 241

Free State National Anthem, 418 ; English translation by Mr. William Rcdger
Thomson, 197

Gasibone, chief of a clan of the Batlapin : in 1858 during the Basuto war
makes an unprovoked raid into the Free State, 63 ; on the 13th of August,
1858, is killed in ba' tie, 67

Ooedgedacht, mission of the Dutch Reformed Church : in 1862 is established
in the location of Michiel Buys in the district of Zoutpansberg, 209 ; in

July, 1865, is temporarily abandoned on account of the war, 213

Gold : in 1867 is discovered by Mr. Karl Mauch at the Tati, 232 ; also in the

Matabele country, 233 ; in 1871 is discovered in Zoutpansberg by Mr.
Edward Button, 373

Gold-mining at the Tati : account of, 232

Goliath Yzerbek, Korana captain : on the abandonment of the Sovereignty by
Great Britain in February, 1854, is left in an independent position, 2 ; in

September, 1854, is at war with David Danser, 14 ; in 1857 sells his share

of the Korana reserve to the Orange Free Stutt, 63 ; in 1858 aids Scheel

Kobus in plundering the Free State, 63

Grey, Sir George : is high commissioner and governor of the Cape Colony, 16

;

is desirous of preventing war between the Free State and the Basuto

tribe, 16 ; arranges for a meeting with President Boshof and Moshesh in

October, 1855, 16 ; is the means of a treaty being entered into between

the Free State and the Basuto tribe, 17 ; by means of agents scattered

throughout KaflBrland is kept informed of Moshesh's intrigues, 22

;

arranges conditions of peace between the Free State and the Basuto

tribe in August and September, 1858, 68 ; in 1858 intends to remove Jan

Letele and Lehana to Nomansland. but his design is frustrated by

Moshesh, 74 ; offers Adam Kok part of Nomansland, 89
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Griffith, Charles Duncan: in August, 1871. becomes chief magUtrate and

governor's agent in Basutoland, 310
GriquaClan under Nicholas Waterboer: history of, 316; in 1870 consists ofsome five hundred individuals sunk in poverty and wretchedness, 321
Gnqualand West: on the 2l8t of October, 1871, is annexed to the British

dominions, 389
;

is divided into the three magisterial districts of Klipdrift
Fniel and Griquatown, 389 ; receives a statf of British officials, 289 • area'
population, and other particulars concerning the territory so called, 390

'

Griquatown, district of : description of, 319
Grobbelaar, J H.

: in February, 1860, becomes acting president of the South
African Republic, 134; in November of the same year is succeeded by
stephanus Schoeman, 135

Hamelberg, H. a L. : in 1871 is appointed plenipotentiary of the Orange
free State m London, 388; but is not recognised in that capacity by the
secretaries of state, 388

33^^'-

Harrismith, district of : in September, 1854, is united to Winburg, 10 ; in 1856
becomes a separate district again, 20

Hay, Lieutenant-General, Her Majesty's high commissioner in South Africa •m September, 1870, opens a controversy with the government of the Oranjje
^ree State concerning the claim made by Mr. Arnot on behalf of the
Griqua captain Nicholas Waterboer, to the territory in which the principal
diamond mmes are situated, 339 ; in his despatches to the secretary of
state uses expressions that cannot be justified by facts, 343 ; in September
1870, writes to President Pretorius, of the South African Republic, calling
upon him to abstain from aggressions on native tribes, 357 ; on the 20th
of November, 1870, appoints Mr. John Campbell special magistrate in all
the territory claimed by Mr. Arnot for Nicholas Waterboer, 358

Heidelberg, village of : is founded in 1865, 230
Heidelberg district of

: in March, 186S, is formed out of the eastern part of
Potchefstroom, 230

^

VanHeiningen, reverend Mr.
:
in 1858becomesclergymanof the Dutch Reformed

Church at Lydenburg, 127

Hoflfman, Josias Philip
: is president of the council to which Sir George Clerk

in 1854 transfers the government of the territory occupied by Europeans
between the Vaal and Orange rivers, 2 ; is elected first president of the
Orange Free State, 7 ; visits Moshesh, 11 ; makes Moshesh a present of akeg of gunpowder, 15 ; attempts to conceal this transaction from the
volksraad, 15 ; becomes very unpopular, and in February, 1856, resigns hia
office, 16

Immigration of Europeans into the South African Republic : in 1865 is
invited under certain conditions by the volksraad, 26

Invasion of the Orange Free State in April, 1857, by a comman.io from the
South African Republic, 41

Jacobsdal, district of : is established in February, 1861, 88

Katlakter, chief of a clan of the Baramapulana : takes part in the war

I) i i
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against the Europeans in Zoutpansberg, April, 1865, to July, 1868, 213 ;
destroys the mission buildings at Goedgedacht, 213; is attacked in May,'
1867, by a commando, but manages to hold his own, 216 ; sets fire to the
village of Schoemansdal after its abandonment, 217

Keate, Robert William, lieutenant-governor of Natal : acts as arbitrator in the
boundary dispute between the Orange Free State and the South African
Republic, and in February, 1870, decides that the Klip river shall be the
dividing stream, 228 : as final umpire of the court of arbitration of
Bloemhof, on the 17th of October, 1871, signs an award which cuts off a
great deal of territory from the South African Republic, 364

Kimberley, Earl, secretary of state for the colonies : in November, 1870, writes
a despatch which greatly irritates the people of the Republics, 381 ; on the
18th of May, 1871, gives the high commissioner power to annex Waterboer's
territory, on condition of the Cape Parliament taking the entire respon-
sibility, 382 ; upon the refusal of the Cape Parliament to pass an act
annexing the territory in which the diamond-fields are situated, on the
2nd of October, 1871, leaves the matter to the discretion of the high com-
missioner, 388 ; approves of the annexation by Sir Henry Barkly of the
territory called Griqualand West, 392

Kock, Commandant Jan : iu 1859 attempts to disturb the peace in the district
of Winburg, 129 ; but does not succeed, and is brought to trial and fined,
130

;
takes part with Steplianus Schoeman in the disturbances in the South

African Republic in 1862, and is punished by sentence of confiscation of
all his property, 137

Kok, Adam, captain of a Griqua clan : publishes his disapproval of the arrange-
ment made by Sir George Clerk in 1854, 8 ; invites a party of blacks from
the Cape Colony to settle in his district, 8 ; wishes to renew negotiations
with Sir George Clerk, 8 ; but is informed that it is now too late, 9 ; in
September, 1854, makes an arrangement with President Hoffman by which
land in his reserve can be sold to Europeans, 9 ; acts as arbitrator between
Nicholas Waterboerand Cornelio Kok, and in October, 1855, lays down the
boundary known as the Vetberg line between the districts of those cap-
tains, 23; in 1861 moves from Philippolis to Nomansland, 91 ; in Decem-
ber, 1861, sells to the Orange Free State his sovereign rights and the whole
of the landed property of his clan north of the Orange, 93 ; fights in 1865
on the Free State side against the Basuto, 168

Kok, Comelis, captain of a Griqua clan : has his claim to ground above the
junction of the Orange and Vaal rivers recognised by the government of
the Orange Free State in April, 1854; 7 ; submits his dispute with Nicholas
Waterboer concerning ownership of territory to the arbitration of Adam
Kok, and in October, 1855, is awarded the land north of the Vetberg line,

23 ; is recognised by the Free State Government as possessing proprietary
but not sovereign rights in the district north of the Vetberg line, 24; cedes
his chieftainship to his nephew, Adam Kok, 109

Kroonstad, district of ; is established in August, 1859, 80

Kruger, Steph, Joh. F-iul : in 1854 takes part in the expedition against insur-

gent clans in ; ho district of Zoutpansberg, 30 ; in April, 1857, is a com-
mandant in - !• brce tha*- Invades the Grange Free State, 42; in April,

1858, takes Mt ^ . la's stroijghold by storm, and suppresses the insurrection
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Batlapm .n 1858, 66 ;
in October. 1862. commands the\urgherTrce tJtt

137 in 1863 18 elected commandant-general of the South African Rennh

18 heading an insurrection, 140 ; part of his force is obliged to urrenlrand he retires to the Free State for a short time, uf on the 5th nJJanuary. 1864. defeats Jan Viljoen in an action at the ford of the Limnbetween Pretoria and Rustenburg. 141; in September. 1 ^500!^^^^^^^^

Ind entr'""'
''' ^""*°' '''' "'November. ISeS.'visits'zou'prsberTand endeavours in vain to restore peace, 213; in May. 1867. with fiShundred men attacks the captain Katlakter, but is obliged I redl!without taking that rebel's stronghold, 216- LoDeala to fK« .

*° "T
support him with fifteen hundred Ln. but withrttccl'^lfiTn jLf1867. abandons Schoemansdal, 217 ; and shortly afterward^ disbands th«commando 217

;
in June. 1868. with a commando of nlrly nte hut ^^^^^^

men inflicts heB,vy losses on the insurgent chiefs Mapela^nd Matshem220; m February, 1870. visits Panda with a commission, and finds t™;Zulu people opposed to the occupation by Europeans of the ground cededsome time before by Cetewayo. 225
growna ceded

Kuane. (See Jan Letele.)

Kuruman claimant to the chieftainship of the Matabele tribe : in 1870 isdefeated by Lobsngula, 234 '" "

Landdbosts in the Orange Free State : are provisionally appointed bv thepresident, but all appointments require to be confirmed\yTe voiksrlad 5Landdrosts in the South African Republic : before 1858 were elected bv tLburghers o each district, 35 ; after 1858 are appointed b^the xecL ve

LawB^relating to the treatment of Bantu tribes in the South African Republic,

^'^''IT^r
^'"'" "^"^'"^ " '''^' ''''' '°^ *'« government of Molapo's

Laws and regulations put in force in Basutoland on the 1st of December. 1871,

Lebenya, chief of a Basuto clan : early in 1858 ravages several farms in theOrange Free S^ 5^ . ^^^^^ ^^^ ^^^^^^^ ^^ ^^^« the F^ee Stateforces in 1865. abandons the Lesuto and retires first \o the WittebereenNative Reserve and then to Nomansland. where he has groundSedto him l)y Sir Philip Wodehouse, 258
^ assigned

Lepui. Iktlapin chief at Bethulie : on the abandonment of the Sovereigntym 1854 IS left in an independent position. 2 ; in October. 1859. ledes^J^
district of Bethulie to the Orange Free State 79

Letele. Jan, chief of a Basuto clan : is a grandson of Motlomi and renresenta
tive of the ruling family in the Lesuto before the rise orMosheTl,

P t , 1 ,
"'TK' "''"^' " '

'' ^* ^""''^^y -^^^ Mosheshtbrothe;
Poshuh. 13; m March. 1858. is received as a subject of the Free State 52 •
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in January 1862 is robbed of all hia cattle by Poshuli, 94 ; after which he
sinks greatly in power and influence, 96

Letsie, eldest son of the Basuto chief Moshesh : in April, 1858, is defeated by
the Free State forces, when his kraal at Morija is destroyed, 58 ; for selfish
reasons is disposed to carry out Sir Philip Wodehouse's award in October,
1864, 117; in 1865 is at enmity with his brother Molapo, 160; in July,'
1865, his kraal of Matsieng is taken by Commandant Wepentr, 170 ; joins
his father Moshesh in applying for British protection, 245 ; in April, 1866,
in order to save the crops, with the other Basuto chiefs agrees to' peace
with the Free State, 203 ; after signing the treaty of Thaba Bosigo,
renews his efforts to obtain British protection, 245 ; but the secretary of
state for the colonies is unwilling to extend the British dominions, 245 ;

Letsie then applies to be received as a subject by the Free State, 246

;

and receives permission to remain where he is until his crops are reaped,'
246; in May, 1867, is received as a Free State subject and allowed to
remain in his old district, 252 ; as soon as his crops are harvested and
stored in fortified mountains become.? defiant, 255 ; in the war of 1867-8
loses his stronghold, the Kieme, 266 ; in March, 1868, is received as a
British subject, 266 ; at a great meeting at Thaba Bosigo on the 22nd of
December, 1870, expresses himself satisfied with the regulations drawn up
by Sir Philip Wodehouse, 304 ; expresses himself satisfied that the Lesuto
is annexed to the Cape Colony, 309

Lobengula: in January, 1870, becomes chief of theMatabele tribe in succession
to his father Moselekatse, 234

Ludorf, reverend Joseph, Wesleyau missionary : acts as agent for the Barolong
chief Montsiwa, 349 ; devises an ingenious but fabulous history of the
Barolong, S49 ; in April to June, 1871, conducts the case for the Barolong
chiefs before the arbitration court at Bloemhof, 361; admits that he is the
author of a spurious treaty that has been used to draw President Pretorius
into a snare, 362 ; after the delivery of the Bloemhof award, in October,
1871, draws up a pompous but absurd constitution for an united Barolong,
Bangwaketsi, and Batlapin state, 368

Lydenburg, district of : in I>'->cember, 1856, separates from the South African
Republic,and is declared by its representatives a sovereign and independent
state, 38 ; in September, 1857, negotiations are commenced by the govern-
ment at Potchefstroom for a reconciliation, 130 ; and are carried on until

April, 1860, when the union of the two states is completed, 132

Magadtt, son of Bamapulana : quarrels with his brother Tabana, and after his

father's death drives him from his kraals, 210 ; in April, 1865, engages in

war with the Europeans in Zoutpansberg, 213
Mahura, chief of a Batlapin clan : in J 858 protects his relative Gasibone

against the South African Republic, 66 ; makes an agreement of peace, in

which he undertakes to pay the expenses of the commando within three

months, 67 ; but pays noticing when called upon to do so, 143 ; in May,
1864, in reply to a letter of demand from President Pretorius, refers the

government of the Republic to his agent, Mr. DavidArnot,144; in February,

1869, with other Batlapin chiefs and several Korana captains has a con-

ference with a eommisaiou from the South African Republic, 347 ; at
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Which he and the othera admit their indebtedness, and undertake to paythree thousand head of cattle within two months. 347; but they fail to
carry out their agreement. 348; shortly after this Mahura dies, and issucceeded by Mankoroane as head of the clan, 349

Makapan
:

is chief of a clan in the district of Zoutpanaberg. 26; in 1854 causes
a party of Europeans to be murdered. 28 ; commences to pillage the
country ,n his neighbourhood. 29; upon the approach of burgher forcesunder Commandanta-Qeneral Pretorius and Potgieter takes refuge with
all his people m an enormous cavern, 30; where he is blockaded, 30; and
the greater part of his clan perishes, 30

Makwai, chief of a Baauto clan: in May, 1867, is received as a Free State
subject, 253 ; but soon afterwards goes into rebellion, 256 ; after the loss
of his stronghold on the 25th of September, 1867, moves over the Drakens-

pt'r wT? °'^'
'^^'^' *^*" ^^ ^"-^ g™»"d ^««i«ned to him by SirPhihp Wodehouse, 258

Malewu, chief of a clan in the district of Lydenburg : in 1863 rises in arms
against the South African Republic, 144 ; in June, 1864, is attacked by a
tswazi army, when his clan is nearly annihilated, 144

Mapela chief of a clan in the district of Zoutpanaberg : early in 1858 rises in
rebellion, 124 ; but is defeated with heavy losa and compelled to submit.
125 ;

ten years later rises again, but in June, 1868, is severely chastised,

Mapok chief of a clan in the district of Lydenburg : in 1863 rises in rebellion.
144; meets with some reverses, but does a great deal of damage to thfr
farms m the district, 144; in June, 1864, is routed by a Swazi army, 144

Marabastad, village of: after the abandonment of Schoemansdal in June 1867
becomes the residence of the landdrost of Zoutpanaberg, 217

' *

Marico, district of : is established in October, 1871, 366
Marthinus-Wessel-Stroom, village of : is founded in 1859 131
Maseru: in March, 1869, is selected as the residence of the high commissioner's

agent in the Lesuto, 289
Masupha, son of the Baauto chief Mosheah: in June, 1865, leads a raiding party

into the Free State and commits several massacres of a peculiarly atrocious
nature, 164; on the death of his father takes up his residence on Thaba
Bosigo against the orders of the high commissioner's agent, 306 ; refuses
to leave Ihaba Bosigo, and remains maater of the stronghold 310

Matabele tribe
: in 1859 is provided with missionaries by the London Society,

*£66
; in 1870 is engaged in civil war, 234

Matshangana, tribe of : account of the, 211
McCorkindale, Alexander

: in September, 1864, obtains a concession from the
goverament of the South African Republic for introducing immigrants
from Great Britain, 155 ; is unable to carry out his project in its entirety

i«7i J^f
°"' * ^^^ ^°°*°^ ^*™'"^'' ^^^

'
^'"^ *' ^^y^''^ I«l»°d '^^ May,'

Measures adopted by the Free State Government with regard to the territory
acquired by the treaty of Thaba Bosigo, 243 ; three rows of farms adjoin-
ing the boundaryare given free to selected applicanta to hold under personal
occupation, and in the remainder of the territory not intendprJ for r^'o-rves
for blacks farms are sold by auction, 250 ; in January, 1867, the farms are

! m
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allottefl, but the owners cannot occupy them on account of Basuto
squatters, 250; therefore, in March, 1867, a burgher force is called out to
expel the Basuto, 251; two commandoes commenoo destroying tho crcpg,
252

;
but do not meet with much resistance, 252 ; the great object ol the

Basuto being to save their crops, they in general profess abject submission
and implore to be received as Free State subjects, 252 ; in May the
volksraad consents, and Letsie and other chiefs are taken over, 252 ; as
soon as the crops are gathered, all the chiefs, except Moperi, become
defiant, 254 ; in June an English trader named Bush is murdered by some
Bataung in the ceded territory, and Moshesh protects tb« murderer, 255

;

in July a farmer named Krynauw is murdered by a part^ jf Bataung, 255;
as it is then certain that the Basuto have no intention to abide by their
ciiigtigcwttnts, the burghers are called to arms, and the war of 1867-8
follows, 256

Middolburg, village of : is founded in 1859, 133

Middelburg, district cf : is established in October, 1871, 366
Military force of the Orange Free State : constitution of, 5

Mineral wealth of the South African Republic as known in 1868, 231
Missionaries of the Paris Evangelical Society: in February, 1866, the volksraad

of the Orange Free State expels those whose stations are in the territory
overrun by the burgher forces, 193; further particulars of this event, 247;
after the second treaty of Aliwal North, return to their labours in the
Lesuto, 315

Mission work in the South African Republic : is carried on by the Berlin and
Hermansburg Societies, and by the Dutch Reformed Church, 155

Molapo, son of the Basuto chief Moshesh : after suffering severely in the war
of 1865-6, on the 26th of March, 1866, by the treaty of Imparani becomes
a subject of the Orange Free State, 202: takes no open part in the war of
1867-8, 259; in March, 1868, expresses a desire to come under British pro-
tection, 276 ; tries to induce the Basuto tribe to join Natal in hope of
receiving aid to recover lost territory, 282; by the second treaty of Aliwal
North is permitted to become a British subject, 286 ; punishes the robber
chief Ramanela by seizing a thousand head of his cattle, 293; on the 11th
of April, 1870, becomes a British subject, 300

Molitsane, chief of the Bataung clan : in 1854 is a vassal of Moshesh with his
own consent, 2 ; at the close of the war of 1865-6, as his district has been
ceded to the Orange Free State, applies to be received as a subject of that
Republic, 246 ; and receives permission to remain where he is until a suit-

able location can be found for him, 246 ; he gathers his crops, and when
the sowing season comes round puts a large extent of ground under culti-

vation, 246 ; in May, 1867, is received as a Free State subject, 253 ; ti. .es

part in the war of 1867-8, and in March, 1868, becomes a British subject,

256 ; in 1869 is removed to the south of the Lesuto, 291

Molopo, conference of : is held in November, 1870, between a commission of

the South African Republic and various Betshuana chiefs, 353

Monene, a re
. gee from the Matshangana tribe : has a location in Zoutpans-

berg assigned to him, 211 ; causes much trouble by his turbulent conduct,
212 ; in July, 1864, has a location close to Schoemansdal, given to him by
President Pretorius, 212 ; is arrested on a charge brought agajast him by
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J. Albasini 212; m March. 1865. eacapes from custody, 212; and take,refuge w.th chief, in the mountains who are ill-dispcod toiards th"huropeana. 2 2 ;
a party of Knobnoses i« sent in aearch^f him! 2^2 aUoa party of white men under Commandant Stephanus Venter 213

;'

whoattack the ch.ef Pago. 213 ; and a general war follows 213

^''^ttr^h*;' R
''
'•'l?" ''T''^

^' ^"^ ^"°'°°« '"be /after 1854 remain,

7868 annl T t'u"^"
""""^^ °' "^^ Mol.po river. 3«J; i„ August

1868 apphes through the reverend J. Ludorf to the high commissioner lot

C !h "hT^'U','
^°"**' ^"'^"' ^^P"''"'^' 350; in March. 1870. sup'

ifrLn R J o.t
***"/ conference with a commission from the South

Say to annointr °^^''*''*'^f
'-' 3^6; .ppHes to Lieutenant-Generalaay to appomt two members of c< .rt of arbitration. 3{56; by the Keato

ReTublii^^er
"' '"'• " '"'""^ '"'^^P''"^^"* ^' the'soL AWct

Monument to the memory of the Free State citizens who lost their lives inthe Basuto wars
: on the 29th of May. 1871, is unveiled at Bloemfontei"

Moperi, brother of Moshesh
: in May. 1865. commits several outrages on FreeState soil. 122 ; applies to be received as a subject of the Free State 246^

Jurfsfi?'
*'' least untrustworthy of all Jhe Basuto chefs ^'l'

Witsi 8 Hoek IS assigned to him as a location. 266- inAucusf l«fi7 m«.^th his clan to VVitsi. Hoek. 256; takes no p^Jt^rttTutqu'^^tTa:

Moroko, chief of the Seleka branch of the Barolong tribe: is left in an undefined position on the abandonment of the Sovereignty in 18?4S Tnthe war of 858 assists the Free State against the Basuto. 6 s rLrdedWith great favour by the Free State Government. 86 ; in the war oHseg «
fights on the Free State side, 172

"ne waroi i»tJ5.6

Morosi. chief of the Baphuti clan : in June. 1870. becomes a British subject.

Moselekatse. chief of the Matabele tribe : dies in 1868 233
Moshesh, paramount chief of the Basuto tribe : issues an ordinance prohibitingthe introduction of spirituous liquors into the Lesuto, 13- issues othefordinances which are. however, n.. enforced. 14; by Si George Grey's

r/sfInd
'^^^

Vr'""/*"? ^''''^'^' ^"^''^^ SmithfieldTn'Sctober
1855 and concludes a formal treaty, 16; which he afterwards takes no

tr!ct I'f
"
?"7>r' n''

'° ''"^'' ^''^' ^^y« ^^-™ - writing to a arge

Free Sta :1;° t\
?™'^«^ ^'^^!.'''''^' ^ '' '« P^P^-g ^^ ^i with the±ree State, 21

;
is intriguing with coast tribes, 21 ; manages to deceive themissionaries as to his designs, 22 ; is closely watched by lir George Greywho IS aware of his intrigues. 22 ; makes an agreement with F^e sScommissioners, but fails to keep it. 22; in 1857 offers under certain conditions to submit his dispute with the Free State to the deci on of S^George Grey. 48 ;
early in 1858 tries to provoke the burghers of the FreeState to commence hostilit.ipa ko . jn *h» -.^r ri loro * . „

®®

plan of campaign. 57 ;
on the 16th of October, 1858. with great reluctan"

2 £
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signs the treaty of peace drawn up by Sir George Grey, 72 ; makes no
effort to carry out the provisions of the treaty of 1838, 74 ; in August,

1860, waits upon His Royal Highness Prince Alfred at Aliwal North, 8S ;

in September, 1861, informs a commissioner of the Orange Free State that

he will not recogniNe any boundary linos or carry out arrangements made
with President Pretorius, 88 ; in March, 1862, treats with great indignity

a commission sent from the Free State to endeavour to obtain redress of

grievances, 09 ; in May, 1863, informs a commission from the Free State

Oovernmeut that he does not recognise a boundary, and will not recall his

people who are trespassing on farms, 105 ; in November, 1863, proposes to

Acting President Venter a boundary line that would cut otf from the Free

State nearly half the districts of Winburg and Harrismith, 106 ; consents

with great reluctance to the mediation of Sir Philip Wodehouse, 113 5

after Sir Philip Wodehouse's decision in favour of the Free State resolves

to evade carrying out the award while professing to submit to it, 118 ; ia

completely under the influence of seers, 160 ; in 1865 issues a proclama-

tion in reply to President Brand's declaration of war, 161 (for subsequent

occurrences see War of 1865-6) ; after signing the treaty of Thaba Bosigo

renews his efforts to obtain British protection, 245 ; instead of withdraw-
ing his subjects, towards the end of 1866 sends strong parties of warriors

into the ceded territory, 251 ; and lays up large stores of grain on strongly

fortified mountains, 251 ; in March, 1867, informs the high commissioner

that he does not intend to surrender the ceded territory, 251 ; in July
causes a letter of defiance to be written to the president, 255 ; as soon as

the crops of 1867 are harvested denies all knowledge of the treaty of

Thaba Bosigo, and announces that he will not allow Europeans to settle

on the ceded land, 254 ; in August, 1867, sends a messenger to Natal to

urge that he may be taken over, and that his country may be joined to

that colony, 261 ; in March, 1868, becomes a British subject, 266 ; at this

time is very feeble and irresolute, 282; dies on the 11th of March,

1870, 298

Nehemiah, son of Moshesh : in 1857 is sent by his father to the Koesberg

to svippress stocklifting, 49; in 1858 with a few followers moves into

Nomansland in order to defeat Sir George Grey's plan of locating Jan

Letele and Lehana there, 75 ; engages in hostilities with the Pondomisi

in Nomansland, 87 ; endeavours, though in vain, to procure Sir George

Grey's recognition of his ownership of the district in which he is living,

87 ; endeavours to obtain from Sir Philip Wodehouse recognition of his

ownership of part of Nomansland, but in vain, 92 and 98 ;
gives a great

deal of trouble to Adam Kok's Griquas after their settlement in Nomans-

land, 92 ; but in 1865 is defeated by them and driven back into the

Lesuto, 92

Nooitgedacht, conference of : is held in August, 1870, between a commission

from the Orange Free State and one from the Griqua captain, Nicholas

Waterboer, 325 ; also between commissions from the Orange Free State

and the South African Republic^ 328

Nylstroom, village of : in March, 1866, becomes the residence of the landdrost

of the new district of vVaterberg, 230
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OrakobPrbp State: on the aUn.lonment of the Sovereignty in 1854 the

gro nJactraS^
""

^^V'^ T^'"'"""'
administration oo.n,' isea only h

the fW ^^?""' ^^ '^"'•°P«''»« «"><» the w««te land. ench>8ed bythe Orange and Vaal rivers and the Kathlamba mountains, 2 • in TsM ilinhabited by only fifteen thousand Europeans. 2; is cSfly adapted for

^:tii:Tr^\:'''T'''^ ''''' o»>t«ins;he'distrioto?^ r llbyoe on fron, Lep„,. 79 ; ,„ December. 1861, obtains the district of Philip

m j^ebruary 1869, has its south-eastern boun.iary defined by the second

ry bv^'tt'"'^' """"i''' '? V"
"'^**''^'-' ^«^'' •-- ^ '-«« extentoZitorj. by the annexation of the diamond-fields to the British dominions.

^'^tn t"?°"^
Alexander, landdrost of Wakkerstroom : in April to June.

Tth lf:i:^R;?bu:^^6r'"^"^^"
--' " ^'-'"^°^' - '^^^^^ «^ *•«

'"'^rictsTfWr;''""^ It''''
''''' '-PP»-t«d landdrost of ti.e united dis.

mssioner of the Orange Free State, 10; visits Moshesh again as specialcomm.ss.oner 13 ;
in 1856 expels Witsi's robber clan from Ilarrismith 20.m October, 1856. resigns as landdrost of Winbnrg, 24; in January 1862

^^Zt^^l'^
°' *^' ^"'" *"''"

=
encourages European traders in Zululand andpermits missionanes to pursue their labours. 145 ; in August, 1861. cedesto the South African Republic a strip of land along the border of the dis

trict of mrecht, 150; in 1869 sends two hundred and forty head of cattleto^buy the ground back again. 225; but the Republic refuses to sell it.

Panaegrouw, J. G.
, in the war of 1867-8 is in command of a division of theFree Mate forces, 256 ; on the 25th of September, 1867, takes Makwai'smountain by stor,n 257; on the 28th of January, 1868, takes Tandjesberg

of the'S^me 26?
°" ^^"'^ °^ ^'^"'^'^' *^®^' ""^^'^ •^'™'^* ""^'''

Paper money
: in April. 1865, is created by the government of the Orange FreeState to the amount of £30,000, as capital for the Bloemfontein Bank 112 •m June, 1866 is created by the government of the Orange Free State to the

and £57,000 to lend to .mpoverished burghers, 244; in June, 1865, is created

£10 in r,"'"'"^^*
"^ *^" ^'""'^ ^^"''"" ^^P"'^^'" t« the amount of

£10,500 157; .n February. 1866, is created by the government of the SouthAfr.can Republ.c to the amount of £12,000, 216 ; in May, 1867, is created

Zail o7r""'^o^
°* *^' ^""*^ ^^''""^ ^^P"^l'^ t° *»'« ^""ount of

£20,000, 216 ;
in 1868 is created by the Government of the South AfricanRepubl.c to the amount of £65,000, but out of this the previous issues are tobe redeemed 220; in June, 1 «70. o.nother issue 1. authorised by the govern-ment of the South African Republic, bringing the whole amount in circu-

1^1
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lation up to £73,826, 231. The whole of this is to meet deficiency of

revenue.

Fhilippolis, dictrict of : in December, 1S61, is purchased by the Free State from

Adam Kok, 93; in April, 1862, is placed under a landdrust, 93

Pniel : in February, 1871, is made a separate district of the Free State, 334

Pondo treaty state cannot be maintained intact, 89

Poshuli, brother of Moshesh : in February, 1858, takes forcible possession of a

farm in the Free State, 51 ; after 1858 becomes patron of a band of Bush-

man marauders, 84 ; in January, 1862, makes a raid upon Jan Letele, and
takes all his cattle, 94; in May, 1865, pillages farms along the lower

Caledon, 122 ; in June, 1865, is a leader in the raid into the Smithfield

district, 164 ; in May, 1867, is received as a Free State subject, 253 ; on the

28th of Januaiy, 1868, is killed in the storming of Tandjesberg, 264
Postma, reverend Mr. ; in 1858 becomes a clergyman of the Separatist Re-

formed Church at Bustenberg, 127

Potgieter, Hermanns : in 1854 is leader of a hunting party, 27 ; visits the

kraal of Makapan to purchase ivory, 27 ; whera he is murdered with
twelve white men and ten women and children, 28

Potgieter, Commandant-General Pieter G. : in 1854 leads a force against in-

surgent clans in the district of Zoutpansberg, 29 ; is killed when block-

ading a cavern, 30

Potgieter's Rust, village of : is abandoned 1870 on account of fever, 222

President of the Orange Free State : by the constitution of 1854 is elected by
the burghers, from a list of candidates nominated by the volksraad, for a

term of five years. There is nothing to prevent the same person holding

the office more than one term. The president is the principal executive

ofiicer of the state, he superintends all public departments and the carry-

ing out of all business connected with the public service, but he is re-

sponsible to the volksraad, and his administrative acts are liable to be

reviewed by that body. He is required to make a yearly report of the state

of the country and of the public dervice to the volksraad, and must visit

the district villages frequently, and make himself acquainted with the inte-

rests and wishes of the people. All appointments made by him are pro-

visional and require the confirmation of the volksraad ; he can suspend

public functionaries, but not deprive them of office ; with the consent of a

majority of the executi e council he can exercise the prerogative of mercy
in criminal cases ; with the concurrence of the volksraad he can declare

war, make peace, and conclude treaties. In 1856 an ordinance was
passed, under which the burghers can vote for any person as president

who receives a requisition signed by twenty-five qualified electors, provided

such requisition with a reply accepting it are published in the Stoats

Courant four full weeks before the day of election. For original constitu-

tion see page 4 ; for amendment of 1856, see page 77

President of the South African Republic : by the constitution, as amended in

November, 1871, is electot' for a term of five years. He is the chief

executive officer of the Republic, but is responsible to the volksraad, whose

resolution he must obey. He must be over thirty years of age, a member

of a Protestant Church, and never convicted of a dishonourable ofience.

He need not be a burgher of the Republic at the time of his election, but
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must have received requisitions signed by at least one hundred qualified
voters, which requisitions must be published in the SlaaU Courant for onemonth before the day fixed for the election. The voting is by ballotFor amended constitution see page 371, and for qualifications, duties, andpowers of the president before 1871 see page 34

' «» »««

Pretoria, village of : is founded in 1855, 32 ; by the treaty of April, 1860. withLydenburg becomes the seat jf government, 132

Pretoria, district of : is established in 1855, 32

Pretorius Marthinus Wessel : in 1854 leads a force against insurgent clans in
the district of Zoutpansberg, 29 ; in January, 1857, is appointed by the

^
representative assembly president of the South African Republic, 36 ; inFebruary 1857, visits the Orange Free State in order to try to efi-ect the
union of that country with the South African Republic, 37 ; is unsuccessful,
and IS ordered by the volksraad to leave Bloemfontein, 41 ; in December
1859, IS elected president of the Orange Free State, 81 ; in February. 1860
obtains SIX months leave of absence from the South African Republic. 133

'

proceeds to Bloemfontein, and takes the oath of office as president of
the Orange Free State, 81 ; in May, 1860, has a conference with Mosheshand comes to a friendly arrangement with him, 83; which, however,
Moshesh does not carry out, 85 ; in September, 1860, resigns as president
of the South African Republic, 134 ; in April, 1861, has another friendly
conference with Moshesh, 86 ; in May. 1861, visits Panda, and obtains his
approval of the cession of land made by Cetewayo to the district of
Utrecht, 150

;
in July, 1862, visits Capetown to confer with the high com-

missioner on various subjects, 100; in November, 1862, acts as a mediator
in the civil strife in the South African Republic. 138 ; in April. 1863
resigns as president of the Orange Free State. 103 ; in January. 1864, acts
as mediator between Messrs. Kruger and Viljoen, 142; is elected presi-
dent of the South African Republic, and assumes duty on the 10th of
May, 1864 143; on the 26th of June, 1865, issues a proclamation full ofsympathy for the Free State, 169; five burghers of the South African
Republic having been murdered by Basuto, on the 7th of August, 1865 he
demands from Moshesh the murderers and payment for the stolen property
with the alternative of war, 179; accompanies the force sent against the
Basuto, 182 ,

m November, 1865, visits Zoutpansberg and endeavours invam to restore peace, 213 ; in 1866 causes the new Zulu line to be altered
in accordance with Panda's wishes, 225 ; after the abandonment of Schoe-
mansdal m June, 1867, makes a despairing appeal to the country for volun-
teers to recover the lost ground, 218 ; on the 29th of April, 1868, issues a
proclamation extending the boundaries of the Republic, 234; in July, 1868
visits Zoutpansberg, and concludes a kind of peace, 221 • in 1869* is re'
elected president of the .^outh African Republic, 230; in June, 1870, grants
to a company a concession of diamond digging north of the Vaal, and by
80 doing creates such opposition from the diggers that the government
of the South African Republic is repudiated, 331 ; the government then
cancels the concession, and the president seeks by very liberal oflFers to
recover the goodwill of the diggers, but witli only partial success, 331 •

on the 1st of March, 1871, under Sir Henry Baikly's pressure signs deeds
of submission referring the disputes with Waterboer and the Barolong
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imd Batlapin chiefs to a court of arbitration, 360; conducts the case of

tlie South African Republic before the arbitration court at Bloemhof in

April to June, 1871, in a mosL imbecile manner, 361 ; in November, 1871,

resigns the office of president on account of the hostility shown by the

volksraad and the people upon tho delivery of the Keate Award, 363

Protest of the volksraad of the Orange Free State against the annexation of

the diamond-fields south of the Vaal to the British dominions by Sir

Henry Barkly, 394

Ramanela, nephew and son-in-law of Moshesh : in November, 1864, pillages

some farms near Bethlehem, 119; on the 27th of December, 1864, attacks a

guard that has been stationed by President Brand on the border, but is

driven back with a loss of one killed and five wounded, 120 ; in January,

1865, in a plundering excursion severely wounds two burghers, 121 ; in

April, 1865, pillages the farm of a widow in the Free State, and drives oflF

thirty-five horses, 122; on the 25th of May, 1865, is attacked by a burgher

force, and falls back over the boundary with a design of drawing the com-
mando into a trap, but is only pursued as far as the line, 122; on the 27th

of June, 1865, murders five burghers of the South African Republic

travelling through the Free State, 167

Ramanela's raid into Natal : on the 27th of June, 1865, Ramanela and his fol-

lowers make a raid into Natal, murder some people, and drive off a large

number of ct«ttle, 186 ; the Natal Govetnment sends all its available forces

to the border, 186 ; Molapo for his father and himself promises redress,

187 ; Sir Philip Wodehouse calls upon Moshesh to make good the damage,

187 ; the great chief promises to do so, but does not keep his word, 187 ;

on the 26th of August the high commissioner makes a formal demand for

ten thousand full-grown cattle, 188 ; in reply Moshesh offers to become a
British subject, 189 ; the high commissioner then sends Mr. Burnet to

Thaba Bosigo to try to get the cattle demanded, 189; Mr. Burnet succeeds

in obtaining rather over two thousand head, 190 ; after which there is

some correspondence, but nothing more is ever paid, 191

Ramapulana, chief of a mountain tribe : gathers a large number of refugees

together in the Zoutpansberg, 207 ; takes advantage of the civil strife in

the South African Republic to make himself practicallj' independent, 210;

dies in 1864, 210

Recovery in 1867 of two individuals of Rensburg's party who had grown up
with the blacks and lived with them for thirty years, 227

Reddersburg, village of : is founded in February, 18fil, 128

Religious excitement in the Lesuto in 1862-3: particulars concerning, 102

Rensburg, W. C. van : in April, 1862, is appointed by the volksraad acting

president of the South African Republic, 136 ; retains office as acting

president until the 10th of May, 186'*:, 143

Revenue of the Lesuto : in 1870, 303 ; to the 31st of May, 1871, 308 ; par-

ticulars concerning, 308

Revenue of the South African Republic : sources of, according to the constitu-

tion of January, 1857, 35

Roman Catliolic Mission : is established at Korolioro in the Lesuto, 79

Roi

Roi

Roi

Sar

Sch^
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Roman-Dutch law : is the fundamental law of the Oiange Free State, 5 ; and

of the South African Republic
Rouxville, village of : is founded in November, 1863, 106
Rouxville, district of: is established in May, 1S7I, 402

Samuel, son of Moroko : is partly educated in England, 249 ; upon his return
to South Africa endeavours to supplant Tsepinare, the recognised heir to
the chieftainship of the Barolong clan at 'JMiaba Ntshu, 249 ; invites a
missionary of the Church of England to settle at Thaba Ntshu, 249; and
causes a division of the clan, 249

Scheel Kobus
:
on the abandonment of the Sovereignty in 1854 is left in an

independent position, 2 ; in May, 1858, makes a raid into the Free State,
63 ; on the 5th of July, 1858, is killed in action, 65

Sehoeman Stephanus
: upon the death of Mr. P. G. Potgieter in 1854 is

appointed commandaut-geueral of Zoutpansberg, 31 ; in January, 1857,
is appointed by the repreaentative assembly sole commandant-general of
the South African Republic, 37 ; declines the office, 37 ; signs a manifesto
disowning the constitution of the South African Republic adopted by
the representative assembly in January, 1857, 37 ; is pronounced a rebel
by the government at Potchefstroom, 38 ; in April, 1857, offers to assist
the Orange Free State against President Pretorius of the South African
Republic, 42 ; in January, 1858, comes to terms with the governmeni- at
Potchefstroom, and becomes sole commandant-general of the South
African Republic, 47 ; in 1860 is one of the stauncheat adherents of
Mr. Pretorius, 134 ; in November, 1860, becomes acting president of the
South African Republic, 135; in April, 1862, is dismissed by the volksraad,
136 ; but refuses to give up otBce, 136 ; in October, 1862, is driven by
Paul Kruger from Pretoria, 137; makes a stand at Potchefstroom, 137;
but is defeated in a sortie and is obliged to retire to the Free State,
137 ; upon Kruger's leaving Potchefstroom takes possession of the village
again, 138 ; after an agreement of peace returns to Pretoria, where he
again gathers an armed force, 138 ; but in January, 1863, is compelled by
Kruger's vigorous action to flee to the Free State, 139 ; is sentenced by a
court to banishment and confiscation of property, 139 ; in May, 1863, is

permitted to return to the South African Republic, 140; after the abandon-
mcut of Cehoemansdal in the Zoutpansberg war is appointed commandant
of \oluntaers, and in October, 1867, takes the field with fifty-three men,
218 ; but after a little skirmishing these are disbanded in December at
Marabastad, 218; in July, 1868, is appointed diplomatic agent in Zoutpans-
berg, 221 ; and by his efforts compartive tranquillity is restored, 221

Schoemansdal, village of : description of, 209 ; in June, 1867, is abandoned,
217 ; and if, shortly afterwards reduced to a heap of ruins by Katlakter's
people, 217

School sj'Stem of the Orange Free State in 1864 : particulars concerning, 108

Sekukuni : on the death of his father Sekwati in 1860 succeeds as chief of the
Raped i, 226

Sekwati, chief of the Bapedi tribe: in November, 1857, has a location assigned
to him by the Republic of Lydenburg, 40

Senekal, Frederik . in the war of 1858 is elected second commandant-general
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of the Free State forces, 58; on the 2l8t of February, 1866, is killed in
action with the Basuto, 198

Separatist Reformed Church : in 1858 is established in the South African
Republic, 127 ; in 1861 is established in the Orange Free State, 128

Setyeli, chief of the Bakwena : requests President Pretorius to obtain a mis-
sionary for him, 46 ; in 1857 a Hanoverian missionary goes to reside with
him, 46 ; in September, 1857, has a supply of ammunition for hunting
purposes allowed him by the volksraad of the South African Republic;
46

Smellekamp, Johan Arnold: in 1854 is fined for alleged slander, and is banished
from th? South African Republic, 26 ; but by one of the clauses in tie

treaty of union between Lydenburg and the South African Republic in

April, 1860, these sentences are reversed, 132 ; in August, 1855, becomes
landdroat of Eluemfontein, 24 ; retires in October, 1856, 24 ; practises as

a law agent at Bloemfontein until his death in May, 1866, 24

Snyman, Eaaias Rynier : is acting president of the Orange Free State during
the interval between the retirement of Mr. Boshof and the installation of
Mr. Pretorius, 77

Sumion, Inspector William Henry: acts as Mr. Bowker'a deputy in the Lesuto,
308

Swazis, the : in 1855 cede to the South African Republic a narrow strip of land
along the Pongolo, 225

Tabana, son of Ramapulana : after his father's death is driven from his kraals

by his brother Magadu, 210 ; is protected by J. Albasini, 210

Thirty-three Articles : in 1844 the code of laws so-called is drawn up by the

volksraad at Potchefstroom, and in 1849 is adopted by all the parties north

of the Vaal, 32 ; English translation of, 413

Treaty of Smithfield, concluded in October, 1855, between the government of

the Orange Free State and the Basuto chief Mosheih : particulars of, 17

Treaty of Vaal river, concluded in June, 1857, between the governments of the

Orange Free State and the South African Republic : particular of, 43

Treaty of Aliwul North (first), concluded in September, 1838, between the

government of the Orange Free State and the Basuto chief Moshesh

:

particulars of, 71

Treaty of Imparani, concluded in March, 1866, between the government of the

Orange Free State and the Basuto chief Molapo : particulars of, 202

Treaty of Thaba Bosigo, concluded in April, 1866, between the government of

the Orange Free State and the Basuto chief Moshesh : particulars of, 203

Treaty of Aliwal North (second), concluded in February, 1869, between the

governments of Great Britain and the Orange Free State : particulars of,

286

Treaty of the 29th of July, 1869, between Portugal and the South African

Republic : particulars of, 240

Truter, Olof Johannes : in August, 1870, is stationed as commissioner at the

diamond-fields at Pniel, 334; in May, 1871, is removed as landdrost to

Dutoitspan, 336 ; is very popular with the diggers, 389 ; on the 16th of

November, 1871, a prisoner being rescued by the British officials from the

Free State police, sends in a protest and retires to Bloemfontein, 392
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Tsekelo son of Moshesh : in February, 1865, visits Bloemfontoin as a messenger

of hia father, and when returning home drives off forty horses belonging
to Free State farmers, 121 ; in 1869 accompanies Mr. Buchanan to England,

Taepinare, adopted son and heir of the chief Moroko : commands the Barolone
contmgent in the war of 1865-6, 172

Tsetse : formerly infested parts of Zoutpansberg, 206 j but is no longer found
there, 206

Umbulazi, son of Panda : in December, 1856, is defeated by hia brother
Cetewayo, and is killed in the battle, 145

Umtonga, son of Panda: in February, 1861, flees into the district of Utrecht
through fear of Cetewayo, 147 (See Cetewayo.)

Dmzila, son of Manukusa, chief of the Matshangana : in 1858, on account of a
quarrel with one of his brothers, is obliged to flee from his own country.
211

;
takes refuge in Zoutpansberg, where a location is assigned to him by

J. Albasmi, 211; in 1861 proceeds to Delagoa Bay, where he obtains
assistance from the Portuguese authorities which enables him to defeat his
brother, 211

;
he then becomes chief of the Matshangana, but as a vassal

of the Portuguese, 212 ; in 1864 desires Albasini to surrender Monene to
him, 212

Union between the Cape Colony and the Orange Fn-e State : efforts to brine
about, 105 and 110

^

Union between the Orange Free State and the South African Republic ; efforts
to bring about, 68, 81, 133, and 371

Utrecht, district of : in 1848 Is settled by emigrants from Natal, 39 ; who form
an mdependent republic there, 39 ; in September, 1854, the ground is
formally ceded by Panda to the farmer-i occupying it, 146 ; in May, 1858,
the district is united to the Republic of Lydenburg, 39 ; an^. in April', I860'
with Lydenburg becomes part of the South African Republic, 132

'
'

Venter, Jacobus Johannes : is chairman of a commission appointed in Febru-
ary, 1855, to administer the government of the Orange Free State tempo-
rarily, 15 ;

visits Moshesh and makes a useless arrangement with him, 16 •

acts as president between the retirement of Mr. M. W Pretorius and the
assumption of duty by Advocate J. H. Brand, 104

Vetberg line
:
in October, 1855, is laid down by Adam Kok, acting as arbi-

trator, b veen *:he districts belonging to Nicholas VVaterboer and Cornel's
Kok, 23 ; in 1869 is beaconed off by a Free State commission, 223

Viljoen, Jan WiUem : in December, 1863, heads an insurrection against the
existmg government of the South African Republic, 140 ; on the 5th of
Januarj', 1864, is defeated by Paul Kruger, 141

Volksraad of the Orange Free State : is the supreme authority of the Republic
and consists of one member for each field-cornetr »r and one for each seat
of magistracy. The members must be of European blood, over twentv-
five years of age, resident at least one year in the state, possessed of
unmortgaged landed property of the value of £200, and never convicted of
crime. The members are elected for four years, half of them retiring
every second year. The volksraad meets onoe a year in ordinary sesaion
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but may be called together in extraordinary session by the executive if
need should arise. Twelve members form a quorum. The president and
the state secretary have the right of debating, but not of voting, in the
volksraad. For provisions of constitution of 1854, see page 4 ; and for
amendments made in 1864, see page 108

Volksraad of the South African Republic: is the supreme authority of the
state, and consists of three members for each of the districts of Potchef-
stroom, Lydenburg, Rustenburg, Zoutpansberg, Pretoria, Wakkerstroom,
Utrecht, Middelburg, Heidelberg, Waterberg, Marico. andBloemhof.and
one member for each of the towns of Potchefstroom, Lydenburg, Rusten-
burg, and Pretoria. (Some other districts have been added since 1872, and
are now-]889~repre8ented in the volksraad.) The members must be of
European blood, over thirty years of age, possessed of landed property,
members of a Protestant church, never convicted of crime, and voters in
the Republic of at least three years' standing. No member can be elected
by fewer than forty votes in his favour. Father and son cannot have
seats in the volksraad at the same time. Before 1873 the members were
elected for two years, but since that time for four years. Half the
members retire every second year. The volksraad meets once a year in
ordmary session, but may be called together in extraordinary session by
the executive if need should arise. Twelve members form a quorum. The
president and members of the executive council have the right of debating
but not of voting, in the volksraad. For provisions of the constitution of
Jrnuary, 1857, see page 34

Wakkebstroom, district of : is established in 1859, 131

V/ar of 1858 between the Orange Free State and the Basuto tribe : on the 19th
of March is proclaimed at Bloemfontein, 53 ; Mr. J. Sauer, landdrost of
Smithfield, is directed with a commando to disarm the Basuto at Beer-
sheba, 55 ;

he stations a guard at the ford of the Caledon, which is
attacked, and a skirmish takes place, 55 ; the Basuto at Beersheba decline
to give up their arms, 56 ; and are consequently fired upon, 56 ; on the
28th of March a commando under Hendrik Weber defeats Nehemiah and
Poshuli at Vechtkop, 57 ; destroys Poshuli's villages, 57 ; on the 30th loses
sixteen men in an ambush at Mohali's Hoek, 57 ; on the 25th of March a
commando under W. J. Pretorius defeats Moperiand MolitsaneatKorana-
berg, 58

;
two commandoes, under F. Senekal and W. J. Pretorius, fight

the-T way through a dense mass of Basuto at Cathcart's Drift, 58 ; and on
the 25th of April eflfect a junction with Weber at Jammerberg Drift, 58 J

the united force attacks Letsie at Morija, defeats him, and takes his kraal,
58 ; marches from Morija to Thaba Bosigo, arriving there on the 6th of
May, 59 ; but at once recognises the impossibility of taking the strong-
hold, 59 ; the burghers now learn that while they have been engaged in the
Lesuto swarms of light horsemen have been ravrging the districts of
Winburg and Smithfield, 60 ; in consequence of these tidings and the
hopelessness of their position, the burghers disperse to their homes, 60

;

in the meantime President Boshof has applied to the South African
Republic for aid, 60 ; and the volksraad of the northern state has directed
President Pretorius and Coinmaadant-General Schoeman to proceed to
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Bloemfontein and endeavour to restore peace, under the assurance that ifMoshesh should refuse reasonable terms the united countries will deal withmm, 60 ;
the president has also requested Sir George Grey to mediate, 60

;

and with the approval of the parliament of the Cape Colony that governor
has consented to do so, 61 ; before a reply is received from either Potchef-
stroom or Capetown, the Free State force is dispersed, and President
lioshof IS compelled to ask Moshesh to suspend hostilities, 62; Moshesh
replies in a haughty tone, but consents to receive a deputation to arrange
a truce, 62

;
and on the 1st of June an armistice is signed to last until the

arrival of Sir George Grey, 62 ; Governor Sir George Grey frames a treaty
of peace which gives to the Basuto a large strip of country, 71 ; but
transfers the Beersheba lands to the Free State, 71 ; on the 29th of
September this treaty is signed by the representatives of both parties. 71 ;and on the 15th of October by Mosheah hinself, 72

War of 1858 between the Orange Free State and the Korana, and Batlapin •

.n May and June Scheel Kobus, Goliath Yzerbek, and Gasibone make
several unprovoked raids into the Free State, plundering the country andmurdering several of the inhabitants, 63 ; a commando under Hendrik

IC^l V?\ T.""' ^^""' ^^
'
"^^'"^ ^"*°^« t'^« ^°'''^«'-«' stronghold onthe 5th of July, 65 , and captures it, 65 ; forty-three men and fifty womenand children are made prisoners, 66 ; the men are sent under escort of aFmgo guard to the prison at Bloemfontein, 66 ; but are met on the wayby a party of burghers and shot down, 66

War of 1858 between the South African Republic and the Batlapin : as theBatlapm captams Gasibone and Matlabane had taken advantage of the
confusion caused by the Basuto war to plunder some farms and murder aburgher north of the Vaal, a commando under Paul Kruger is sent againstthem, b6: Gasibone flees to Mahura. who gives him shelter, 66; anddeclines to surrender him when called upon to do ao, 6b ; in consequence
the Batlapin are attacked, 67 ; on the 13th of August Gasibone is killedm battle 67

;
as soon as this is known Mahura asks for peace, 67 ; andon the 18th terms are signed, in which Mahura agrees to surrender allcaptured property, and within three months pay the costs of the cam-

paign, 67
X ^ o ^.ttui

War between the South African Republic and the Baramapulana in the dis-
trict of Zoutpansberg

: is commenced in April, 1865, by commandoes of
liuropeans and Knobnoses attacking some clans who Mere givin<r shelter
to a fugitive from justice, 213 ; the white inhabitants of the northern part
of the district retire into laagers, 213 ; much property is destroyed by the
blacks, 213

;
a strong commando is called out by the government "14 • but

the burghers decline to obey the call, 214 ; in June, 1866, a small commando
under the president takes the field, but efTeets nothing, 215- the clansnow begin to quarrel among themselves, 215 ; but early in 1867 suspend
their dissensions and attack the Europeans again, 215 • in May 1867
Commandant-General Kruper, with five hundred men, ill supplied with
munitions of war, attacks Katlakter, but does not succeed in capfcuring
that chief's stronp^old, 216 ; in Tune, 1867, tb« commandant-general find!
it necessary to abandon Schoemansdal, 21"

: and permft the burchers to
•eturn to the:r hoineB, ?17 ; aftar the commai.ao ia .li.banded, the presi I
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dent endeavours to raise a force of volunteers, but succeeds in obtaining
only fifty-three men, 218; these take the field under Commandant
Stephanus Schoeman, but can effect nothing, 218 ; in February, 18ti8, only
two hundred and sixty men assemble out of a thousand called out, so that
Kruger can do nothing but disband them, 219 ; the people in the laagers
are by this time reduced to extreme poverty, 219 ; in May, 1868, between
eight and nine hundred men assemble, and attack Mapela, who has joined
the other insurgents, 220 ; they inflict heavy losses upon him, 220 ; the
principal insurgents are now quarrelling with each other, 220 ; in July,
1868, a kind of peace is concluded by President Pretorius and Mr. S.
Schoeman with the Baramapulana. 221 ; and in February, 1869, a formal
peace is made with Mapela and Matshem, 221 ; the clans then fight with
each other, and in October, 1869, a Swazi army nearly annihilates the most
powerful of them, 222

[f^'i

War of 1865-6 between the Orange Free State and the Basuto tribe : every
effort to induce Moshesh to fulfil his engagements having failed, and
various acts of violence having been committed by Basuto chiefs on Free
State soil, on the 9th of June, 1865, war is proclaimed by President
Brand, 123 ; on the 13th of June the Free State army under Commandant-
General Fick forms a camp within two miles of Mabolela, the residence
of the chief Moperi, 162 ; on the 14th eight hundred and fifty men leave
the camp to attack Mabolela, 162 ; but are opposed on the march by an
overwhelming force of Basuto, 162 ; at the same time a strong detach-
ment of the Basuto army, under the chief Lerothodi, iidvances to attack
the camp, 162 ; upon ascertaining this, the commando falls back and
repels Lerothodi, thus failing in the design of takmg Mabolela, but
saving the camp, 162 ; on the 20th and 21st of June a column of Basuto
under Poshuli and Morosi makes a destructive raid into the district of
Smithfield, 164; on the 27th and 28th of Jane another party under
Masupha and Moperi makes a raid into the Bloemfontein district, mur-
ders fifty-four half-breeds and a number of Europeans, 165 ; but on the
29th is encounjered at Verkeerde Vlei by a party of burghers, and is

defeated with heavy loss, 166 ; a third raiding party ravages the country
to within fifteen miles of the village of Kroonstad, 166 ; on the 14th of
July Vechtkop is taken by the division of the Free State forces under
Commandant Wepener, invading the Lesuto from the south, 170 ; and on
the 31st of July Letsie's town of Matsieng is occupied by the same com-
mando, 171 ; when Wepener issues a proclamation declaring the country
up to a line from Bamboesplaats to Thalia Tele, and thence north by
compass to the Caledon, annexed to the Free State, 171 ; Commandant-
General Fick advances from the north, and on the 20th of July crosses

the Caledon, 171 ; proclaims the territory north and west of that

river part of the Free State, 171 ; on the 25th of July takes the Berea
mountain by atorni, 171 ; and forms his camp on the site of Masupha's
town, 172 5 on the 3rd of August Wepener joins Fick before Thaba Bosigo,

where the whole Fvt»(' State force ia concentrated, 172 ; on the 8th of

August an unsuccessful attempt is made to take Thaba Bosigo by storm,

173 ; on the 15th of August a second unsuccessful attempt is made to

take Thaba Bosigo by atorm, 175 ; on the 23rd of August Mosheeh pro>
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poses to President Brand to invite the high Commissioner to arrange terms
of peace, and asks for an armistice, 177 ; on the 25th the president in-
forms Moshesh of the terms on which he is prepared to make peace 178 •

which terms are rejected by the great chief, 180 ; on the 24th of August
the council of war resolves to blockade Thaba Bosigo, and scour the
surrounding country, 177 ; during the blockade muny thousands of oxen
perish on Thaba Bosigo, 177 ; on the 25th of September, owing to the
return home of most of the burghers, the siege of Thaba Bosigo is raised,
181 ;

on the 27th o*' June five burghers of the South African Republic
travelling throu£,a tlie Free State are murdered by Kamanela's people, and
their property is seized, 167 ; on the 7th of August President Pretorius
demands from Moshesh the murderers and the value of the property 179-
as Moshesh does not comply with the demand, a force of nine hundred
and seventy men is sent under Commandant-General Kruger to punish
him, 1S2

;
on the morning of the 29th of September this force is attacked

at Naauwpoort by Molapo's followers, but quickly puts them to flight,
182

;
on the 6th of October the forces under Kruger and Fick unite at

Molapo's town of Leribe, 182 ; when Fick proclaims the district between
the Caledon and the Putiatsana Free State territory, 182 ; on the 23rd
of October the combined forces defeat a great Basuto army at Cathcart's
Drift, 182 ;

on the 30th of October Kruger's commando leaves for home
without making peace with the Basuto, 183 ; on the Ist of November
Commandant Pieter Wessels defeats Morosi, 183 ; President Brand com-
missions Messrs. Webster and Tainton to raise bodies of European and
native volunteers, 184 ; Sir Philip VVodehouse objects to this, :ind threatens
if It IS carried out to prevent supplies of ammunition passing through
the colonies, 185 ; on the 1st of December General Fick takes Leribe
when Molapo retires to Thaba Patsoa, 185 ; in December Lebenya with
his clan crosses the Orange into the Wittebergen reserve, and claims
British protection, 185 ; on the 8th of January, 1866, Molitsane attacks the
village of Winburg, and causes some damage, 191 ; on the 22nd of the
same month Molapo attacks the village of Bethlehem, but is beaten back
with heavy loss, 191 ; in the beginning of February the burghers again
take the field in force, 192 ; on the 22nd of February the volksraad de-
clines an offer which Sir Philip Wodehouse has made to act as mediator,
196 ;

on the 19th of February Molapo and Ramanela are defeated 198 •

from the 23rd of February to the 2nd of March the Drakensberg is
scoured by a large commando, and a good many cattle are captured, 198

;which causes Molapo to ask for peace, 200 ; an armistice is agreed to with
him, 200

;
and afterwards with Moshesh and Letsie, 201 ; on the 26th of

March peace is concluded with Molapo, and the treaty of Imparani is
signed, by which that chief becomes a vassal of the Free State, 202 ; as
Moshesh and Letsie decline to make peace on the president's terms,' on
the 22nd of March war is renewed with them, 201; on the 3l8t of March
at an assembly of chiefs at Thaba Bosigo, it is resolved to profess to agree
to peace in order to save the crops then ready to be gathered, 203

;

Moshesh writes to the president asking for peace, and offering to cede'
the territory which Fick and Wepener have proclaimed part of the Free
State, 203

;
on the 3rd of April terms are agreed to on both sides, and

peace is concluded by the signing of the treaty of Thaba Bosigo, 204 ; in
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November, 1860, Moshesh makes overtures to Prositient PietoriuH, of the
South African Uopiiblic, for a formal treaty of peace, 223 j a deputation
is sent from Pretoria to Thaba Hosigo, 223 ; and in February, 18G7, an
agreement of peace and friendship is signed, 224

War of 1867-8 between the Orange Free State and the Basuto tribe: on the
16th of July, 1867, President Brand calls the burghers to arms to compel
Moshesh to observe the treaty of Thaba Bosigo, 256 ; on the 5th of August
two strong brigades enter the disturbed territory, 256 ; on the 25th of
September Makwai's mountain is taken by Chitif-Commandant Pauso-
grouw's division, 257 ; Chief-Commandant G. J. Joubert destroys extensive
fortifications in the coded district north of the Lesuto, 263 ; on the 28th
of January, 1868, Tandjesberg is captured by Chief-Commandant Pan.
grouw, 264 ; on the 22nd of February, 1868, the Kieme is taken by Chief-
Commandant Pansegrouw, 266 ; on receipt of this intelligence. Sir Philip
Wodehouse, to preserve the Basuto tribe intact, proclaims Moshesh's people
British subjects and their country British territory, 266 ; on the 26th of
March Sir Walter Currie and the police arrive at Thaba Bosigo, 272

;

President Brand then issues orders to the Free State forces not to cross
the boundary fixed by the treaty of Thaba Bosigo, 272 ; the volksraad
resolves to send a deputation to p]ngland to protest to the Imperial
government, 273 ; the reverend Mr. Van de Wall and Mr. C. J. de Villiers
are sent to England, 280 ; but are informed at the colonial office that Her
Majesty's Government will not withdraw tho negotiations from the high
commissioner, 280 ; the secretary of state leaves the matter entirely in Sir
Philip Wodehouse's hands, 280 ; tneantime a fruitless correspondence is

carried on between the high commissioner and the Free State Government,
280 ; owing to no settlement being eflFected, the Basuto generally become
dissatisfied, 282; and the country is in a state of lawlessness, 283 ; the Natal
Government desires the annexation of the Lesuto, 284 ; the Free State,
having no alternative, consents to negotiate, and on the 4th of February,
1869, its deputies meet the high commissioner at Aliwal North, 285; where
on the 12th of February, 1869, the second treaty of Aliwal North is signed,
by which a portion of the territory ceded by the treaty of Thaba Bosigo
is restored to the Basuto, 286

Waterberg, district of : in March, 1866, is formed out of parts of Zoutpansberg
and Rustenburg, 230

Waterboer, Nicholas : in January, 1853, succeeds his father as captain of the
district of Griquatown, 319 ; in April, 1854, has his claim to ground above
the junction of the Orange and Vaal rivers recognised by the government
of the Orange Free State, 7 ; in October, 1855, submits his dispute con-
cerning territory with CorneH tiok to the arbitration of Adam Kok, and
is awarded the land south of che Vetberg line, 23 ; after October, 1855, is

recognised by the Free State Government as possessing sovereign as well

as proprietary rights in the district between the Orange river and the

Vetberg line, f?3 (See also Arnot and Griqualand.)

Weber, Hendrik : in the war of 1858 is the first commandant-general of the

Free State forces, 57

Wepener, Lourens Jacobus : removes from the Cape Colony to the Orange Free

State, and at the commencement of the war of 1865-6 with the Basuto is
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the 15th of June. 1865. offer, to call for volunteer, „ atteu.p; to t»ke

tak!« M . •
•^"'y *''k''« Vechtkop byatorm. 170; on the Slst of Jui;takes MutMeng 170; on the 3rd of August joins General Fick befS e

Jf volu^r'*"'-
^^' '" **" ''*' '^^ ^"«"«^ '« ''"-' -^'i'^ l^^'ling a partyof volunteers in an attempt to take Thaba Bosigo. 176

^"Irxuc^irih""''
^""*'' " '''' '^ *'"^''*^' '^y ^•^^ *^-« State Government

has only the «t.t,on of Thaba Nt.hu between the Orange and the Vaal. 249Western boundary of the South African liepublic: various views concerning. 236

smitt' lo"^* \t^:" t" = P^"'''^'""^ '•^^ ''^^'"^" •" '^' 'i'«'"ct of Harri-

Orpen, 20; retires to the Leauto. and becomes a subject of Moshesh 20

^"tarran'p^'"P
'

^"/r""'-^'
'«^2. arrives in South Africa as governor

?atli ad7
"^ '"'' ^'' ^'^^^''y'^ '^'^'^ comn.issioner, 96; twelve dJJs

Free Stat "e? i

'"'
"'f'"""^

'^"^•- '" *'^ P^^«'^-' "^ ^^^ 0™"^'
*reehtate. 97; is urgently requested by the Free State Government to

the British authorities in the time of the Sovereignty, as the Basuto are

tZTT^'\T^^ '*' ^'^P*^' ^'-^ "' «'='«'^-. 1«64. visits the FreeState odehne the boun,...ry, 115; inspects the countryalong the ?VaS
of tL b

' "; " ?' ''? ''' ^"*°'^^' ^'«*' g"^'- ^ -""- -ard in favou^of the boundary claimed by the Free State, 116 ; is deceived by Moshesh"!professions of desire to act in good faith. 118 ; when the war breaks outbe ween the Free State and the Basuto tribe, on the 27th of June 865issues a proclamation of neutrality. 168 ; on the LSth of January 866proposes to the secretary of state fo. the colonies to take over the Basutoas British subjects. 192; objects to the conditions -f the treat's SLnparan. and Thaba Bosigo. 245 ; in ^^ay. 1867, expresses disslt sfactionwith the reception by the Free State of many Basuto chiefs and clans a"

Ba'uto a B ;•';;
'?*""'"'' ''''' ''^^"'" -~-is the reception of theBasuto as British subjects. 261 ; on the 9th of December. 1867, the secretary

to Na !l 2fi

""' ^"''%^''
r"'"'*

*° '^'^ annexation of Basutolandto JVatal. 261
;
upon receipt of a despatch to this effect. Sir Philip Wodehouse proposes a cessation of hostilities, 262; and as the Free StateGovernment does not consent, he prohibits the removal of ammunitionfrom colonial ports to the Republic. 265; on the 12th of March, 1868. proclaims the Basuto British subjects and their country British territory 266-on the 27th o March proposes to President Brand as a settlement a beltof three hundred farms behind the borde, of 1864. 274; the president

refuses, 274
;
on the 14th of April Sir Philip VVo.loh'ouse ;ritesrPresl!

dent Brand proposing a temporary boundary and no molestation from
either side pending negotiations. 275; the president declines to agree toany other boundary than the one fixed by tr:e treaty of Thaba Bosi|o, 276-on the 15th of April Sir Philip Wodehou^e meets the Hasuto chiefs atThaba Bosigo. 277; they express a desire that the Lesuto shall not beannexed to Natal, 278; a few days later they request that the Lesuto maybe declared a native reserve independent of both colonies. 278 ; on the 12th
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of February, 1889, Sir Philip Wodehouse concludes a treaty with the Free
State, by which a portion of the territory ceded by the treaty of Thaba
Bosigo id restored to the Baauto tribe, 286; on the 22nd of Februsry, 1869,
meets the Basuto chiefs at Korokoro, 287; in March visits Nomansland,
and assigns locations to various clans there, 289 ; in May, 1870, draws up
a series of regulations for the government of the Basuto tribe, 301; objects
to thfe boundaries of the Sr ith African Republic as defined in President
Pretorius's proclamation of the 29th of April, 1868, 236

Z BERTJST, village of: is founded in 1868, 230
Zoutpansberg

: description of the district of, 206 ; in January, 1857, separates
from the South African Republic, 37; but in January, 1858, is again united
to it, 47; in 1864 contains many lawless Europeans, 208; from 1865 to
1888 is the theatre of constant wars and disturbances, 158

TrinUA by Cowan <fc Co., lAmited, Perth.
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